
 
 

Addenbrooke House   Ironmasters Way    Telford   TF3 4NT 
 

Continued… 

CABINET 

 

Date Thursday, 23 September 2021 Time 10.00 am 

Venue Addenbrooke House, Ironmasters Way, Telford, TF3 4NT 

 

Enquiries Regarding this Agenda 

Democratic Services Jayne Clarke / Kieran Robinson 01952 383205 / 382061 

Media Enquiries Corporate Communications 01952 382406 

Lead Officer David Sidaway, Chief Executive 01952 380130 

 
Cabinet Members: Councillor R A Overton Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 

Enforcement, Community Safety and 
Customer Services 

 Councillor A J Burford Cabinet Member for Health & Social Care 

 Councillor E M Callear Cabinet Member for Leisure, Culture and 
Visitor Economy 

 Councillor L D Carter Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood, 
Commercial Services and Regeneration 

 Councillor R C Evans Cabinet Member for Council Finance and 
Governance 

 Councillor C Healy Cabinet Member for Climate Change, 
Green Spaces, Natural and Historic 
Environment 

 Councillor S A W Reynolds Cabinet Member for Children, Young 
People, Education and Lifelong Learning 

 Councillor P Watling Cabinet Member for Cooperative 
Communities, Engagement and 
Partnerships 

 Councillor D Wright Cabinet Member for Economy, Housing, 
Transport and Infrastructure 

 Councillor S Davies Leader 
   
Invitees: Councillor W L Tomlinson Liberal Democrats 

 Councillor N A Dugmore Conservative 

 

AGENDA 
Page 

   
 

1.   Apologies for Absence 
 

  

   
 

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  

   
 

3.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 

 3 - 8 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

   
 

4.   Leader's Announcements 
 

  

Key  
 

5.   Learning Disability Strategy 
 

 9 - 106 

Key  
 

6.   Tibberton & Cherrington Neighbourhood 
Development Plan – Approval to go to 
Referendum 
 

 107 - 266 

   
 

7.   Annual Customer Feedback and 
Complaints Reports 
 

 267 - 420 

   
 

8.   Councillors Pride Fund - Update Report 
 

 421 - 434 

   
 

9.   Local Government Association 
Corporate Peer Review 
 

 435 - 462 

   
 

10.   Telford Hockey Club - Supporting 
Investment in Pitch Facilities 
 

 463 - 470 

  

 
FILMING, RECORDING & PHOTOGRAPHY 
The Council supports the principle of transparency and encourages filming, recording and taking 
photographs at its meetings that are open to the public. It also welcomes the use of social 
networking websites (such as Twitter and Facebook) and micro-blogging to communicate with 
people about what is happening, as it happens. 
There is no requirement to notify the Council in advance, but it should be noted that the Chairman 
of the meeting will have absolute discretion to terminate or suspend any of these activities if, in 
their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting. Full details of the 
Council’s protocol on audio/visual recording and photography at meetings can be accessed via the 
following link: 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_u
se_of_social_networking_at_meetings 

Page 2

http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_use_of_social_networking_at_meetings
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_use_of_social_networking_at_meetings


 

 

CABINET 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 8 July 2021 at 
10.00 am in Addenbrooke House, Ironmasters Way, Telford, TF3 4NT 

 
PUBLISHED ON WEDNESDAY, 14 JULY 2021 

 
(DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: MONDAY, 19 JULY 2021) 

 
 
Present: Councillors R A Overton (Vice-Chair), A J Burford, E M Callear, 
R C Evans, C Healy, S A W Reynolds, P Watling and D Wright.  
 
Also Present: Councillors W L Tomlinson (Liberal Democrats / Independent 
Group Leader) and A Lawrence (Conservative Group Deputy Leader). 
 
Apologies: Councillors L D Carter and S Davies 
 
CAB-85 Declarations of Interest 
 
None. 
 
CAB-86 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting held on 10 June 2021 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chair.   
 
CAB-87 Leader's Announcements 
 
The Deputy Leader announced that the Council had been named the 
Cooperative Council of the Year. He thanked officers and everybody that had 
voted for the Council to win this award. The award added to the growing list of 
recent achievements for the Authority, which included the Outstanding Ofsted 
result. It was also announced that the Council was a finalist for the MJ Local 
Authority of the Year award. 
 
CAB-88 2021/22 Financial Monitoring 
 
Councillor R C Evans, Cabinet Member for Council Finance & Governance 
presented the report of the Director: Finance & Human Resources, Chief 
Finance Officer.  
 
This was the first Financial Monitoring Report for 2021/22, as expected, there 
were residual COVID-19 pressures, which included income shortfalls in 
relation to restricted opening at facilities in the early part of the year and 
potential impacts on business rates collection; a key funding stream for the 
Council.  It was too early in the year to accurately predict the ongoing impact 
of Coronavirus and the speed at which the economy would recover; the 
position would continue to be monitored and updates provided throughout the 
year. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 
The projected service pressures stood at £4.24m. With the additional £1m 
anticipated funding shortfalls related to business rates (which would result in a 
deficit balance carried forward to next year on the collection fund), the total 
pressure was £5.24m against which the £5.18m emergency response funding 
would be applied. This would leave a residual projection of an overspend of 
£0.06m by year-end. This was before using the Council’s budget contingency.   
 
It was early in the year and projections would be updated and refined, taking 
into account the release of lockdown and any residual impact of Covid-19 on 
service areas. 
 
As well as the potential ongoing impact of Covid-19, the funding outlook for 
the medium term remained uncertain due to the impact of the major changes 
to the Local Government Finance System being deferred until at least April 
2022 with no confirmed date for implementation; changes to the New Homes 
bonus system, expected to come into force in 2022/23; and changes to the 
Adult Social Care (ASC) funding through the long awaited ASC Green paper 
also expected.  
 
It was unclear whether the Government would announce another one-year 
“spending round” or a medium-term Comprehensive Sending Review later in 
2021, this would inform the Council’s 2022/23 and medium term Service & 
Financial Planning Strategy. However, it was likely that with the significant 
increase in the Government’s debt as a result of responding to the pandemic 
that the financial climate ahead would remain one of significant financial 
challenge over the medium-term for local authorities. 
 
Members welcomed the report noting the Council’s relatively strong financial 
position despite the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
The Leader of the Liberal Democrat/Independent Group expressed support 
and noted the need for a medium-term finance settlement from the 
Government.  
 
RESOLVED that –  
 
i) The 2021/22 revenue budget position which continued to be impacted 
by the Covid-19 pandemic be noted. 
 
ii) The increase in the Councillors Pride Fund to £5k per ward member 
for 2021/22 and 2022/23 be approved. 
 
iii) The position in relation to capital spend be noted and recommend 
that Full Council approve the changes to the capital programme detailed 
in Appendix 3.  
 
iv) The collection rates for NNDR, council tax and sales ledger be noted. 
 
CAB-89 Pride in Our High Streets 

Page 4



 

 

 
Councillor D Wright, the Cabinet Member for Economy, Housing, Transport 
and Infrastructure presented the report of the Director for Housing, 
Employment and Infrastructure.  
 
The Pride in Our High Streets scheme was entering its seventh year, having 
launched in 2015. The scheme had developed into a nationally recognised 
model for investment in high streets and had had a visible and lasting impact 
on the Borough’s high streets with 30 empty retail premises brought back into 
use, creating more than 100 local high street jobs to date (and many more in 
the supply chain), and leveraging more than £1.32m of private sector 
investment.   
 
Investment into façade improvements had seen the transformation of many 
shop frontages to give the Borough’s high streets visual appeal and the 
programme had seen businesses supported to diversify and support for start-
ups to help recovery from COVID.   
 
Through the Young High Street Challenge, over 1000 young people had been 
directly engaged in the future of Telford’s high streets. The Council had been 
working with town and parish councils and established a programme of 
activity to promote and celebrate the high streets as the latest lockdown was 
eased, residents were encouraged to be ‘loyal to local’. 
 
The report set out the blueprint for the delivery of Phase Three of the Pride in 
Our High Streets scheme which would see £4.8m invested over the following 
two years with an initial funding package of £2.5m to be invested in 
2021/2022.  
 
Phase 3 recognised the continuing problems faced by high streets and sets 
high street regeneration in a new context reflecting the on-going impact of 
COVID and the continued growth of on-line shopping which posed both 
challenges and opportunities. The new programme would consolidate and 
build on success, maintaining elements of the existing programme alongside 
new initiatives including new digital and environmental grant schemes, a 
property improvement voucher scheme, improvements to the public realm and 
initiatives that would enhance our high streets as more than retail 
destinations. 
 
Members thanked officers for their work on the scheme.  
 
Members praised the scheme and the impact it had had on the Borough’s 
high streets. The scheme had been transformative and brought new life to the 
district centres.  
 
The Leader of the Liberal Democrat/Independent Group expressed support for 
the report. The Deputy Leader of the Conservative Group, noted that the 
scheme had real benefits.  
 
RESOLVED that – 

Page 5



 

 

 
i) The successful delivery and outcomes of the Phase 2 Pride in Our 
High Street programme be noted.  
 
ii)  Proposals for Phase 3 of the Programme be approved and 
responsibility be delegated to the Director Housing, Employment & 
Infrastructure in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Neighbourhood, Commercial Services & Regeneration for Place Plan 
delivery and grant funding approvals. 
 
CAB-90 Representation on Outside Bodies 
 
Councillor R C Evans, Cabinet Member for Council Finance & Governance 
presented the report of the Associate Director: Policy & Governance.  
 
The report requested Cabinet approval for nominations to Outside Bodies and 
to authorise the Monitoring Officer to give effect to nominations to Outside 
Bodies as notified to her in writing by the Leader. 
 
It was noted that Granville Country Park (Local Nature Reserve) Management 
Committee had received two nominations; Councillor Chris Turley and 
Councillor Nigel Dugmore. Only one appointment was made to this Outside 
Body.  
 
RESOLVED that – 
 
i) That the nominations to represent the Council on Outside Bodies, as 
set out in Appendix 1 of the report, be considered and representation for 
2021-22 be approved. 
 
ii) That authority be delegated to the Monitoring Officer to give effect to 
nominations to Outside Bodies as notified to her in writing by the 
Leader. 
 
CAB-91 Customer Services & Digital Peer Challenge 
 
Councillor R A Overton, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Enforcement, 
Community Safety and Customer Services, presented the report of the 
Director for Communities, Customer and Commercial Services. 
 
The report summarised the feedback from a Customer Services and Digital 
Peer Challenge that was carried out by the Local Government Association 
(LGA) in May 2021.   
 
Overall feedback was very positive, with the peer challenge team recognising 
the Council’s focus on good customer service and the commitment of 
Members and staff at all levels to ‘get things right for residents’. The team also 
praised the extensive range of ways the Authority sought feedback from 
customers and the desire to engage and involve people, with the suggestion 

Page 6



 

 

that the Council could go even further in co-designing services with 
customers, partners and staff.   
 
The peer challenge team noted the Council’s ambition and the range of 
actions underway, whilst stressing the importance of prioritising and regularly 
evaluating their effectiveness. 
 
RESOLVED that – 
 
the feedback and recommendations from the Local Government 
Association Customer Services and Digital Peer Challenge be noted and 
the proposed actions to respond to these, as set out in Section 5 of the 
report be approved.   
 
The meeting ended at 10.33 am 
 
Signed for the purposes of the Decision Notices 

 
Anthea Lowe 
Associate Director: Policy & Governance 
Date:  Wednesday, 14 JULY 2021 
 

 
Signed  

 
Date: 

 
Thursday, 16 September 2021 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Agenda Item 5: Learning Disability Strategy 

 
“We are determined to do everything we can for all people with a learning disability in 
Telford and Wrekin to live well and confidently enjoy a full life as independently as 
possible. 

“Over the past year, despite the pandemic, we have put together a draft four-year 
learning disability strategy, through extensive engagement and co-production with 
people with lived experience, parents, carers, family members and those who work 
with or support people with a learning disability. 

“These voices have been integral to developing future actions which will benefit 
every single person with a learning disability in our borough and make their lives and 
those of people who care for them easier.  I would like to thank everyone who got 
involved and shared their views.  

“Following a consultation on the draft strategy, we are pleased to hear that the 
majority of people are supportive of the areas of improvement outlined. 

• Getting out and about in our borough 

• Having the right support in place and 

• Accessing respite  

are the key areas identified as being those most important ones for people with a 
learning disability. We will be focusing on these together with our partners.  

“We also know that when people with a learning disability have access to the right 
support and digital developments, then greater independence, increased levels of 
employment and improvements in their health and wellbeing can be achieved – and 
these are our main aims for the next four years.”  

 

            Councillor Andy Burford, Cabinet Member for Health and Social Care

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



  

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 23.09.2021 
 
LEARNING DISABILITY CONSULTATION SUMMARY AND STRATEGY 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – CLLR ANDY BURFORD 

 
 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 

1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 

1.1. Across all services in Telford and Wrekin we want to promote independence of adults with 
learning disabilities to be aspirational and achieve what matters to them in their lives.  
People with learning disabilities, and their families, in Telford and Wrekin should be able to 
access advice, information, care and support that is aspirational, modern and supports 
opportunities for more independent lives. 
 

1.2. There is good support for people with learning disabilities across Telford and Wrekin but we 
should always strive for further improvements.  All services want to make these 
improvements over the next four years.  To ensure the focus is on the most important things 
to people with learning disabilities, and that available resources are deployed effectively, it 
was important that prioritisation of these improvement areas was co-produced – the 
outcome of which is the Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Strategy 2021-2025. 

 

1.3. The development of the Learning Disability Strategy over the past year has included a wide 
range of engagement, consultation and co-production with people with lived experience, 
parents, carers, family members and people who work with or support people with learning 
disabilities.  Despite the impact of Covid, the development of the strategy has continued 
and has enabled a rich amount of feedback to be gathered through both the Pre-
Consultation Engagement period and the Consultation.   

 

1.4. Across the consultation activity held in Spring 2021 301 responses were received.  This 
built on the engagement activity held in Autumn 2020 where over 160 responses were 
received.  The findings of the most recent consultation demonstrate that the majority 
of people are supportive of the areas of improvement outlined in the draft Strategy.   

 

1.5. The following images show some of the key headline results and quotes from people with 
learning disabilities and parent carers. 
 
 
 

Page 11



  

 
 
 

1.6. The purpose of the report is to present a summary of the feedback received during this 
consultation as well as outlining recommended changes to the strategy to reflect this 
feedback. Please refer to: 

 Appendix A for a copy of the Learning Disability Consultation Summary Report;  

 Appendix B for a copy of the Draft Learning Disability Action Plan; and 

 Appendix C for the draft Learning Disability Strategy (please note that this will 
be amended following being presented to Cabinet).  

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
Cabinet is asked to: 
 
i.   Note the content of the report and appendices; and 
 
ii.  To approve proposals for the draft Learning Disability Strategy and Action Plan within 

this report, noting the specific changes following consultation (Page 9, point 6.5)  
 
iii.  To grant delegated authority to the Director: Adult Social Care in consultation with the 

Lead Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and the Telford and Wrekin Learning 
Disability Partnership Board to take the necessary steps to implement these 
recommendations. 

 

 
 

Page 12



  

3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
COMMUNITY 
IMPACT 

Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-operative Council 
priorities? 

Yes Ensuring every child, young person and adult lives 
well in their community 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

Yes The Learning Disability Strategy will impact on all 
residents who have a learning disability, their families 
and carers.  

TARGET 
COMPLETION/
DELIVERY 
DATE 

The strategy is scheduled to be implemented in 2021, depending 
on approval by Cabinet and any impact from Covid.  

FINANCIAL/VA
LUE FOR 
MONEY 
IMPACT 

Yes The current action plan does not yet contain sufficient 
detail to be able to identify financial implications at 
this time. .As more detailed proposals are developed 
a full evaluation of the expenditure commitment and 
funding options will need to be completed. These will 
then need to be considered as part of the formulation 
of the budget modelling and strategy in the relevant 
years.    

  
RP 13.08.2021 

LEGAL 
ISSUES 

Yes  The Learning Disability Strategy is required to comply 
with The Care Act 2014 and the promotion of 
personal well-being in care and support. The Equality 
Act 2010 details protected characteristics protected 
from discrimination, the prevention of disadvantage 
to classes of individuals including those with learning 
disabilities and necessary reasonable adjustments 
which are accounted for within this report. The 
Human Rights Act 1998 and the included right to be 
free from discrimination are noted and remain good 
law pending review in 2021. These legislative 
requirements and protections are met in the attached 
report.      

ON    13.08.2021  

OTHER 
IMPACTS, 
RISKS & 
OPPORTUNITI
ES 

Yes  There are opportunities relating to improved 
outcomes for people, sustainability and improved 
efficiencies through delivering on the learning 
disability strategy. 

IMPACT ON 
SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

No N/A 

 
 
PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

Page 13



  

4. BACKGROUND 
 

4.1. “A learning disability is a reduced intellectual ability and difficulty 
with everyday activities – for example household tasks, 
socialising or managing money - which affects someone for their 
whole life.  There are different types of learning disability, which 
can be mild, moderate, severe or profound”i.   
 

4.2. Using learning disability prevalence rates from Public Health 
England (2016) and population data from the Office for National 
Statistics (2019) MENCAPi have calculated that there are 
1.5million people with a learning disability in the UK.  This equates 
to 2.16% of all adults in the UK and 2.5% of all children in the UK.  
 

4.3. Looking specifically at the prevalence within England it is estimated 
that there are 951,000 adults with a learning disability, of which 
731,000 are of working age (18-64)ii.  

 

4.4. In January 2020, Public Health Englandiii provided more detailed 
data in relation to adults with learning disabilities.  They reported 
that “in total, the number of adults with learning disabilities getting some form of long-term 
social care increased from 139,555 people in the period 2014 to 2015 to 147,915 people in 
2017 to 2018”. This increasing number of people receiving long term social care continues 
to be seen nationally and locally and is important to recognise the impact the increasing 
population has on the provision of services, including statutory ones. 

 

4.5. Locally, the Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin Integrated Care System (ICS) has a role in 
developing and running services in a more coordinated way, agreeing priorities and 
planning collectively how to improve local residents’ day to day health. It seeks to address 
the key aims of the NHS Long Term Planiv to “give everyone the best start in life, deliver 
world-class care for major health problems, and help people age well”.  The ICS’s key area 
of work over the next five years is to reduce the inequality for people with learning 
disabilities and increase their quality of life.  This includes: 

 Implementing the national programme for Learning Disabilities and Autism Spectrum 
Disorder;  

 Continue to undertake LeDeRs to review the deaths of people who have a learning 
disability and implement any learning; 

 Increasing the number of annual health checks (with a target of 80%); 

 Stopping over medication of people with a learning disability and supporting 
treatment and appropriate medication in paediatrics; and 

 Upskilling the workforce and improving recruitment and retention in all services. 
 

4.6. According to data available from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment in 2017 there was 
an estimated total of 4,100 people over 15 with a learning disability in Telford and Wrekin. 
This is 2.3% of the total population of Telford and Wrekin. Over the next 12 years it is 
estimated that the number of people with a learning disability will increase by 6%. This 
equates to 200 more people over 15 with a learning disability.   
 

4.7. As at 31 March 2021 Adult Social Care were supporting 521 adults with learning disabilities, 
this represents 29% of all the adults supported by Adult Social Care.  
 

Page 14



  

4.8. The Learning Disability strategy is set in the context of the above, national legislation and 
quality developments relating to the care and support of people with a learning disability. 
This includes:  

 The Care Act 2014 

 Children and Families Act 2014 

 Human Rights Act, 2000 

 Mental Capacity Act 2005 

 Mental Health Act 2007 

 Disability Discrimination Act 1995 

 Autism Act 2009 

 Transforming Care Programme (TCP) 

 Think Local Act Personal 

 British Association of Social Workers Professional Capability Framework  
 

5. METHODOLOGY 
 

5.1. The development of the Borough-wide strategy has been undertaken using a co-production 
approach and the consultation was undertaken with due regard to the Public Sector 
Equality Duty of the S149 Equality Act 2010 and in accordance with Telford & Wrekin 
Council’s values and principles.   
 
Consultation co-production through Telford & Wrekin Learning Disability Partnership 
Board and Telford Voices 

 
5.2. The Telford & Wrekin Learning Disability Partnership Board was set up in October 2020.  

The purpose of the Partnership Board is to make sure that adults with a learning disability 
who live in Telford and Wrekin have the same chances in life as everybody else.  The 
Board is also responsible for: 
 Developing a strategy and action plan – and through doing so will hold professional 

people to account for improving the design and delivery of services for adults with 
learning disabilities;  

 Making sure that the resources are used to enable adults with learning disabilities to 
have aspirations; and 

 Being involved, influence, collaborate and co-produce the offer for adults with learning 
disabilities and their families/carers. 

  
5.3. The Board has met monthly since its launch and is co-chaired by a Person with Lived 

Experience and the Director of Adult Social Care from Telford & Wrekin Council.  The Board 
is made up of the following organisations: 

 People with Lived Experience  

 Parent/Carer representatives 

 Taking Part 

 Telford & Wrekin Council (adults and children’s representatives) 

 Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin Clinical Commissioning Group  

 Midlands Foundation Partnership Trust  

 Shropshire Partners in Care  

 Other organisations/people co-opted onto the Board for specific items – e.g. 
Healthwatch, Public Health, Education and Skills 

 

Page 15



  

5.4. The Board reports to the Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership (TWIPP)v. This 
enables the Learning Disability Partnership Board to:   

 Influence and engage senior leaders on issues of concern for people with learning 
disabilities in Telford and Wrekin; and 

 Make sure senior leaders are aware of these issues, and that they can get behind 
the changes needed to make life better for adults with learning disabilities in Telford 
and Wrekin.  

 
5.5. For more information on the Learning Disability Partnership Board, including copies 

of its minutes, please refer to its webpage.  
 

5.6. In January 2021 Telford Voices was set up by Telford & 
Wrekin Council, supported by Taking Part.  This is a group of 
people with Learning Disabilities who want to get involved in 
making a difference in Telford and Wrekin.  Telford Voices is 
a key part of the Learning Disability Partnership Board and 
the Co-chair is also a member of Telford Voices.  The group 
have been instrumental in the learning disability consultation 
as outlined in the Consultation Summary Report.  
 
Consultation Activity 
 

5.7. The consultation activity ran from 25 February to 07 May 2021 and included: 

 Virtual consultation sessions for: 
o Adults with learning disabilities supported by Taking Part 
o Family and carers (unpaid) 
o Shared Lived Carers  
o People who work with, or support people with learning disabilities 

 Easy Read questionnaire (available in paper form if needed) 

 Online consultation questionnaire (also available in paper form if needed) 

 Sessions with Telford Voices  

 Sessions with the Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Partnership Board 

 Attendance at other stakeholder and partnership meetings (e.g. Carers Partnership 
Board, Health Scrutiny Committee, Integrated Care System Learning Disability & 
Autism Programme Board) 

 Social Media (specific consultation questions asked) 
 

5.8. Due to the Covid Government restrictions the consultation was unable to hold any face to 
face sessions. To ensure people with learning disabilities voices were heard if they were 
unable to engage directly, families, carers and staff were asked to support the person to tell 
us their views.   
 

5.9. To further promote accessibility to the consultation, a copy of the easy read questionnaire 
(along with a covering letter and a copy of the draft Easy Read Strategy) was posted to 
every person with a Learning Disability (and their parent/carer) with care and support needs 
known to Adult Social Care.  This was over 500 people.     
 

5.10. The purpose of the consultation was to explore further people’s views on specific sections 
of the original strategy themes:  

 Being healthy and independent  

Page 16

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20086/adult_social_care_asc/3981/learning_disabilities_ld_programme/2


  

o Support to access advice and information about healthy food 
o Access to community leisure services 
o Involvement in recruitment and training of paid health and social care staff 

 Having friends and relationships  
o Access community activities with people who have similar interests 
o Support to understand love and sexual relationships 

 Having choice  
o Support to make choices 

 Getting out and about  
o Being active members of their community  
o Access to public transport  

 Having a job  
o Importance of having a job 
o Breadth of employment opportunities 

 Having the right support  
o Support in small groups or on a one to one basis  
o Flexibility of support  

 Accessing respite  
o Flexibility of respite 
o Breadth of respite opportunities 

 The impact of Covid.   
o Developing more services in the community 

 
The consultation also asked two additional overarching questions relating to how the plans 
will affect people with a learning disability and how the consultation was run.  
 

5.11. To promote the consultation a wide range of communication methods were used, including 
utilising promotion through partners’ communication routes.  The routes utilised directly 
include:  

 Press Releases 

 Social Media platforms – Telford & Wrekin Council, Live Well Telford and My Options  
 Newsletters: 

o Shaun’s Weekly Newsletter  
o Community News 

o Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership Newsletter  
o Safeguarding Partnership Newsletter 
o Shropshire Partner in Care Newsletter 
o Telford & Wrekin Council Staff News  
o Adult Social Care Newsletter  

 Provider Forums 

 Emails to partners, providers and Telford Interfaith Council 
 Internal Telford & Wrekin Council Latest News  

 
5.12. Please refer to the Consultation Summary Report, Section 2 in Appendix A for the full 

methodology for the Consultation.  
 

6. CONSULTATION CONCLUSION 
 

6.1. The development of the Learning Disability Strategy over the past year has included a wide 
range of engagement, feedback and co-production with people with lived experience, 
parents, carers, family members and people who work with or support people with learning 

Page 17



  

disabilities.  Despite the impact of Covid, the development of the strategy has continued 
and has enabled a rich amount of feedback to be gathered through both the Pre-
Consultation Engagement period and the Consultation.   
 

6.2. The findings of the consultation demonstrate that the majority of people are 
supportive of the areas of improvement outlined in the draft Strategy.   

 

6.3. The following images show some of the key headline results and quotes from people with 
learning disabilities and parent carers. 
 

 
 

Page 18



  

 
 

6.4. Within the 8 areas of improvement that were consulted upon three of them stood out as 
being the ones that respondents were most concerned about: 

 Getting out and about,   

 Having the right support, and  

 Accessing Respite. 
It is recommended that the draft strategy is expanded to include more detail on these three 
areas and that these are areas that the Learning Disability Partnership Board monitor and 
scrutinise regularly.  
 

6.5. The findings also highlighted four overarching themes, these include:  

 Accessibility – including information, advice and community resources;  

 Disability Awareness – including in public and businesses 

 Communication – including accessibility, timeliness and methods of communicating 
with hard to reach areas of the community; 

 Use of technology– including using digital developments to improve independence 
at home, getting out and about and employment.  

 
6.6. Whilst these themes were reflected in some of the initial engagement work undertaken, 

which shaped the draft strategy, they are important in enabling people with Learning 
Disabilities to live well and enjoy a full life, with as much independence as possible.  It is 
recommended that these additional themes are added to the Learning Disability Strategy 
and associated actions considered within the Strategy action plan.  
 

6.7. The Covid pandemic has impacted on the development of the strategy in that no face to 
face sessions were able to be held due to the Government restrictions in place and the 
increased risks for people.   However, other types of engagement events were held, 
including virtual sessions, utilising social media and attending stakeholder virtual meetings.  

Page 19



  

The consultation was open to any other forms of engagement should they be requested as 
long as they were within the Government’s guidelines at that time.  

 
6.8. As outlined in the draft strategy, there are estimated to be over 4,000 adults with learning 

disabilities in the Borough, of which only 500 have Care and Support Needs and are 
therefore known to the Local Authority.  This impacts on the ability to share information 
directly with people as they are not known to 
the Local Authority and are therefore reliant 
on other communication routes to share the 
information. Whilst the communications were 
wide ranging (please see Appendix A for a 
summary of these) it was also reliant on the 
sharing of information through various 
groups and services, including the Parent 
and Carer Forum (PODs), Carers 
Partnership Board and Carers Centre, 
Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise 
Sector, NHS partners, GPs, Healthwatch, 
Care Providers and word of mouth.  
Additionally, the natural communication that 
happens in community and peer support 
groups was not able to be fully utilised due to the Government restrictions in place.   

 
6.9. As the Country moves out of the Covid-19 lockdowns the opportunities to address the 

additional overarching four themes is evident.  Key to all of these themes is the ability to 
engage with people with lived experience in their communities, which due to Covid has not 
been possible through this process.    

 
6.10. It is worth noting that the impact Covid has, and is continuing to have, on people with 

disabilities and their families and carers, cannot be underestimated.  The recent report by 
Marmot ‘Build Back Fairer’vi highlighted that the inequalities that were already present pre-
covid have been exposed and amplified.  The Marmot report goes into detail about the 
inequalities for people with disabilities as well as being at a higher risk of dying as a result 
of Covid, they are also more likely to be negatively impacted on in terms of, social isolation, 
mental and physical health, food poverty and future health inequalities.  It is important that 
the work to implement the strategy also takes into account the specific health inequalities 
that people with learning disabilities in Telford and Wrekin face.  
 

7. NEXT STEPS 
 

7.1. Subject to approval by Cabinet the draft strategy (and easy read version) will be amended 
accordingly, the findings from the consultation shared with people who have taken part and 
the detailed action plan finalised.  
 

7.2. The Telford & Wrekin Learning Disability Partnership Board (LDPB) will hold all 
organisations/services to account for delivery of the Strategy and Action Plan.  The LDPB 
will be supported by the Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership and the Telford & 
Wrekin Health and Wellbeing Board.  

 

7.3. In addition, the LDPB will continue to co-produce any actions and service developments 
with Telford Voices, and other groups of people with lived experience, to further develop the 

Improving engagement post Covid 
 

Several of the comments received in the 
consultation highlighted the difference 
providing information face to face, through 
already existing community/local groups 
and networks, would make to people with 
Learning Disabilities.  This approach 
would also help to improve engagement 
with some of the harder to reach 
communities, reducing health inequalities, 
and improving outcomes for people.  

Page 20



  

actions so that they remain relevant and impactful over the period of the strategy.  They will 
also regularly consult with them to ensure the actions being completed are delivering the 
required outcomes.    
 

8. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 
18.02.2021 – Cabinet – Draft Learning Disability Strategy and Consultation Proposals 
 

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None. 
 
Report prepared by: 
Sarah Downes, Integration Programme Manager, sarah.downes@telford.gov.uk, 01952 385099 
 

i MENCAP, 2020 – How common is learning disability?  
ii Images taken from MENCAP, Nov 2020 
iii Public Health England: People with learning disabilities – Adult Social Care (Chapter 5)  
iv NHS Long Term Plan, 2019 
v The Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership is a meeting of senior leaders from a wide range of organisations in 
Telford and Wrekin, who work together to improve outcomes for local people by adopting a strengths based approach – 
focussing upon offering early help, targeted prevention and a joined up response at time of urgent need. 
vi Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review  

                                                 

Page 21

mailto:sarah.downes@telford.gov.uk
https://www.mencap.org.uk/learning-disability-explained/research-and-statistics/how-common-learning-disability
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-with-learning-disabilities-in-england/chapter-5-adult-social-care#fn:1
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/build-back-fairer-the-covid-19-marmot-review


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

      
May 2021 

ABSTRACT 
A summary of the feedback received through the 

Borough wide Learning Disability Consultation 

conducted from 25 February to 07 May 2021 

Sarah Downes 
Integration Programme Manager 

 

Page 23



Page 1 of 39 

Contents 
Executive Summary ........................................................................................................................... 2 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................. 6 

2. Methodology ................................................................................................................................ 6 

a. Pre-Consultation Engagement ........................................................................................... 7 

b. Draft Strategy Development ................................................................................................ 8 

c. The Telford & Wrekin Learning Disability Partnership Board .................................... 8 

d. Consultation ............................................................................................................................ 9 

3. The Findings .............................................................................................................................. 12 

a. Demographics of Questionnaire Respondents ............................................................ 12 

b. Consultation Question Responses ................................................................................. 14 

i. Being Healthy and Independent ....................................................................................... 15 

ii. Having friends and relationships ...................................................................................... 16 

iii. Having Choice ..................................................................................................................... 18 

iv. Getting out and about ......................................................................................................... 18 

v. Having a job ......................................................................................................................... 20 

vi. Having the right support ..................................................................................................... 23 

vii. Accessing Respite .............................................................................................................. 24 

viii. Impact of Covid ................................................................................................................... 26 

ix. Overarching Questions ...................................................................................................... 27 

4. Conclusion ................................................................................................................................. 29 

5. Recommendations ................................................................................................................... 32 

Appendix A – Communications Summary .................................................................................... 35 

Appendix B - Detailed analysis of Easy Read Questionnaire Responses ............................... 36 

Appendix C – Detailed analysis of Online Questionnaire Responses ...................................... 36 

Appendix D – Comments from Virtual Lived Experience Consultation Sessions ................... 36 

Appendix E – Comments from Virtual Sessions for Family Carers and Professionals .......... 36 

Appendix F – Social Media Comments ......................................................................................... 36 

Appendix G – Stakeholder Meeting Comments ........................................................................... 39 

 
 
 
  

Page 24



Page 2 of 39 

Executive Summary 
 

Across all services in Telford and Wrekin we want to promote the independence of 
adults with Learning Disabilities for them to be aspirational and achieve what matters 
to them in their lives.  People with Learning Disabilities, and their families, in Telford 
and Wrekin should be able to access advice, information, care and support that is 
aspirational, modern and supports opportunities for more independent lives. 
 
There is good support for people with Learning Disabilities across Telford and 
Wrekin but there are many areas that could be better.  All services want to make 
these improvements over the next five years.    
 
To ensure the focus is on the most important areas for people with Learning 
Disabilities, and available resources are deployed effectively, it was important that 
the prioritisation on the improvements was co-produced – the outcome of which is 
the Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Strategy 2021-2025. 
 
The development of the Learning Disability Strategy over the past year has included 
a wide range of engagement, consultation and co-production with people with lived 
experience, parents, carers, family members and people who work with or support 
people with Learning Disabilities.  Despite the impact of Covid, the development of 
the strategy has continued and has enabled a rich amount of feedback to be 
gathered through both the Pre-Consultation Engagement period and the 
Consultation.   
 

Across the consultation activity held in Spring 2021 we received 301 responses.  
This built on the engagement activity held in Autumn 2020 where over 160 
responses were received.   

Page 25



Page 3 of 39 

 

The findings of the 
most recent 
consultation 
demonstrate that 
the majority of 
people are 
supportive of the 
areas of 
improvement 
outlined in the 
draft Strategy.   
 
The following 
images show some 
of the key headline 
results and quotes 
from people with 
Learning Disabilities 
and parent carers. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 26



Page 4 of 39 

The purpose of the report is to present a summary of the feedback received during 
this consultation as well as outlining recommended changes to the strategy to reflect 
this feedback. The report also includes additional recommendations to Cabinet 
following the consultation as follows: 
 

i. Notes the results and response to the Learning Disability Consultation as 
outlined in this report;  
 

ii. To approve proposals for the draft Learning Disability Strategy to be amended 
as follows:  

a. Four additional overarching themes are added to the Strategy 
(Accessibility, Disability Awareness, Communication and Use of 
Technology); 

b. More detail on the three areas (Getting out and About, Having the 
Right Support and Respite) is included in the strategy and that these 
are areas that the Learning Disability Partnership Board monitor and 
scrutinise regularly; 

c. Data to be updated and further information provided about the 
different types of Learning Disabilities;  

d. More detail on the prevention agenda 
e. Strengthen the links to the Integrated Care System programme of 

work. 
f. Should the action plan be approved, the strategy to be updated to 

reflect the new ‘We will…’ areas. 
g. Ongoing engagement and co-production activity with people with 

Learning Disabilities and their parents/family to continually improve 
services provided across the borough to include face to face sessions 
in the community and work with hard to reach communities. 

 

iii. To approve the draft Learning Disability Strategy Action Plan;  
 

iv. To continue to ensure the health inequalities experienced by people with 
Learning Disabilities in Telford and Wrekin are considered and appropriate 
actions taken to improve the health of people with Learning Disabilities when 
implementing the strategy;  
 

v. To pledge to support and provide employment opportunities within Telford & 
Wrekin Council for people with Learning Disabilities, including ensuring the 
employment process is accessible;  
 

vi. To champion the need for all organisations within the Integrated Care System 
to pledge to support and provide employment opportunities within their own 
organisations; and 
 

vii. To grant delegated authority to the Director: Adult Social Care in consultation 
with the Lead Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and the Telford and 
Wrekin Learning Disability Partnership Board to take the necessary steps to 
implement these recommendations.  
 

Page 27



Page 5 of 39 

  

Page 28



Page 6 of 39 

 

1. Introduction  
 

“A learning disability is a reduced intellectual ability and difficulty with everyday 
activities – for example household tasks, socialising or managing money - which 
affects someone for their whole life.  There are different types of Learning Disability, 
which can be mild, moderate, severe or profound”i.   
 
According to data available from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment in 2017 
there is an estimated total of 4100 people over 15 with a learning disability in Telford 
and Wrekin.  As of 31 March 2021, Adult Social Care were supporting 521 adults 
with Learning Disabilities - this represents 29% of all the adults supported by adult 
social care.  
  
Across all services in Telford and Wrekin we want to promote the independence of 
people with Learning Disabilities and help people to live well. People with Learning 
Disabilities, and their families, in Telford and Wrekin should be able to access 
advice, information, care and support that is aspirational, modern, and meaningful.   
  
During Autumn 2020, the Council undertook a series of engagement events to co-
develop a new Learning Disability Strategy that would set out our approach to 
improving the lives of adults with a Learning Disability in Telford and Wrekin over the 
next 5 years. The draft strategy has been informed and developed by what people 
with Learning Disabilities, their families and carers, and professionals have told us.  
 
In Spring 2021, the Council launched a formal consultation on the draft Learning 
Disability Strategy.   
 
The purpose of this report is to present a summary of the feedback received during 
this consultation as well as outlining recommended changes to the strategy to reflect 
this feedback.  
 

2. Methodology 
 

The development of the Borough-wide strategy has been undertaken using a co-
production approach and the consultation was undertaken with due regard to the 
Public Sector Equality Duty of the S149 Equality Act 2010.   
 

Page 29



Page 7 of 39 

The image 
summarises the 
stages of the 
strategy 
development.  
 
This section of the 
report will outline 
what each of the 
stages involved.  
 
 

a. Pre-
Consultation 
Engagement  
 

The engagement activity ran from 30 September to 11 November 2020 and 
included:  

 Virtual face to face sessions,  
 Easy Read questionnaire,  
 Online questionnaire,  
 Stakeholder sessions through various partnerships, including the Making it 

Real Board, system wide Autism and Learning Disability Board and Learning 
Disability Partnership.  

  
Due to the Covid restrictions engagement was restricted to online consultation as 
face-to-face sessions were unable to place with people with Learning Disabilities.  To 
ensure all voices were heard, if people with a Learning Disability were unable to 
engage directly, families, carers and staff were asked to support the person to tell us 
their views.  To further promote accessibility to the pre-consultation engagement, a 
copy of the easy read questionnaire (along with a covering letter) was posted to 
every person with a Learning Disability (and their parent/carer) with care and support 
needs and/or were known to Adult Social Care.  This was over 500 people.     
  
The engagement asked people what was important to them, or the person they 
support, in the following areas:  

 Being healthy and independent  
 Having friends and relationships  
 Having choice  
 Getting out and about  
 Having a job  
 Having the right support  
 Accessing respite  
 The impact of Covid.   

  
During the engagement period we engaged with over 160 different people, including 
32 people with Learning Disabilities as well as families, carers and staff from various 
organisations supporting people with Learning Disabilities.  
 

Page 30



Page 8 of 39 

Please refer to the papers previously published for full analysis and detail of the 
pre-consultation engagement response.  
 

b. Draft Strategy Development  
 

The draft Learning Disability Strategy 
was developed using the feedback 
from the Pre-Consultation 
Engagement.  Working with the 
Learning Disability Partnership Board 
the strategy was further developed, 
and an Easy Read version created.  
 
For each area asked in the Pre-
Consultation Engagement there is a section in the draft 
Strategy highlighting “You said… We will do” that includes:  

 A summary of feedback from people with Learning 
Disabilities; 

 A summary of feedback from parent, carers 
and professionals; and 

 Suggested actions to address the feedback. 
 
A copy of the draft strategy, along with the Easy Read version, can be found on the 
consultation web-page. 
 
 

c. The Telford & Wrekin Learning Disability Partnership Board  
 

The Telford & Wrekin Learning Disability Partnership Board was set up in October 
2020.  The purpose of the Partnership Board is to make sure that people with a 
Learning Disability who live in Telford and Wrekin have the same chances in life as 
everybody else.  The Board is also responsible for: 
 Developing a action plan – and through doing so will hold professionals to 

account for improving the design and delivery of services for people with 
Learning Disabilities;  

 Making sure that resources are used to support people with Learning Disabilities 
to have aspirations in their lives; and 

 Being involved, influencing, collaborating and co-producing the offer for people 
with Learning Disabilities and their families/carers. 

  
The Board has met monthly since its launch and is co-chaired by a Person with 
Lived Experience and the Director of Adult Social Care from Telford & Wrekin 
Council.   
 
The Board is made up of the following organisations: 

 People with Lived Experience  

 Parent/Carer representatives 

 Taking Part 

 Telford & Wrekin Council (adults and children’s representatives) 

 Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin Clinical Commissioning Group  

Page 31

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20086/adult_social_care_asc/3981/learning_disabilities_ld_programme/4
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20086/adult_social_care_asc/3981/learning_disabilities_ld_programme/3


Page 9 of 39 

 Midlands Foundation Partnership Trust  

 Shropshire Partners in Care  

 Other organisations/people will be co-opted onto the Board for specific items 
– e.g. Healthwatch, Public Health, Education and Skills 

 
The Board reports to the Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership (TWIPP)1 
and informs and influences the system wide Learning Disability and Autism Board. 
This enables the Learning Disability Partnership Board to:   

 Influence and engage senior leaders on issues of concern for people with 
Learning Disabilities in Telford and Wrekin; and 

 Make sure senior leaders are aware of these issues, and that they can get 
behind the changes needed to make life better for people with Learning 
Disabilities in Telford and Wrekin.  

 
The Learning Disability Partnership links to other partnerships including:  

 The Making It Real Board through the Chair and Co-chair.  

 Aiming High through the Service Delivery Manager for Learning Disabilities & 
Autism  

 The Carers Partnership Board 
 
For more information on the Learning Disability Partnership Board, including copies 
of its minutes, please see refer to its webpage.  
 
 

In January 2021 Telford Voices was set up by 
Telford & Wrekin Council, supported by Taking 
Part.  This is a group of people with Learning 
Disabilities who want to get involved in making a 
difference in Telford and Wrekin.  Telford Voices 
is a key part of the Learning Disability 
Partnership Board, the Co-chair is also a 
member of Telford Voices.  The group have been 
instrumental in supporting and influencing the 
Learning Disability consultation as outlined 
below.  
 
 

d. Consultation  
 

The consultation on the draft Learning Disability Strategy launched on 25 February 
and closed on 07 May 20212.  The purpose of the consultation was to explore further 
people’s views on specific sections of the original strategy themes:  

 Being healthy and independent  
o Support to access advice and information about healthy food 
o Access to community leisure services 

                                                           
1 The Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership is a meeting of senior leaders from a wide range of organisations in 
Telford and Wrekin, who work together to improve outcomes for local people by adopting a strengths based approach – 

focussing upon offering early help, targeted prevention and a joined up response at time of urgent need. 
2 The original closing date for the consultation was 29 April but to enable more people to complete the paper copies and return 

them the Learning Disability Partnership Board agreed on 21 April to extend the deadline to 07 May 2021. 

Page 32

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20086/adult_social_care_asc/3981/learning_disabilities_ld_programme/2


Page 10 of 39 

o Involvement in recruitment and training of paid health and social care 
staff 

 Having friends and relationships  
o Access community activities with people who have similar interests 
o Support to understand love and sexual relationships 

 Having choice  
o Support to make choices 

 Getting out and about  
o Being active members of their community  
o Access to public transport  

 Having a job  
o Importance of having a job 
o Breadth of employment opportunities 

 Having the right support  
o Support in small groups or on a one to one basis  
o Flexibility of support  

 Accessing respite  
o Flexibility of respite 
o Breadth of respite opportunities 

 The impact of Covid.   
o Developing more services in the community 

 
The consultation also asked two additional overarching questions relating to how the 
plans will affect people with a Learning Disability and how the consultation was run.  
 
The consultation activity was undertaken with due regard to the Public Sector 
Equality Duty of the S149 Equality Act 2010 in accordance with Telford & Wrekin 
Council’s values and principles: 
 

 
 
The consultation was aimed at the following people in Telford and Wrekin in 
particular: 

Openess and 
Honesty

•We will - be open 
and honest in the 
way we work and 
make decisions 
and communicate 
in a clear, simple 
and timely way

•We would like 
everyone - to be 
open and honest 
about what they 
want to improve in 
their community

Ownerships

•We will - be 
accountable for 
our own actions 
and empower 
others with the 
skills to help 
themselves

•We would like 
everyone - to the 
best of their 
abilities, to take 
action and 
responsibility for 
themselves and 
their community

Fairness and 
Respect

•We will - respond 
to people’s needs 
in a fair and 
consistent way

•We would like 
everyone - to 
respect and care 
for themselves 
and others, 
valuing the 
different ideas and 
skills that people 
bring and treating 
each other as 
equals

Involvement

•We will - work 
together with our 
communities, 
involving people in 
decisions that 
affect their lives 
and be prepared 
to listen and take 
on new ideas

•We would like 
everyone - to work 
with and support 
others, get 
involved and 
share their views 
to help us develop 
the way we do 
things.

Page 33



Page 11 of 39 

 People with Learning Disabilities, 

 Parent/carers of people with Learning Disabilities, 

 People working with, or supporting, people with Learning Disabilities,  

 Providers of Learning Disability services – including statutory services, 
residential and care home, domiciliary care providers, voluntary and 
community organisations, and  

 Commissioners of Learning Disability services. 
 
Although the consultation did not include any face-to-face sessions, due to Covid 
restrictions, the following methods of consultation were utilised:  

 Virtual consultation sessions for: 
o Adults with Learning Disabilities supported by Taking Part 
o Family and carers (unpaid) 
o Shared Lived Carers  
o People who work with, or support people with Learning Disabilities 

 Easy Read questionnaire (available in paper form is needed) 
 Online consultation questionnaire (also available in paper form if needed) 

 Sessions with Telford Voices  

 Sessions with the Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Partnership Board 

 Attendance at other stakeholder and partnership meetings (e.g. Carers 
Partnership Board, Health Scrutiny Committee, Integrated Care System 
Learning Disability & Autism Programme Board) 

 Social Media (specific consultation questions asked) 
 
To further promote accessibility to the consultation, a copy of the easy read 
questionnaire (along with a covering letter and a copy of the draft Easy Read 
Strategy) was posted to every person with a Learning Disability (and their 
parent/carer) with care and support needs known to Adult Social Care.  This was 
over 500 people.     
 
To promote the consultation a wide range of communication methods were used, 
including utilising promotion through partners’ communication routes.  The routes 
utilised directly include:  

 Press Releases 

 Social Media platforms – Telford & Wrekin Council, Live Well Telford and My 
Options  

 Newsletters: 
o Shaun’s Weekly Newsletter  
o Community News 
o Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership Newsletter  
o Safeguarding Partnership Newsletter 
o Shropshire Partner in Care Newsletter 
o Telford & Wrekin Council Staff News  
o Adult Social Care Newsletter  

 Provider Forums 

 Emails to partners, providers and Telford Interfaith Council 

 Internal Telford & Wrekin Council Latest News  
 
For analysis on the consultation communication activity please refer to Appendix A. 

Page 34



Page 12 of 39 

 

3. The Findings 
 

This section of the report summarises all the information received through the 
consultation.   
 
Across all the different types of consultation activity (as noted in the previous 
section) we received 301 responses: 
 

Consultation activity  Number of people involved 
and responses 

Easy Read Questionnaire 21 

Online Questionnaire 83 

Virtual Sessions 141 

Social Media Comments  41 

Social Media agree/disagree surveys 15 

Total 301 

 
 
a. Demographics of Questionnaire Respondents  

 
Within the questionnaires we asked people to tell us about themselves so we could 
understand about the demographics of the respondents.  In total there were 104 
questionnaire responses.   
 
Respondent Category: The biggest proportion of respondents were family 
carers/non-paid carers (41%), with people with a learning disability the next largest 
proportion of respondents (31%) as the following diagram illustrates: 
 

Page 35



Page 13 of 39 

 
Sex of respondents: 70% of the questionnaire respondents were female, with 25% 
male and 5% preferring not to say.  
 
Age of respondents: Responses were received from all age groups, except the 
over 75s, with the majority coming from the 35-59 groups (57%).  The following 
diagram shows the split across the age groups: 
 

 
 
Of the 21 easy read questionnaires completed by people with Learning Disabilities 
the majority were from the 25-34 age group (33%), with 29% from 35-59 age group, 
24% from 60-74 age group and 14% from 16-24 age group.  
 
Ethnicity of respondents:  The vast majority of respondents were from a White 
background (94%), with responses received from other ethnic groups:  

 

Page 36



Page 14 of 39 

Ethnicity  Percentage of 
respondents 

White 94% 

Mixed 1% 

Asian 1% 

Black 2% 

Other ethnic group 0% 

Prefer not to say 2% 

 
Locality of respondents:  The vast majority of respondents were from The Wrekin 
locality (50%) with people from Hadley Castle making up 27% and Lakeside South 
23%.   It is worth noting there were two responses from people residing in Much 
Wenlock.   The image below outlines the three locality boundaries:  
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

b. Consultation Question Responses 
 
This section of the report looks at the responses to each of the 18 questions and 
pulls out some of the key themes emerging from them.  For full details of the 
responses please refer to Appendix B (Online questionnaire Response Analysis) and 
C (Easy Read 
Questionnaire Response 
Analysis).  
 
For each question the 
responses have been 
amalgamated from both 
sets of questionnaires.   
 
Each question will have a 
small diagram illustrating 
the responses received – 
the image to the right 
illustrate colour key for the 
diagrams.  
 

Page 37



Page 15 of 39 

i. Being Healthy and Independent  
 
This section of the consultation looked at people’s experiences of accessing advice 
and information about health eating, accessing community leisure services, and 
being involved in recruitment of paid health and care staff.   
 
The majority of people answering the questionnaires agreed with all three of the 
questions.  However, it is worth noting that 22% of respondents did not agree that 
people with Learning Disabilities could access community leisure services.     
 
The below table summarises the responses received during the consultation.  
 
Questions Questionnaire Response Highlights 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 
people with 
Learning 
Disabilities should 
be supported to 
access advice and 
information about 
healthy food? 

“I like getting support from carer and healthy 
lifestyle, reminds me how to look after myself” 
 
“Everybody should eat healthily” 
 
“Nearly all his activities involve food to some 
degree and he finds it difficult to exercise 

restraint… Perhaps consideration could be given to the provision and 
contents of 'tuck shops'.” 
 
“There needs to be a single, easy to use point to access this 
information, in formats appropriate to the target audience, and that 
access point needs to be promoted effectively” 
 
“More needs to be done to support people (especially those not 
accessing services) to access advice and information about healthy 
food.” 
 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 
people with 
Learning 
Disabilities can 
access community 
leisure services?  
 

“I need support to go to the local leisure centres” 
 
“Adults with Learning Disabilities are not offered 
support to take full part in sport or leisure 
activities.” 
 
“At present, I feel that it's difficult for people with a 

learning disability to access Council leisure services. The Council 
needs to do more to make these services, and the activities they 
provide, more accessible to this community rather than putting on 
specific sessions for people with LD…” 
 
“… should be able to access the same community leisure activities 
that are available to everyone else” 
 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 
involving people 
with Learning 
Disabilities in the 
recruitment and 
training of paid 

“I’d like to be asked my opinion on things” 
 
“Their voices should be heard and taken into 
account. Their input and insight is valuable as 
they can give their experiences and how the 
support they get impacts in them” 
 

Page 38



Page 16 of 39 

health and social 
care staff should 
be explored?   

“Absolutely, however for those with communication challenges this 
would prove difficult. However this could be overcome by creating a 
situation where applicants spend time with the LD person to see how 
they interact, rather than formalised questions based recruitment.” 
 
“Where capacity allows. Also involve carers, they could bring a lot to 
the process with their lived experiences.” 
 

Response highlights received through other consultation routes 

 Some people are worried and anxious about going to the doctors and having a health 
check.  

 When the GP reads their records and knows their communication preferences it is 
very good and they are helpful. 

 A local website would be a good idea so people can look and see what to expect at 
hospital and appointments 

 Being scared to go to health screening appointments as they might say I’m going to 
die or something badly wrong.  

 Paid carers do not always have time to take people to appointments 

 Local telephone number that is available 24/7 for people with Learning Disabilities to 
talk to for support when it’s needed.  

 Information promoted through leaflets, window posters and buses 

 Understanding sensory issues around food for carers and care providers  

 Make sure we can support adults as well as CYP into mainstream leisure activities in 
the community  

 Have healthy eating options as a focus for care providers  

 Need to build people’s confidence to access the community post-covid  

 Important that people should keep fit and healthy and that the right amount of support 
is offered.  

 I follow Telford & Wrekin Eat Healthy Hint and Tips videos  

 Small walking groups matching people with similar abilities  

 The process for accessing health services currently is a struggle 

 Having a personalised approach to healthy lifestyles works 

 Knowing what is available is an issue  

 Not one size fits all 

 Ensuring employers understand how to interact with people and that they are treated 
equally is important.  

 

ii. Having friends and relationships 

 
This section of the consultation looked at people’s experiences of accessing 
community services with people with similar interests and understanding of love and 
relationships.   
 
The majority of people answering the questionnaires agreed with both of the 
questions.  However, it is worth noting whilst there was agreement there was a 
different of opinion over what communities activities might look like, with some 
respondents feeling activities should be specifically for people with Learning 
Disabilities, whilst others thought it was important that activities were part of the 
whole community, not separated.  
 
The below table summarises the responses received during the consultation.  

Page 39



Page 17 of 39 

 
Questions Questionnaire response highlights 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 
people with 
Learning 
Disabilities should 
be able to access 
local community 
activities with 
people with similar 
interest? 

“Would like to meet some other people with LD”  
 
“I think it makes sense that people with LD should 
access these activities with people with similar 
interests regardless of ability. Breaking down the 
social stigma and/or barriers.” 
 

“More clubs are needed to enable adults with LD to form friendships 
with others who are on the same level as themselves.” 
 
“If any individual feels comfortable and confident enough, but it has 
been my experience that the wider community although willing have 
little or no understanding of learning difficulties. They should be able 
to attend with a supportive friend free of charge.” 
 
“Should be able to access what everyone else accesses like clubs” 
 
“They should be but it’s not easy - barriers include reasonable 
adjustments and lack of understanding” 
 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 
people with 
Learning 
Disabilities should 
be supported to 
understand love 
and sexual 
relationships? 

“Yes we should be supported and educated the 
same as someone without a disability.” 
 
“I only discuss this with certain staff” 
 
“Everyone has that right- I think we should explore 
those feelings too for people who lack capacity” 

 
“Not enough education and support about promoting sexual 
relationships and love. People tend to find this area very 
uncomfortable to support.” 
 
“Yes they most certainly should. Love and sexual relationships are 
as much part of their lives, should they so wish, as everybody else 
and the wider learning around this area should be encouraged. 
Families have been asking for this support for a long time and it's 
certainly needed.” 
 

Response highlights received through other consultation routes 

 In favour of people with Learning Disabilities having choice to get together in groups 
and do activities with their friends and peers.  

 Like to meet new people 

 Feel uncomfortable or scared meeting strangers in big groups.  

 Sharing experiences and supporting each other through online sessions 

 Linking to the voluntary sector/programmes – challenges around capacity in this 
sector 

 Important to have local offers. 

 Support from social workers, parents and carers, key workers, family members and 
people they trust to understand love and sexual relationships.  

 Should be no different from people without Learning Disabilities  

 Communication and information is key – myth busting needed 

Page 40



Page 18 of 39 

 Maintaining safe relationships whilst maintaining covid safety is a challenge – a key 
concern at the moment. Need to address online safety concerns and other barriers 
that prevent people from having safe relationships.  

 

iii. Having Choice 

 
This section of the consultation looked at people’s experiences of making choices 
about their lives.  
 
Almost all questionnaire respondents agreed that individuals should be supported to 
make choices about their lives.   
 
The below table summarises the responses received during the consultation.  
 
Questions Questionnaire response highlights 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 
individuals should 
be supported to 
make choices 
about their lives, 
such as choosing 
who to live with or 
spending money? 

“I like to be independent” 
 
“I like to make choices about lots of things” 
 
“Yes, absolutely, individuals should be given 
choice and control over their lives, and more 
importantly given the right information and advice” 

 
“My son will always be reliant on others for support with daily life, 
however he should be encouraged to make choices and decisions 
where and when possible and appropriate, with appropriate support.” 
 
“This is a tricky one as people with LD can’t always see the 
bigger/longer term picture and don’t always have realistic 
expectations. Yes they need to be supported to look at their choices 
but parents/carers also need to be involved to ensure the best 
decisions are being made.” 
 

Response highlights received through other consultation routes 

 Accessible information is needed to support people making choices  

 People should have a choice of where to live and who they live with not just what is 
available or suit the circumstances at the time.  

 Certain decisions are difficult and need quite a lot of information and explaining before 
choices can be made 

 Make sure that people are not taken advantage of and are protected from 
abuse/exploitation 

 People need the right support and guidance to make choices 

 Need to make use of independent advocacy 

 Challenges when there is difference in support available for people with Learning 
Disabilities who live together but are supported through different legislation (e.g. 
Section 17 and Section 20).  

 
 

iv. Getting out and about 

 
This section of the consultation looked at people’s experiences of being active 
members of their community and accessing public transport.  

Page 41



Page 19 of 39 

 
Whilst almost all people agreed that people with Learning Disabilities should be 
active members of their community, only 58% of respondents agreed that access to 
public transport was easy and safe.  
 
The below table summarises the responses received during the consultation.  
 
Questions Questionnaire response highlights 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 
people with 
Learning 
Disabilities should 
be able to be 
active members of 
their community? 

“I like to be out and about” 
 
“My son loves being sociable and mixing with 
other community members is extremely important 
to him, and the development of his skills.  I enable 
his daily access to the wider community to my 
best effort, and encourage him to join in and 

interact with others regularly.” 
 
“They have the same rights as everyone else, been actively present 
in the community will promote acceptance.” 
 
“Sounds good in words but in reality this very rarely works.  Until 
society and workplaces as a whole are trained to be empathetic to 
people with LD they don’t stand a chance. It just causes more mental 
health issues which makes life very isolating. Better to develop 
community shops, cafes, clubs where they can work/volunteer with 
other LD adults, to give them purpose in life in a protected 
environment where they can flourish.” 
 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 
people with 
Learning 
Disabilities can 
access public 
transport easily 
and safely to get 
out and about in 
the community? 
 
(This question was also 
asked via social media 
and the responses are 
included in the chart) 

“I get anxious if buses have lots of kids on or the 
buses don't stop” 
 
“They should be able to be supported with a 
carer if needed.” 
 
“We need support to do this safely and to be able 

to choose what we do  Taxi drivers need better training and more 
disability awareness  We don’t choose to do things sometimes 
because we don’t feel safe  People prefer bus to taxis asmore 
people around but don’t feel safe in evenings and nights” 
 
“The whole process of obtaining a bus pass was difficult and I felt as 
if I was wrong in requesting this” 
 
“As long as they can access training if required to do this safely and 
that staff who work on the buses can recognise when individuals 
need assistance as all drivers are not always supportive” 
 
 

Response highlights received through other consultation routes 

 Safety is key – some female individuals not feeling safe with male taxi drivers; safety 
in public places (promote Safe Places) 

 CCTV should be available in all taxis 

 Taxi training should be updated to include raising awareness of people with Learning 
Disabilities  

Page 42



Page 20 of 39 

 Challenge that some taxis are not licensed by Telford & Wrekin Council – we should 
influence these authorities and establish best practice  

 Bad experiences (including not being reliable) have stopped people using taxis – they 
do not listen to what has been asked and just beep the horn and drive off; 
management do not ring back.  

 Maybe a taxi pass similar to a bus one 

 Unable to use the bus before 9.30am which is a barrier when they are trying to travel 
to work placements or college – bus passes should be valid at all hours and every day 
of the week: “our disability doesn’t change” 

 Dealing with money, ticket machines, understanding where the bus is going and 
where to get off can be a challenge  

 A free rider pass would be helpful so money is not an issue  

 Would be helpful if you could tell the driver where to stop for you so you do not miss 
your stop, or feel awkward when pressing the buzzer 

 People with Learning Disabilities should be able to access public transport like 
everyone else 

 Drivers not understanding hidden disabilities and Learning Disabilities – including 
wearing of masks.  

 Would help if the person’s carer travelled free or at a reduced cost – it is often a 
barrier to support people to access activities and facilities in the area.  If 2-1 carers 
then this also poses financial challenges. 

 A lack of communication options available.  

 Travel training would help – including pedestrian training 

 It can create a lot of anxiety – need to support carers and individuals to empower 
them and take small steps.  

 Lack of public transport, unhelpful times and changing routes in Telford causes extra 
anxiety and pressure 

 There should be more safe cycle routes 

 Use digital technology to support independent travel 

 People’s plans should include the need to support people getting out and about 
(children’s, EHCPs, adults and schools)  
  

 

v. Having a job 
 

This section of the consultation looked at people’s experiences of having a job.  
 
Three quarters of respondents (75.8%) felt it was important for a person with 
Learning Disabilities to have a job.   
 
Almost all respondents (90.8%) to the easy read questionnaire felt that there should 
be more employment opportunities for them.  Just over two thirds (68.7%) of people 
who responded to the online questionnaire felt that there was not enough choice of 
employment opportunities.  
 
The below table summarises the responses received during the consultation.  
 
Questions Questionnaire response highlights 

Page 43



Page 21 of 39 

How important is 
having a job to a 
person with 
Learning 
Disabilities? 

“I like being part of working group and feeling 
valued” 
 
“I've reached retirement age” 
 
“There should be more disability access to 
getting a job.  For some people getting a job or 

work experience or voluntary work is important.  Important to have a 
job and learn new skills and learn something new People should be 
able to work if they want to Should be a person’s choice” 
 
“Further work needs to be done in this area, services have 
historically focused on activities rather than work, individuals may not 
understand what work entails or how it will have a positive impact in 
their lives in the future.” 
 
“It is often dependent on the level of capacity however, it cannot be a 
blanket policy to assume it’s not important to an individual. Efforts 
should be made to give each person an opportunity.” 
 
“My son would love a job but employers discriminate against people 
with disabilities” 

“Do you think 
people with 
Learning 
Disabilities should 
have more 
opportunities to do 
different types of 
jobs?” 
(Easy Read)  
 

“Some people might want to work but there are 
not many choices for them” 
 
“Yes that would be good for my friends”  
 
“Same jobs available.” 

“Do you agree or 
disagree that there 
are a wide choice 
of employment 
opportunities for 
people with 
Learning 
Disabilities?” 
 
(Online) 

“Are a few but not many.  It’s not easy and 
people struggle.  People need support.  It can 
take a very long time  Need more places to offer 
it  Worry about benefits and if it effects them  
Sometimes feels you have to sort it yourself  
People struggle at work and need support” 
 

“I think opportunities are very limited and more so now because of 
the economic recovery due to covid that the country currently has to 
undergo, the job market was tough before, it will be tougher now and 
for some time yet to come unfortunately but it is not to say that there 
aren't opportunities still. Now is the time to encourage creative ideas 
and entrepreneurship.” 
 
“Many businesses will interview candidates but ultimately not take 
them on, or will put them on a reduced wage which is not financially 
beneficial to them.” 
 
“There is not a wide choice of employment opportunities to meet the 
needs of the cohort of people with LD locally, and this needs to be 
addressed through a network of support and wider understanding.  
Employment opportunities need to be meaningful and accessible.” 
 

Page 44



Page 22 of 39 

“We need to approach more companies and give them the support in 
this area. starting with Telford and Wrekin Council” 
 

Response highlights received through other consultation routes 

 Having the right support before and when doing the job important  

 Communication throughout the process and time to understand is also important  

 People should learn about work when they are in school or college. 

 Need the support in the work place to prevent breakdown  

 Knowledge of EAST (the Council’s service that support people with all forms of 
disability into work) is lacking and presumption they no longer exist 

 Link Live Well Telford to the Learning Disability page to enable to people to find the 
information in one place  

 Education and support for employers is needed to help get over any perceived 
barriers 

 Stepping into Work is beneficial to individuals  

 Need to lead by example – health and social care should offer jobs and work 
experience – “Be Disability Positive” 

 Very important to empower people to have this opportunity  

 People now moving into adult services now have an aspiration to work, historically this 
was not the case  

 Use of digital technology to support people into work – e.g. AutonoMe. 

 It’s an individual choice but if people with learning disability want to work then the 
opportunity should be available to them with no barriers. 

 “It’s everyday normal life isn’t it? You have to get on with it and earn some money in 
your pocket” 

 Volunteering opportunities are very important too. 

 People with LD should have the opportunity to do any job they want. We discussed 
some limitations (depending on physical abilities etc) but group agreed that it should 
depend on the skills and qualifications have rather than whether they have a LD. 

 Employers should look at working conditions and make reasonable adjustments for 
people with disabilities 

 Employers require qualifications that people cannot get – skills gap 

 There should be additional access to courses at colleges as well as employment 
opportunities. Funding has been pulled for ongoing learning every year for adults with 
special needs. 

 It needs to be understood that young adults with autism and LDs can do more than 
people think. 

 Need to also consider how the person will get to work as part of their plan 

 Employers look at the things people cannot do and they see people’s disabilities first.  

 Need to show employers that people with Learning Disabilities can work hard, be very 
honest, be kind and helpful – making them very good to work with. Use examples of 
where it is working.  

 Need to support people with Learning Disabilities to see the good things about getting 
a job and make sure people’s plans support them if they want to get a job  

 Lack of understanding about benefits and the impact a job has on them  

 Consider part time/holiday work from 14 years old to help build confidence and soft 
skills  

 Employers should take more time when asking questions at interview, use simple 
language and provide interviewees with more time to answer questions. 

 They have attended interviews where they feel the decision about who gets the job 
has already been made. When asked if they thought this was because of them 
declaring that they have a disability on their application form they thought that might 
be the case. 

Page 45



Page 23 of 39 

 

 

 

vi. Having the right support 

 
This section of the consultation looked at people’s experiences of support.  
 
The majority of questionnaire respondents felt that support should be more flexible 
(86.5%) and include more offers of support in small groups or one to one (86.4%).  
 
The below table summarises the responses received during the consultation.  
 
Questions Questionnaire response highlights 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 
support for people 
with Learning 
Disabilities should 
include more offers 
of support in small 
focus or on a one 
to one basis in the 
community? 

“Prefer 1-to-1 and smaller groups - get anxious 
and frustrated waiting for everyone in large 
groups.” 
 
“Enjoyed going to day opps and my carer doing 
day opps” 
 

“Prefer smaller groups.  Prefer to go to different places and new 
experiences rather than same places  More choice of what to do so 
not set activities for people all the time -make sure it changes  Would 
prefer less time in doing the activities -not full days so taking up full 
days -so one activity in morning one in afternoon  It’s good to go out 
a lot  Used to be a lot of waiting around for buses waiting around for 
people to come in -people get anxious when waiting  Preferred 
Newport hub was smaller groups and doing different things in local 
community” 
 
“This sounds great but it also sounds expensive so is it realistically 
achievable?” 
 
“Unfortunately the pay levels for these staff is so low that recruitment 
& retention can be an issue  activities need to be out in the 
community and exciting rather than day centres” 
 
“The level of support needed should be individualised to the person 
with LD and they should not be coerced into smaller group support 
bubbles for whatever reasons.  Needs should be considered 
carefully and with full involvement of the young person to make those 
decisions based on as much information as possible using a 'Do 
With, Not To' model.” 
 
“I do not agree with 'lumping' people with a LD together in groups. 
Unless of course this is their choice but often it is their family choice 
as a method of respite for them, rather than enjoyment for the 
individual. I would prefer groups where everyone is welcome 
regardless of ability or communication challenges.” 
 

Page 46



Page 24 of 39 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 
support for people 
with Learning 
Disabilities should 
be more flexible so 
they can have it 
when they need it?  
(e.g. in the 
evenings and on 
weekends) 

“Generally happy with support.” 
 
“I sometimes like time to myself.” 
 
“Absolutely agree.  It should be specific and 
targeted to the need of the individual.  One size 
does not fit all and should be taken into account” 

 
“Evening activities would be quieter for those on the autistic 
spectrum -day time in the town park or at the shops is too noisy and 
overwhelming  focusing care and activities during the day excludes 
these people” 
 
“Provision of support staff needs to be in place for the appropriate 
times of activities.  However consideration also needs to be given to 
the needs of those who care for them.  I work, and without suitable 
daily activities for my son I could not do so.” 
 
“Their life style should not be restricted by the care providers' 
opening hours.” 
 
“Yes I agree that they should be able to. I guess it comes down to 
the reality of staffing to achieve this flexibility, that there will be staff 
who are able to accommodate evenings and weekends. 
Unfortunately not all staff can accommodate such flexibility due to 
each individual circumstances.” 

Response highlights received through other consultation routes 

 More affordable adapted housing.  

 More dropped curbs so they don’t have to be on the road in wheelchairs  

 New builds are not built with wet rooms (including Nu Place), even though some are 
wheelchair friendly.  

 More flexible support should be available not just for adults  

 People should have choice and a mixture of small group activities and 1-to-1 
opportunities should be offered in the community. It’s a case of individual choice and 
independence – small groups for some things then 1-to-1 for others as necessary. 

 Support should be available when most needed which could be at any time, in the 
day, evening or on a weekend.  

 Time keeping is important so that care is not late when it is due. 

 All about money as hourly rates are higher out of hours. 

 It can be hard to get hold of support workers out of hours which is not good. 

 More community based support would be good – but limited capacity  

 Flexibility is key moving forward – not just fitting into a service and activity – what do 
people want to achieve and how do they want to get there, can provide one to one 
support to help achieve it.  

 Build on people’s skills 

 Longer term support around employment needed 

 Communication and information about what support is out there 

 

 

vii. Accessing Respite 

 
This section of the consultation looked at people’s experiences of respite.  

Page 47



Page 25 of 39 

 
86.4% of questionnaire respondents felt that respite or having a break options should 
be more flexible for people with Learning Disabilities and their families/carers. Over 
half of the online questionnaire and social media survey respondents felt that there 
was not a wide choice of options for respite or having a break in Telford and Wrekin.  
Within these questions there was a significant proportion of respondents who said 
they ‘did not know’, especially from people with Learning Disabilities.  
 
The below table summarises the responses received during the consultation.  
 
Questions Questionnaire response highlights 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 
respite/having a 
break should be 
more flexible for 
people with 
Learning 
Disabilities and 
their 
families/carers? 

“I enjoy going to respite with shared lives carers, 
it gives me and sister a break.” 
 
“I do with my shared lives carers but some 
friends seem to have less and different 
experiences” 
 

“More choice.  Like it same person when doing respite so they know 
me and I know them” 
 
“Definitely more flexibility but also more opportunities and a 
reasonable cost. Many times respite is lacking and/or unaffordable. 
Also easier to access without judgment by gatekeepers” 
 
“If you go on holiday you don't holiday 9-5pm” 
 
“Not enough respite options for adults with severe Learning 
Disabilities locally” 
 
“You get 'respite' from your non LD family members when they go 
out with friends or go on holiday. Why should it be different for a 
person with LD? If respite has to be building based why can’t this be 
a hotel by the seaside or an activity centre based holiday for them 
with support if needed? I don't believe in local respite, who would 
choose to go on holiday in their own home town unless it was a 
luxury hotel with lovely facilities?” 

Do you think 
people with 
Learning 
Disabilities and 
their families or 
carers in Telford 
and Wrekin have 
more choice for 
respite? (Easy 
Read) 

“Yes, more choice should be available.” 
 
“I enjoy going to the same respite carers” 

Do you agree or 
disagree that there 
is a wide choice of 
options for 
respite/having a 
break for people 
with Learning 

“There are very few options and social services 
are not very good at researching what is 
available. I currently can't access respite because 
we have to pay for it and I can't afford to.” 
 

Page 48



Page 26 of 39 

Disabilities and 
their 
families/carers in 
Telford and 
Wrekin? (Online) 
 
(This question was also 
asked via social media 
and the responses 
included in the chart) 

“Open up the day centres as soon as possible so we carers can 
have a break, especially when we've sheilded them for 4 months” 
 
“Respite options extremely limited currently. The only time we have 
had an overnight respite break from our son with an LD is when 
friends have offered to look after him. So thats been two or three 
nights in the 5 years we have lived in T&W. Short daytime breaks 
like Ican2 or A2A are good but that all stops when the young people 
get to 25.” 
 
“There are no clubs/ shortbreak options available for adults at 
present. This needs to be looked at, family carers need some time 
away from caring too. In the long  run more money needs to go into 
this as if not more pressure will be put on families and could result in 
social services having to get more involved and becoming more 
costly for the council.  Art clubs, gardening clubs,  dance/acting 
clubs, social clubs. Will also give valuable skills which may result in 
better outcomes for the LD adult.” 
 
“I am unsure of the numbers of opportunities for these facilities , but 
strongly feel it should be widely available and people to be made 
aware of this type of facility” 

Response highlights received through other consultation routes 

 Respite is a personal choice but more opportunities should be made available 

 Funding to support charities to provide support, including respite, withdrawn  

 There are only nursing/elderly care settings, or they are miles away, that are not 
always appropriate.  

 “Don't know of any - always been a shortage”  

 

viii. Impact of Covid 

 
This section of the consultation looked at people’s experiences of support.  
 
Nine out of ten respondents (91.1%) felt that service providers should develop more 
services in the community for people with Learning Disabilities.     
 
The below table summarises the responses received during the consultation.  
 
Questions Questionnaire response highlights 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 
service providers 
should develop 
more services for 
people with 
Learning 
Disabilities in the 
community? 

“Been quite happy with support from shared lives 
carer because I've had lots to do.” 
 
“Would enjoy more support” 
 
“Providers need to support individuals to become 
part of their own community, enjoy what is 

available to them and to be involved in making changes to benefit 
everyone.” 
 
“While online stuff has been the only option during covid, it's not a 
suitable replacement for face to face / physical services.” 
 

Page 49



Page 27 of 39 

“Yes, we’ve managed to meet up with others with similar disabilities 
either online or outside in person when allowed but she has missed 
not being able to attend her usual clubs and at times she’s felt 
isolated.” 
 
“For 2 days a week we rely on a charity for day activities.  There is 
currently very limited choice for local activities.” 
 
“Community Enterprise Facility ... My place in the Community, 
working towards a community hub/shop offering a work place for 
small groups to work, gain skills in the production of items for retail.  
Develop the Public’s awareness and value of people with disabilities 
…” 

Response highlights received through other consultation routes 

 Activities group would like to see made available include: Dancing, Zumba, getting 
back to work and accessing Arty Party on-line. 

 Some individuals don’t like accessing activities on-line so want to access day 
opportunities but not in one place all day.  

 Have a menu of activities at different locations which people could go between during 
the day. May be at one centre in the morning and another one in the afternoon or stay 
at one all day but have different activities to stimulate interest.  

 Small group activities rather than traditional day services where everyone does the 
same thing. 

 More local services should be offered but it has been very difficult to access anything 
recently because of Covid19 restrictions.  

 Not enough information about the lockdown easing and not in a format that is easy to 
understand (shielding was mentioned). Not enough information offered locally. 

 Restrictions are easing too quickly and there is concern about cases rising. 

 More face to face options needed 

 Community Enterprise Facility or Skills and Enterprise Hub needed 

 Providers are restricted by regulation 

 Needs are not considered enough by service providers  

 More community integration needed 

 

ix. Overarching Questions 

 
This section of the consultation looked at people’s views on the plans as a whole and 
how the consultation was communicated.   
 
Around two thirds of respondents (66.3%) felt that the plans would make things 
better for people with a learning disability, no respondents felt that the plans would 
make things worse. It is worth noting that 20% did not know if the plans would make 
things better.  
 
Just over two thirds (68.3%) of respondents were happy with the way we were 
finding out what people thought about the strategy.  
 
The below table summarises the responses received during the consultation.  
 
Questions Questionnaire response highlights 

Page 50



Page 28 of 39 

In your opinion 
how do you think 
our plans will affect 
people with a 
learning disability? 

“Don’t believe it will happen for everyone with a 
learning disability, often those with a physical and 
learning disability are in my experience excluded 
from any new initiatives” 
 
“Hopefully!  I would like to think that this last year 
has provided the opportunity to reflect on what 

works well.  There is no one-size fits all.  As there are financial 
constraints, perhaps there could be greater liaison with voluntary 
groups -Club 2000, Green Gym, Walking for Health and whatever 
else is out there!” 
 
“In theory, most of it sounds positive but it depends if you actually 
follow through on the things you say you will do. It also sounds like 
you are putting a lot of focus on getting people into paid employment 
so that you don't have to provide so many services / so much 
funding for people. Your comments on what we will do for Impact of 
Covid19 (p18) doesn't actually say very much!” 
 
“Would like to think things will get better but as a member of the 
public/parent/carer it is difficult to see who is accountable for actually 
making changes any making things happen.” 
 
“If people with Learning Disabilities are heard and understood and 
listened too it would make things better for them to live their lives and 
have the support needed for them” 
 

Are you happy with 
the way we are 
finding out what 
people think about 
this strategy? 

“I was sent a link from a friend but I did not know 
about it myself” 
 
“The Easy to understand guide sent to customers 
was easy to support customers to fill in” 
 
“Local focus groups would have encouraged 

those who are not internet savvy to have their say. I have not heard 
of nor been invited to one. People with Learning Disabilities may 
have found attending one useful” 
 
“Not everyone likes to put their opinion forward until changes have 
been made. Not everyone thinks there opinion will be counted” 
 
“Appreciate it is difficult at this time with Covid restrictions of offering 
face to face meetings or larger organised meetings.” 

Response highlights received through other consultation routes 

 “Finding out about the plan through Telford Voices group and e-mails etc from LA” 

 “Liked the opportunity to get together on Teams to discuss although a couple of 
people said they were very nervous about attending” 

 “Format is not particularly friendly for those with dyslexia (coloured paper and/or 
different coloured print required).” 

 

 

Page 51



Page 29 of 39 

The consultation also provided an opportunity for respondents to share any other 
comments they may have.  29 questionnaire respondents took this opportunity and 
their responses have been themed into the following areas: 
 

 Need to ensure aspirations are implemented 

 Good to have the opportunity to give opinions 

 Consultation not well advertised/difficult to find 

 Families willing to work with LA for best outcomes/need to involve families 
more  

 Focus groups would have been useful/ go out and speak to groups/ was not 
aware of meetings  

 Need support to complete forms/ use internet/ completing consultation has 
been difficult  

 People with Learning Disabilities want the same as everyone else 
 
For copies of the full comments received through the consultation period please refer to the 
following appendices: 

 Appendix B - Detailed analysis of Easy Read Questionnaire Responses 

 Appendix C – Detailed analysis of Online Questionnaire Responses 

 Appendix D – Comments from Virtual Lived Experience Consultation Sessions 

 Appendix E – Comments from Virtual Sessions for Family Carers and Professionals 

 Appendix F – Social Media Comments 

 Appendix G – Stakeholder Meeting Comments 

 
 

4. Conclusion  
 
The development of the Learning Disability Strategy over the past year has included a wide 
range of engagement, feedback and co-production with people with lived experience, 
parents, carers, family members and people who work with or support people with Learning 
Disabilities.  Despite the impact of Covid, the development of the strategy has continued and 
has enabled a rich amount of feedback to be gathered through both the Pre-Consultation 
Engagement period and the Consultation.   
 
The findings of the consultation demonstrate that the majority of people are 
supportive of the areas of improvement outlined in the draft Strategy.   
 
The following images shows some of the key headline results and quotes from people with 
Learning Disabilities and parent carers. 
 

Page 52



Page 30 of 39 

 
 

 
 

Page 53



Page 31 of 39 

Within the 8 areas of improvement that were consulted upon three of them stood out as 
being the ones that respondents were most concerned about: 

 Getting out and about,   

 Having the right support, and  

 Accessing Respite. 
It is recommended that the draft strategy is expanded to include more detail on these three 
areas and that these are areas that the Learning Disability 
Partnership Board monitor and scrutinise regularly.  
 
The findings also highlighted four overarching themes, these include:  

 Accessibility – including information, advice and community resources;  

 Disability Awareness – including in public and businesses 

 Communication – including accessibility, timeliness and methods of communicating 
with hard to reach areas of the community; 

 Use of technology– including using digital developments to improve independence 
at home, getting out and out and employment.  

 
Whilst these themes were reflected in some of the initial engagement work undertaken, 
which shaped the draft strategy, they are important in enabling people with Learning 
Disabilities to live well and enjoy a full life, with as much independence as possible.  It is 
recommended that these additional themes are added to the Learning Disability Strategy 
and associated actions considered within the Strategy action plan.  
 

Impact of Covid 
 
The Covid pandemic has impacted on the development of the strategy in that no face to face 
sessions were able to be held due to the Government restrictions in place and the increased 
risks for people.   However, other types of engagement events were held, including virtual 
sessions, utilising social media and attending stakeholder virtual meetings.  The consultation 
was open to any other forms of engagement should they be requested as long as they were 
within the Government’s guidelines at that time.  
 
As outlined in the draft strategy, there are estimated to be over 4,000 adults with Learning 
Disabilities in the Borough, of which only 500 have Care and Support Needs and are 
therefore known to the Local Authority.  This impacts on the ability to share information 
directly with people as they are not known to the Local Authority and are therefore reliant on 
other communication routes to share the information. Whilst the communications were wide 
ranging (please see Appendix A for a summary of these) it was also reliant on the sharing of 
information through various groups and services, including the Parent and Carer Forum 
(PODs), Carers Partnership Board and Carers Centre, Voluntary, Community and Social 
Enterprise Sector, NHS partners, GPs, 
Healthwatch, Care Providers and word of 
mouth.  Additionally, the natural 
communication that happens in 
community and peer support groups was 
not able to be fully utilised due to the 
Government restrictions in place.   
 
As the Country moves out of the Covid-
19 lockdowns the opportunities to 
address the additional overarching four 
themes is evident.  Key to all of these 
themes is the ability to engage with 

Recommendation 

Recommendation 

Improving engagement post Covid 
 

Several of the comments received in the 
consultation highlighted the difference 
providing information face to face, through 
already existing community/local groups and 
networks, would make to people with Learning 
Disabilities.  This approach would also help to 
improve engagement with some of the harder 
to reach communities, reducing health 
inequalities, and improving outcomes for 
people.  

Recommendation 

Page 54



Page 32 of 39 

people with lived experience in their communities, which due to Covid has not been possible 
through this process.    
 
It is worth noting that the impact Covid has, and is continuing to have, on people with 
disabilities and their families and carers, cannot be underestimated.  The recent report by 
Marmot ‘Build Back Fairer’3 highlighted that the inequalities that were already present pre-
covid have been exposed and amplified.  The Marmot report goes into detail about the 
inequalities but for people with disabilities as well as being at a higher risk of dying as a 
result of Covid, they are also more likely to be negatively impacted on in terms of, social 
isolation, mental and physical health, food poverty and future health inequalities.  It is 
important that the work to implement the strategy also takes into account the specific health 
inequalities that people with Learning Disabilities in Telford and Wrekin face.  
 
 
 

5. Recommendations and Next Steps 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
3 Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review 

Recommendation 

Page 55

https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/build-back-fairer-the-covid-19-marmot-review


Page 33 of 39 

This report will be presented to Telford & Wrekin Council’s Cabinet on 16 September 
2021, for consideration of the following recommendations.   
 

Members are asked to: 

 
i.Note the results and response to the Learning Disability Consultation as 
outlined in this report;   

  
ii.To approve proposals for the draft Learning Disability Strategy to be amended 

as follows:   
a. Four additional overarching themes are added to the Strategy 
(Accessibility, Disability Awareness, Communication and Use 
of Technology);  
b. More detail on the three areas (Getting out and About, Having the 
Right Support and Respite) is included in the strategy and that these 
are areas that the Learning Disability Partnership Board monitor and 
scrutinise regularly;  
c. Data to be updated and further information provided 
about the different types of Learning Disabilities;   
d. More detail on the prevention agenda  
e. Strengthen the links to the Integrated Care System programme of 
work.  
f. Should the action plan be approved, the strategy to be updated to 
reflect the new ‘We will…’ areas.  
g. Ongoing engagement and co-production activity with people 
with Learning Disabilities and their parents/family to continually improve 
services provided across the borough to include face to face 
sessions in the community and work with hard to reach communities.  

  
iii. To approve the draft Learning Disability Strategy Action Plan;   

  
iv.To continue to ensure the health inequalities experienced by people 

with Learning Disabilities in Telford and Wrekin are considered and appropriate 
actions taken to improve the health of people with Learning Disabilities when 
implementing the strategy;   

  
v.To pledge to support and provide employment opportunities within Telford & 

Wrekin Council for people with Learning Disabilities, including ensuring the 
employment process is accessible;   

  
vi.To champion the need for all organisations within the Integrated Care System 

to pledge to support and provide employment opportunities within their own 
organisations; and  

  
vii.To grant delegated authority to the Director: Adult Social Care in consultation 

with the Lead Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and the Telford and 
Wrekin Learning Disability Partnership Board to take the necessary steps to 
implement these recommendations.   

 

 

Page 56



Page 34 of 39 

Next Steps 
 
Following presentation to Telford & Wrekin Council’s Cabinet the draft strategy (and easy 
read version) and the findings from the consultation is shared with people who have taken 
part and the detailed action plan finalised.  
 
The Telford & Wrekin Learning Disability Partnership Board (LDPB) will hold all 
organisations/services to account for delivery of the Strategy and Action Plan.  The LDPB 
will be supported by the Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership and the Telford & 
Wrekin Health and Wellbeing Board.  
 
In addition, the LDPB will continue to co-produce any actions and service developments with 
Telford Voices, and other groups of people with lived experience, to further develop the 
actions so that they remain relevant and impactful over the period of the strategy.  They will 
also regularly consult with them to ensure the actions being completed are delivering the 
required outcomes.    
 

Page 57



Page 35 of 39 

6. Appendix A – Communications Summary  
 

 

Page 58



Page 36 of 39 

Appendix B - Detailed analysis of Easy Read Questionnaire 
Responses 
 

LD Consultation 

Easy Read Analysis - May 2021.docx
 

 
 
 

Appendix C – Detailed analysis of Online Questionnaire 
Responses 
 

LD Consultation 

Online Questionnaire Analysis - final report May 2021.pdf
 

 
 

Appendix D – Comments from Virtual Lived Experience 

Consultation Sessions  
 

Learning Disability 

Consultation - Lived Experience Session Comments - April 2021.pdf
 

 

Appendix E – Comments from Virtual Sessions for Family 

Carers and Professionals 
 

Learning Disability 

Consultation - Family Carer and Professional Session Comments - March and April 2021.pdf
 

 

Appendix F – Social Media Comments 
 

Theme Comment 

Being Healthy and 
Independent  

 A local telephone number manned 247 that people with Learning 
Disabilities/mental health issues can ring to talk to someone about 
anything that was playing on their minds. This would help the ambulance 
service, the hospitals and GP surgeries by giving the individuals someone 
to talk to, someone to just listen. Reducing attention seeking aimed at 

Page 59



Page 37 of 39 

inappropriate avenues and preventing unnecessary emergency service call 
outs and hospital admissions.  

Having friends and 
relationships 

None received 

Having Choice None received 

Getting out and 
about 

 Our adults with Learning Disabilities need stimulation to get out and about. 
My daughter lives in assisted living and is supported daily. However the 
support staff are happy just to sit and watch TV with her! We need to 
change the way we support in the community with access to good daily 
nutritional exercise and wellbeing support and advice. This is often missed 
for our Learning Disabilities group. 

 That’s interesting as I got my bus pass with Telford and Wrekin Council on 
the basis of my Learning Disability. 

 Telford don't even give a bus pass to those with learning difficulties. 
Scotland give one for middle rate care DLA claimants but not down here  

 not sure if it’s still the same but I work at Telford college and support 
students on work placements but they were unable to use bus pass before 
9.30 which is a barrier when they are trying to travel to work placements or 
even getting to college on time  

 Yes often they don’t drive and the bus service is essential. Years ago in 
the days of travel tokens you could also use them in a taxi which was also 
great idea. Some autistic people with sensory issues find travelling on a 
bus difficult. Maybe an option again?  

 No disabled can't access transport easily at all some can't read where bus 
is going deal with money then cope with all people on the bus  

 It would be helpful if you had a free rider card so money is not an issue 
when traveling on the busses for people with Learning Disabilities.  

 Educate people who provide the mainstream provision to know how to 
support better and adapt to need. Businesses need to be willing to 
understand and learn about individuals needs.  

 No, I don't think its easy for them at all. My daughter can't use a bus alone 
due to being unable to read the destination on the front...also not knowing 
where she needs to get off and the fact that there are too many people on 
the bus for her to cope with all the different noises. She also struggles 
understanding money.  

 Not only appropriate transport needed but holiday clubs needed too  

 It would be helpful if when getting on the bus, you could tell the driver 
where to stop for you, so you do not miss your stop, or feel awkward when 
pressing the buzzer.   

 Public transport in Telford is a disgrace at the best of times !!!  

 Agree they should be able to do like everyone else  

 Yes they should be able to access  

 My daughter couldn’t  

 Shame I've only just seen this. Had a few bad experiences like waiting for 
a bus which came into the wrong stand, then driver refused to let me on as 
he'd started to pull away. Another where despite having an exemption the 
driver insisted I needed a mask. Another where I was refused travel due to 
bus being 'full' due to Coronavirus restriction BS. Luckily was able to catch 
a train as I was trying to get to TCAT for training (thanks for funding that, 
BTW). I do have a diagnosed condition, FWIW.  

 It would be helpful if the disabled persons carer travelled free or at a 
reduced cost, with carers allowance being below £70 per week cost could 
be a barrier to chaperoning people with learning difficulties to access 
activities and facilities in the area.  

 No. Imagine having a leaning disability and having to find your way around 
using complicated ticket machines. Needs a range of communication 
options  

Page 60



Page 38 of 39 

Having a job  There should be additional access to courses at colleges as well as 
employment opportunities. Funding has been pulled for ongoing learning 
every year for adults with special needs. 

 But as for the employment opportunities, they should be doing equal 
opportunities anyways regardless. 

 It needs to be understood that young adults with autism and LDs can do 
more than people think. When trying to get support for my son starting 
University there was either no understanding or people come out with 
ridiculous comments like am I sure he’s autistic as he’s clever . Just 
because someone is capable academically does not mean that they can 
manage socially or cope with daily living with no support. They still may not 
be able to budget or cook a meal or travel independently. I had to sort out 
my sons care with his Uni who provided funding for an assistant for him. 
Most Unis don’t do this as it’s down the LA from the home address to do so 
just as it would be if they were in a residential home. It’s time there was 
more support for those able to study who can then hopefully go in to a 
workplace. Don’t make assumptions and don’t write them off. Also having 
someone tell you that you aren’t a carer as it’s your own child is 
unacceptable.  

 That’s all very well but finding someone to take them on after there college 
is another thing places are not available for all the stress of 
claiming esa and pip could be made easy  

 Not sure, the young gentleman I know through our Rugby Team, the XXX 
(name of team redacted to prevent identification) they are great volunteer 
roles but not sure they have been offered and employment team 

Having the right 
support  

 But if the council are also trying to ask people if those with a learning 
disability should have more flexible support, then I’m thinking why they 
don’t already?  

 More affordable adapted housing. More dropped curbs so they don’t have 
to be on the road in wheelchairs  

 we've just moved into a new build by Nuplace into a wheelchair friendly 
home. We had a wheelchair lift fitted. Crazy that the bungalows on the site 
are all having baths put in them instead of wet rooms.  

 Schools fully support them  

 Defo more flexible support should be available not just for adults either and 
transport is also an issue as well  

Accessing Respite  I used to work for a charity that gave respite support to people with 
Learning Disabilities. Telford and Wrekin Council withdrew funding so the 
people's family members didn't get the support they wanted and I lost my 
job. So much for a caring council!  

 Would help if the council brought back funding for the respite care facilities 
that they closed a few years ago. I and many others were made redundant 
as support workers for people with Learning Disabilities.  I don't think 
Telford and Wrekin Council care a great deal for people who have 
Learning Disabilities and this is just Lip service.  

 There's only nursing / elderly care settings that aren't always appropriate. 
Years ago there used to be clubs and holidays clubs where Learning 
Disabilities and young people with disabilities could go but they are rarely 
heard of now or they are miles away.  

 Not enough options at all, especially wrap around care for school, its non-
existent  

 don't know of any - always been a shortage  

 I am a carer for my son who is a adult I don't get any help  

 Nowhere near enough at all!!  

 I don’t know of any  

 It's rubbish!!  
 

Impact of Covid None received 
 

Page 61



Page 39 of 39 

Other  Why single out learning difficulties, shouldn’t you be looking at ‘those 
people with additional needs’; regardless of the need for support. Help all 
night single out one group.  

 We had to fight as we weren't over 55. Crazy because young people can 
be disabled also  

 Maybe an initiative for physically disabled people? There are a lot of parts 
of telford that aren’t very accessible if you’re in a wheelchair or use 
crutches or a walker. Loads of pavements around the place aren’t dropped 
enough and some places are missing them altogether, pavements are 
uneven and narrow in places, making them dangerous for these people to 
use.  

 they have always been forgotten and never a second thought for them it's 
disgusting how Telford treat them there the forgotten as if they don't 
count its disgusting when they have a lot to offer if they only had 
the chance  

 There is not enough support for individuals with Learning Disabilities  

 Telford a dump for people with Aspergers Telford and Wrekin. Council. 
Don't care  

 What about people with autism who have difficulty but have no Learning 
Disabilities  

 

 

Appendix G – Stakeholder Meeting Comments 
 

Learning Disability 

Consultation - Stakeholder Meeting Comments - March and April 2021.pdf
 

Page 62



Overview of Progress

Action Plan Area Number of Actions 
Cabinet Recommendations 10
Being Healthy and Independent 14
Having Friends and Relationships 5
Having Choice 6
Getting Out and About 10
Having a Job 8
Having the Right Support 8
Accessing Respite 4
Impact of Covid 6
Overarching Themes 4

Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Strategy Action Plan 
2021-2024

Page 63



Priority Area No
Actions to Deliver Priority Timescale 

for delivery 
Success criteria Lead 

1.1 Four additional overarching themes are added 
to the Strategy (Accessibility, Disability 
Awareness, Communication and Use of 
Technology);

End of 
September 
2021

1.2 More detail on the three areas (Getting out 
and About, Having the Right Support and 
Respite) is included in the strategy and that 
these are areas that the Learning Disability 
Partnership Board monitor and scrutinise 
regularly

End of 
September 
2021

1.3 Data to be updated and further explanations 
given around the different levels of learning 
disability

End of 
September 
2021

1.4 More detail on the prevention agenda End of 
September 
2021

1.5 Strengthen the links to the Integrated Care 
System programme of work

End of 
September 
2021

1.6 Ongoing engagement and co-production 
activity with people with learning disabilities 
and their parents/family to continually improve 
services provided across the borough to 
include face to face session in the community 
and work with hard to reach communities

End of 
September 
2021

1.7 Ensure that the health inequalities of people 
with learning disabilities in Telford and Wrekin 
is considered when implementing the strategy

End of 
September 
2021

1.8 To pledge to support and provide employment 
opportunities within Telford & Wrekin Council 
for people with Learning Disabilities, including 
ensuring the employment process is 
accessible

End of 
September 
2021

1.9  To champion the need for all organisations 
within the Integrated Care System to pledge 
to support and provide employment 
opportunities within their own organisations

End of 
September 
2021

1.10 To grant delegated authority to the Director: 
Adult Social Care in consultation with the 
Lead Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
and the Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability 
Partnership to take the necessary steps to 
implement these recommendations

End of 
September 
2021

Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Strategy Action Plan: Cabinet Reccomendations

Cabinet 
Recommendati
ons 

P
age 64



Priority Area No Actions to Deliver Priority Timescale 
for delivery Success criteria Lead 

2.1 Work with Telford & Wrekin Public Health 
Team to promote public health information, 
advice and guidance - including promoting 
the Healthy Lifestyles Team 

Mar-22 Specific measures to be developed through the 
work but potentially include: 
- Ongoing communications plan in place
- Accessible public health information is 
available
- Increase in number of people with learning 
disabilities being supported by the Healthy 
Lifestyles Team
- Reduction in health inequalities

2.2 Work with providers of Learning Disability 
Services (including residential, domicilary 
care and day services) to promote and 
support healthy eating and exercise as part of 
their packages. 

Dec-21 TWC 
Commissioners, 
STW CCG 
Commissioners, 
Shropshire Partners 
in Care (SPIC)

2.3 Work with Telford & Wrekin Leisure Services 
and external community leisure services to 
improve accessibility and inclusion (inc 
reasonsable adjustments) 

Mar-23 Specific measures to be developed through the 
work but potentially include: 
- improvements in accessibility recorded by 
people accessing the service
- increased number of people with learning 
disabilities accessing leisure services

2.4 Expand the online community directory, Live 
Well Telford, to include a specific section for 
people with learning disabilities - to include 
information about what is on offer around 
being healthy and independent and what to 
expect at health appointments. This also 
needs to include a Communications and 
Engagement Plan. 

Dec-21 TWC Information 
and Advice Officer

2.5 Work with the leads of the Integrated Care 
Record to ensure that communication 
preferences are included in the record for all 
professionals to see and that the importance 
of using this information is included in the 
training for professionals

Oct-21 TWC Integrated 
Care Record lead 

2.6 Continue to improve the number of people 
with learning disabilities accessing their 
annual health checks

Dec-21 STW CCG 
Commissioner 

2.7 Develop appropriate quality assurance 
checks for the annual health checks to 
ensure that the information within them is 
actioned. 

Dec-21 STW CCG 
Commissioner 

2.8 Work with people with learning disabilities to 
develop appropriate information to help 
reduce anxiety and worry about health 
checks 

Dec-21 STW CCG 
Commissioner & 
Telford Voices

2.9 Continue to champion the needs of people 
with learning disabilities in out of 
hospital/community health services

Mar-22 All out of hospital/community health services 
have appropriate pathways to support people 
with learning disabilities to remain at home 
rather than be admitted to hospital in a health 
crisis 

All members of the 
LD Partnership 
Board

2.10 Improve the accessibility options for people 
with learning disability with mental health 
services 

Dec-21 CCG, Midlands 
Partnership 
Foundation Trust

2.11 Develop appropriate accessible resources to 
promote and support people with learning 
disabilities to build on their emotional 
wellbeing and reslience.

Dec-21 CCG, Midlands 
Partnership 
Foundation Trust

2.12 Care Act Assessments, Reviews and 
subsequent Support Plans to include 
discussions around healthy eating, exercise 
and health checks and what support they 
need as appropriate 

Oct-21 TWC Principal 
Social Worker

2.13 Work with providers to ensure that 
recruitment and training includes the voice of 
people with learning disabilities 

Mar-22 TWC 
Commissioners, 
STW CCG 
Commissioners, 
Shropshire Partners 
in Care (SPIC)

Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Strategy Action Plan: Being Healthy and Independent

Being Healthy 
and 
Independent 

Page 65



Priority Area No
Actions to Deliver Priority Timescale 

for delivery 
Success criteria Lead 

3.1 Work with Telford & Wrekin Council 
Community Support team to encourage and 
support community groups and activities to 
be more accessible and inclusive for people 
with learning disabilities 

Mar-22

TWC Team Leader, 
Learning Disability 
and Autism Team

3.2
Work with carers and providers to share 
information and encourage them to access 
community groups and activities and meet 
their peers as well as new people. Dec-22

TWC Learning 
Disability 
Commissioner 
Learning Disability 
and Autism Team

3.3 Work with Childrens Services, Education 
provisions and parent representative groups 
to develop an appropriate 
educational/training plan around love and 
sexual relationships

Taking Part to be 
commissioned

3.4 Develop a workforce development training 
plan around love and sexual relationships to 
support workers to have regular 
conversations with people with learning 
disabilities (and their carers where 
appropriate) Mar-22

TWC Principal 
Social Worker 

3.5 Identify and promote a series of accessible 
resources around love and sexual 
relationships (including online and phsyical 
safety) and develop an associated 
communications campaign 10-Oct

Taking Part and 
SDM LD and Autism

Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Strategy Action Plan: Having Friends and Relationships

Having Friends 
and 
Relationships

Page 66



Priority Area No
Actions to Deliver Priority Timescale 

for delivery 
Success criteria Lead 

4.1 Work with providers to ensure they are 
supporting people to make choices

Nov-21 TWC LD 
Commissioner 

4.2 Include in the commissioning framework for 
providers of LD services the requirement to 
support people to make choices whilst in their 
care - ensuring that accessible information is 
provided in a way that meets the individual's 
needs and that they are provided with enough 
time to make decisions 

Mar-22 TWC LD 
Commissioner 

4.3 Indentify and Promote accessible resources 
to support people making choices around key 
live decisions - e.g. housing, preparing for 
adulthood, finances…etc 

Sep-22 TWC Information 
Officer and SDM LD 
and Autism service

4.4 Promote with parents and carers the 
resources available around making choices 

Dec-22 PODs & Carers 
Partnership Board

4.5 Work with housing providers to deliver the 
Specialist Housing and Accomodation Policy 

Dec-25 TWC LD 
Commissioner and 
Housing Strategy 
and Commissioning 
Manager

4.6 Promote the use of advocacy services to 
support people to make choices 

Dec-21 Mandatory fields within recording systems - 
promote advocacy services through 
communication channels 

TWC Informaton 
Officer and SDM LD 
and Autism service

Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Strategy Action Plan: Having Choice

Having Choice 

Page 67



Priority Area No
Actions to Deliver Priority Timescale 

for delivery 
Success criteria Lead 

5.1 Continue to work with social workers to 
ensure they have conversations with people 
and their carers/parents about their 
aspirations and travel requirements and that 
their Care Act Assessment and Support Plan 
reflects how they will achieve them. 

Mar-22 Audits on assessments and support plans 
clearly articulate aspirations and plans to 
achieve them

TWC Team Leader, 
Learning Disability & 
Autism Team

5.2 Work with the Community Safety Partnership 
to explore ways in which we can enable 
people to feel safer in their community 

Mar-22 Telford Voices, SDM 
Learning Disability 
and Autism

5.3 Work with Community Centres, Parish and 
Town Councils to support them to provide 
accessible information about what is going on 
in local areas 

Dec-22 Telford Voices, 
Taking Part 

5.4 Expand the online community directory, Live 
Well Telford, to include a specific section for 
people with learning disabilities (linked to 
action 2.4) - to include information about what 
is on offer in the community, groups and 
activities 

Dec-21 TWC Information 
Officer SDM LD and 
Autism

5.5 Work with the Safeguarding Partnership to 
explore ways to further develop and promote 
Safe Places

Mar-22 SDM LD and Autism

5.6 Work with TWC Taxi Licensing team to 
improve the training and requirements for taxi 
drivers around disabilities and reasonable 
adjustments 

Oct-21 Telford Voices, 
Taking Part and 
TWC Service 
Delivery Manager for 
My Options 

5.7 Consider writing to other neighbouring Local 
Authorities to request them to include in their 
taxi licensing disability awareness training.

Dec-21 TWC Licensing 
Team

5.8 Share the feedback from the consultation 
around transport with the TWC Transport 
Team to be included in the current Bus 
Service survey as well as any other service 
developments. 

Aug-21 TWC Integration 
Programme 
Manager 

5.9 Consider further developing travel and 
pedestrian training across both children and 
adults services 

Dec-21 SDM LD and Autism

5.10 Work with the TWC Assistive Technology 
team to understand what digital technology is 
available to support independent travel. 

Oct-21 TWC Team Leader, 
Learning Disability & 
Autism Team

5.11 Use the feedback from the consultation to 
review future requirements from TWC fleet 
transport 

Oct-21 Integrated Tranport 
Services

Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Strategy Action Plan: Getting Out and About

Getting out and 
about 

Page 68



Priority Area No
Actions to Deliver Priority Timescale 

for delivery 
Success criteria Lead 

6.1 Continue to work with people, their family and 
carers to understand and develop their 
employment aspirations 

TWC Team Leader, 
Learning Disability & 
Autism Team

6.2 Develop and implement a Telford & Wrekin 
Council LD&A employability support 
framework

TWC EAST 
Manager, TWC 
Service Delivery 
Manager for My 
Options, TWC 
Service Delivery 
Manager & TWC 
Service Delivery 
Manager, SEND 

6.3 Work with Childrens Services, Education and 
College provisions to ensure that 
employment aspirations are part of the 
discussion from an earlier age (pre-18)

TWC SDM Learning 
Disability and Autism 
service

6.4 Promote the TWC Education and 
Employment Advisory Team (EAST) offer 
with schools, colleges, parents, carers, 
Childrens Services, Adult Services and 
Providers. 

TWC EAST 
Manager 

6.5 Further develop the range of programmes 
available to support people into employment - 
including digital and peer programmes, 
courses, work placements, volunteering and 
work experiences 

TWC EAST 
Manager, TWC 
Service Delivery 
Manager for My 
Options, TWC LD 
and Autism Service 
Delivery Manager & 
TWC Service 
Delivery Manager, 
SEND 

6.6 To request that the Integrated Care System 
pledge for all organisations to make 
opportunities for people with learning 
disabilities to be employed by them (leading 
by example). This should also include 
recruitment system and processes that are 
accesible. 

Sep-21 TWC Director of 
Adult Social Care 
and Co-Chair of the 
LD Partnership

6.7 Work with businesses and communities 
organisations to further develop the range of 
employment opportunities available 
(including micro-enterprises, volunteering 
and work placements)

Dec-22 TWC EAST 
Manager, TWC 
Service Delivery 
Manager for My 
Options, TWC LD 
and Autism Service 
Delivery Manager & 
TWC Service 
Delivery Manager, 
SEND 

6.8 Develop appropriate resources, 
communication material and support 
mechanisms to support more employers to 
provide opportunities for people with learning 
disabilities 

Dec-22 TWC EAST 
Manager, Telford 
Voices TWC Service 
Delivery Manager for 
My Options, TWC 
LD and Autism 
Service Delivery 
Manager & TWC 
Service Delivery 
Manager, SEND 

Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Strategy Action Plan: Having a Job

Having a job

Page 69



Priority Area No Actions to Deliver Priority Timescale 
for delivery Success criteria Lead 

7.1 Review TWC day time opportunities for 
people with learning disabilities - taking a 
person centred approach as well as offering 
more flexibility of hours available, options, 
support to gain independence, small groups 
and one to one support in the community. 

Dec-21 TWC Service 
Delivery Manager for 
My Options  TWC 
SDM Learning 
Disabilty and Autism 

7.2 Work with providers to review other day time 
opportunities for people with learning 
disabilities - taking a person centred 
approach as well as offering more flexibility of 
hours available, options, support to gain 
independence, small groups and one to one 
support in the community. 

Dec-21 TWC Learning 
Disability 
Commissioner and 
SPIC

7.3 Develop a provider framework to support 
good quality providers across Telford and 
Wrekin

Mar-22 TWC Learning 
Disability 
Commissioner

7.4 Develop an ongoing care worker and 
personal assistant recruitment campaign

Dec-21 TWC 
Communications 
and Campaign Lead 
Officer 

7.5 Support families and carers to plan for the 
future and embed in Care Act assessments, 
reviews and support plans 

Dec-21 TWC Team Leader, 
Learning Disability & 
Autism Team

7.6 Work with paid carers and staff understand 
the needs of people with a learning disability 
(through joint training and development 
plans)

Mar-22 TWC Principal 
Social Worker 

7.7 Development of a Postitive Behaviour 
Support (PBS) strategy 

Mar-22 TWC Learning 
Disability 
Commissioner and 
CCG Commissioner

7.8 Share the feedback about housing and 
planning with the TWC Housing and Planning 
Departments to influence future 
developments 

Aug-21 TWC Integration 
Programme 
Manager 

Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Strategy Action Plan: Having the Right Support

Having the 
Right Support

Page 70



Priority Area No Actions to Deliver Priority Timescale 
for delivery Success criteria Lead 

8.1 Set up a specific project group to look at 
Respite and implement actions to address 
the feedback in the consultation  - to include 
a consistent narrative about what it is, what it 
can and cannot include, what is on offer, and 
where more information can be found. 

Mar-22 TWC Learning 
Disability 
Commissioner TWC 
SDM LD and Autism 
TWC SDM My 
Options

8.2 Develop a workforce training plan to support 
the delivery of action 8.1

Mar-22 TWC Principal 
Social Worker 

8.3 Work with providers to develop a wider 
choice of, and more flexibility in, respite 
options that enables further independance 

Dec-21 TWC Learning 
Disability 
Commissioner 

8.4 Work with TWC Arthog and other 
communities leisure activities to include them 
in the respite offer 

TWC Learning 
Disability 
Commissioner 

Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Strategy Action Plan: Accessing Respite

Accessing 
Respite 

Page 71



Priority Area No
Actions to Deliver Priority Timescale 

for delivery 
Success criteria Lead 

9.1 Continue to provide and share accessible 
information around Governement Covid 
restrictions 

TWC Information 
Officer

9.2 Continue to champion the need for 
accessible and timely information about 
Covid within the Integrated Care System, 
Regional and National networks

9.3 Continue to learn from Covid (positives and 
negatives) and build on it for future 

Learning Disability 
Partnership Board

9.4 Work with Public Health and National 
Colleagues to better understand the impact of 
covid (positive and negatives) on people with 
a learning disability 

TWC SDM Learning 
Disability and Autism

9.5 Continue to work with providers and 
community groups to offer a range of support 
options that can be flexed should the 
Government's restriction change. 

TWC Learning 
Disability 
Commissioner TWC 
Cmmunity 
Participation Team

9.6 Work with people with care and support 
needs, their families and carers to support 
their mental health and wellbeing as the 
Government's Covid restrictions ease 

TWC Team Leader, 
Learning Disability & 
Autism Team 
Midlands 
Partnership 
Foundation Trust

Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Strategy Action Plan: Impact of Covid

Impact of Covid 

Page 72



Priority Area No
Actions to Deliver Priority Timescale 

for delivery 
Success criteria Lead 

10.1 Consider the development of a borough wide 
Disability Awareness Campaign

10.2 To request that the Integrated Care System 
pledges that it, and all its organisations 
improve the range of accessible 
communications 

TWC Team Leader, 
Learning Disability & 
Autism Team

10.3 Work with people, families, carers and 
providers to promote the use of digital 
resources and support individuals to develop 
their digital skills to access these where 
appropriate

Mar-23 TWC Team Leader, 
Learning Disability & 
Autism Team

10.4 Increase the number of digital technology 
opportunities to support independence and 
showcase them within the Independent Living 
Centre 

TWC Learning 
Disability 
Commissioner, TWC 
Assistive 
Technology Lead, 
TWC Autism and 
Learning Disability 
team

Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Strategy Action Plan: Overarching Themes

Overaching 
Themes

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Version Control: DRAFT V5 

Living Well  

with a Learning Disability  

in Telford and Wrekin                            

2021-2025 

 

  

A strategy for adults with a Learning Disability in Telford and Wrekin 
 

P
age 75



Page 1 of 31 

Contents 
Scope and Purpose............................................................................................................................................................................................ 2 

Foreword ............................................................................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Introduction ........................................................................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Context ............................................................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

National context ................................................................................................................. 5 

Local Context .................................................................................................................... 6 

Vision and outcomes ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Key Messages from the Engagement: You Said … we will do........................................................................................................................ 9 

Being Healthy and Independent....................................................................................... 10 

Having friends and relationships ...................................................................................... 11 

Having Choice ................................................................................................................. 12 

Getting out and about ...................................................................................................... 13 

Having the right support .................................................................................................. 14 

Having a job .................................................................................................................... 15 

Having a break ................................................................................................................ 16 

Impact of Covid ............................................................................................................... 17 

Making it all happen (next steps) .................................................................................................................................................................... 19 

How will we make it happen (governance and action plans) ............................................ 19 

How will we know it is working (success/impact measures) ............................................. 19 

Appendices ...................................................................................................................................................................................................... 21 

Appendix 1 – Engagement Summary (views of people with a learning disability) ............ 21 

Appendix 2 – Engagement Summary (views of family, carers and people who work with/support people with learning disabilities) 27 

Appendix 3 - Learning Disability Partnership Governance ............................................... 28 

Appendix 4 – Linked partnerships, policies and guidance (National and Local) ............... 29 

Appendix 5 - Other resources .......................................................................................... 31 

 
 

P
age 76



Page 2 of 31 

Scope and Purpose 
 

This document sets out Telford and Wrekin’s strategy for adults with a learning disability, including young people who are 
approaching adulthood, from 2021 to 2025.   
 
“A learning disability is a reduced intellectual ability and difficulty with everyday activities – for example household tasks, socialising 
or managing money - which affects someone for their whole life.  There are different types of learning disability, which can be mild, 
moderate, severe or profound”i.   
 
It has been co-produced with the Telford & Wrekin Learning Disability Partnership, alongside people with lived experience, family 
carers, advocates, frontline practitioners, the voluntary and community sector and the Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place 
Partnership and Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
The document can also be found in easy read and can be downloaded at Telford & Wrekin Council's Learning Disabilities webpage   
 
This document belongs to adults with a learning disability, their family, carers and those who commission and deliver services.  This 
includes Telford & Wrekin Council, Shropshire and Telford and Wrekin Clinical Commissioning Group, Midlands Partnership 
Foundation Trust, Shropshire Community Health Trust, Shrewsbury and Telford Hospital Trust, alongside a wide range of voluntary 
and community organisations.  
 
  

P
age 77

https://www.telford.gov.uk/LD


Page 3 of 31 

Foreword 
 

Welcome to the Learning Disability Strategy 2021-2025. 
 
We, along with the Learning Disability Partnership and all the member organisations, are determined to do everything we can to 
make sure that all people with learning disability in Telford and Wrekin live well and enjoy a full life, with as much independence as 
possible. 
 
We are proud that there is good support for people in Telford and Wrekin, but we know there are many things that could be better. 
We want to make these improvements over the next four years. We have limited resources and we cannot do everything at once 
but this strategy sets out the most important things and we will focus on these. 
 
We want to make sure people with learning disability are treated equally and respected, that their rights are recognised and that 
they can access the support they need closer to home.  We will all work together with people with learning disability and their 
families and carers to make the improvements happen. We know that when people have access to the right support, greater 
independence can be achieved.  
 
We would encourage everyone in Telford and Wrekin to play their part and work together to make sure that adults with learning 
disabilities in Telford and Wrekin live well and as independently as possible. 
 
 

 

Leon, Co-Chair of 
Learning Disability 
Partnership Board 
 
 
  

Cllr Andy Burford, 
Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care, 
Telford & Wrekin 
Council  
  

Sarah Dillon, 
Director of Adult 
Social Care, Telford 
& Wrekin Council  
 
 

 
 

P
age 78



Page 4 of 31 

Introduction 
 

“A learning disability is a reduced intellectual ability and difficulty with everyday activities – for example household tasks, socialising 

or managing money - which affects someone for their whole life.  There are different types of learning disability, which can be mild, 

moderate, severe or profound”ii.   

 

Across all services in Telford and Wrekin we want to promote independence of people with learning disabilities to be aspirational 

and achieve what matters to them in their lives.   

 

People with learning disabilities, and their families, in Telford and Wrekin should be able to access advice, information, care and 

support that is aspirational, modern and supports opportunities for more independent lives.   

 

This strategy sets out our approach to enabling people throughout their life to achieve greater independence contribute to and 

make and connections with people in their local communities.  It is informed by what people have told us is important to them.  It 

sets out a vision of how we will support  adults with learning disabilities 

across Telford and Wrekin over the next four years, what the key areas of 

focus are, what we will do and how we will measure the impact of our work.  
 

The strategy will support Telford & Wrekin Council, and the NHS supported 

by the community and voluntary sector to commission and provide quality 

services that promote the independence of adults with learning disabilities, 

within the resources we have available.  
  

P
age 79



Page 5 of 31 

Context 
 

National context  

 

Using learning disability prevalence rates from Public Health England (2016) and population data from the Office for National 
Statistics (2019) MENCAPiii have calculated that there are 1.5 million people with a learning disability in the UK.  This equates to 
2.2% of all adults in the UK and 2.5% of all children in the UK.  
 
Looking specifically at the prevalence within England it is estimated that there 
are 951,000 adults with a learning disability, of which 731,000 are of working 
age (18-64).  Images taken from MENCAP, Nov 2020. 

 
In January 2020, Public Health Englandiv provided more detailed data in 
relation to adults with learning disabilities.  They reported that “in total, the 
number of adults with learning disabilities getting some form of long-term 
social care increased from 139,555 people in the period 2014 to 2015 to 
147,915 people in 2017 to 2018”. This increasing number of people receiving long term social care continues to be seen nationally 
and locally and is important to recognise the impact the increasing population has on the provision of services, including statutory 
ones.   
 
People with a learning disability live on average 16-20 years less than the rest of the populationv.  The Learning Disability Mortality 
Review (LeDeR) reportvi from 2019 reported the median age of death for different levels of impairment: 

 62 for people with a mild learning disability, 

 63 for people with a moderate learning disability, 

 57 for people with a severe learning disability, and 

 40 for people with profound and multiple learning disabilities. 
 
The strategy is set in the context of the national legislation and quality developments relating to the care and support of people with 
a learning disability. This includes:  

 The Care Act 2014 

 Children and Families Act 2014 

P
age 80



Page 6 of 31 

 Human Rights Act, 2000 

 Mental Capacity Act 2005 

 Mental Health Act 2007 

 Disability Discrimination Act 1995 

 Autism Act 2009 

 Transforming Care Programme (TCP) 

 Think Local Act Personal 

 British Association of Social Workers Professional Capability Framework  
 
For more information on the above legislation and guidance please refer to the National Policies and Guidance section of this 
strategy.  
 

Local Context 
 

This strategy has come out of a pre-engagement consultation undertaken by Telford & Wrekin Council Adult Social Care on behalf 

of the Telford and Wrekin Learning Disability Partnership Board. The overarching context of which sits within the Shropshire, 

Telford & Wrekin Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP). The STP seeks to address the key aims of the NHS Long 

Term Planvii to “give everyone the best start in life, deliver world-class care for major health problems, and help people age well”.   

 

The STP’s key areas of work over the next four years is to reduce the health inequalities for people with learning disabilities.  This 

includes: 

 Implementing the national programme for Learning Disabilities and Autism Spectrum Disorder;  

 Continue to undertake LeDeRs to review the deaths of people who have a learning disability and implement any learning; 

 Increasing the number of annual health checks (with a target of 80%); 

 Stopping over medication of people with a learning disability and supporting treatment and appropriate medication in 

paediatrics; and 

 Upskilling the workforce and improving recruitment and retention in all services. 

 

 

P
age 81



Page 7 of 31 

 There was an estimated total of 4100 people over 15 years of age with a learning disability in Telford and Wrekin in 2017. This is 
2.3% of the total population of Telford and Wrekin. Over the next 12 years it is estimated that the number of people with a learning 
disability will increase by 6%. This equates to 200 more people over 15 years of age with a learning disability.   
 
Locally Quality and Outcomes Framework (QoF) data for 2019-2020viii states that the prevalence of learning disability on GP 
practice registers is 0.46% which accounts for 696 of the population in Telford and Wrekin.  Nationally the QoF data prevalence of 
learning disability is higher at 0.54% of the population (255,866 people). 

 
As at 30 November 2020 
there were 493 adults with 
learning disabilities with 
care and support needs. 
This represents 27% of all 
the adults supported by 
adult social care. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

P
age 82



Page 8 of 31 

Vision and outcomes  
 

There are 10 outcomes that this strategy aims to  enable people throughout their life to achieve greater independence, contribute to 

and make and connections with people in their local communities, live well in Telford and Wrekin, which are expressed below as ‘I’ 

statements: 

 

I have aspirations about my future, my contribution to my community and my independence so I’m going to make sure that: 

 

 I feel valued, respected and listened to 
 

 I make my own choices and am control of my daily life 
 

 I have opportunities to meet friends and family 
 

 I am involved with my local community 
 

 I am actively involved with my care and future plans  
 

 I choose my own home where possible  
 

 I receive good quality care and support when I need it 
 

 I feel safe at home and in the community 
 

 I have access to education, training and employment opportunities 
 

It is very important that the outcomes underpinning this strategy are upheld across Telford and Wrekin and in our local communities 

to promote independence of people with learning disabilities and enable them to achieve what matters to them. 
  

P
age 83



Page 9 of 31 

Key Messages from the Engagement: You Said … we will do  
 

To ensure this strategy was informed by people with learning disabilities, families, carers and professionals a period of engagement 

was undertaken.  This engagement activity ran from 30 September to 11 November 2020 and included: 

 Virtual face to face sessions, 

 Easy Read questionnaire, 

 Online questionnaire, 

 Stakeholder sessions through various partnerships, including the Making it Real Board and Learning Disability Partnership. 

 

Due to the Covid Government restrictions the engagement was unable to hold face to face sessions with people with learning 

disabilities.  To ensure their voice was heard if they were unable to engage directly, families, carers and staff were asked to support 

the person to tell us their views.   

 

The engagement asked people what was important to them, or the person they support, around the following areas: 

 Being healthy and independent 

 Having friends and relationships 

 Having choice 

 Getting out and about 

 Having a job 

 Having the right support 

 Accessing respite 

 The impact of Covid.  

 

During the engagement period we engaged with over 160 different people, including 32 people with learning disabilities1 as well as 

families, carers and staff from various organisations supporting people with learning disabilities.  The following section of this 

strategy outlines what people told us during this engagement and what we are going to do in response to it.  

 

                                                           
1 5 responses were annotated that they were completed by the carer using the individual’s own words 

P
age 84



Page 10 of 31 

Being Healthy and Independent  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

People have told us it is important 
to: 
 Be with friends and family 

 Have assistance and care 

 Feel safe 

 Being warm and comfortable 

 Be dressed properly for the 
weather  

 Eat good healthy foods regularly 

 Exercise 

What we will do: 
 Make sure we are always listening to people about what is important to 

them (including being healthy, wellbeing, independence and feeling safe). 
 Promote and support people to access public health information, advice 

and guidance, e.g. Eating Well 
 Work with community and services that promote exercise to improve 

accessibility to enable people to access mainstream services 
 Work with communities to create more opportunities for friendships and 

peer support 
 Work with universal, community and specialist health services to ensure 

they are easy to access and use for people with learning disabilities, e.g. 
GP surgeries, hospitals, mental health services. 

 Work with people with learning disabilities to remain at home, rather than 
be admitted to hospital in a health crisis   

 Work to ensure that all people with  LD have access to an annual health 
check and 80% of people with learning disabilities have a health check 

 Provide learning disability awareness training to staff, delivered in 
conjunction with people with learning disabilities. 

Parent, carers and professionals said it was 
important for people to:  
 

 Have a feeling of safety and security;  

 Be well cared for/supported; 

 Be respected and have an ability to live 
independently; 

 Be able to socialise and see family and friends; 

 Be able to access activities and facilities available in 
the community; 

 Wear appropriate clothing when going out; 

 Have good planning and keep to routines when they 
go out;  

 Have support emotionally and mentally when they are 
going out; 

 Have a good healthy diet, with choices offered; 

 Get regular exercise; 

 Having good personal hygiene; and 

 Have access to regular, appropriate health checks 
and for staff to trust/listen to carers 

 

About health interactions people said: 

 The staff were very kind 

 It was alright/okay 

 I was very anxious/nervous 

 It was a long time ago 

 It was invasive, lots of personal questions and it was confusing 

 Some good and some very bad 

 It’s not too bad if it’s a doctor I’ve seen before 

 

81% of people we spoke to told us 

they had had a health check of which 
65% said it was either okay, good or 

very good 

97% of people we 

spoke to told us they had 
been to hospital/GP 

P
age 85

https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/eat-well/the-eatwell-guide/


Page 11 of 31 

Having friends and relationships 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

People have told us:  
 That they see their family when going for walks, visiting their home, going out for meals, going 

to the pub and going shopping 

 That they see their friends at day centres, at home and going out for meals – some people 
told us they haven’t seen their friends much this year 

 They would like more: 
o Going out 
o Going to the parks when it’s safe 
o Go on holiday 
o Seeing friends 
o Sports activities 

 The majority of people told us they did not have a boyfriend/girlfriend 

  

What we will do: 

 Work with individuals and communities to link people with similar 

interests 

 Support people to maintain relationships with their friends and family 

and contribute to their community. 

 Support people to have an understanding of love and sexual 

relationships. 

 Enable people with care and support needs to pool personal 

budgets/share the care where appropriate. 

 Work with carers and providers to enable individuals to meet peers, 

new people, friends and family 

Parent, carers and professionals said it was 

important for people to:  

 Have the same opportunities as everyone else 

 Join family and friends to: 

o eat out,  

o meet in cafes and pubs 

o go on days out,  

o visit them at home,  

o celebrate special occasions; 

 Go on holidays;  

 See friends at day services; and 

 Have group meetings. 

90% of people supporting adults with learning disabilities we spoke to 

reported that they see their friends and family, with the majority (94%) 

seeing them at home  

P
age 86

https://www.shutterstock.com/image-photo/group-happy-people-disabilities-229283440


Page 12 of 31 

Having Choice 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

People have told us they want to make choices about:  

 Where they live 

 Where they go 

 What they wear 

 What activities they do 

 Spending money 

 Their support 

 

What we will do: 

 Listen to people’s views and enable people to understand the 

options available to them and their plan towards achieving 

independence.  

 Information about people will be accessible to them.  

 Enable people to make choices about their lives including spending 

money. 

 Expect our provider services to empower people to make choices. 

 Promote people to access advocacy  

 Ensure people have time and support to consider complex 

decisions, e.g. moving home 

 Ensure information and advice is available in an accessible format 

 Continue to work with various housing providers to deliver the 

Specialist Housing and Accommodation Policy 

Parent, carers and professionals said it was 

important for people to:  

 Continue to make choices about: 

o what they eat 

o what they wear 

o what leisure activities they do 

o where they go 

o their routine 

o being part of family plans 

 Be supported to be confident; 

 Be support to make choices; 

 Have positive role models; and 

 Make more choices about: 

o Activities 

o New things 

o What they eat 

66% of people we spoke to said they are 

able to make choices themselves or get help  

41% of people we spoke to said they want 

to make more choices  

P
age 87



Page 13 of 31 

Getting out and about 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

People told us that:  

 They feel safe when with someone they trust 

 When they go out in their community they go for walks, 

shopping, meals out and go to day services 

 They need more support to get out and about and remind 

them about boundaries 

What we will do: 

 Work with people with care and support needs to identify their 

aspirations and plan towards achieving them.  

 Explore the ways in which we can enable people to feel safer in 

their community. 

 Work with communities, including Parish and Town Councils, to 

provide accessible information about what is going on in local 

areas. 

 Further promote and develop Live Well Telford to support 

individuals, families, carers and staff, to find local groups and 

activities.  

 Work people to enable them to travel around their community. 

Parent, carers and professionals said it was 

important for people to:  

 Feel safe when they are out, 

 Have access to safe transport 

 Attend organised groups for people with learning 

disabilities 

 Feel fully supported to get out and about and having 

fun with friends 

 Have their confidence built up in getting out and about  

 Do more: 

o Meeting people 

o Walking in the countryside 

o Day activities 

o Go to the pub, cinema, shops  

o Attending social clubs 

o Sports  

o Fun things 

 

63% of people we spoke to 

feel safe in their community   

25% of people we spoke to 

get out and about by 

themselves   

P
age 88

https://www.shutterstock.com/image-photo/man-cerebral-palsy-reading-book-416460913


Page 14 of 31 

Having the right support 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

People told us they get support with: 
 All areas of their lives 

 Personal care and washing and dressing 

 Preparing food, cooking and feeding 

 Accessing the community, socialising and shopping  
And would like future support: 

 From the same people 

 To stay the same 

 With being able to get out more and more independence 

 More communal areas 

 Additional hours 

 To have their own place and all the support they need there 

 

What we will do: 
 Work with individuals, families, carers and communities to improve services. 
 Review day time opportunities for people with a learning disability taking on 

board their aspirations, the feedback from people with care and support 
needs and the impact of Covid.  

 Work with people, families, carers and providers to promote the use of digital 
resources and support individuals to develop their digital skills to access 
these where appropriate. 

 Support young people through transition into adulthood with employment, 
health and independence. 

 Support families and carers to plan for the future 
 Work with paid carers and staff understand the needs of people with a 

learning disability (through joint training and development plans) 
 Develop a provider framework to support good quality providers across 

Telford and Wrekin 
 Enable people to have choice and control  
 Continue to work with all partners for people to get the right support at the 

right time 

88% of people we spoke to get support 

to do things for themselves.   
 
People get support from: 

 Parents, Siblings and Family 

 Carers 

 Support staff and Personal Assistants 

 Health professionals and social workers 

 Volunteers 

Parent, carers and professionals said it 
was important for people to:  

 

 Have support when needed;  

 Have more support with: 
o All aspects of daily life 
o Life skills 
o Getting out and about and accessing 

the community 
o Support to live independently 
o Activities 
o Socialising 
o Cooking  
o Training and employment opportunities 

 Have more support from personal assistants or 
on a one to one basis. 

 

P
age 89



Page 15 of 31 

Having a job 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

People told us to support them to have a job they would like: 

 Help with a job application and selecting a job 

 Someone working with them 

 Help with on the job training 

 Work experience 

 Time to learn and adjust to changes 

Some people told us they get worried and anxious and that a job might 

be too hard for them 

 

 

 

What we will do: 

 Work with people, and their family/carers, to develop their aspirations 

around employment. 

 Determine and understand the barriers to employment 

 Develop with people, families, carers and employers a range of 

programmes to support people with a learning disability getting into work 

including digital and peer programmes, work placements, volunteering 

and work experiences. 

 Work with the local businesses to create more employment opportunities 

and links, including micro-providers.  

 Work with providers to ensure that people are supported to access 

employment opportunities 

 Ensure people have the right support to access learning and training 

opportunities for future employment 

 Increase the number of people with learning disabilities who have paid 

employed.  

 Ensure Children’s and Adult’s Social Care work together to support 

people transitioning into adulthood, including aspirations for individuals 

to get paid employment. 

 

Parent, carers and professionals said it was 

important for people to:  

 Be supported to learn new skills and English and 

Maths 

 Be supported to communicate in different ways  

 Have help to complete job applications  

 Have a range of job opportunities building on 

people’s skills and talents including: 

o Self-employment opportunities  

o Supported voluntary work  

o Social enterprises 

o Supported internship opportunities 

o Working at home, or work where they live 

 Have a routine of simple tasks with guidance 

 Have slow changes in routine  

 

6% of people we spoke to said they 

had a paid job – catering, cleaning and 

shelf stacking 

62% of people we spoke to said 

they did not want to have a job 

P
age 90



Page 16 of 31 

Having a break 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

People told us they would like the following respite options 
in the future:  
 Overnights 
 With family or friends 
 Help to go on holiday 
 Same as before 
 Family environment, not institutions 
 Shared lives 
 To keep fit 

What we will do: 

 Work with providers to develop a wider choice of respite and short 

breaks support that further enables independence 

 Work with providers to develop a tailored support offer for breaks 

away from home in a flexible way whilst supporting independence. 

 Work with services that promote exercise as part of their respite offer. 

 

Parent, carers and professionals said it was 

important for people to:  

 Have reliable and stable respite they can be 

confident in 

 Have respite that is activities focussed  

 Have weekends and holidays away  

 Have access to respite during the Covid pandemic; 

and 

 Be communicated with about what respite is 

available, especially during the Covid pandemic.  

38% of people we spoke to have 

accessed respite 

P
age 91



Page 17 of 31 

Impact of Covid 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

People told us the reason why lockdown rules were not good:  
 Not seeing friends and family 

 Felt forgotten/isolated 

 Felt lonely, depressed, fed up and sad 

 Could not go out and had to stay at home 

 Day services, clubs and support services were closed 

 Couldn’t do normal things – either unsafe or closed 

 Missed my holiday 

 No idea what it is all about and no clear explanations 
 
People told us things could be done differently by providing:  

 More practical support 

 More contact 

 Community services in a safe place 

 Places to meet family safely in winter 

 Meeting up in smaller groups – seeing friends and carers 

 More respite 

 Explaining what is possible 

81% of people we spoke to said 

the lockdown rules made them feel 

negative  

50% of people we spoke to said 

they were worried about Covid 
today.   
 
People were worried about: 

 Catching Covid 

 Being poorly or dying 

 Not understanding it 

 Loosing parents and carers 

 Others not obeying rules 

 Going on public transport  

41% of people we spoke to said that 

the different services/activities were good 
for them.   

72% of people we spoke to said that if 

Covid rules have to remain they would be 
happy to carry on with their current 
activities  

P
age 92



Page 18 of 31 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Parent, carers and professionals said it was important for people to:  

 Have good, clear communication about the rules and what is open/closed – accessible 

options needed including British Sign Language (BSL) 

 Be able to get out and about 

 Be able to see their family and friends and spend time with them 

 In good weather, be able to go out in the countryside 

 Have good mental health 

 Have extra support to prevent crisis, especially if not on the shielding list  

 Have sustainable support 

 Continue to have activities they can engage in and build independence and be 

supported to think outside the box if needed 

 Have different options in the future including: 

o More frequent and better communication  

o Reopening of day centres/groups with Covid safety procedures 

o Improve access to activities 

o Consideration for carers in priority shopping 

Parent carers also reported that due to lockdown and the restrictions of Covid some 

people have regressed and are no longer able to do things independently that they 

could pre-Covid.  

 

60% of people we spoke to said their 

experience of Covid was negative, with the 
most common reasons being:  

 Impact on mental health 

 Lack of support 

 Lack of activities/entertainment 

 Reduced socialisation 

 Isolation 

84% of people we spoke to said they 

were worried about Covid with more than a 
quarter of respondents being worried about 
being ill or the person they care for being ill 

61% of people we spoke to said the 

changes in services and activities being 
delivered had impacted negatively on the 

person they cared for/work with 

What we will do: 
 Listen to people about their concerns and provide advice and information about government rules  
 Ensure that everyone who works with people with learning disabilities, and their families, recognise the impact of Covid 

on them and their wellbeing, and adapt their approach accordingly 
 Provide and share accessible information to individuals around covid  
 Develop contingency plans with people as part of their support plans. 
 Understand the impact of covid (positives and negatives) on people with a learning disability  
 Lean from covid by adapting support to meet individual needs and promote new ways of meeting needs long term 

 
For Government Covid guidance please follow this link: https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus  

P
age 93

https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus


Page 19 of 31 

Making it all happen (next steps) 
 

How will we make it happen (governance and action plans) 
 
The strategy action plan will detail the actions needed to implement this strategy.  This will be co-
produced by people with lived experience and family carers.   
 

The Learning Disability (LD) Partnership will oversee the implementation of the strategy.  The 

partnership is made up of people with lived experience, carers and staff from the Council, NHS, 

providers and voluntary organisations.  

 

The LD Partnership will report to the Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership every six months 

(as a minimum) outlining progress made and what difference it has made.  This update will also be 

presented to the Telford & Wrekin Health and Wellbeing Board.  Please refer to Appendix 3 for the 

governance structure.  

 

How will we know it is working (success/impact measures) 
 

Whilst there is much good work to build on, we recognise that this work is challenging in the 
context of limited resources across the health and care system in Telford and Wrekin and 
the community and system recovery from the Covid pandemic.  
 
As the previous sections outline we have identified a series of actions (‘We will…) to ensure 
that people with a learning disability live well in Telford and Wrekin.  The decisions we take 
to implement this strategy need to be clear on whether it takes us closer to achieving this, or 
further away.   
 
It is really important that we continually monitor the impact of our work to better support 
people with learning disabilities across Telford and Wrekin.  We will review our progress in 
respect of the outcomes that we have developed with people with learning disabilities and 
their families/carers.   
 

Telford & Wrekin Learning 
Disability (LD) Partnership 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Leon, Co-Chair of the      
Learning Disability 

Partnership 

 
 
 
The partnership is made up of people 
with lived experience, carers and staff 
from the Council, NHS, providers and 
voluntary organisations.   
 
The partnership’s aim is to make sure 
that adults with a learning disability who 
live in Telford and Wrekin have the 
same chances in life as everybody else. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

“We want to make sure 
that the lives of people who 
suffer with learning 
disabilities are made 
easier, as well as the 
people who support them.”  

 P
age 94



Page 20 of 31 

The Learning Disability Partnership will play a key role in ensuring that organisations are on track to deliver the strategy.  They will 
also engage with people with learning disabilities and their family/carers to ensure any developments are co-produced and meet 
the identified outcomes.  
 
Alongside this, we will also consider the following: 

 Increasing number of people with learning disabilities in employment. (ASCOF) 

 Increasing the number of adults with learning disability who live in their own home or with their family (ASCOF) 

 Increasing the proportion of adults with learning disabilities who are eligible under the care act with a Direct Payment 
(ASCOF) or Personal Health Budget. 

 Increasing levels of satisfaction from the annual standardised client customer survey from the providers (linked to DPS 
Framework and CQC requirement) 

 Reducing the number of people with learning disabilities in In-Patient settings. (CCG) 

 Increasing the number of people with learning disabilities who have had an Annual Health Check (CCG) 
 

 

 

  

P
age 95



Page 21 of 31 

Appendices 
Appendix 1 – Engagement Summary (views of people with a learning disability) 

 

P
age 96



Page 22 of 31 

 

P
age 97



Page 23 of 31 

 

P
age 98



Page 24 of 31 

 

P
age 99



Page 25 of 31 

 

P
age 100



Page 26 of 31 

  

P
age 101



Page 27 of 31 

Appendix 2 – Engagement Summary (views of family, carers and people who work with/support people with learning 

disabilities) 
 

Learning Disability 

Engagement Survey findings V1.1 2020_11_24.pdf
  

P
age 102



Page 28 of 31 

Appendix 3 - Learning Disability Partnership Governance 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Telford & Wrekin 
Learning Disability 

Partnership 

Shropshire, Telford & 
Wrekin Integrated Care 

System Shadow Board 

ICS Programme Board: Mental 
Health, Learning Disability & 

Autism 

Telford & Wrekin 
Health and Wellbeing 

Board 

Telford & Wrekin 
Integrated Place 

Partnership (TWIPP) 

Other Key 
Partnerships  
 
Making it Real  
 
Carers 
Partnership 
 
Safeguarding  
 
Community 
Safety 
 
Aiming High  
 
Homelessness 
and Housing  
 
Education 
 
Corporate 
Parenting 

P
age 103



Page 29 of 31 

Appendix 4 – Linked partnerships, policies and guidance (National and Local) 
 

National Policies and Guidance  
 
General policies: 

 The right to access public sector housing, consumer rights, welfare support, employment protection 
 The Human Rights Act 1998; the Equality Act 2010 and UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (anti-discrimination 

legislation) 
 Hate Crime legislation - disability hate incidents and disability hate crime (Criminal Justice Act 2003)  
 Coronavirus legislation, 2020 and associated government guidance: https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus  

 
Health, social care and education policies: 

 People with learning disabilities are entitled to full access to mainstream healthcare, with reasonable adjustments being made as 
outlined in the NHS Long Term Plan, Improving Health and Lives; All Means All (NHS targets) supported by Clinical Commissioning 
Group Improvement and Assessment Framework (Nov 2018) introduced by NHS England.  

 All social care policy underpins the delivery of learning disability support e.g. Children and Families Act; The Care Act (England); 
personalisation; Mental Capacity Act and Mental Health Act; and The Carers Action Plan 2018 – 2020, which builds on the National 
Carers Strategy. 

 Adult Social Care: Quality Matters (April 2019)  
 Your Data: Better Security, Better Choice, Better Care (July 2017) 
 Shaping the Future – Care Quality Commission’s Strategy for 2016 to 2021  
 The Preparation for Adulthood SEND Reforms (2014)  
 The Care Act 2014 states that wellbeing is the core outcome local authorities should be working towards and they have the duty to 

promote: 

 Control by the individual over their life; 

 Participation in work; 

 Suitability of living accommodation; 

 The individual’s contribution to society; 

 The individual’s views, wishes, feelings and beliefs; 

 The interests and wellbeing of family carers. 
 Personalisation (a whole system approach): 

 Mainstream and universal services, opportunities and activities; 

 Targeted support using self-directed approaches; 

 Choice and control, self-directed support; 

P
age 104

https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus


Page 30 of 31 

 Social / community capital. 
 Mental Capacity Act 2005 including the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards: 
 Mental Health Act 2007 
 Support housing: national statement of expectations 2020 

 
Learning Disability specific policies (England): 

 NHS Long Term Plan (Jan 2019) 
 NHS Improvement – The Learning Disability Improvement Standards for NHS Trusts (July 2018) 
 Department of Health and Social Care: The Government’s Mandate to the NHS (2018-19) 
 NHS England (2017) CCG improvement and assessment framework 2017/18; PQ HL443 [on Health Services: Learning Disability] 2015  
 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)  
 The Learning Disability Core Skills Education and Training Framework (July 2016)  
 National Learning Disability Mortality Review (LeDeR) Programme,  
 NHS England (2015)/Department of Health (2013) Confidential Inquiry into the Premature Deaths of People with Learning Disabilities  
 Transforming Care for People with Learning Disabilities (January 2015)  
 Building the Right Support, NHS England (October 2015)  
 No Voice unheard, no right ignored 2015  
 Valuing People Now (2009)  
 Improving lives: the future of work, health and disability 2017 / Disability Confident Campaign  
 Special Educational Needs and Disability Code of Practice  
 The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (February 2016) 
 Think Local, Act Personal 
 British Association of Social Work: Professional Capability Framework  
 Skills for Care and Skills for Health – Core Capabilities Framework for Supporting People with a Learning Disability 
 COMING SOON – National Strategy for Disabled People. 

 
Supporting Local Partnerships and Strategies 
 

 Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin Long Term Plan 
 Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 2020-2025 
 Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership Strategic Plan, 2020-2022 
 Telford & Wrekin’s Making it Real Board 
 Telford & Wrekin Council Plan 
 Telford & Wrekin Community Safety Strategy, 2017-2019 
 Telford & Wrekin Safeguarding multi-agency safeguarding arrangements 

P
age 105

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/a-national-strategy-for-disabled-people-to-remove-barriers-and-increase-participation
https://stwstp.org.uk/
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20268/co-operative_council/430/council_plan_and_priorities
https://www.safertelford.org.uk/info/8/about_us/6/about_us
https://www.telfordsafeguardingpartnership.org.uk/site/index.php


Page 31 of 31 

 Specialist Housing and Accommodation policy  
 Market Position Statement 

 
 

 

 

Appendix 5 - Other resources 

i MENCAP, 2020 
ii MENCAP, 2020 
iii MENCAP, 2020 – How common is learning disability?  
iv Public Health England: People with learning disabilities – Adult Social Care (Chapter 5)  
v Shropshire and Telford and Wrekin Long Term Plan – Chapter 5.6 – Learning Disabilities and Autism: A Local Priority 
vi University of Bristol Norah Fry Centre for Disability Studies, 2019 
vii NHS Long Term Plan, 2019 
viii Learning Disabilities Health Check Scheme – 2019-20 Quarter 4 

                                                           

P
age 106

https://www.mencap.org.uk/learning-disability-explained/what-learning-disability
https://www.mencap.org.uk/learning-disability-explained/what-learning-disability
https://www.mencap.org.uk/learning-disability-explained/research-and-statistics/how-common-learning-disability
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-with-learning-disabilities-in-england/chapter-5-adult-social-care#fn:1
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/learning-disabilities-health-check-scheme/england-quarter-4-2019-20


 

Agenda Item 6: Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood 
Development Plan 

 

“Neighbourhood Plans are an important part of the planning process and help areas 
such as Tibberton and Cherrington set out locally specific policies to be used in 
determining planning applications in the parish.  

“The Council have assisted the parish to steer the plan through the process from 
designating the neighbourhood plan area through to the referendum.” 

 

Councillor David Wright, Cabinet Member for Economy, Housing, Transport and 
Infrastructure  

Page 107

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET - 23 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 
TIBBERTON & CHERRINGTON PARISH NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN: 
CONSIDERATION OF EXAMINER’S RECOMMENDATIONS AND PROPOSED 
MODIFICATIONS PRIOR TO REFERENDUM 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR – HOUSING, EMPLOYMENT & INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – COUNCILLOR DAVID WRIGHT 

 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 

1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 

 

1.1 The Localism Act (2011) introduced legislation which allows Parish and Town Councils to 

produce a Neighbourhood Development Plan (NP) for their administrative area.  

1.2 Tibberton & Cherrington Parish Council submitted their neighbourhood development plan 
(the “Tibberton & Cherrington Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan”) (TCNP) to Telford 
& Wrekin Council as local planning authority in July 2020. In accordance with its statutory 
duties, Telford & Wrekin undertook a number of checks to ensure that all the procedural and 
other requirements had been met and completed a 6-week publication period which allowed 
written representations to be made. 

 
1.3 Telford & Wrekin appointed an Independent Examiner (the Examiner), Tony Burton, to 

conduct the    Examination of the TCNP and his report was submitted to the Council in July 
2021. The Report recommended proceeding to Referendum, subject to a number of 
modifications. Those modifications have now been applied to the TCNP and incorporated 
into a Referendum version of the TCNP (Appendix 1). 

 
1.4 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval for the TCNP, subject to the 

modifications, to proceed to formal Referendum. The full list of modifications proposed by 
the Examiner are set out in the Examiner’s Report. (Appendix 2) 

 
1.5 Whilst the Examiner’s proposed modifications are not binding, they are considered by 

Officers to be appropriate. No additional modifications are considered to be required prior to 
the Referendum stage. 

 
1.6 Members need to be satisfied that the TCNP meets certain “basic conditions” before it can 

proceed to a Referendum. As explained in this report, Officers and the Examiner are satisfied 
that these “basic conditions” have been met. 

 
1.7 The referendum version of the TCNP supports the policy approach to Tibberton & 

Cherrington and the rural area in the adopted Telford & Wrekin Local Plan. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That Cabinet agree with the Independent Examiner that, subject to his recommended  

modifications, the Tibberton & Cherrington Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan 
meets the “basic  conditions” and all other legal requirements as summarised in this 
report and in the Independent Examiner’s report and 

 
2.2 That Cabinet agree that the required modifications should be made to Tibberton & 

Cherrington Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan and that the Tibberton & 
Cherrington Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan Referendum Version (August 
2021) should proceed to Referendum, and 

 
2.3 That Cabinet agree that the Referendum Area should not be extended beyond the 

designated area to which the Tibberton & Cherrington Neighbourhood Development 
Plan relates and 

 
2.4 That the Chief Executive proceed to exercise all the relevant powers and duties and 

undertake all necessary arrangements for the Tibberton & Cherrington Parish 
Neighbourhood Development Plan (Referendum Version) to now proceed to 
Referendum and for the Referendum to take place asking the question whether the voter 
wants Telford & Wrekin Council to use this neighbourhood development plan for the 
Tibberton & Cherrington Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan area to help it decide 
planning applications in this neighbourhood area. 

 
 

3.        IMPACT OF ACTION   
 
3.1 The Tibberton & Cherrington Neighbourhood Development Plan proceeds to referendum 

whereby a vote will be held in the Neighbourhood Area, if more than 50% vote in favour of the 
Plan, Telford & Wrekin Council must then make the Tibberton & Cherrington Neighbourhood 
Development Plan.  

 

        
4. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

 
COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-Operative Council 

priority objective(s)? 

Yes Co-operative Council: 
- Involving local people in planning and running services 
- As a Council, supporting our community to engage with 

the future development of their area  

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

Yes NDP’s contribute to the local planning framework for future 
development within a designated area. Production of the 
TCNP has involved the whole of the parish community and 
people have had the opportunity to provide formal 
comments on policies which will affect the future 
development of their area including a minimum 6-week 
formal publicising consultation period. The referendum 
stage provides an opportunity for the whole Tibberton & 
Cherrington Parish to vote on the plan prior to formally 
making the plan. 

Page 110



 

TARGET COMPLETION/ 
DELIVERY DATE 
 

Subject to Cabinet approval, the TCNP will proceed to referendum 
in November 2021. Subject to the outcome of the referendum the 
final version of TCNP would be presented to Cabinet in December 
2021 to be made.   

FINANCIAL/VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

Yes  The costs associated with the introduction of 
Neighbourhood Development Plans, including the additional 
costs of designations, referendum and examinations have to 
be met by the Local Authority. DCLG confirmed in their 
letter dated 29th June 2021 that, up to £20,000 funding is 
available to LPA’s which would cover those costs. 
However, to qualify for this funding the Council will need to 
issue a decision statement detailing their intention to send 
the plan to referendum (as set out under Regulation 18 of 
the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012), 
rather than when a referendum date has been set.  
AEM 09/08/21. 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes The Localism Act 2011 provided a framework for a new 
statutory regime to establish Neighbourhood Planning. 
Subsequent legislation has added more detail to that 
framework. Tibberton & Cherrington Parish Council has had to 
fulfil its publication and consultation obligations under this 
legislation and Telford & Wrekin Council as local planning 
authority has now publicised the TCNP and processed it 
through the Independent Examinatoin Stage. With the benefit 
of the Examiner’s Report, the Council now has to consider a 
number of matters relating to the TCNP to check compliance 
before it can proiceed to referendum.  

 

The issues which the LPA now needs to consider and 
determine are  set out in this report. If the Council is 
satisfied that certain conditions have been met, a 
referendum must be held. If the Council is not so satisfied, 
the TCNP must be refused. 

 
If the referendum takes place and results in more than half 
of those voting (i.e. 50% + 1) voting in favour of the TCNP, 
subject to certain exceptional circumstances, the Council 
must make the TCNP as soon as reasonably practical.  
Further legal points are raised later in this report 
 
IR (06.08.21) 

OTHER IMPACTS, RISKS 
& OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes  The main risk associated with the referendum stage is if 
the referendum itself does not deliver a majority vote in 
favour of the Plan. In this context the Council would be 
unable to make the TCNP. However, this is unlikely 
bearing  in mind the level of engagement carried out by 
Tibberton & Cherrington Parish Council with the 
assistance of the Council, which has sought to address the 
key issues identified through the consultation process.  

 
Opportunities associated with the TCNP include a 
strengthening of local engagement in the planning process. 

IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

Yes Edgmond & Ercall Magna 

 

Page 111



 

PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

5. INFORMATION 
 

5.1 Neighbourhood planning was introduced by the Localism Act 2011. It provides the 

opportunity for a Parish/Town Council or local forum to produce a neighbourhood 

development plan with the involvement of local people, helping to inform future planning 

decisions in their area. Under the Town  and Country Planning Act 1990, Telford & Wrekin 

Council as LPA has a statutory duty to assist communities in the preparation of the NP 

through the various statutory stages in the process. In accordance with the 1990 Act and the 

Neighbourhood Planning Regulations, Tibberton & Cherrington Parish Council submitted 

their NP in July 2020 for Telford & Wrekin Council to complete the necessary checks and 

proceed to the next stages of publication, examination and referendum. 

 

5.2 The referendum version of the TCNP is in accordance with and supports the policy approach 

to Tibberton & Cherrington and the rural area in the adopted Telford & Wrekin Local Plan. 

6. Examination of the Tibberton & Cherrington Neighbourhood Development Plan 
 

6.1 An independent examination of the plan took place between May and July 2021. The 

purpose of the examination was to establish whether procedural and other matters had been 

properly dealt with and to establish whether or not the TCNP met the ‘basic conditions’. The 

“basic conditions”  include the following: 

 

 Whether, having regard for national planning policy and guidance from the Secretary 

of State, it is       appropriate that the TCNP should be made 

 Whether the TCNP contributes to the achievement of sustainable development 

 Whether the TCNP is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in 

the Development  Plan for the area of the Authority (i.e. the adopted Telford & Wrekin 

Local Plan) 

 Whether the TCNP is in breach of and/or is otherwise compatible with retained EU 

obligations 

 Whether the making of the TCNP is likely to have a significant effect on any 

“European Sites” as  defined in the Conservation Habitats and Species Regulations 

2012 

6.2 The Examiner also had to consider whether the area for any referendum should extend 
beyond the area to which the TCNP related. 

 

6.3 The Examiner has proposed a number of recommended changes to policies contained in the 
TCNP, which are set out in the Examiner’s report (Appendix 2). These modifications have 
been incorporated within  the Referendum Version of the TCNP (Appendix 1).  The main 
changes are summarised below: 
 

 Deleted all references to the Landscape Character Assessment (which has not been 

completed) other than as an expression of intent to prepare for publication at a future 

date.  

 Rewording of Policies CA1, CA2 and CA3 to meet the Basic Conditions 

Page 112



 

 Amendment to Policy RCH1 removing its ambiguity and to align with national 

planning policy.  

 Clarification of Policy RCH2 including an amended title.  

 Deletion of Policy RCH3 as this duplicates exsting local planning policy.  

 Minor amendmenets to Policy RCH4 to be positively expressed in terms of support 

for development.  

 Amendments to Policy EOR1 to clarify that development for the school or community 

use maybe accepted as an exception to the policy and to clarify the boundary of 

open space being protected.   

 Subsequant supporting text has also been amended to further clarify importance of 

Tibberton C of E Primary School.  

 Minor amendments to Policy HB1 to meet Basic Conditions 

6.4 On all other aspects of the basic conditions tests, the Examiner concluded that, subject to 
his recommended modifications being made, the TCNP met the tests. In addition, the 
Examiner also concluded that the TCNP has been prepared in accordance with all other 
legal requirements, in particular those under paragraph 8(1) of schedule 4B of Town and 
Country Planning Act (TCPA), in that: 

 

 the TCNP had been prepared and submitted for examination by a qualifying body; 

 the TCNP had been prepared for an area that has been designated under Section 

61G of the TCPA as applied to neighbourhood Development plans by section 38A of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (PCPA); 

 the TCNP met the requirements of Section 38B of the PCPA (i.e. the Plan must 

specify the period to which it has effect (to 2031), must not include provisions about 

development that is excluded development, and must not relate to more than one 

Neighbourhood Area); and 

 the policies relate to the development and use of land for a designated 

Neighbourhood Area, in line with the requirements of Section 38A of the PCPA. 

6.5 Consequently, the Examiner recommended that the TCNP, as modified in accordance with 
his report met all relevant legal requirements and should proceed to referendum. The 
Examiner also concluded  that the boundary of the referendum (or ‘referendum area’) should 
be the same as the boundary of the TCNP. An additional business referendum is not 
required. 
 

6.6 As stated above, it is important for the Examiner and the LPA to be satisfied that the TCNP 
is in general  conformity with the strategic policies contained in the Telford & Wrekin Local 
Plan. The Examiner noted that the Parish Council prepared its TCNP policies in the context 
of and alongside the Local Plan and the Examiner himself had regard for the relevant 
strategic policies of the Local Plan when making his recommendations. Further, officers are 
satisfied that the TCNP is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the 
adopted Telford & Wrekin Local Plan. 

 
7. Considerations for Cabinet  

 

7.1 Cabinet must: 

 

a) consider each of the recommendations made by the Examiner  

b) decide what action to take in respect of each recommendation 

Page 113



 

c) be satisfied that the TCNP meets the basic conditions (see para 5.1 above); is 

compatible with EU Convention Rights and complies with the requirements in 

paragraph 6.4 above 

OR 
 

be satisfied that the TCNP would meet these conditions, rights and requirements if 
modifications were made to the TCNP as recommended by the Examiner. 

 
7.2 In respect of a) and b), Members are recommended to accept each of the Examiner’s 

recommendations and reasons and to agree that all of the Examiner’s recommendations be 
incorporated into a new version of the TCNP (the Tibberton & Cherrington Neighbourhood 
Development Plan: Referendum Version August 2021). 

 

7.3 In respect of c) Members are recommended to accept the Examiner’s recommendation that 
the TCNP  would meet these conditions, be compatible with these rights and comply with 
these requirements if his recommended modifications were made to the TCNP and further 
that these modifications should be made. 

 

7.4 In respect of the area in which the Referendum is to take place, Members are recommended 
to accept  the Examiner’s recommendation that the Referendum Area should not change 
and should be the same as the designated TCNP area. 

 

7.5 If Members accept the Examiner’s and officers’ recommendations, a Referendum must be 
held on the    making of the TCNP by the LPA. 

 

7.6 If Members are not satisfied in respect of c) above and do not accept the Examiner’s 
recommendations, they must refuse to make the TCNP. 

 

7.7 Members’ decisions and reasoning in these matters will be published in a decision  notice. 

 

8. Preparing for Referendum  
 

8.1 Subject to Cabinet approval, the TCNP will proceed to the next stage; Referendum. The 

Referendum is organised by Telford & Wrekin Council. It will only be carried out in Tibberton 

& Cherrington Parish as the Neighbourhood Plan Development area. In accordance with 

Regulations the Council will publish an Information Statement declaring when a Referendum 

will be held and the questions to be asked no less than 28 working days beforehand and will 

ask whether voters want the Council to use the TCNP to help decide planning applications 

in the Plan Area. 

 

8.2 Subject to Cabinet approval, it is anticipated the Referendum will be held on 11th November 

2021. 

 

8.3 The organisation of the Referendum will be led by T&WC Policy, Governance Democracy 

Team in liaison with the Strategic Planning Team & Tibberton & Cherrington Parish Council. 

 

8.4 If more than 50% of those voting vote in favour of the TCNP, Telford & Wrekin Council must 

then make  the TCNP within 8 weeks of the referendum. 

 

8.5 A neighbourhood plan comes fully into force as part of the statutory development plan once 

Page 114



 

it has been made. If it is made, it will be published on Telford & Wrekin Councils website and 

used in the determination of planning applications in the Neighbourhood Development Plan 

area i.e. in the Parish of Tibberton & Cherrington. 

9. Conclusion 
 

9.1 Tibberton & Cherrington Parish Council is the sixth “qualifying body” in the Borough to 

progress a NP to this stage, working closely with their community to produce a plan which 

reflects local views on future development in the Parish and policies which. 

 

9.2 Subject to Cabinet approval (above), a further report will be brought for Cabinet 

consideration following the outcome of the Referendum. 

10. IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  
 

10.1 Once the Tibberton & Cherrington NP is made, it will become part of the statutory planning 

framework for the Borough. In accordance with the ethos of neighbourhood planning, the 

TCNP is based on extensive community engagement with policies reflecting their views. 

The policies, once modified, are considered to be in general conformity with the adopted 

Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 

 

10.2 In accordance with legal requirements, planning applications should be determined in 

accordance with the provisions of the local Development Plan which, for the Tibberton & 

Cherrington Parish, would include the TCNP as well as the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan. 

This is unless material considerations indicate otherwise, meaning the TCNP policies must 

be balanced with other considerations as part of the decision making process by the 

Council. 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

 Tibberton & Cherrington Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan – Examination / 

Regulation 15 Consultation Version 

 Letter to Telford & Wrekin Council (TWC) accompanying the documents 

 Consultation Statement (July 2020) 

 Basic Conditions Statement (July 2020) 

 Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening Statement  

 Habitat Regulation Assessment Screening Statement 

Available at: www.telford.gov.uk/tibbertonandcherringtonndp  
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Tibberton & Cherrington Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan –Referendum 
Version 
Appendix 2 – Tibberton & Cherrington Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent 
Examiners Report 
Appendix 3 – Tibberton & Cherrington Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan – Regulation 15 
Consultation Version  
 

Page 115

http://www.telford.gov.uk/tibbertonandcherringtonndp


 

Report prepared by Patrick Mottershead, Senior Planning Policy Officer, Strategic Planning 
Team Telephone: 01952 384252 

Page 116



Tibberton and Cherrington 
Parish Council 

 

 

 
 

 
 

TIBBERTON AND CHERRINGTON  
PARISH NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN  

2020-2031 
 
 

 
July 2021 

 

 

Page 117



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

2  

FOREWORD 
 
The Parish of Tibberton and Cherrington is a rural Parish, which over time has managed to 
maintain the rustic tranquillity of a country Parish. However parts, namely in the village of 
Tibberton, have seen considerable growth over the last couple of years, which has resulted in 
tremendous pressure on the roads and services throughout the Parish and beyond. 
 
This Neighbourhood Plan is as a result of the Government’s belief that decision-making should be 
not just at national and local government levels but also at a local level involving the whole 
community. This is because it is these decisions that will affect the community for years and 
generations to come. 
 
The Plan will be in effect until 2031 and has been created by the Tibberton and Cherrington 
Neighbourhood Plan Group – a group of residents from both Tibberton and Cherrington who have 
worked tirelessly over the last few years to try and reflect the concerns and wishes of those who 
live and work in the Parish.  They have worked in conjunction with the Parish Council to produce a 
document which will help shape the future of our Parish. 
 
Over the last few years the Neighbourhood Plan Group and the Parish Council have listened to 
residents through conversations whilst walking around the Parish, and public drop-in sessions to 
individual questionnaires – all of which has shown that although there is a feeling that the Parish 
must continue to evolve in order to maintain a thriving community, it must do so whilst retaining the 
heritage and pride in living in such a pleasant Parish.   
 
We would like to thank the whole of the local community who through their honesty and time taken 
to make known their views in such detail have helped produce this document so that it reflects their 
thoughts.  Without your comments this plan would not have been able to be made. 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan will help to protect the character of the Parish and help ensure that any 
future development is suitable for the local need and located in sites which are suitable for 
development and which will not have a detrimental or harmful effect on the intrinsic character or 
beauty of the open countryside.  
 
Nick Eyles 
Chair of the Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group 
 
Jim Berry 
Chair of Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Council 

Page 118



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

3  

CONTENTS 
 
 
Lists of Figures and Tables ................................................................................... page 4 
 
Introduction ………………………………..……………………………………............ page 5 
 
Setting the Context ……………………………………………….………………......... page 6 
 
Why we are Preparing a Neighbourhood Plan for Tibberton and Cherrington....... page 10 
 
Process of Preparing  the Plan .....………....................................………….……… page 11 
 
National and Local Planning Policy Framework ........................…........................ page 12 
  
Evidence  Base ………………………………………………………..…................…. page 15 
 
Neighbourhood Plan Vision and Objectives …………………………………............. page 17 
 
Policies ………………………………………………………………………......….……. page 18 
 
Monitoring and Review ……………………………………………............................. page 30 
 
Settlement Boundaries ........................................................................................... Annex A 
 
Tibberton’s and Cherrington’s Historic Character …............................................... Annex B 
 
Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Profile ……………............….....................….... Annex C 
 
Additional Technical Evidence ………………………………….................…………. Annex D

Page 119



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

4  

LIST OF FIGURES 
 

Figure 1: Tibberton Settlement Boundary ............................................................. pages 7 & A-5 
 

Figure 2: Parish Boundary and Neighbourhood Plan Area……………........…...... page 8 
 

Figure 3: Tibberton Building Development Map 2012 - 2021………………….….... page 9 
 

Figure 4: The Neighbourhood Planning Process…………………….......…….….... page 11 
 

Figure 5: Community Facilities ..............………………………….…....................... page 20 
 

Figure 6: Green Spaces…................................………………………….…............. page 27 
 

Figure 7: Development within Settlement Boundary...................…........................ page A-3 
 

Figure 8: Increase in Housing 1999 - 2020………………………………………….... page A-3 
 

Figure 9: Listed Buildings in Tibberton and Cherrington ........................................ page B-1-3 
 

Figure 10: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Age Profile ……....…........................ page C-1 
 

Figure 11: Highest Level of Qualification ………………………………………….... page C-2 
 

Figure 12: Growth of Population and Housing Stock.............................................. page C-5 
 

Figure 13: Travel to Work Patterns………………………………………….......….… page C-6 
 

Figure 14: Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) 2012............ page C-10 
 

Figure 15: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Rights of Way................................... page C-13 
 

Figure 16: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Agricultural Land Classification ….... page C-14 
 

Figure 17: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Mineral Safeguarding Areas……….. page C-15 
 

Figure 18: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Flood Risk Areas…………..………... page C-16 
 

Figure 19: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Local Wildlife Site and Local                                       
      Geological Site….........................................................………..………... page C-17 
 

 

LIST OF TABLES 
 

Table 1: POS Protected Under ‘Green Guarantee’ Scheme ...…….…………...…. page 26 
 

Table 2: Example of Policy Monitoring ……………………………………………….. page 31 
 

Table 3: Student Population …………………………………………………….…...... page C-2 
 

Table 4: Housing Stock in Tibberton and Cherrington …………………………....... page C-3 
 

Table 5: Household Types in Tibberton and Cherrington ......... ………….…........ page C-4 
 

Table 6: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Housing Tenure ………………....…... page C-4 
 

Table 7: Comparison of Tibberton and Cherrington Parish and  
Telford & Wrekin House Prices in 2014 and 2015 ……….......................... page C-5 

 

Table 8: Car Availability……………………………………………………………....... page C-7 
 

Table 9: SHLAA 2012 Appendix 1 - Tibberton……..……………………………....... page C-11

Page 120



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

5  

INTRODUCTION 
 
Our Neighbourhood Plan  
 
This Neighbourhood Plan has been formulated on the basis of the public’s response to all the 
Parish Council’s consultations held between October 2017 and April 2020 as well as 
recommendations by an Independent Examiner. Inputs from the public and consultees received by 
the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group were used to prepare a Draft Plan which was offered for 
public consultation during the Regulation 14 period1. Following analysis of the responses, a revised 
version of the Plan was presented to the Parish Council on 16 July 2020, after a delay caused by 
the Covid-19 pandemic. Following the Parish Council’s approval, the revised version of the Plan, 
known as the ‘Regulation 15’ version, was submitted to Telford & Wrekin Council. A statutory 
consultation exercise was undertaken by the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the Plan and 
all accompanying documents comply with legal requirements. The Plan was then placed on the 
Local Planning Authority website for a further final eight-week consultation. 
 
Comments and representations received during the period of statutory consultation were collated 
by Telford & Wrekin Council and forwarded, along with the Plan and supporting documents, to an 
Independent Examiner. In June 2021 the Independent Examiner issued a report stating that, 
subject to recommended modifications, the Neighbourhood Plan met the Basic Conditions and 
could proceed to a final referendum of all eligible parishioners. 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan that you have before you offers a vision for the future of Tibberton and 
Cherrington Parish and delivers a clear set of policies based on comments received. These 
policies have also been subjected to scrutiny by the statutory agencies (Environment Agency, 
Natural England and Historic England) through a screening exercise related to environmental 
assessments (Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitat Regulations Assessment 
(HRA) screening statements). If supported by a referendum, the policies enshrined within the 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan will become part of the Borough’s Development 
Plan, thus giving much greater weight to the views of the Parish in the decision-making process. 
 
All relevant documents can be downloaded via the Telford & Wrekin Council website. 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20453/neighbourhood_planning

                                                     
1
 18 January 2020 to 29 February 2020 with a Supplementary Consultation period from 21 February 2020 to        

10 April 2020. 

Page 121

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20453/neighbourhood_planning


2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

6  

SETTING THE CONTEXT 
 

The Parish of Tibberton and Cherrington is in the Borough of Telford and Wrekin and ceremonial 
county of Shropshire (Figure 22 on Page 8). It is located 4.8 miles (7.7 km) west of the town of 
Newport and approximately 11 miles (17.7 km) north of Telford town centre. The Parish population 
at the 2011 Census was 698, which was a 2% increase from 684 in 2001; however, this figure is 
forecast to rise to approximately 994 by 2021 due to recent housing developments, an increase of 
42.4% since 2011.  
 
Similarly, the housing stock in Tibberton increased by less than 9% in the 10 years between 1999 
and 2009 but the rate trebled to nearly 27% (256 to 325 houses) during the following 8 years to 
2017. This rise in the development of new homes will accelerate by a further 27% during the next 4 
years from 2017 to 2021 (325 to 413 houses) as a result of those houses that are currently in build 
or are highly likely to be built. This represents an increase of 142 houses (52%) in the 10 years 
from 2012 to 2021 (inclusive). Additionally, another 3 houses on 3 separate plots have outline or 
‘reserved matters’ planning permission. Planning applications that were granted full or reserved 
matters approval in each year for this period are shown on the map in Figure 3 on Page 9 and full 
details of the increases in housing stock and population are given in Annex C. 
 
The Parish consists of 2 settlements, the village3 of Tibberton and the hamlet4 of Cherrington, 
which are set in a predominantly rural landscape that extends into the heart of these settlements. 
Agriculture is the dominant land use with 90% of land classified as Grade 2 or 3 (very good to 
moderate). The open rural character of the landscape of the Parish is an asset much valued by the 
community for its scenic amenity, recreational use and environmental value and establishes the 
principal context for the setting of Tibberton and Cherrington. 
 
Cherrington has no local amenities or public facilities, although there are some small businesses.  
Over 43% of the historic core of the hamlet, sometimes known as Cherrington Green, are Grade 2 
listed buildings (7 out of 16 dwellings). There is also a linear development of houses and 
agricultural buildings along the road leading from the B5062 towards Cherrington Manor. 
 
Tibberton has one public house (The Sutherland Arms), a Village Hall, a Church of England 
primary school, a village community run shop and a Methodist Chapel.  There is also an Anglican 
Church that is dedicated to All Saints’ within the Archdeaconry of Salop and the Diocese of 
Lichfield. Additionally, there are over 22 small businesses, which provide employment to the local 
community.  A recreation field, called simply "The Playing Fields", is used by both the School and 
outside teams for organised sport but it also caters for informal recreation by local residents.  It has 
protection against residential development under the Borough's 'Green Guarantee' scheme. 
 
Development in the Parish has naturally expanded and evolved over time but for centuries the two 
settlements consisted predominantly of scattered tenanted farms and small-holdings, interspersed 
with an occasional row of workers’ cottages. Even well into the 20th Century the nominal centre of 
Tibberton, around the Church, original school building and the Sutherland Arms, was of low density 
surrounded by agricultural land.  The paper mill by the River Meese, with its towering chimney, 
provided a stark industrial contrast to the otherwise rural scene. 
 
Prior to the major dispersal sale in 1912, almost all the land and property in the Parish belonged to 
the Duke of Sutherland, hence the strong influence of the estate’s preferred style of design on 
homes built in the 19th Century.  The gabled dormers, elaborate chimneys, brick detailing and 
overhanging eaves of the typical ‘Duke of Sutherland’ cottage still provide a degree of architectural 
cohesion and local identity in the Parish and surrounding settlements. 

                                                     
2
 High definition version at: 

http://www.tibbertonandcherringtonpc.org.uk/_UserFiles/Files/Neighbourhood%20Plan/Tibberton -Cherrington-
Parish-Boundary.pdf 
3
 The National Geographic Society defines a village as a settlement of between 500 and 2500 people. 

4
 The OED defines a hamlet as being smaller than a village, usually without a church.  

Page 122

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Telford_and_Wrekin
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ceremonial_counties_of_England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ceremonial_counties_of_England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Shropshire
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Newport%2C_Shropshire
http://www.edgmondvillagehall.org/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Archdeaconry_of_Salop
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Archdeaconry_of_Salop
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Recreation
http://www.tibbertonandcherringtonpc.org.uk/_UserFiles/Files/Neighbourhood%20Plan/Tibberton-Cherrington-Parish-Boundary.pdf
http://www.tibbertonandcherringtonpc.org.uk/_UserFiles/Files/Neighbourhood%20Plan/Tibberton-Cherrington-Parish-Boundary.pdf


2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

7  

 
The original linear pattern of development in Tibberton along its road network only began to 
change post 1945 into the more rectangular form recognisable today.  Maslan Crescent was built in 
the 1950s, followed by further residential developments in the 1970s & ‘80s. The new school and 
adjacent playing-field established in 1970 also contributed to the change of use from agriculture to 
settlement in what was becoming the core of the village. This process of changing from a linear 
layout to a more rectangular form has accelerated with recent housing developments.  
 
The Local Planning Authority specifically opposes any proposed development that would cause 
harm to the character of the villages or encroachment into the countryside5.  However, the confines 
of Tibberton are not formally defined, leading to differing interpretations of where the ‘built-up’ area 
ends and ‘open countryside’ begins.  This potential conflict of opinion has now been resolved by 
assigning a ‘Settlement Boundary’ to Tibberton, as shown at Figure 1 below. However, the hamlet 
of Cherrington is already defined as being in open countryside, therefore, it would be unnecessary 
and inappropriate to define a boundary for the settlement of Cherrington.  Details of the rationale 
for the Tibberton boundary, together with a larger map, are at Annex A. 
 
 

 
 

Figure 1: Tibberton Settlement Boundary 
 
Apart from Tibberton and Cherrington, the Parish is otherwise rural. Both settlements have historic 
cores with 17 listed buildings recorded in the National Heritage List for England as buildings of 
special historic or architectural interest. Of these, 16 are listed at Grade II and one is at Grade II*, 
marking it out as being of particular national importance. Almost all the listed buildings are timber 
framed houses and cottages, the earlier ones with cruck construction. The other listed buildings 
consist of red brick houses, a church and a bridge over the River Meese. Other buildings of local 
interest include the ‘Primitive’ Methodist Chapel in Tibberton, which was built in 1844.  Background 
information on Tibberton’s and Cherrington’s historic character is at Annex B and full details of the 
listed buildings within the Parish are at Appendix 1 to Annex B.  
 
The full Parish Profile is at Annex C. 

                                                     
5
 Telford and Wrekin Local Plan Policy HO10 

Key 
 
Parish Boundary   
        
Settlement Boundary 
      

Th
e 

Page 123

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tibberton,_Shropshire
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cherrington
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Heritage_List_for_England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cruck


2020 - 2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 

 

8  

Figure 2: Parish Boundary and Neighbourhood Plan Area 

 

P
age 124



2020 - 2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 

 

9  

Figure 3: Tibberton Building Development Map 2012 - 2021 
 

 

 Year of 
Planning 
Approval 

No of 
Houses 

    Outline 3 
    2019 48 
    2018 40 
    2017 28 
    2016 5 
    2015 0 
    2014 4 
    2013 15 
    2012 2 

 P
age 125



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

10 

WHY WE ARE PREPARING A NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
FOR TIBBERTON AND CHERRINGTON 

 
Neighbourhood Plans form part of the Statutory Development Plan for an area. They are prepared 
by Parish Councils to promote, guide and control local development and importantly, are used to 
help determine local planning applications. For the first time, local communities can have a direct 
input into the planning process and have an influence on the shaping of the future of their 
community based on the views expressed through surveys of the local population and businesses. 
 
Not all Parish Councils have chosen to produce a Neighbourhood Plan.  However, in September 
2017 Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Council decided that this was an important right to 
exercise, and applied to be designated a Neighbourhood Planning Body for the whole area 
covered by the Parish (Figure 2 on Page 8). 
 
The Parish Council submitted its application to Telford & Wrekin Council for designation of its 
Neighbourhood Area in October 2018. After a formal six-week consultation which began on 15 
November 2018 and ran until 10 January 2019, Telford & Wrekin Council resolved to support the 
Neighbourhood Area application made by Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Council and confirmed 
that the area shown in the application should be designated as a Neighbourhood Area. A formal 
notice was published on the 24 January 2019 that confirmed the designation. 
 
The Parish Council’s Steering Group has been preparing this Neighbourhood Plan since 7 August 
2018. Following consultation with residents and stakeholders, the Plan was subjected to external 
examination before it could proceed to a final referendum of all eligible parishioners.  The policies 
in this finalised Plan reflect the aspirations of the majority of the people of Tibberton and 
Cherrington who have all had an opportunity to play a part in shaping the future of their Parish. 

Page 126



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

11 

PROCESS OF PREPARING THE PLAN 
 
Neighbourhood Plans must be prepared following a procedure set by government (Figure 4). 
 
Figure 4: The Neighbourhood Planning Process 

 

 
 

Consultation with Tibberton and Cherrington parishioners on the Neighbourhood Plan began with a 
series of open-door drop-in sessions in Tibberton Village Hall during October and November 2017.  
The range of views expressed during these sessions was used to inform the development of 
themes for the Plan. 
 
Further consultation took place in 2020.  This second period was held with Tibberton and 
Cherrington Parish residents, businesses and consultative bodies over a 6 week period between 
18 January 2020 and 29 February 2020 in accordance with Regulation 14 of the Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) Regulations 2012. During this consultation period, many responses were 
concerned about the level of housing development in Tibberton, particularly during the last 3 years.  
The Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group therefore decided to develop a Settlement Boundary for 
Tibberton which delineates between the ‘built up’ area and ‘open countryside’.  As this was a 
significant change to the Plan, it was further decided to have a supplementary consultation period 
of at least 6 weeks from 21 February 2020 to allow further comment on this new initative. 
 
Following these consultations, the Neighbourhood Plan was revised to take account of comments 
received and issues raised. A further eight-week consultation by Telford & Wrekin Council took 
place following the Plan’s submission under Regulation 15. The Plan, its evidence base and 
consultation responses, were then presented by Telford & Wrekin Council for Independent 
Examination. The process will culminate in a local referendum on whether the plan should be made 
part of the Statutory Development Plan for the Borough of Telford and Wrekin. 
 
Telford & Wrekin Council’s Local Plan 2011 - 2031 was adopted in January 2018. The preparation 
of the Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan has been progressed in accordance with the 
Local Plan process, including the review of the Local Plan initiated by the Borough Council in 
December 2019. 

Telford & Wrekin Council 
designate Tibberton and 

Cherrington a ‘Neighbourhood 
Planning Area’

Neighbourhood Plan 
Steering Group write 
draft Plan to reflect 

consultation outcomes

Steering Group consult 
with all stakeholders 

and analyse responses 
(Period: Oct-17 - Mar-20)

Telford & Wrekin 
Council publish Plan 

for wider consultation
(Regulation 16)

Parish Council submit 
draft Plan to Telford & 

Wrekin Council
(Regulation 15)

Independent 
Examination and Final 

Revisions to 
Neighbourhood Plan

If the Referendum decision 
approves the Plan…

Tibberton and Cherrington 
Neighbourhood Plan “Made”

Draft Plan published 
for further stakeholder 

comments 
(Regulation 14)

Parish Referendum 
held within 28 days of  
Notice. Referendum 

decision declared

Steering Group revise 
draft Plan for Parish 

Council approval.
Once approved…

Parish Referendum 
Notice published by 

Telford & Wrekin 
Council

Page 127



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

12 

NATIONAL AND LOCAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 

The Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan must take account of national planning policy. 
This is primarily contained in one document - the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  
The NPPF states6 that ‘neighbourhood planning gives communities the power to develop a shared 
vision for their area. Neighbourhood plans can shape, direct and help to deliver sustainable 
development, by influencing local planning decisions as part of the statutory development plan. 
Neighbourhood plans should not promote less development than set out in the strategic policies for 
the area, or undermine those strategic policies7. Once a neighbourhood plan has been brought into 
force, the policies it contains take precedence over existing non-strategic policies in a local plan 
covering the neighbourhood area, where they are in conflict; unless they are superseded by 
strategic or non-strategic policies that are adopted subsequently.’  
  
This means our Neighbourhood Plan must “….plan positively to promote local development” and 
must “….support the strategic development needs” set out in Telford & Wrekin Council’s Local 
Plan. Therefore, our Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared to be in “general conformity” with 
Telford & Wrekin Council’s planning policies. 
 
Telford & Wrekin Council’s strategic planning policy is contained in the adopted Telford & Wrekin 
Local Plan 2011 - 2031. The previous Wrekin Local Plan (1995-2006) is now time expired and the 
existing Core Strategy policies have been superseded by the adopted Telford & Wrekin Local Plan. 
An appropriate and sensible approach therefore was to proceed with the Tibberton and 
Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan based on the strategy and policies of the Telford & Wrekin Local 
Plan and to work closely with Telford & Wrekin Council during the preparation of the document.  
 
A revision to the Local Plan was submitted on 30th June 2016 and an examination in public was 
conducted during January and February 2017 by an independent Planning Inspector. Telford & 
Wrekin Council received the Inspector’s Report in November 2017 and the Local Plan was adopted 
in January 2018.  Additionally, the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 places an obligation on Councils to review Local Plans within a five year period 
from the date of adoption. The purpose of a review is to take account of “changing circumstances 
affecting the area, or any relevant changes in national policy8”. A review, therefore, needs to be 
completed by January 2023. 
 

Given these circumstances and opportunities, Telford and Wrekin Council decided in December 
2019 that a review of the Local Plan be launched.  This review would not be housing numbers 
driven but seek to embed key priorities for the Council and Borough. Four core objectives were 
agreed9 to underpin the review:   
  

 Employment led growth through inward investment and job creation 

 A ‘Forest Community’ approach which affords the protection, enhancement and 
accessibility of the natural environment and green spaces that characterise the Borough 

 Support for regeneration of our Borough Towns, new town estates and infrastructure 

 Meet local housing needs including providing more affordable and specialist 
accommodation to support people to live longer and healthier at home  

 

The Parish Council recognised that the implications of the review launched in 2019 would need to 
be taken into account when developing the Neighbourhood Plan. Therefore, the development of 
policies within the Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan are aligned closely with these 
core objectives, particularly the ‘Forest Community’ approach and the development of policies to 
meet local housing needs. 
 

                                                     
6
 NPPF Paragraphs 29 & 30 

7
 Neighbourhood plans must be in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in any development plan 

that covers their area. 
8
 Paragraph 33, National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

9
 Minutes of Telford and Wrekin Cabinet meeting on 2 January 2020 Item CAB-40. 

Page 128



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

13 

Strategic Framework 

 
Telford & Wrekin Local Plan (Policy HO10 - Residential Development in the Rural Area) already 
states that a limited amount of infill housing will be supported in Tibberton and so the development 
strategy for Tibberton and Cherrington has largely been set. However, Tibberton and Cherrington 
are separate settlements in planning policy terms and this Neighbourhood Plan will clarify the 
distinction between the Policies HO10 and HO11 (Affordable Rural Exceptions) as they apply to 
these villages. Consultation responses during the Neighbourhood Plan process show that there is 
no support within the Parish to pursue other development strategies. The options stage of the 
Local Plan preparation considered different approaches to development in the rural area alongside 
considerable consultation and dialogue with the rural parishes. This culminated in a spatial strategy 
which allowed for the inclusion of development in existing rural communities which could have 
positive effects if carried out at the appropriate scale consistent with the capacity of the rural 
communities, services and infrastructure. Small scale focused development could be undertaken to 
help encourage provision of services without changing the character of rural Telford & Wrekin. 
 
Telford & Wrekin Council considers this approach has the greatest potential to achieve appropriate 
growth with minimal detrimental environmental effects. It recognises that careful consideration 
should be given to the location of new development to avoid sensitive sites, to optimise positive 
community effects and to take the opportunity to maximise the benefits of innovative sustainable 
design (by ensuring efficient use of land and resources) to mitigate any potentially significant 
negative effects. 
 
The Spatial Strategy for the Borough is set out in Chapter 3 and policies SP1, 2 and 3 summarised 
in Table 9 of the Local Plan. Telford is the dominant settlement, and the importance of its 
continuing growth dictates that most development takes place here. As a historic market town with 
a population of around 11,000, it is appropriate that some new development be directed to 
Newport. 
 
The small remainder of new housing development will be directed to the most appropriate rural 
‘named’ settlements10 with access to services and other infrastructure in order to support rural 
economic activity whilst protecting sensitive landscapes and settings. Given the pre-eminence of 
the Borough’s Spatial Strategy and the lack of realistic and appropriate alternatives, there is no 
justification in exploring, through the Neighbourhood Plan process, other development strategies 
for Tibberton and Cherrington. 
 
To consider other strategies that seek to provide substantially more housing in the rural area would 
conflict with Government policy (NPPF) which seeks to promote sustainable development by 
encouraging effective use of brownfield land and locating as much housing as possible closest to 
existing infrastructure in larger towns such as Telford or Newport. Most housing in the rural area is 
expected to be delivered on two large brownfield sites at Allscott and Crudgington. Allowing for 
other existing supply, the remainder will be located through limited development in the five named 
settlements, including Tibberton, the selection of which is justified by the process set out in the 
Technical Paper – Rural Settlements (B2f) that considers the presence of primary and secondary 
facilities and services, accessibility and existence of previously developed land. Options exploring 
other strategies for distribution and/or additional development in the rural area would affect the 
successful implementation of these large brownfield sites. Further guidance on Rural Housing is 
included in the Planning Practice Guidance11, which supplements the NPPF. 
 
It is believed that there is sufficient remaining provision for development in the five rural 
settlements to meet the requirements of the NPPF to support a prosperous rural economy 
(paragraph 83), deliver affordable housing (paragraphs 61-64) and support community vitality, 
whilst avoiding isolated development in the open countryside (paragraph 79). In Telford & Wrekin 

                                                     
10

 Donnington & Muxton, Edgmond, Ercall Magna, Lilleshall, Stirchley & Brookside, Waters Upton and Tibberton & 
Cherrington, all of which have, or are preparing, Neighbourhood Plans.  
11

 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-needs-of-different-groups#rural-housing 

Page 129



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

14 

Council’s adopted Local Plan, the Spatial Strategy for the rural area (policy SP3) and its approach 
to planning for rural housing (policy HO10) has been passed as consistent with government 
priorities to boost significantly the supply of housing generally but also takes account of the scale 
and context of the Borough’s villages which, highlighted in the Technical Paper – Rural Settlements 
(B2f), do not have extensive infrastructure provision. 
 
The Policy HO11 (Affordable Rural Exceptions) provisions apply outside the five main rural villages 
and, as stated in paragraph 5.3.2.2 of the Local Plan, new housing may come forward with 
justification on the basis of local need on sites not normally in accordance with local housing 
policies. Paragraph 5.3.2.3 adds that such proposals should be directed towards locations that help 
to enhance and maintain the vitality of rural communities, rather than be used as a means to gain 
planning consent for development in isolated locations.  

Page 130



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

15 

EVIDENCE BASE 
 

Consultation and Engagement 
 
Being such a relatively small community, with 698 residents in 263 occupied houses (as at the 
2011 Census), we were able to collect many more of the concerns and ideas of residents and 
stakeholders during face to face discussions than would be possible in a larger community. 
Following discussions  at Parish Council Meetings, the process to produce a Neighbourhood Plan 
started with 3 public consultations in Tibberton Village Hall during October and November 201712 to 
gather initial views and to identify the areas to be considered for inclusion in the Plan. 
 
Following the approval of the Designated Area, three additional public consultation sessions were 
held in January 202013, after which any additional comments were listed for consideration in the 
Plan, thereby allowing further development of our guidance document. 
 
Four key themes were identified as a result of the 2017 public meeting and these formed the basis 
for further public consultation at the January 2020 consultation sessions: 
 

 Community Amenities 
 

 Rural Character and Housing 
 

 Environment, Open Spaces and Recreation 
 

 Highways and Byways 
 
Building on these four main headings and the responses from the public consultation sessions, a 
questionnaire was drafted for households and businesses, demonstrating how these themes could 
be translated into planning policies and asking whether people agree or disagree with the 
suggested draft policies. Approximately 338 questionnaires were circulated in January 2020 to all 
known businesses and households in the Parish and 102 responses were received. 
 
The inputs from the January 2020 consultations, analysis of responses to the questionnaire and 
returns from statutory consultees, were used to develop the four themes further to enable the 
relevant planning policies to be agreed. Many of the responses received at the Regulation 14 stage 
were concerned with the Draft Plan’s approach to Tibberton and Cherrington rural character and 
context. Consequently a decision was taken by the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group to develop 
a Settlement Boundary for Tibberton which delineates clearly between the ‘built-up’ form of the 
village and ‘open countryside’. Telford & Wrekin Council considered14 that this concept was justified 
as it provides support for the Local Plan strategy for infill housing and exceptions sites policies 
(Policies HO10 and HO11 respectively). However, it was also agreed with that such a boundary 
would be inappropriate for the settlement of Cherrington as it is considered to be in open 
countryside, therefore, the exceptions listed in Policy HO11 (Affordable Rural Exceptions) of the 
Local Plan would only apply in this location.  Details of the Settlement Boundary for Tibberton are 
at Annex A. As this initiative was developed after the start of the Regulation 14 consultation period, 
there was a supplementary consultation period of over 6 weeks from 21 February 2020 to 10 April 
2020 on the specific subject of the Settlement Boundary15. 
 
To support this work, it was decided to commission additional technical evidence based work, 
which focused on a Landscape Character Assessment (LCA) to address the concerns over 
protecting the rural character and context. However, this initiative was delayed by the Covid-19 

                                                     
12

 19th & 23rd October 2017 and 4 November 2017 
13

 18
th

, 20
th

 and 21
st
 January 2020 

14
 Email from Telford & Wrekin Council Strategic Planning Team dated 16 March 2020 

15
 TWC and one local resident responded to this consultation on the proposed settlement boundary for Tibberton.  

Page 131



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

16 

pandemic in 2020.  Therefore, the Steering Group agreed to proceed with the developing the Plan 
without an LCA whilst intending to commission an Assessment at the earliest opportunity in the 
future. 
 
Other representations were received as a result of the pre-submission (Regulation 14) consultation 
including those from Telford & Wrekin Council, the Environment Agency, Natural England and 
Historic England. These representations included responses from Statutory Consultees as given in 
paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 of The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulation 2012. 
 
The aim was for the Neighbourhood Plan to be focused and concise and to concentrate on those 
issues that could be influenced by town and country planning legislation. Other broader issues or 
those that are not controlled through planning legislation will be considered as part of a future 
Parish Council Action Plan. 
 
The Regulation 15 Consultation Statement summarises all statutory and non-statutory consultation 
undertaken with the community and other relevant statutory bodies and stakeholders on the pre-
submission Draft Plan. In particular, it describes how concerns have been addressed and what 
changes have been made to the Plan as a result of the consultation. 
 
Technical Evidence 
 
A great deal of additional technical evidence has been collated by the Parish Council in preparing 
the Draft Neighbourhood Plan. This has naturally been drawn from Telford & Wrekin Council 
sources; in particular, information compiled during the preparation of the Local Plan and 
contributing to its extensive evidence base. A list of the technical evidence considered by the 
Parish Council is available in Annex D. 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
 
Neighbourhood Plans must not breach, and must be compatible with national and international 
Human Rights obligations. Neighbourhood Plans therefore need to be considered against the 
Habitats and Strategic Assessment Directives and associated regulations and might, subject to 
their scope and the issues they are seeking to address, be required to produce an Environmental 
Assessment if the Plan is determined as likely to have significant environmental effects. 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessments (SEA) are required by the Environmental Assessment of 
Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (the Regulations). This regulation also prohibits the 
adoption or submission of a Plan before the responsible Authority has determined whether the Plan 
is likely to have significant effects on the environment. It is not possible to categorically rule out the 
need for a SEA, without first carrying out a screening process to establish whether the Tibberton 
and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan is likely to have significant environmental effects. A 
Screening Report was prepared and published for consultation alongside the draft Neighbourhood 
Plan at Regulation 14. 
 
At this point the three statutory agencies, Environment Agency, Natural England and Historic 
England, were consulted as required by the regulations and their views used to determine whether 
a further formal SEA was necessary. All three agencies agreed with the findings of the draft 
Screening Report that there was no requirement for the Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood 
Plan to undertake a Strategic Environmental Assessment. The Parish Council considers that the 
amendments made to the Neighbourhood Plan as a result of the Regulation 14 consultation are not 
significant enough to require an additional screening report or Strategic Environmental 
Assessment. 

Page 132



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

17 

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN VISION AND OBJECTIVES 
 
VISION 
 
To help shape the future of Tibberton and Cherrington Parish up to 2031 

by enabling the community to have a positive involvement in where and how development 
should take place; working to retain and enhance the Parish’s open rural character and 
historic identity; and by contributing to maintaining the Parish as an attractive, safe, secure 
and low crime environment to live, work and visit. 

 
OBJECTIVES 
 
Community Amenities 
 
1. To protect existing facilities and services considered important for a vibrant community and 

support the development of new ones which will benefit the community. 
2. To increase opportunities to access community facilities and to enhance the range of 

activities and facilities available for all. 
3. To encourage suitable employment opportunities and communications connectivity 

(broadband and mobile ’phone). 
 
Rural Character and Housing 
 
4. To allow future infill development of a scale and type in keeping with the rural character and 

identity of the Parish. 
5. To protect the character and setting of the Parish's historic housing (including listed buildings, and 

those of local or architectural interest)  and ensure new development is in keeping with other 
buildings, with a particular focus on the ‘Duke of Sutherland’ style of housing. 

6. To support the provision of a range of house types and tenures on appropriate sites within 
Tibberton and Cherrington villages and the wider Parish. 

7. To ensure that residential developments will incorporate Secure by Design standards where 
it is reasonably possible to do so. 

8. To maintain the rural nature of the Parish by discouraging developments with street lights or 
excessive external lighting, thereby delivering the Parish’s strongly stated preference for a ‘dark 
sky’ environment. 

 
Environment, Open Spaces and Recreation 
 
9. To conserve and enhance local open spaces by protecting and enhancing existing green 

spaces and recreational areas of value to the community whilst ensuring the Parish retains 
its rural character. 

10. To protect and enhance green areas, natural habitat, wildlife and biodiversity in and around 
the Parish; to encourage appropriate management and limit pollution and damage to the 
environment. 

11. To protect and enhance features of significant nature conservation or landscape value. 
 
Highways and Byways 
 
12. To work to improve public transport options. 
13. To encourage the provision of alternative, safe and convenient means of travel within the 

Parish so as to minimise the use of cars and reduce the associated problems of noise, 
pollution and parking. 

14. To provide a safe, accessible and well-maintained network of roads, cycle routes, footpaths, 
rights of way and pavements, whilst retaining a rural character to support a more sustainable 
environment, reduce reliance on the car and offer healthier lifestyle options. 

15. To improve safety by reducing vehicle speed and limiting access by heavy goods vehicles. 

Page 133



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

18 

POLICIES 
 

The following policies were devised to deliver the objectives listed above by guiding and influencing 
new development proposals and the decisions made about new development through the planning 
application process. 
 
The policy framework is set nationally by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and 
locally by Telford & Wrekin Council’s development plan – in this case the adopted Telford & Wrekin 
Local Plan 2011-2031. Policies in a Neighbourhood Plan must align with the framework both 
nationally and locally and not conflict with or undermine it (NPPF paragraph 29). 
 
1. Community Amenities 
 

POLICY CA1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 

Development proposals will be supported that protect or enhance the following community 
facilities, as shown on the map, Figure 5 on Page 20: 

 Tibberton C of E Primary School 

 Village shop - wholly run by community volunteers 

 Public House - The Sutherland Arms 

 All Saints’ Church 

 Playing Field – Cricket & Football, including the Pavilion, Tennis Court and children’s play 
area. 

 Village Hall 

 Methodist Chapel 

Any proposal that would result in the loss of community facilities should satisfy the following 
criteria: 

 The proposal includes alternative provision, on a site within the locality, of equivalent or 
enhanced facilities. Such sites should be accessible by public transport, walking and 
cycling and have adequate car parking; or 

 Satisfactory evidence is produced that there is no longer a need for the facility, through 
marketing evidence, assessment of the viability of the facilities and opportunities for re-
use, where supported by local and community surveys. 

Proposals  to expand or replace existing facilities will be supported, where appropriate, especially for 
a larger Village Hall and Shop, if the demand from an increased village population indicates that 
these are viable, needed and sustainable. 

 
A particular concern to the community highlighted by consultation responses both to the 
Neighbourhood Plan and to the Local Plan was the need to ensure the retention of community 
facilities to keep the Parish a viable and active community whilst ensuring the level of house 
building does not place too great a strain on existing services. The Local Plan recognises the 
importance of community facilities in the rural area and stresses that it is especially important that 
these facilities are protected. The Neighbourhood Plan seeks to build on this approach by 
identifying and seeking to protect the relevant facilities in the Parish. In particular, space may need 
to be identified to allow for the potential future needs of the community, especially in terms of a 
larger Village Hall and Shop in Tibberton,  with adequate access and parking to meet all users’ 
needs, either through the expansion of existing facilities or by the identification of new sites.  
 
 
 
 

Page 134



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

19 

This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 20, 83d, 92 and 182. 

 Local Plan policies: Policy SP4 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development; 
COM1 - Community facilities. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 1 and 2.

Page 135



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

20 

 
Figure 5: Community Facilities 

 

Methodist 
Chapel 

Village Hall 

Village Shop 

All Saints’ Church 

Sutherland Arms 
Public House 

Tibberton C of E Primary School 

Playing Fields 

P
age 136



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

21 

POLICY CA2: EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT 

Development proposals that provide suitable, appropriate, employment opportunities will be 
supported. This could be through one of the following: 

 Conversion of existing buildings across the Neighbourhood Plan area, subject to the 
impact of provision on neighbouring properties, the local environment, the highway 
network and parking and subject to it being an appropriate use. This could, where 
feasible, include the re-use of existing farm buildings or be a part of farm diversification; or 

 Provision of small well-designed new buildings within the built-up areas of the Parish, 
subject to it being an appropriate use and design 

Proposals for the re-use of land or buildings on existing employment sites for uses other than 
employment purposes should demonstrate: 

 It can be demonstrated through a viability appraisal that the on-going use of the 
premises or land for employment purposes is no longer viable 

 The alternative proposal would provide demonstrable benefits to the local 
community and contribute to its long-term sustainability. 

 

Consultation responses highlighted the need to ensure that opportunities for local small-scale 
employment development should be supported through the Neighbourhood Plan. The 
Neighbourhood Plan seeks to promote rural enterprise by supporting small scale employment uses 
which could be provided by new buildings, conversions of agricultural buildings, or other changes 
of use. While it is appropriate that the Local Plan directs larger-scale enterprises, or those more 
suited to urban locations, to either Newport or Telford, policy EC3 supports new employment 
development in the rural area. 
 

This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 20, 83 and 84. 

 Local Plan policies: SP3 - Rural Area; SP4 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development; EC3 - Employment in the rural area; C3 - Impact of development on 
highways; C4 - Design of roads and streets. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 3 and 15. 
 

POLICY CA3: TOURISM AND LEISURE DEVELOPMENT 

Development that improves the quality and diversity of existing, or creates new tourist facilities, 
attractions, accommodation and infrastructure will be supported where there is: 

 No significant detrimental effect on the distinct character of the rural landscape and 
settlements and the development promotes tranquillity and the quiet enjoyment of the 
countryside 

 No significant adverse effect on the surrounding infrastructure, particularly local road 
networks and water supply and sewerage 

 Benefit to the local community through, for instance, provision of local employment 
opportunities and improvements to local service provision; and 

 Development of a size and with landscaping appropriate to its rural location in the parish. 

Appropriate tourism and leisure development proposals involving the re-use of existing buildings 
or as part of farm diversification will be supported. 

 

Page 137



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

22 

Although not a major issue identified through consultation responses, it is felt that there is scope for 
small scale tourism or leisure development within the Parish to assist in the promotion of rural 
enterprise and local employment opportunities. The Local Plan encourages such development 
through policies EC3 and EC12 in particular. However, the Parish Council considers that as policy 
EC12 is Borough-wide in nature, some additional criteria relating to the rural nature of Tibberton 
and Cherrington should be included in the Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraph: 20 and 83c. 

 Local Plan policies: SP3 - Rural Area; SP4 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development; EC3 - Employment in the rural area; EC12 - Leisure, cultural and tourism 
development; C3 - Impact of development on highways. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 3 and 12. 
 
2. Rural Character and Housing 
 

POLICY RCH1: CONSERVATION OF TIBBERTON’S AND CHERRINGTON’S HISTORIC 
CHARACTER 

Development proposals will be supported that sustain and enhance the significance of historic 
buildings (including their settings) that contribute to local character and which make a positive 
contribution to the locally distinctive historic character of the Parish. 
 

Proposals will be supported that: 
 

 Make a positive contribution to the Parish through high quality design with buildings 
respecting the height, size, scale and massing of adjacent buildings, plot width and form 

 Respect the local identity, characteristic pattern of development and built form of the 
village of Tibberton, including the use of traditional materials 

 Retain buildings, structures and open spaces that contribute significantly to Tibberton and 
Cherrington’s rural character 

 Avoid substantial demolition, alteration, extension or other development of a Duke of 
Sutherland cottage that causes significant harm to its significance, including its setting 

 Use the historic character of the Parish’s buildings to inform the design concept for new 
development, including proposals for additional buildings within farmsteads 

 Protect or enhance the setting of listed buildings through appropriately sited and designed 
developments 

 Involve the conversion or extension of historic agricultural buildings to residential use 
when accompanied by evidence that there is no appropriate alternative employment 
development 

 Are of innovative design which fits sensitively into the Tibberton’s and Cherrington’s 
frontages and street scenes; and/or 

 Retain and/or increase hedgerows, tree cover and sandstone boundary walls, as these 
are essential components of the village character. 

 

Development proposals likely to have a significant impact on local historic character and 
distinctiveness and/or on heritage assets should include evidence as to how this is taken into 
account by the proposal. 

 
Particularly strong support was expressed through the consultations, for the Parish to have a 
specific policy recognising the importance of protecting or enhancing its unique qualities. Locally 
important buildings include the ‘Primitive’ Methodist Chapel, which was built in 1844. Responses 

Page 138



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

23 

also made reference to the fact that it is the rural setting of Tibberton and Cherrington and the 
importance of open green spaces in the Parish that contribute to its distinctive character and give 
them their unique nature.  
 
This policy builds on Local Plan policy BE1 and recent responses by the Parish Council to planning 
applications in Tibberton and Cherrington highlighting the importance of the Parish’s historic 
character. The above criteria should be validated against the proposed LCA, when available. 
 
This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 8, 20, 28 and 184 - 187. 

 Local Plan policies: SP4 - Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development; HO10 - 
Residential Development in the Rural Area; BE1 - Design Criteria; BE4 - Listed 
Buildings; BE6 - Buildings of local interest. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 4, 5 and 9. 
 

POLICY RCH2: RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT WITHIN TIBBERTON 

Proposals for new housing development will be supported on suitable infill sites within the 
Tibberton Settlement Boundary (Figure 1 on Pages 7 and A-5). 

 
The Neighbourhood Plan interprets the planning context set by national planning policy and the 
district wide local plan policies, into the specific context of Tibberton and Cherrington Parish. The 
Telford and Wrekin Rural Settlements Paper (B2f) states that ‘preserving the integrity of the 
character and scale of the [Parish] and being responsive to the constraints of the small highways 
which pass through and beyond the settlements provide a justification for discouraging substantial 
numbers of additional new homes. A critical challenge is the poor road links between Tibberton and 
Cherrington and the B5062 to the south.’ The Local Planning Authority also specifically opposes 
any proposed development that would cause harm to the character of the village or encroachment 
into the countryside. 
 
Most consultation responses understood the need for limited infill development in the Parish but 
were also in favour of protecting the character of the area from too great a scale of new 
development. 
 
Consequently, this policy builds on Telford & Wrekin Local Plan policies SP3 and HO10 which 
support new development where it meets the needs of rural communities and seeks to direct a 
limited amount of new housing development within the Tibberton Settlement Boundary to infill sites 
only. Local Plan policy HO11 will apply to the rest of the Parish area (including Cherrington) 
outside of the Settlement Boundary. 
 
This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 9, 69, 71, 110, 127, 130, 185 and 192. 

 Local Plan policies: SP3 - Rural Area; SP4 - Presumption in favour of Sustainable 
Development; HO10 - Residential Development in the Rural Area; HO11 - Affordable 
Rural Exceptions. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 4, 5, 6, and 10. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 139



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

24 

POLICY RCH3: DESIGN OF NEW HOUSING 

Where residential development is proposed, the following criteria should be met: 

a) It demonstrates high quality design that is in keeping with the scale and character of 
buildings and layout in the area 

b) It complements the existing external materials seen locally 

c) It provides variety in house design and elevation treatment 

d) It incorporates Secured by Design standards where it is reasonable to do so 

e) It provides high quality boundary treatment that is appropriate to maintaining the rural 
character of the Parish 

f) It provides good pedestrian, cycling and horse riding connections to existing routes 

g) It provides adequate storage for bins and recycling 

h) It does not result in loss of amenity for neighbouring properties 

i) It has regard to the importance of retaining the Parish’s dark skies 

j) It provides proactive measures to support the wildlife environment16 and biodiversity 

k) It contributes to reducing environmental and climate impacts; and/or 

l) Traffic generation and parking does not have significant adverse impacts on road and 
pedestrian safety. Proposals that exceed the parking standards in Appendix F of the Local 
Plan will be supported 

 
Consultation responses stressed the need for new housing to be in keeping with the character of 
the Parish and sympathetic to existing design and materials. This policy approach is seen as 
particularly important when dealing with proposals for infill applications to avoid inappropriate 
developments. This policy complements the criteria set out in policy BE1 of the Telford & Wrekin 
Local Plan which seeks to promote good design in line with the requirements of the NPPF which 
recognises that good design contributes positively to improving people’s quality of life. 
 
Additionally, by advocating Secured by Design, it will ensure that developers properly consider the 
measures involved in designing out crime to create and maintain a sustainable community. 
 
It has also been the long-held preference of the Parish Council, with strong support from 
parishioners17, for the principle of maintaining the rural nature of the Parish by reducing light 
pollution and discouraging developments with street lights or excessive lighting, thereby delivering 
the Parish’s stated preference for a ‘dark sky’ environment. 
 
As with the other policies that affect the rural nature and local character of the Parish, this policy 
should be validated against the proposed LCA, when available. 
 
This policy conforms to: 
 

 NPPF paragraphs: 8b, 28, 71, 79, 91b, 95, 102, 110, 124 - 132 and 170. 

 Local Plan policies: SP4 - Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development; HO10 - 
Residential Development in the Rural Area; BE1 - Design Criteria; C3 - Impact of 
development on highways; C4 - Design of roads and streets; C5 - Design of parking; 
NE1 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 2, 7, 8, 12, 13, and 14. 

                                                     
16

 Such as initiatives to install ‘Hedgehog highways’ and green corridors that will help other small animals, frogs, 
birds and insects. 
17

 90% of respondents to the Regulation 14 Questionnaire agreed with this policy. 

Page 140



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

25 

 Design for Community Safety Supplementary Planning Document (June 2008). 

 The National Design Guide (2019). 

 

POLICY RCH4: TYPE OF HOUSING 

Homes for smaller households of a size and type suited to the younger and older generations 
will be supported, subject to meeting a clearly evidenced local need.  

 
Many consultation responses referred to the need for suitable housing to be available for those 
members of the community who need smaller or more affordable homes. This was felt to be 
important to assist elderly households to downsize or for younger households to access the 
housing market. Many people commented on the importance of ensuring that affordable housing 
should be made available only to local people with a local connection in perpetuity. Such 
developments are normally brought forward in conjunction with a Housing Association and in close 
cooperation with the Local Authority’s planning and housing functions. 
 
This policy seeks to align the type and tenure of proposed housing developments with the strategy 
for delivery of rural affordable housing outside the Settlement Boundary for Tibberton as set out in 
RCH2, the Local Plan policy HO11 and the NPPF. The above policy should be validated against 
the proposed LCA, when available. 
 
This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 8b, 61 - 63 and 77. 

 Local Plan policies: HO4 - Housing Mix; HO5 - Affordable housing thresholds and 
percentages; HO6 - Delivery of Affordable Housing; HO11 - Affordable Rural 
Exceptions. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 4 and 6. 
 
3. Environment, Open Spaces and Recreation 
 

POLICY EOR1: GREEN SPACES 

Development proposals that would cause loss of or significant harm to The Playing Fields, 
including the children’s play area, (see Table 1 and Figure 6) will not be supported, with the 
exception of those associated with community facilities (including the expansion of the school 
and the enhancements of facilities supporting the playing fields). 

 
Significant support for the protection of open spaces has been a feature of the responses to the 
consultations. Responses have highlighted the importance of these open spaces both to the 
community in terms of their recreation and amenity value but also their importance to the character 
and the rural setting of the Parish. Therefore, Telford & Wrekin Council incorporated the Playing 
Fields into a ‘Green Guarantee’ scheme in 2016 to protect them from future development. The 
‘Green Guarantee’ scheme is a commitment to safeguard Council owned green spaces valued by 
local communities for the wildlife they support, the opportunities they provide for leisure and 
recreation and the positive effect they have on health and wellbeing. 
 
Tibberton Playing Fields are a key element in meeting the anticipated growth needed in the 
provision of sport within the Borough.  This has been highlighted in Telford & Wrekin’s Playing 
Pitch Strategy, that is due to be adopted soon. Sport England also have a statutory consultee role 
in protecting playing fields, with a presumption against the loss of playing field land.  Following an 
enquiry about the central section of the fields it was established that the fields, with the exception 

Page 141



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

26 

of the School and children’s play area, were bought by the Borough Council in the 1970s and now 
belong to TWC. This central section was not covered by the ‘Green Guarantee’ scheme but is included 
within the boundaries covered by this Policy, as shown in Figure 6 (Page 27). 
 
The Playing Fields could also meet the criteria for designation as a Local Green Space in 
accordance with NPPF paragraphs 99 and 100, which specifies that Neighbourhood Plans can 
seek to protect areas of open space of significant importance to local communities.  This attribution 
should only be used where the site is in close proximity to the settlement, it is demonstrably special 
and is local in character. The Borough’s Local Plan also states that: ‘The Council is not designating 
any Local Green spaces through the Local Plan but supports designations through neighbourhood 
development plans’. However, as the Playing Fields are already protected by the TWC ‘Green 
Guarantee’ Scheme, the merging Telford & Wrekin Playing Pitch Strategy and Sport England’s 
remit to protect playing fields, it was decided that seeking designation as a ‘Local Green Space’ 
under the NPPF policy was not necessary at this time. 
 
Although the Playing Fields are the only Public Open Space (POS) in the Parish, the creation of 
additional POS will be supported where possible. 
 
This policy complies with national planning policy and is consistent with Local Plan policies NE1 
and NE3 by protecting the area to contribute to provisions for sport, recreation and biodiversity as 
well as local health and well-being.  Tibberton C of E Primary School is considered a key 
community asset and is important to the vitality of the village.  There is a need to ensure that the 
long term sustainability of the school can be maintained should there be any alterations or 
remodelling of the school site.  Policy COM1 in the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan supports 
improvement to existing community facilities to meet the need of local residents.  This means that 
the construction of new buildings for development would be inappropriate with the exception of the 
provision of appropriate additional/enhanced educational and community facilities in connection 
with the existing education and Playing Fields.  
 
Table 1: POS protected under ‘Green Guarantee’ Scheme 
 

Name of Site and Distance 
from centre of Tibberton 
village (All Saints’ Church) 

 

Special Qualities/Local Significance 

 

The Playing Fields <500m The Playing Fields in Tibberton are connected to and essential for 
Tibberton C of E Primary School and outside teams for organised 
sport but they also cater for informal recreation by local residents.   

 
This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 8, 96, 97, 99, 100 and 101. 

 Sport England Playing Fields Policy. 

 Local Plan policies: SP4 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development; NE1 - 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity; NE3 - Existing public open space; COM1 - Community 
facilities 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 9 and 10. 

 

Page 142



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
2020 - 2031  

27 

Figure 6: Green Spaces 

P
age 143



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
2020 - 2031 2020 - 2031 

 

28 

POLICY EOR2: ECOLOGY AND LANDSCAPE 

Development proposals should protect and enhance features of significant nature conservation 
or landscape value, including mature trees, established hedgerows, rivers (especially the River 
Meese corridor), ponds and existing areas of woodland where appropriate. Improvement of the 
environmental connectivity between wildlife areas and green spaces will be encouraged to 
enhance the green infrastructure of the Parish. 

 

A recurring theme throughout the consultation process has been the protection of the landscape 
and green or ‘biodiversity’ elements in the Parish, with particular emphasis on the replacement of 
trees and bushes which have been lost as the result of recent building developments. Many 
responses stressed the importance of the environment and the need to ensure that all 
developments respect and wherever possible improves the local environment through appropriate 
measures. This policy will aim to preserve, enhance and improve all known sites of ecological or 
environmental importance, as well as designating new sites that are identified in the future which are 
currently unprotected; it should be validated against the proposed LCA, when available. 
 
This policy complements Local Plan polices NE1 and NE2 by seeking to protect the biodiversity 
and landscape assets of the Parish. 
 
This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 8, 20, 149, 170, 174, 175 and 180. 

 Local Plan policies: SP4 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development; NE1 - 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity; NE2 - Trees, hedgerows and woodlands; BE1 - Design 
criteria. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 1, 2, 9, 10 and 11. 

 
4. Highways and Byways 
 

POLICY HB1: LINKAGES AND CONNECTIONS 

Proposals for the enhancement and improvement of the existing Public Rights of Way will be 
supported where appropriate. All new planning applications should demonstrate safe and 
accessible routes for pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders to local services, facilities and existing 
networks, particularly where they link with public transport. The addition of pavements or any other 
measures serving the same function should be  in keeping with the rural nature of the Parish and 
local character. 

 

 
Consultation responses reflected a desire to seek to protect and improve the network of rights of 
way and pedestrian links. Traffic generation by new developments should be mitigated by 
improved links to public transport in order to minimise the additional carbon footprint generated by 
new housing. Although strictly speaking not controlled by planning legislation these are certainly 
affected or influenced by new development and appropriate enhancements can be sought through 
the planning process. 
 
Most roads in the area are narrow, bounded by grass verges or banks, with only a few pavements 
in Tibberton and none in  Cherrington; those that have been provided are sporadic and of very 
limited width. Additionally, a critical challenge is the poor road links between Tibberton and Cherrington 
and the B5062; access to this road is not satisfactory. As well as the narrow width of the feeder routes, 
the 3 junctions onto the B5062 from Tibberton and 1 of the 2 from Cherrington have particularly poor 
visibility for vehicles exiting onto the main road. The Borough Council consider that the constraints of 
the small highways in the Parish and the surrounding area provide a justification for discouraging 

Page 144



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
2020 - 2031 2020 - 2031 

 

29 

substantial numbers of additional new homes18. 
 
This policy is reflected in Telford & Wrekin Council’s Local Plan which seeks to improve existing or 
deliver new linkages and connections under a variety of policy headings including the natural 
environment, connections and the built environment. 
 
This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 8, 91, 98, 102 and 110. 

 Local Plan policies: SP4 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development; C1 - 
Promoting alternatives to the private car; C3 - Impact of development on highways; C4 
- Design of roads and streets; BE1 - Design criteria. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 1, 2, 9, 10, 11, 13, and 14. 

  

                                                     
18

 Telford & Wrekin Rural Settlements Paper (B2f). 

Page 145



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
2020 - 2031 2020 - 2031 

 

30 

MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 
It is expected that Telford & Wrekin Council, as the Planning Authority, will continue to monitor 
progress relating to the number of dwellings and number of affordable homes delivered during the 
period of this Neighbourhood Plan, as part of the wider monitoring responsibilities for the Borough 
set out in their Annual Monitoring Report. 
 
The Plan covers the period until 2031. For long-term success it is essential that developments in 
the Plan Area are reviewed against the Plan’s objectives and policies. 
 
Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Council will monitor the delivery of its policies and work to ensure 
that benefits to the communities within the Parish are achieved. 
 
Each agenda for the Parish Council meetings will include an item ‘Tibberton and Cherrington 
Neighbourhood Plan’ which will ensure that the item is continually reviewed and reported upon 
during its life. 
 
On the anniversary of the adoption of the Plan, the Parish Council will assess the impact of the 
Plan during the previous year and discuss the implementation of the Plan for the forthcoming year, 
taking into consideration any significant changes that have come about. The Parish Council will 
bring to the attention of the Borough Council any matters or problems that have been identified and 
this will be used as part of their contribution to the Annual Monitoring Report produced by Telford & 
Wrekin Council. 
 
In 2025 and 2030, there will be thorough 5-year reviews of progress by a recruited community-
based Steering Group. The purpose of these more comprehensive reviews will be to hold the 
Parish Council to account by assessing how/whether the ‘Objectives’ are being achieved. 
Continued confidence in the Plan for the next Plan period will depend upon ensuring that all current 
and relevant information is taken into account. Each 5-year review will be assessed along with the 
combined Annual Monitoring Reports, and their results will inform any decision on the need for a 
‘Full Formal Review’. If there is a need for a Full Formal Review, up-to-date data on Housing 
Needs Survey, Parish Profile, Census results etc. will be used. 
 
In 2031, or before, a community-based Steering Group will be re-formed to undertake a Full Formal 
Review to decide on the need for a subsequent 15-year Plan, and to oversee the development of 
this new Plan if required. This should coincide with work at the Local Authority on the Local Plan for 
Telford & Wrekin. 
 
In conjunction, Telford & Wrekin Council will undertake its statutory role and continue to monitor 
Neighbourhood Plans as part of its monitoring framework set out in Local Plan Appendix A; Tables 
12- 18. 
 
The Parish Council may be best placed to monitor the progress of certain elements of the 
Neighbourhood Plan; the division of responsibility will be agreed with Telford & Wrekin Council. 
This might mean that Telford & Wrekin Council leads on monitoring the strategic delivery of 
housing while the Parish Council monitors local delivery. Monitoring arrangements are to be 
recorded in a Memorandum of Understanding between the two Authorities. 
 
The Parish Council’s monitoring could take the form of a spreadsheet listing all planning 
applications and the decisions made on them. It should be possible to see the extent to which the 
Neighbourhood Plan has been successful in influencing planning and development decisions by 
recording which policies are being used in decision making and the outcomes. Hence, we should 
be able to assess how well policies are providing the expected outcomes. Findings from this should 
be shared with other interested parties to inform future Plans. 

Page 146



Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
2020 - 2031 2020 - 2031 

 

31 

Table 2: Example of Policy Monitoring: 

 

Policy No. of times 
used 

Decision in 
accordance 

Decision 
against policy 

Commentary 

     

Page 147



2020 - 2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

A-1 

ANNEX A 
 

SETTLEMENT BOUNDARIES 
 

The majority of the Parish of Tibberton and Cherrington is open countryside, with only Tibberton 
having a significant development of buildings. The Local Planning Authority specifically opposes 
any proposed development that would cause harm to the character of the villages or encroachment 
into the countryside.  However, the confines of Tibberton are not formally defined, leading to 
differing interpretations of where the ‘built-up’ area ends and ‘open countryside’ begins.  This 
conflict of opinion has been resolved by assigning a ‘Settlement Boundary’ to the village.  All of 
Cherrington is deemed to be in open countryside, therefore, there is no need to delineate the 
boundaries of this settlement. 
 

Settlement boundaries are a well utilised planning tool for guiding, controlling and identifying limits 
to development for an individual village. It consists of a line that is drawn on a plan around a 
village, which reflects its built form; this is also known historically as a ‘village envelope’. The 
settlement boundary is used as a policy tool reflecting the area where a set of plan policies are to 
be applied but does not necessarily have to cover the full extent of the village nor be limited to its 
built form.  
 

In general, there is a presumption in favour of development within the settlement boundary. Any 
land and buildings outside of the boundary line are usually considered to be open countryside 
where development would be regulated with stricter planning policies. However, it should be noted 
that any land which has been included within the boundary line does not have a guarantee of 
approval of planning permission, as there will be other planning policies which will need to be 
adhered to also, for example; the protection of the character of a settlement.  
 

There are some advantages and potential disadvantages to defining a settlement boundary 1. 
 

Advantages of Settlement Boundaries 

 Defining the boundary with a line plotted on a plan makes it easy to identify the ‘settlement’ 
from ‘open countryside’. 

 Settlement boundaries are an understood and accepted planning tool for guiding and 
controlling developments. 

 Ensures a more plan-led and controlled approach to future housing growth by allowing 
development sites to be allocated within the villages. 

 Protects the countryside from unnecessary development and prevents ribbon development. 

 Co-ordinated and consistent approach providing a firm basis for refusing planning 
applications which are unacceptable in planning terms. 

 Allows for more certainty to developers/land owners with sites/land within the boundary, as 
long as they adhere to all other plan policies. 

 Allows the development of small sites which cannot be identified as allocations. 
 
Disadvantages of Settlement Boundaries 

 Potentially increases land values within the settlement boundary. 

 Increases hope values for land adjoining but outside the boundary. 

 The use of settlement boundaries has led to criticism that they result in cramming within the 
village as every available area of land competes for development resulting in a potential 
reduction in the landscape quality and character of that village, unless other policies are in 
place. 

                                                     
1
 Herefordshire Council Neighbourhood Planning Guidance Note 20. 

Page 148



2020 - 2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

A-2 

 Settlement boundaries can be crude and inflexible. 

 The character of properties and the village could be altered if development is allowed within 
the gardens of these houses within a settlement boundary. 

 
Defining a Settlement Boundary 

Some criteria used to define the Tibberton Settlement Boundary are detailed below. These were 
used in addition to local circumstances and knowledge. 

 Lines of communication - The boundaries trace the edge of the built up area, therefore 
exclude roads, paths and other lines of communications. 

 Physical features - Wherever possible the boundaries follow physical features, such as: 
buildings, field boundaries or curtilages. However, in order to conserve the character and to 
limit expansion, the settlement boundaries exclude large gardens, orchards and other 
areas. This may mean that occasionally the boundaries do not relate fully to the physical 
features surrounding the village. 

 Planning History - Planning permissions, recent refusals, planning appeal decisions and 
previous Local Plan inspector’s comments concerning areas on the edge of the village have 
been used to help define the settlement boundaries. 

 Village enhancements - Settlement boundaries include buildings and associated land that 
make up the village form. In some edges of village areas, boundaries may need to include 
small areas of land and/or buildings which offer the opportunity for improvements to the 
entrance of the village or ensure infrastructure improvements or a general enhancement to 
the village. 

 Recent development - Where appropriate, the settlement boundaries include new 
developments which have occurred recently. They also include sites that have received 
planning permission within the settlement boundary. 

 Important amenity areas - These form part of the character of the settlement and should be 
identified and protected by policy and included in the settlement boundary due to their 
contribution to built form. 

 Land allocated for housing, employment or other uses will be included within the boundary. 

 The settlement boundaries have been drawn to facilitate an appropriate level of proportional 
growth within the plan period. If land within the boundary is not formally allocated, there will 
be a requirement to demonstrate that there is enough available capacity within the 
boundary to enable development to take place. 

 
Tibberton Settlement Boundary 

 

The existing built form of Tibberton village is around the primary quadrangle of development, close 
to the primary school, church, public house, village shop and access to public transportation links2. 
The Settlement Boundary follows this built form, which leaves some options for limited infill within 
the boundary. 
 

The Parish population at the 2011 Census was 698, which was a 2% increase from 684 in 2001; 
however, this figure is forecast to rise to approximately 994 by 2021 due to recent housing 
developments, an increase of 42.4% since 2011. Similarly, the housing stock in Tibberton 
increased by less than 9% in the 10 years between 1999 and 2009 but the rate trebled to nearly 
27% (256 to 325 houses) during the following 8 years to 2017.  This rise in the development of new 
homes will accelerate by a further 27% during the next 4 years from 2017 to 2021 (325 to 413 
houses) as a result of those houses that are currently in build or will definitely be built.  This 
represents an increase of 142 houses (52%) in the 10 years from 2012 to 2021 (inclusive), which 
far exceeds the development envisaged in the Borough’s Spatial Strategy policies SP1, 2 and 3 

                                                     
2
 Planning Officer Statement in TWC/2019/0251. 

Page 149



2020 - 2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

A-3 

and which were summarised in Table 9 of the Local Plan. These policies envisaged a small 
amount of housing development (approximately 80 houses) to be directed towards the 5 named 
rural settlements3; however, Tibberton has delivered 177% of this requirement on its own. 
 
The year-on-year building development within the proposed Settlement Boundary since the 
Borough’s last Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)4 in 2012 is shown on the 
map at Figure 7 below, whilst the increase in housing stock in Tibberton between 1999 and 2020 is 
shown graphically at Figure 8. 
 
 

     
 
Figure 7: Development within Settlement Boundary        Figure 8: Increase in Housing 1999 - 2020 
 
 

Of the 20 sites in Tibberton identified in the SHLAA, 9 are undeveloped sites which fall outside of 
the Settlement Boundary5; all of these were defined in the SHLAA as being ‘outside of suitable 
settlement’. Of the remaining 11 sites a further 9 have been developed and are therefore contained 
with the boundary, whilst the remaining two6 also lie within the Settlement Boundary, with no known 
constraints, but have not been developed. 
 

Additionally, a further 3 sites have outline planning permission and a planning application for the 
land south and west of Tibberton Motor Repairs7 for 21 houses has had reserve matters granted.  
All sites are within the proposed Settlement Boundary for Tibberton. 
 
Western Limit of Tibberton Settlement Boundary 
 
The field to the west of No 45 Cherrington Road, ‘Willowbank’8 has been defined by a Planning 
Officer as ‘Not in the rural settlement and considered to be in open countryside.’9  This decision 
was supported in the delegated report for a previous planning application10 where the Inspector’s 
decision letter and the delegated report for the appeal application both indicated that the site is 
located outside of the village. The Inspectors decision is particularly helpful on this point where in 
paragraph 18 of the report, he concluded that the site falls within open countryside. Therefore, No 
45 Cherrington Road forms the western edge of the Settlement Boundary for the village of 
Tibberton. 

                                                     
3
 Edgmond, Ercall Magna, Lilleshall, Waters Upton and Tibberton & Cherrington.  

4
 See Annex C Pages C-10 to C-12. 

5
 SHLAA Sites 366, 515, 516, 574, 622, 699, 734, 749 and 770. 

6
 SHLAA Sites 33 and 509. 

7
 TWC/2019/0177 and TWC/2014/1080 

8
 Part of SHLAA Site 366 as shown in Figure 11 in Annex C Page C-10 

9
 TWC/2019/0251 

10
 TWC/2016/0891 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

450 

1999 2002 2005 2008 2011 2014 2017 2020 

 Year of 
Planning 
Approval 

No of 
Houses 

   
 Outline 3 
   
 2019 48 
   
 2018 40 
   
 2017 28 
   
 2016 5 
   
 2015 0 
   
 2014 4 
   
 2013 15 
   
 2012 2 

 

Page 150



2020 - 2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

A-4 

 

Eastern Limit of Tibberton Settlement Boundary 
 
The eastern edge of Tibberton is clearly defined by the current built form of the village.  
 
Northern Limit of Tibberton Settlement Boundary 
 
The River Meese and the built form of the north-eastern side of Tibberton form a distinct settlement 
boundary to the north of the village. A planning application has been submitted for the land south-
west of Tibberton Motor Repairs Mill Lane7, with reserve matters granted, therefore this site has 
been included within the boundary. 
 
Southern Limit of Tibberton Settlement Boundary 
 
Although there is some housing to the south of Plantation Road, in refusing an application to 
develop 3 houses on the site of 62 Plantation Road, the Planning Officer noted that ‘It is therefore 
reasonable to consider the site as ‘locally important incidental open land’ that contributes to the 
village’s undeveloped character on this side of Plantation Road and its development would 
represent an encroachment into the open countryside on the southern edge of the village’11. Hay 
Street marks the south-eastern boundary of Tibberton village, with a proposed development to the 
south east of Grangefield, to the east of Hay Street, considered to encroach unacceptably into the 
countryside12. Therefore, the Tibberton Settlement Boundary has been drawn along the line of 
Plantation Road, but including existing housing and recent developments. 
 
The Settlement Boundary for Tibberton is shown at Figure 1 on Page A-5 below. 
 

                                                     
11

 TWC/2016/0016 
12

 TWC/2017/0606 

Page 151



2020 - 2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

A-5  

Figure 1: Tibberton Settlement Boundary 

 

Key 

Settlement Boundary 

Parish Boundary 

The 

P
age 152



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

B-1  

ANNEX B 
 

TIBBERTON’S AND CHERRINGTON’S HISTORIC CHARACTER 
 
Following the dissolution of the monasteries in the sixteenth century, much of area was granted to 
James Leveson of Wolverhampton, who subsequently passed the land to the Duke of Sutherland. 
Despite much other property development throughout the twentieth century, both Tibberton and 
Cherrington owe a substantial debt to the Duke of Sutherland and not just for the style of 
architecture found in houses old and new in the Parish. The older houses built at the end of the 
nineteenth century have been described as ‘spacious and dignified but not spectacular ... built at 
low a density, the cottages had large gardens which were well kept’. The writer also commended 
the church, the bridge and the Sutherland Arms which is ‘pleasantly simple’. 
 
In addition to this heritage, Tibberton and Cherrington both have historic cores with 17 listed 
buildings recorded in the National Heritage List for England as buildings of special historic or 
architectural interest. Of these, 16 are listed at Grade II and one is at Grade II*, marking it out as 
being of particular national importance. Almost all the listed buildings are timber framed houses 
and cottages, the earlier ones with cruck construction. The other listed buildings consist of red brick 
houses, a church and a bridge over the River Meese. A full list of these buildings is at Appendix 1. 
 
The historic linear pattern of Tibberton village has evolved in the post war period into a quadrilinear 
form covering four roads around a central field and a school. This new form has become more 
pronounced following the granting of planning applications TWC/2017/0355 (land off Plantation 
Road), TWC/2016/1127 (land off Back Lane and Plantation Road) and TWC/2016/0446 (land north 
of 61 Plantation Road). The Council has successfully resisted major applications subsequently 
following the release of its five year land supply statement in March 2015 (for example 
TWC/2014/0236 at 12 Tibberton) but has lost a planning appeal on land that is part previously 
developed at Mill Lane (TWC/2019/0177). Smaller infill schemes continue to be approved and built 
in the village. 
 
Over 43% of properties in the historic core of Cherrington, sometimes known as Cherrington 
Green, are Grade 2 listed buildings (7 out of 16 dwellings). There is also a linear development of 
houses and agricultural buildings along the road leading from the B5062 towards Cherrington 
Manor. Most development in recent years has focused on converting barns into housing at 
Cherrington Grange and Cherrington Manor with limited additional buildings elsewhere. 
 

Page 153

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Heritage_List_for_England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cruck


2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

B-1-1  

APPENDIX 1 TO ANNEX B 
 

NATIONAL HERITAGE LIST FOR TIBBERTON AND CHERRINGTON  
 

 Name and 
location  

Date  Notes  Grade  

1 
Cruck 
Cottage 
Cherrington  

16th 
century  

A timber framed cottage with cruck construction and painted brick infill 
on a sandstone plinth, and with a thatched roof. There is one storey and 
an attic, and three bays, and the cottage contains three pairs of cruck 
trusses. The windows are casements, and there are three eyebrow 
dormers.  

II  

2 
Tibberton 
House , No 
21 

1611  

A timber framed cottage with plastered infill and a tile roof. There is one 
storey and an attic, and three bays. On the front is a gabled porch, and 
the windows are casements. There are three large dormers with 
oversailing gables, the right gable is on shaped brackets, and is dated.  

II  

3 7 Stackyard 
Lane 
Cherrington 

Early 17th 
century 

(probable)  

A timber framed cottage with cruck trusses, red brick infill, and an 
asbestos tile roof. There is one storey and an attic, and three bays. The 
windows are casements, and there is a gabled dormer.  

II  

4 
Longacre, 
Cherrington  

Early 17th 
century 

(probable)  

A timber framed cottage with cruck construction that has been restored. 
It has plastered infill, the northeast end is in painted sandstone, and the 
tile roof is gabled and hipped. There is one storey and an attic, and three 
bays. The windows are casements, and there are two gabled dormers.  

II  

5 

Cherrington 
Manor House  

1635  

A timber framed house with painted brick infill and a tile roof. There are 
two storeys and an attic, and three gabled bays, the centre bay a two-
storey projecting porch. At the rear are 19th-century extensions. The 
upper storeys and the gables are jettied with moulded bressumers, and 
the gables have bargeboards and pendants. The doorway has a 
rectangular fanlight, the windows are casements, and under the upper 
floor windows are carved blank arches.  

II*  

6 
5 and 6 The 
Green, 
Cherrington  

17th 
century  

A pair of timber framed cottages, refronted in red brick and partly 
rendered, with exposed timber framing at the rear, and a tile roof. There 
is one storey and attics, and four bays. The windows are casements, 
and there are four gabled dormers.  

II  

7 

7 Tibberton  
17th 

century  

A restored and extended timber framed cottage, with brick infill, the 
extension in brick, and a tile roof. There is one storey and an attic, and 
three bays. On the front is a gabled porch, the windows are three-light 
casements, and there are three gabled dormers.  

II  

8 

12 Tibberton  
17th 

century  

A timber framed house with painted brick infill and a tile roof. There is 
one storey and attics, a front of five bays, and to the right is a 19th-
century gabled wing with a porch in the angle. The windows are 
casements, and there are three gabled dormers.  

II  

9 

Cherrington 
Grange  

17th 
century  

A timber framed house, later encased in brick and painted. It has a 
dentilled eaves course, a tiled roof, one storey and an attic, two bays, 
and a 19th-century rear wing. In the centre is a porch, and a doorway 
with pilasters and an entablature. The windows are casements with 
segmental heads, and there are two gabled dormers.  

II  

10 
Peartree 
Cottage, No 4 
Cherrington  

17th 
century  

A timber framed cottage with later extensions in sandstone, it has 
painted brick infill and a tile roof. There is one storey and an attic, two 
bays, an 18th-century one-bay extension to the left and a later extension 
to the right. The windows are casements.  

II  

11 Rose 
Farmhouse, 
Tibberton  

17th 
century  

A timber framed farmhouse that was altered in the 19th century. It has 
plastered infill, a tile roof, two storeys, two bays, and a lean-to at each 
end. In the centre is a timber porch, and the windows are casements.  

II  

12  
Sutherland 
Forge, 
Tibberton  

17th 
century  

A timber framed house with painted plaster infill and a tile roof. There is 
one storey and an attic, two bays, and later extensions. On the front is a 
gable porch, the windows are casements, and there are two large 
dormers with oversailing gables.  

II  

Page 154

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cruck
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sandstone
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Plinth
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cruck
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cruck
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sandstone
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hip_roof
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Jettied
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Molding_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bressumer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bargeboard
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Fanlight
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Stucco
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dentil
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Eaves
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pilaster
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Entablature
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sandstone
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer


2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

B-1-2  

 Name and 
location  

Date  Notes  Grade  

 

13 
Tibberton 
Manor House  

1796  

A red brick house with a tile roof, three storeys and three bays. In the 
ground floor is a gabled porch flanked by bay windows, the upper floors 
contain sashes, and above the middle window in the central bay is a 
tablet with a coronet and the date.  

II  

14 

Tibberton 
Grange  

1810  

A red brick house with a slate roof, three storeys, three bays, and 
flanking recessed two-storey one-bay pavilions. In the centre is a porch 
with pairs of openwork iron columns, and a doorway with pilasters and a 
semicircular fanlight. The windows are sashes, those in the ground floor 
under white rendered lunettes.  

II  

15 

Day House  1819  

A farmhouse on a model farm, it is in red brick, and has a tile roof with 
coped gables and moulded kneelers. There are two storeys and three 
bays. In the centre is a porch with pilasters, a pediment and an elliptical 
arch, and the doorway has a semicircular fanlight. Flanking the porch 
are canted bay windows, in the upper floor are sash windows with stone 
lintels, and above the middle window is a plaque with a coronet and the 
date.  

II  

16 
All Saints 
Church  

1842  

The church is in sandstone, and consists of a nave, a south transept, a 
square chancel, and a west tower. The tower has clock faces, and an 
embattled parapet with pinnacles. The windows have pointed arches 
and contain Y-tracery.  

II  

17 

Bridge over 
River Meese  

Circa C18  

Circa C18 or earlier sandstone rubble road bridge over River Meese 
north-west of the Church of All Saints’. Two segmental arches with cut-
water between and with parapet above. Widened in brick on east side 
and with iron lock mechanism for mill pool to the former mill which has 
been demolished. 

II  

 

Page 155

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sash_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Coronet
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Slate
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pavilion
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pilaster
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Fanlight
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sash_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Stucco
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lunette
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Model_farm
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Coping_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Molding_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pilaster
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pediment
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Fanlight
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cant_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sash_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lintel_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Coronet
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sandstone
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Nave
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Transept
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Chancel
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Embattled
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Parapet
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pinnacle
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tracery


2020 -  2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 

 

B-1-3 
 

Figure 9: Listed Buildings in Tibberton and Cherrington

1 

3 

9 

17 

6 

4 

15 

10 

5 

14 

8 

12 

13 

16 

7 

2 
11 

P
age 156



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-1 

ANNEX C 
 

TIBBERTON AND CHERRINGTON PARISH PROFILE 
 

This profile of the Parish draws on a number of data sources including the 2001 and 2011 
Censuses, the Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Plan 2005/2006, the Telford & Wrekin Rural 
Settlements paper (June 2016) and local knowledge. 
 

Location 
 

Tibberton and Cherrington Parish is situated in the rural north of the borough of Telford & Wrekin, 
north of Telford and west of the town of Newport.  
 

PEOPLE 
 

Population 
 

The 2011 Census recorded a population of 698 people, a rise of 2% since 2001, when population 
was 684. However, this is forecast to rise to approximately 994 by 2021 due to recent housing 
developments; this is an increase of 42.4% since 2011. With a Parish area of 1,042.16 hectares, 
this gives a population density of 0.7 persons per hectare in 2001 rising to 0.95 persons per 
hectare in 2021. 
 

Age Profile 
 

Figure 10: Parish Age Profile (as of 2011. Source: ONS, Table KS102EW) 
 

 
 
With a mean age of 42.6 years, Tibberton and Cherrington Parish has a higher age profile than 
other rural areas in the Borough, where the mean age is 38.1 years. However, the Parish has a 
similar proportion of school age (16.9% are age 5 - 17 years) but a significantly higher percentage 
of retirement age (18.5% are over 65, compared with 14.4% in the rest of the Borough). 
 
Educational Attainment 
 
The 2011 Census of educational attainment reflects a relatively highly skilled population in 
Tibberton and Cherrington (Figure 11). The number of residents with Level 4 qualifications 
(equivalent to Certificate of Higher Education) is 20% above the rest of the rural area and 75% 
above the rest of Telford and Wrekin. 
 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

160 

180 

200 

Age Profile 

Page 157



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-2 

Figure 11: Highest Level of Qualification - comparison between Tibberton and Cherrington, 
the rest of the Rural Area and the whole of the Borough and Telford & Wrekin (%) (Source: 
ONS, Table QS501EW) 
 

 
 
Table 3: Student Population - comparison between Tibberton and Cherrington and the 
whole of the Borough and Telford & Wrekin (%) (Source: NOMIS KS501EW). 
 

 
Student Population 

 

Tibberton and 
Cherrington 

% 

 

Telford & Wrekin 
% 

All categories: Student Population 100 100 

School Children and full-time students   
 Age 16 - 17 

4.2 27.1 

School Children and full-time students  
          Age 18 and over 

5.9 36.5 

Level 2 qualifications 17.7 17.9 

Full time students Age 18 - 74:  
           Economically active: in employment 

0.9 12.4 

Full time students Age 18 - 74: 
           Economically active: Unemployed 

0.0 2.3 

Full time students Age 18 - 74: 
           Economically inactive 

5.0 21.7 

 
Tibberton Church of England Primary School is very popular and achieved an ‘Outstanding’ Ofsted 
rating in 20131. 
 
Deprivation 
 
The Index of Deprivation 2015 ranks the Tibberton and Cherrington as being in the top 20%-30% 
of the least deprived neighbourhoods in England2. 
 
 
 

                                                     
1
 Ofsted.gov.uk/provider/files/2200145/urn/123474.pdf 

2
 Telford & Wrekin Indices of Deprivation 2015. 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

35 

40 

%

 

Qualifications 

Parish 

Rest of Rural Area 

Telford & Wrekin 

Page 158



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-3 

HOUSING 
 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) 
 

Telford & Wrekin Council produced a SHLAA in 2012, with updates in 2014 and 2016.  The aim of 
the SHLAA was to consider sites offered for potential housing development, make an assessment 
of their suitability and deliverability before calculating how many dwellings could be built and when. 
This assisted the Council in identifying the capacity of the borough to accommodate new housing 
development. A map of the SHLAA for Tibberton and Cherrington is at Figure 14 on Page C-10 
and details of the 20 specified sites are shown in Table 9 on Page C-11. 
 

The SHLAA provides an evidence base of site potential to inform new planning policy 
documents. However, the inclusion of sites in the SHLAA should not be taken to imply that they will 
be allocated for development, or that the Council will consider planning applications favourably. As 
shown in Table 9, eight of the sites identified in the SHLAA have been developed since 2012, 
despite 6 of these being considered to be ‘outside of suitable settlement’. One further site is the 
subject of a planning application, although that is also ‘outside of suitable settlement’.  
 

In January 2020 Telford & Wrekin Council invited land owners once again to submit sites which 
may be suitable for future development. The intention is to identify a future supply of land which is 
suitable, available and achievable for economic development, housing and other uses, such as 
renewable energy leisure developments, with a priority of identifying land for employment 
development. The results will be published in the Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability 
Assessment (SHELAA) and provide an evidence base of potential sites to inform future planning 
policy work. 
 

Housing Stock 
 

Table 4 sets out the Parish’s housing stock by dwelling type in 2011. However, this figure rose from 
271 to 325 by 2017 (a rise of 20%) and there has been a significant increase in housing 
developments in Tibberton since that date.  The forecast total, based on housing currently in build 
or highly likely to be built, will result in a total of 413 houses by circa 2021, an increase of 52% over 
the 2011 housing stock levels. Additionally, another 3 houses on 3 separate plots have outline or 
‘reserved matters’ planning permission. 
 
Table 4: Housing Stock in Tibberton and Cherrington (Source: ONS, Table QS402EW) 
 

Dwelling type  % 

All Household Spaces 271 100 

Household spaces with at least one usual resident 263 97.0 

Household spaces with no usual residents 8 3.0 

Whole house or bungalow: Detached 163 60.1 

Whole house or bungalow: Semi-detached 94 34.7 

Whole house or bungalow: Terraced (including end-terrace) 8 3.0 

Flat, maisonette or apartment: Purpose-built 2 0.7 

Flat, maisonette or apartment: Part of converted house 1 0.4 

Flat, maisonette or apartment: In a commercial building 2 0.7 

Caravan or other mobile or temporary structure 1 0.4 

 
Household Type 
 

As would be expected in a rural Parish there are a significantly greater proportion of households 
with members over 65 years old. There are also relatively few one-person and lone-parent 
households in the Parish of Tibberton and Cherrington - a reflection of the urban/rural split that is 
seen across the Borough. The presence of some accommodation for Harper Adams students is 
reflected in the comparatively high level of households in the Parish which are all full-time students. 

Page 159



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-4 

 

Table 5: Household Type in Tibberton and Cherrington (source: ONS Table KS105EW) 
 

Household Type Tibberton and 
Cherrington 

Telford & 
Wrekin 

 % % 

One person household 17.5 25.2 

 Aged 65 and over 11.4 10.7 

 Other 6.1 14.5 

One family household 76.0 67.6 

 All aged 65 and over 12.9 7.6 

 Married, Same-sex, civil partnership couple 52.5 48.2 

  No children 20.5 19.5 

  Dependent children 20.9 22.0 

  All children non-dependent 11.0 6.7 

 Cohabiting couple 6.1 11.9 

  No children 2.3 5.7 

  Dependent children 3.4 5.6 

  All children non-dependent 0.4 0.6 

 Lone parent 4.6 11.7 

  Dependent children 2.7 8.1 

  All children non-dependent 1.9 3.6 

Other household types 6.5 7.2 

 With dependent children 2.3 2.9 

 All full-time students 1.9 0.3 

 Other 2.3 4.0 

 
Housing Tenure 
 
As a relatively affluent Parish, home ownership is predictably high among the settled permanent 
population with more than four in five households owning their own home, as shown in Table 6. 
 
Table 6: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Housing Tenure (ONS, Table QS405EW) 
 

Tenure 2011 % 

All categories: Tenure 263 100 

Owned: Total 211 80.2 

Owned: Owned outright 117 44.5 

Owned: Owned with a mortgage or loan 94 35.7 

Shared ownership (part owned and part rented) 0 0 

Social rented: Total 26 9.9 

Social rented: Rented from Council (Local Authority) 7 2.7 

Social rented: Other 19 7.2 

Private rented: Total 24 9.1 

Private rented: Private Landlord or Letting Agency 22 8.4 

Private rented: Other 2 0.8 

Living rent free 2 0.8 

 

Page 160



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-5 

House Prices.  The Parish has house prices that are amongst the highest in the Borough, with 

median prices being in the most expensive band of £200,000+3. 
 
Table 7: Comparison of Tibberton and Cherrington Ward and Telford & Wrekin house prices 
in 2014 and 2015 (Source: SHMA 2016 – Table 3.1) 
 

 Lowest quartile (25%) Median figure 

Tibberton and Cherrington 4 £205,000 £284,167 

Telford & Wrekin £108,000 £140,000 

 
A more detailed review of the Land Registry database for house sales in the “TF10 8” postcode 
area for 2015 and 2016 (up to November 2016) showed that the median price for a house sold was 
£247,000. 
 
Growth of Parish Population and Housing Stock 
 
The population of the Parish showed steady growth during the nineteenth century, from 289 in 
1801 to 392 in 1881.  However, there was a steep decline at the turn of the twentieth century, down 
to 250 in 1931, when farming jobs were disappearing and local services were increasingly supplied 
from the surrounding towns.  With improved health care, transport, the successful development of 
Telford, increasing levels of movement out of cities and towns towards rural areas, the population 
of the Parish rose to 653 in 1991, with a commensurate rise in housing stock. Whilst the period up 
to 2011 showed modest growth in the population and housing stock of Tibberton and Cherrington, 
the last 10 years has seen a significant rise in both these indices. 
 
The population of the Parish grew by 2% from 2001 to 2011, but is predicted to increase by over 
40% in the following 10 year period from 2011 to 2021.  Similarly, the housing stock in Tibberton 
increased by 15% in the 12 years between 1999 and 2011; however this total increased by 20% in 
the next 6 years between 2011 and 2017 (271 to 325 houses) and will rise by a further 27% (325 to 
413 houses) during the following 3 years to 2021 as a result of those houses that are currently in 
build or are highly likely to be built. This represents an increase of 52% (142 houses) in the 10 
years from 2012 to 2021 (inclusive). 
 

  
 
Heritage 
 
The Parish has 17 listed buildings and structures in the Parish. Details are at Appendix 1 to Annex 
B. 
 

                                                     
3
 Telford & Wrekin SHMA Report 2016. 

4
 This extends beyond the parish boundaries and cover part of Ercall Magna Ward and Edgmond Ward.  

0 

200 

400 

600 

800 

1000 

1200 

1801 1821 1841 1861 1881 1901 1921 1941 1961 1981 2001 circa 
2021 

Population 

Households 

Figure 11: 
Growth of 

Population and 

Housing Stock 

Page 161



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-6 

TRANSPORT 
 

Transport Infrastructure 
 
The Parish of Tibberton and Cherrington has adequate east-west connections with other rural 
areas of the Borough; however, north-south connections are predominantly along narrow roads, 
which are often single track with passing places. The B5062 (Shrewsbury Rd), a single lane local 
distributor road, runs to the south of Tibberton and Cherrington and connects Shrewsbury with 
Newport.  A critical challenge is the poor road links between Tibberton and Cherrington and the 
B5062; access to this road is not satisfactory. As well as the narrow width of the feeder routes, the 
3 junctions onto the B5062 from Tibberton and 1 of the 2 from Cherrington have particularly poor 
visibility for vehicles exiting onto the main road. The Borough Council consider that the constraints 
of the small highways in the Parish and the surrounding area provide a justification for discouraging 
substantial numbers of additional new homes5. 
 
Most roads in the area are narrow, bounded by grass verges or banks, with few pavements in 
Tibberton and none in  Cherrington; those that have been provided are sporadic and of very limited 
width.  There is an increasing volume of traffic in Tibberton as a result of recent housing 
developments and a significant number of large farm vehicles also use these roads. An additional 
issue is that roads through the Tibberton and Cherrington are used as a shortcut onto the A41 at 
Standford Bridge, further increasing the volume of traffic.  The Parish is not an accident hotspot; a 
review of traffic accidents in the period 2010 to 2019 shows that there were 18 injury accidents of 
which 2 were fatal, 3 were classified as ‘serious’ and 13 as ‘slight’. However, these figures do not 
include other accidents where there was no injury. 
 
Public Transport 
 
There is a two-hourly weekday bus service (#519) that connects Tibberton and Cherrington with 
Newport and Shrewsbury. The Wrekin Rider bus also operates around Tibberton, Cherrington and 
adjoining villages, taking people to Newport. There is no direct link to Telford town centre. 
 

Travel to Work 
 
Most residents of working age in Tibberton and Cherrington commute to work with a mean travel to 
work journey of 21.5 km compared with 15.3 km for the whole Borough of Telford and Wrekin.  It is 
notable that 18.6% of all people in employment work from home, over 2.5 times the rate in the 
whole of rest of the rural area of Telford & Wrekin and over five times the average for England6. 
 
Figure 13: Travel to Work Patterns (Source: NOMIS Table QS702EW) 
 

 
 

                                                     
5
 Telford & Wrekin Rural Settlements Paper (B2f). 

6
 Ibid (Page 11) 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

< 2 km 2 - 5 km 5 - 10 km 10 - 20 
km 

20 - 30 
km 

30 - 40 
km 

40 - 60 
km 

> 60 km Work at 
Home 

Other 

% 

Distance 

Tibberton & Cherrington 

Telford & Wrekin 

Page 162



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-7 

 
The population figures in Figure 12 on Page C-5 hide the occupational make up of the Parish. In 
the nineteenth century Tibberton and Cherrington had three blacksmiths, two pubs and a beer 
retailer, a tailor, a carrier, a brick and tile maker, a boot and shoe maker, several carpenters, 
butchers and wheelwrights and even a straw bonnet maker. The vast majority of the rest of the 
Parish worked on the farms where they would be employed either on the land or for domestic 
service. Today, most of the population work away from the local area in the surrounding towns of 
Telford and Shrewsbury, with some further afield in Birmingham, Wolverhampton and even 
London. Consequently, more people from the Parish travel greater distances to work than is the 
norm for the rest of the Borough, as shown in Figure 13 above. 
 
Car Availability 
 
The relatively poor public transport links coupled with high levels of affluence, and the travel to 
work patterns already identified, mean that residents in Tibberton and Cherrington, as with other 
parts of the rural area of the Borough, are highly dependent on the car, the use of which is likely to 
change over the next ten years in response to environmental concerns. 
 

Table 8: Car Availability (Source: ONS, Table QS416EW) 
 

Cars Tibberton and 
Cherrington 

% 

Rural Area 
% 

Telford & 
Wrekin 

% 

All categories: Car or van availability 100 100 100 

No cars or vans in household 3.4 7.2 20.6 

1 car or van in household 27.8 33.1 43.1 

2 cars or vans in household 44.9 40.2 25.8 

3 cars or vans in household 17.1 13.2 5.9 

4 or more cars or vans in household 6.8 6.2 2.1 

 
Rights of Way 
 
There are 6 Public Rights of Way in the Parish (Figure 15 on Page C-13) consisting of 5 footpaths 
(numbered 1-5) and one bridleway (marked ‘A’). It is important that these rights of way are 
accessible and maintained and that stiles and way-markers are in place. 
 

COMMUNICATIONS 
 

Mobile ’Phone Coverage 
 

The coverage offered by all mobile ’phone providers is poor indoors throughout the Parish and 
variable outdoors.  With the development of 5G infrastructure requiring a significant number of 
masts to provide the network it is unlikely that this will be available in a majority of rural areas in the 
near future. This is likely to be a significant constraint to established and new local businesses 
which could restrict the growth and number of parish-based enterprises. 
 
Broadband 
 

Superfast broadband (>24 Mbps) is available throughout the Parish of Tibberton and Cherrington 
and to 98.3% of the Borough of Telford and Wrekin7. This compares with the Government’s target 
of 95% availability. 
 
 
 

                                                     
7
 www.superfast-telford.co.uk 

Page 163



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-8 

GEOGRAPHY 
 

Farmland quality 
 
Much of the surrounding countryside is of high quality agricultural land (Figure 16 on Page C-14) 
with 80% classified as Grade 2 (very good, which often has a presumption that it should not be 
developed for building) and another 10% as Grade 3 (moderate to good)8. 
 
Geology 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) defines a mineral safeguarding area as: ‘An area 
designated by Minerals Planning Authorities which covers known deposits of mineral which are 
desired to be kept safeguarded from unnecessary sterilisation by non-mineral development.’ In the 
Parish of Tibberton and Cherrington, the underling solid geology (beneath any surface drift 
deposits from the last ice age) comprises the Kidderminster Formation which is part of the 
Sherwood Sandstone Group.  The Kidderminster Formation comprises red, yellow and brown 
sandstones, which is part pebbly.  The strata is free draining and is an important aquifer.  Outcrops 
of the deposit are well exhibited at Sheep Bridge, to the north of All Saints’ Church near the site of 
the former paper mill and Bobaston Quarry. 
 
Apart from the aforementioned outcrops of the Kidderminster Formation the remainder of the 
Parish is overlain by glacial drift deposits of sandy boulder clay and unbedded sandy clay. Where 
the clay fraction is thick they have been exploited for marl as at the western end of Plantation 
Road.  Boulder clay deposits are impermeable and often exhibit impeded drainage characteristics 
which can lead to flooding during periods of high precipitation.  The valley of the River Meese is 
overlain by post glacial material of alluvium and terrace deposits, the latter comprising a mix of 
sand and gravel with interbedded clay lenses. 
 
The Mineral Safeguarding Map for the Parish is at Figure 17 on Page C-15. 
 
Water and Flood Risk 
 
Telford & Wrekin Council has commissioned a number of Borough-wide studies concerning water 
quality and flood risk9. One or two properties in the Parish have either been flooded or have had 
outbuildings flooded.  The continuing blocking of some drainage ditches may also result in more flooding 
if rainfall / snowmelt accumulates. See Figure 18 on Page C-16 for flood zones in Tibberton and 
Cherrington Parish. 
 

The recent Telford and Wrekin Detailed Water Cycle Study10 stated that ‘the drainage network in 
Tibberton and Cherrington is an historic combined system and is at or near capacity. Prior to any 
development taking place Severn Trent Water must be consulted to assess what impacts this 
development would have and what necessary improvements will be required.’ 
 

OTHER FACILITIES AND SERVICES 
 

Economics 
 

A review of Telford & Wrekin Council business rates records identifies over 22 small retail and 
service businesses in the Parish. Much of the adjoining rural land is used for farming. 
 
 
 
 

                                                     
8
 Agricultural Land Classifications of England and Wales, Section 2.  

9
 Scoping Study Water Cycle Study 2012 and Strategic Flood Risk Assessments prepared to support the Telford & 

Wrekin Local Plan. 
10

 C6iii TWC Detailed Water Cycle Study - Update 2016. 

Page 164



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-9 

 
Access to Facilities and Services  
 

Most community facilities and services are centred within the village of Tibberton. These include 
the following community facilities: 
 

• A volunteer run community Village shop (limited opening hours) 
• Public House - The Sutherland Arms 
• All Saints’ Church 
• Playing field 
• Methodist Chapel 
• Village Hall 
 

Tibberton Community Shop (TCS) opened in December 2011 and is registered under the Co-
operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.  TCS has over 170 members with 60 
volunteers and is run by its own Management Committee.  The Shop’s community received the 
Queen’s Award for Voluntary Service on 2017.  Tibberton Village Hall is owned under Trust and is 
also managed by its own Management Committee.  Both Committees use the Village hall as their 
meeting place, together with the Parish Council. 
 
There are a number of active community groups in the Parish which meet regularly at the Village 
Hall including: Scouts; Cubs; Beavers; Brownies and Guides; Keep Fit, Pilates; the Bridge Club; 
Table Tennis; Art Classes; the Women’s Institute; Mums and Toddlers; Knit, Sew, Craft and IT for 
ALL. 
 

Additionally, a number of other clubs and activities are centred on the village, including: the Cycling 
Club, Walking Club and the Bell Ringers who are based at All Saints’ Church. 
 
Public Open Space 
 
The Playing Fields in Tibberton are connected and essential for Tibberton C of E Primary School 
and outside teams for organised sport but it also caters for informal recreation by local residents. 
 
Following an enquiry about the central section of the field it was established that this is Church 
land, including where the school buildings are situated.  The remainder of the fields were bought by 
the Borough Council and now belongs to TWC, which has granted protection against residential 
development under the Borough's 'Green Guarantee' scheme. The Tibberton and Cherrington 
community values the green spaces, including the school fields. 
 
Designated Wildlife Site and Geological Site  
 
Kynndersley Moor Woods in the south of the Parish is designated a Local Wildlife Site and Shray 
Hill, Cherrington, on the western border of the Parish is a Local Geological Site.  These are shown 
in Figure 19 on page C-17. 
 
Strategic Landscape 

 
To the south of the B5062, the Parish contains a small section of the Weald Moors Strategic 
Landscape, which is one of only two such areas in the Borough to be afforded special protection – 
the other being the Wrekin Forest.  The two most direct routes into The Weald Moors from 
Tibberton and Cherrington have both been designated as ‘Quiet Lanes’ to help maintain the 
tranquillity and character of the area and to discourage their use as ‘rat-runs’ to and from Telford. 

Page 165



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-10 

 

 
Figure 14: Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 2012 

 Key 
  
 Developed since 2012 
  
 Partially Developed since 2012 
  
 

P
age 166



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-11  

Table 9: SHLAA 2012 Appendix 1 - Tibberton 
 
The inclusion of sites in the SHLAA should not be taken to imply that they will be allocated for development, or that the Council will consider planning applications favourably.  
This site schedule should be read in conjunction with the SHLAA document itself.  

 

SHLAA Site Name Constraint Mitigation Mitigation 
Date 

Issue 
summary 

Density Site area Dwellings Available Suitable Achievable 

33 Land Opposite 39 Mill 
Lane 

No known constraints  2012  25 0.148 4    

366 Land adjacent to Hollies 
Farm, Tibberton 

Out of suitable settlement. 
Flood Zone 3a 

Planning Policy Review. 
NPPF - Exceptions Test, 
application SFRA Level 2. 

2015 Flood Zone 
2. 

25 2.630 66    

457 Plantation - 5, Tibberton Outside of suitable 
settlement 

Planning Policy Review 2015 TPO 25 2.991 75    

509 Opposite Tibberton Shop No known constraints  2012  25 1.056 26    

515 Land south-west of 
Tibberton 

Outside suitable 
settlement 

Planning Policy Review 2015  25 9.047 226    

516 Land at Tibberton Outside suitable 
settlement 

Planning Policy Review 2015  25 1.702 43    

552 Sutherland farm Tibberton No known constraints  2012  25 0.413 10    

574 Land to the south of 
Cherrington Road, The 
Hollies, Tibberton 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 1.096 27    

580 Plantation - 1, Tibberton No known constraints  2012 TPO 25 0.770 19    

581 Plantation - 2, Tibberton No known constraints  2012 TPO 25 0.455 11    

582 Plantation - 3, Tibberton Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 1.104 28    

583 Corner of Plantation Road 
and Back Lane, Tibberton 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 1.372 34    

621 Land adjacent to 44 
Cherrington Road - Site 1 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 0.318 8    

622 Land adjacent to 44 
Cherrington Road - Site 2 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 0.960 24    

P
age 167



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-12  

SHLAA Site Name Constraint Mitigation Mitigation 
Date 

Issue 
summary 

Density Site area Dwellings Available Suitable Achievable 

699 Land adjacent to site 509, 
opposite Tibberton shop. 

Out of suitable settlement. 
Flood Zone 3a 

Planning Policy Review. 
NPPF - Exceptions Test, 
application SFRA Level 2. 

2015  25 6.216 155    

710 Land and buildings to the 
north of Cherrington 
Road, The Hollies, 
Tibberton 

Flood Zone 3a. Out of 
suitable settlement.  

Planning Policy Review. 
NPPF - Exceptions Test, 
application SFRA Level 2. 

2015 Flood Zone 
2. 

25 0.529 13    

734 Site 2 at Sutherland Farm, 
Tibberton 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 0.964 24    

744 Land South of, 
Grangefields, Hay Street, 
Tibberton 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 0.679 17    

749 Land at Hay Street, 
Tibberton 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015 TPO 25 0.738 18    

770 Land east of, Hay Street, 
Tibberton 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 1.493 17    

 
 
 Key 
  
 Developed since 2012 
  
 Partially Developed since 2012 
  
 
 

P
age 168



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-13  

 

 
 
 
Figure 15: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Rights of Way 

Legend 
  Parish Boundary 
 

  Public Footpath 
 

  Bridleway 

 

1 

A 

P
age 169



2020 - 2031 

Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-14  

 
 

Figure 16: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Agricultural Land Classification 

 

P
age 170



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-15  

 
Figure 17: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Mineral Safeguarding Areas 

P
age 171



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
2020 - 2031 

 

C-16  

 
Figure 18: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Flood Risk Areas 

P
age 172



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
2020 - 2031 

 

C-17  

 
Figure 19: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Local Wildlife Site and Local Geological Site 

P
age 173



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

D-1  

ANNEX D 
 

ADDITIONAL TECHNICAL EVIDENCE 
 
1. National Heritage list for Tibberton and Cherrington. https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-
list/results/ 
 
2. National Planning Policy Framework. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf 
 
3. Planning Practice Guidance. https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-needs-of-different-groups#rural-
housing 
 
4. Telford & Wrekin Neighbourhood Planning Advice and Guidance 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20453/neighbourhood_planning/3934/neighbourhood_planning_adv
ice_and_guidance 
 
5. Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011 – 2031 Submission Version 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4486/a1_telford_and_wrekin_local_plan_2011- 2031_-
_submission_version_low_res 
 
6. Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011 – 2031 – Integrated Appraisal 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4362/a3_twlp_intergrated_appraisal_- 
_submission_version 
 
7. Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011 – 2031 – Representations 
http://telford-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/local_plan/local_plan/twlp?tab=list 
 
8. Telford & Wrekin Statement of Community Involvement 2019 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1372/statement_of_community_involvement_2012 
 
9. Telford & Wrekin Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1447/local_development_scheme_2013 
 
10. Telford & Wrekin Annual Monitoring Reports 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20172/planning_policy_and_strategy/124/annual_monitoring_repo 
rt_amr 
 
11. Telford & Wrekin Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 2012 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20457/housing/126/strategic_housing_land_availability_assessment
_shlaa 
 
12. G2 - Telford & Wrekin Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) (update 2016)  
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4659/g2_-
_telford_and_wrekin_strategic_housing_land_availability_assessment_shlaa_update_2016 
 
13. Telford & Wrekin Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4427/c2b- 
i_t_and_w_strategic_housing_market_assessment_shma_2016_-final_report 
 
14. Telford & Wrekin Water Cycle Study 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4456/c6c-iii_twc_detailed_water_cycle_study_- 
_update_2016 
 
15. Telford & Wrekin Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4460/c6e_twc_llfa_flood_risk_management_strategy 

Page 174

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/results/
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/results/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-needs-of-different-groups#rural-housing
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-needs-of-different-groups#rural-housing
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20453/neighbourhood_planning/3934/neighbourhood_planning_advice_and_guidance
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20453/neighbourhood_planning/3934/neighbourhood_planning_advice_and_guidance
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4486/a1_telford_and_wrekin_local_plan_2011-%202031_-
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4486/a1_telford_and_wrekin_local_plan_2011-%202031_-
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4486/a1_telford_and_wrekin_local_plan_2011-%202031_-
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4486/a1_telford_and_wrekin_local_plan_2011-%202031_-
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4362/a3_twlp_intergrated_appraisal_-_submission_version
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4362/a3_twlp_intergrated_appraisal_-_submission_version
http://telford-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/local_plan/local_plan/twlp?tab=list
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1372/statement_of_community_involvement_2012
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1447/local_development_scheme_2013
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20172/planning_policy_and_strategy/124/annual_monitoring_report_amr
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20172/planning_policy_and_strategy/124/annual_monitoring_report_amr
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20172/planning_policy_and_strategy/124/annual_monitoring_report_amr
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20457/housing/126/strategic_housing_land_availability_assessment_shlaa
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20457/housing/126/strategic_housing_land_availability_assessment_shlaa
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4659/g2_-_telford_and_wrekin_strategic_housing_land_availability_assessment_shlaa_update_2016
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4659/g2_-_telford_and_wrekin_strategic_housing_land_availability_assessment_shlaa_update_2016
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4427/c2b-i_t_and_w_strategic_housing_market_assessment_shma_2016_-final_report
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4427/c2b-i_t_and_w_strategic_housing_market_assessment_shma_2016_-final_report
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4456/c6c-iii_twc_detailed_water_cycle_study_-_update_2016
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4456/c6c-iii_twc_detailed_water_cycle_study_-_update_2016
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4460/c6e_twc_llfa_flood_risk_management_strategy
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4460/c6e_twc_llfa_flood_risk_management_strategy


2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

D-2  

 
16. Telford & Wrekin Local Plan Technical Paper B2f – Rural Settlements 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4379/b2f_rural_settlements_update 
 
17. Telford & Wrekin Strategy and Options – Shaping Places 2013 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1383/strategy_and_options_document 
 
18. Telford & Wrekin Strategy and Options – Sustainability Appraisal 2013 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4395/d2b_shaping_places_lp_sustainability_appraisal_str
ategy_and_options 
 
19. Telford & Wrekin Strategy and Options - Consultation report 2013 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1395/shaping_places_local_plan_strategy_and_options_s
ummary_of_comments_december_2013 
 
20. Telford & Wrekin Strategic Landscape Study 2017 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20459/natural_environment/1161/strategic_landscapes_study 
 
21. Sport England Playing Fields Policy: https://sportenglandproduction-files.s3.eu-west-
2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/finalplaying-fields-policy-and-guidance-document.pdf 
 
22. Shropshire Landscape Typology study 2006  https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/media/1803/the-
shropshire-landscape-typology.pdf 
 
23. 2001 Census – Population and Household Statistics 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/275/tibberton_and_cherrington_parish_profile_2001_cen
sus 
 
24. 2011 Census – Population and Household Statistics 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20121/facts_and_figures/61/census 
 
25. Design for Community Safety Supplementary Planning Document (June 2008) 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20451/development_plans/128/supplementary_planning_documents_sp
d 
 
26. The National Design Guide (2019) 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
957233/National_Design_Guide.pdf 
 
27. The Parish Plan of Tibberton and Cherrington 2005/2006. 
 
28. Tibberton Parish Geology. Mr G White BSc FRICS FIQ CEnv. Chartered Mineral Surveyor.  
 
 
 

Page 175

http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4379/b2f_rural_settlements_update
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4379/b2f_rural_settlements_update
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1383/strategy_and_options_document
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1383/strategy_and_options_document
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4395/d2b_shaping_places_lp_sustainability_appraisal_s
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4395/d2b_shaping_places_lp_sustainability_appraisal_s
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1395/shaping_places_local_plan_strategy_and_options_summary_of_comments_december_2013
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1395/shaping_places_local_plan_strategy_and_options_summary_of_comments_december_2013
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20459/natural_environment/1161/strategic_landscapes_study
https://sportenglandproduction-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/finalplaying-fields-policy-and-guidance-document.pdf
https://sportenglandproduction-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/finalplaying-fields-policy-and-guidance-document.pdf
https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/media/1803/the-shropshire-landscape-typology.pdf
https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/media/1803/the-shropshire-landscape-typology.pdf
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/275/tibberton_and_cherrington_parish_profile_2001_census
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/275/tibberton_and_cherrington_parish_profile_2001_census
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20121/facts_and_figures/61/census
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20451/development_plans/128/supplementary_planning_documents_spd
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20451/development_plans/128/supplementary_planning_documents_spd
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/957233/National_Design_Guide.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/957233/National_Design_Guide.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

TIBBERTON AND CHERRINGTON 

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN  

Report to Telford and Wrekin Council of the Independent 

Examination 

 

By Independent Examiner, Tony Burton CBE BA MPhil (Town Planning) HonFRIBA FRSA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tony Burton 

tony@tonyburton.org.uk 

July 2021 

  

Page 177

mailto:tony@tonyburton.org.uk


2 
 

Contents 
 

1. Executive Summary       3 

 

2. Introduction        4 

 

3. Compliance with matters other than the Basic Conditions  7 

Qualifying body      7 

Neighbourhood Area      7 

Land use issues      7 

Plan period       7 

Excluded development     8 

 

4. Consultation        9 

 

5. General comments on the Plan’s presentation   11 

  Vision Statement and Objectives    11 

  Other issues       11 

 

6. Compliance with the Basic Conditions    14 

National planning policy     14 

Sustainable development      15 

Development plan      16 

Strategic Environmental Assessment    16 

Habitats Regulations Assessment    16 

Other European obligations     17 

 

7. Detailed comments on the Plan policies    18 

Community Amenities     18 

Rural Character and Housing     21 

Environment, Open Spaces and Recreation   28 

Highways and Byways      30 

 

8. Recommendation and Referendum Area    32 

  

Page 178



3 
 

1. Executive Summary 

 

1. I was appointed by Telford and Wrekin Council with the support of Tibberton and 

Cherrington Parish Council to carry out the independent examination of the Tibberton and 

Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan.  

 

2. I undertook the examination by reviewing the Plan documents and written 

representations, and by making an unaccompanied visit to the Neighbourhood Area.   

 

3. I consider the Plan to be an adequate expression of the community’s views and 

ambitions for Tibberton and Cherrington.  It is based on an effective programme of public 

consultation which has informed a Vision to 2031 supported by fourteen Objectives to be 

achieved through 11 planning policies dealing with issues distinct to the locality .There is a 

commitment to monitoring and reviewing.  The Plan is supported by a Consultation 

Statement and Basic Conditions Statement and has been screened to determine whether 

full Strategic Environmental and Habitats Regulations Assessments are required. There is 

supporting evidence provided and there is good evidence of community support and the 

involvement of the local planning authority.   

 

4. I have considered the 12 separate representations made on the submitted Plan and 

the representations from statutory environmental bodies on the Strategic Environmental 

Assessment and Habitats Regulations Assessment screening reports and address them in 

this report as appropriate. 

 

5. Subject to the recommended modifications set out in this report I conclude that the 

Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan meets all the necessary legal requirements, 

including satisfying the Basic Conditions.  I make a small number of additional optional 

recommendations.  

 

6. I recommend that the modified Plan should proceed to Referendum and that this 

should be held within the Neighbourhood Area.   

Page 179



4 
 

2. Introduction 

 

7. This report sets out the findings of my independent examination of the Tibberton 

and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan.  The Plan was submitted to Telford and Wrekin 

Council by Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Council as the Qualifying Body.   

 

8. I was appointed as the independent examiner of the Tibberton and Cherrington 

Neighbourhood Plan by Telford and Wrekin Council with the agreement of Tibberton and 

Cherrington Parish Council.  

 

9. I am independent of both Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Council and Telford and 

Wrekin Council.  I do not have any interest in any land that may be affected by the Plan.  I 

possess the appropriate qualifications and experience to undertake this role. 

 

10. My role is to examine the Neighbourhood Plan and recommend whether it should 

proceed to referendum.  A recommendation to proceed is predicated on the Plan meeting 

all legal requirements as submitted or in a modified form, and on the Plan addressing the 

required modifications recommended in this report.   

 

11. As part of this process I must consider whether the submitted Plan meets the Basic 

Conditions as set out in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990.  To comply with the Basic Conditions, the Plan must:  

 

 have regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the 

Secretary of State; and  

 contribute to the achievement of sustainable development; and 

 be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan in the 

area; and 

 be compatible with European Union (EU) and European Convention on Human 

Rights (ECHR) obligations, including the Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2017. 

Page 180



5 
 

 

12. I am also required to make a number of other checks under paragraph 8(1) of 

Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

13. In undertaking this examination I have considered the following documents as the 

most significant in arriving at my recommendations:  

 

 the submitted Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 

 the Basic Conditions Statement 

 the Consultation Statement  

 Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats Regulations Assessment screening 

reports  

 the relevant parts of the development plan comprising the Telford and Wrekin Local 

Plan 

 representations made on the submitted neighbourhood plan  

 relevant material held on the Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Council and Telford 

and Wrekin Council websites 

 National Planning Policy Framework (2019, 2021) 

 Planning Practice Guidance 

 relevant Ministerial Statements 

 

14. The Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan was submitted in July 2020 and 

the National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) applied for the majority of my 

examination.   A revised National Planning Policy Framework was published on 20 July 2021.  

This has had no material impact on my examination of the Plan.  References to the National 

Planning Policy Framework have been updated to reflect the recent revision.    

 

15. No representations were received requesting a public hearing and having considered 

the documents provided and the representations on the submitted Plan I was satisfied that 

the examination could be undertaken by written representations without the need for a 

hearing. I was also mindful of support for this in the context of current Government 

guidance on social distancing.   

Page 181



6 
 

 

16. I carried out an unaccompanied visit to the Neighbourhood Area on a weekday 

during June.  I visited the main locations addressed in the Plan, including the community 

facilities, The Playing Field and the settlement boundary.  I also used a number of public 

footpaths both within and adjacent to the neighbourhood area to understand its rural 

character and setting.  I visited a number of the more recent housing developments in the 

area. 

 

17. Throughout this report my recommended modifications are bulleted.  Where 

modifications to policies are recommended they are highlighted in bold print with new 

wording in “speech marks”.  Modifications are also recommended to some parts of the 

supporting text.  These recommended modifications are numbered from M1 and are 

necessary for the Plan to meet the Basic Conditions.  A number of modifications are not 

essential for the Plan to meet the Basic Conditions and these are indicated by [square 

brackets].  These optional modifications are numbered from OM1. 

   

18. Producing the Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan has clearly involved 

significant effort over many years led by the Neighbourhood Plan Group.  The process began 

in 2017 and is informed by significant community involvement.  There is evidence of good 

collaboration with Telford and Wrekin Council and this will continue to be important in 

ensuring delivery of the Plan.  The evident commitment of all those who have worked so 

hard over such a long period of time to prepare the Plan is to be commended and I would 

like to thank all those at Telford and Wrekin Council and Tibberton and Cherrington Parish 

Council who have supported this examination process. 

  

Page 182



7 
 

3. Compliance with matters other than the Basic 
Conditions 

 

19. I am required to check compliance of the Plan with a number of matters. 

 

Qualifying body 

20. The neighbourhood pan has been prepared by a suitable Qualifying Body – Tibberton 

and Cherrington Parish Council – which being a parish council is the only organisation that 

can prepare a neighbourhood plan for the area.   

 

Neighbourhood Area 

21. I am satisfied that the Plan relates to the development and use of land for a 

designated neighbourhood area which comprises the area of Tibberton and Cherrington 

Parish Council and was agreed by Telford and Wrekin Council on 24 January 2019.   

 

22. A map of the neighbourhood area is included in the Plan as Figure 2.  It would be 

helpful to include a link to a version of the map on which the detailed location of the 

boundary can be determined. 

 

  OM1 - [Provide a link to a suitable map which clearly depicts the boundary of the 

neighbourhood area at an appropriate scale]  

 

Land use issues 

23. I am satisfied that the Plan’s policies relate to relevant land use planning issues. 

 

Plan period 

24. The period of the neighbourhood plan runs to 2031 and this aligns with the period of 

the Plan’s Vision and the period of the Local Plan.  The Plan’s cover shows a start date of 

2020.   

 

 

 

Page 183



8 
 

Excluded development 

25. I am satisfied that the neighbourhood plan makes no provisions for excluded 

development (such as national infrastructure, minerals extraction or waste).  

Page 184



9 
 

4. Consultation 

 

26. I have reviewed the Consultation Statement, its Annexes and relevant information 

provided on the Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan website.  This provides a 

clear record of the extensive consultation process that has been undertaken, dating back to 

the decision to proceed with designation of a neighbourhood area in 2017.   

 

27. The public consultation process has been in clear stages and has benefited from the 

relatively small number of residents within the neighbourhood area which allowed for 

significant face to face discussion.  Four themes were developed after a series of public 

consultation meetings (involving 57 people) and these informed a wider questionnaire on 

their translation into relevant planning policies. 

 

28. The Plan was subject to Regulation 14 consultation in 2020 and this included three 

public consultation sessions (involving 48 people), an online survey and a questionnaire 

circulated to all residents and businesses.  The questionnaire received over 100 responses 

which comprised a >30% response rate.  Posters, social media and the Parish noticeboard 

were also used to promote the consultation and copies of the documents were available 

online and for inspection at Tibberton Village Hall during public consultation events.  The 

public consultation period was supplemented by additional public consultation on the 

proposal for a Settlement Boundary for Tibberton.   There is evidence of the consultation 

including the required statutory and other consultees.  There was strong support for the 

Plan’s policies and Objectives and 96% agreed with the Vision. 

 

29. There is good evidence of considered analysis of the responses and subsequent 

amendments being made to the Plan.   

 

30. 12 separate representations have been made on the submitted Plan including from 

individuals and statutory bodies.  All the representations have been considered and are 

addressed as appropriate in this report.   

 

Page 185



10 
 

31. I am satisfied with the evidence of the public consultation undertaken in preparing 

the Plan.  It has been subject to effective public consultation at different stages in its 

development.  The participation rates have been good.  The process has allowed community 

input to shape the Plan as it has developed and as proposals have been firmed up.  Local 

businesses and the local planning authority have been engaged through the process. 

  

Page 186



11 
 

5. General comments on the Plan’s presentation 

Vision Statement and Objectives 

32. I have reviewed the Plan’s Vision to 2031 and the 14 Objectives that inform the 11 

policies in the Plan.  The Vision stresses the importance of shaping the future of 

development and retaining the rural character and historic identity of the neighbourhood 

area so that it is an attractive place to live, work and visit.   This approach is consistent with 

the feedback received through consultation and is carried through into the Plan’s 

Objectives.  It is supportive of sustainable development.   

 

33. I have been notified that the Parish Council wishes to clarify the Plan’s fifth objective 

to insert “(including listed buildings, and those of local or architectural interest) “after 

“housing”.  I am content with this change.   I deal with a proposed change to the seventh 

objective relating to dark skies in my consideration of Policy RCH4. 

 

34. The policies are distinguished from the rest of the Plan by the use of boxes and 

tinted headings.  Each Policy has a unique identifying code and the policies are clearly 

differentiated from other aspects of the Plan.     

 

Other issues 

35. The Plan’s evidence base draws on documents produced by Telford and Wrekin 

Council and a small number of additional sources.  Planned work on landscape character 

was not undertaken in time to inform the Plan.  Links to documents used in the evidence 

base are provided in Annex D.  I comment on the adequacy of the evidence base in relation 

to individual policies where relevant.  The absence of a clear evidence base results in a 

number of my recommended modifications to the Plan’s policies.  

 

36. The Plan includes maps of varying quality in the printed Plan.  Where they do not 

provide sufficiently accurate boundaries or locations I make recommendations in relation to 

the relevant policies.  It would be helpful if larger, high resolution copies were available, 

including links to where they are available online.   

 

Page 187



12 
 

37. The Plan is well set out and presented with a clear Contents and an appropriate 

hierarchy of headings.  Each Policy is presented in terms of its conformity with national 

planning policy and the Local Plan and identified in terms of the Plan objective(s) it 

supports.  There are some inconsistencies in the titles of different sections, Annexes and 

Figures. 

 

 OM2 - [Correct the following titles: 

In the Contents 

o “National and Local Planning Policy Framework……page 12” 

o “Neighbourhood Plan Vision and Objectives……page 17” 

o “Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Profile……Annex C” 

o “Figure 5: Green Space” 

o “Figure 8: Listed Buildings in Tibberton and Cherrington” 

o “Figure 14: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Rights of Way” 

o “Figure 18: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Local Wildlife Site and Local 

Geological Site” 

o  “Table 5: Household Types in Tibberton and Cherrington” 

On page C-5 

o “Figure 11 Growth of Population and Housing Stock”] 

 

38. The Plan references work on a Landscape Character Assessment that has yet to be 

undertaken and states that the policies “will be validated against the proposed Landscape 

Character Assessment” in a number of places.  It is not appropriate to include a requirement 

to consider a future document in the Plan.  When completed the Landscape Character 

Assessment may inform a future review of the Plan but it cannot be a consideration in the 

Plan now under examination. 

 

 M1 – Delete all references to the Landscape Character Assessment other than as an 

expression of an intention to prepare one for publication at a future date 

 

39. There are a number of other drafting issues in the supporting text. 

 

Page 188



13 
 

 OM3 – [Make the following amendments: 

o Page 18, second paragraph – replace “planning policy guidance” with 

“development plan” 

o Be consistent in use of “&” or “and” in “Telford and Wrekin Council”] 

 

40. The Plan’s drafting anticipates an Examination and appropriate changes to the 

explanatory text will be needed in the production of a revised version for the referendum. 

 

 OM4 – [Make appropriate drafting changes to reflect the evolution of the Plan in the 

version to go to referendum] 

 

 

  

Page 189



14 
 

6. Compliance with the Basic Conditions 

41. The Plan is supported by a Basic Conditions statement.  This provides an assessment 

against each of the Basic Conditions.  Contrary to the summary provided in the second 

paragraph of the Basic Conditions Statement these do not include considerations relating to 

either listed buildings or conservation areas as these are only relevant to Neighbourhood 

Development Orders.  The Statement does not subsequently address these issues. 

 

National planning policy 

42. The Plan is required to “have regard” to national planning policies and advice.  This is 

addressed in the Basic Conditions statement which relates the Plan’s policies to the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (February 2019).  The requirement to “have regard” is 

not the same a requiring “conformity” as indicated by the title to this section of the Basic 

Conditions Statement.  A revised National Planning Policy Framework was published on 20 

July 2021.  This has had no material impact on my examination of the Plan.   

   

43. The Basic Conditions statement provides a table that compares each of the Plan’s 

Objectives with the most relevant “Goal” in the NPPF, as described by the NPPF’s section 

headings.  There is a further table which tests compatibility of each of the Plan’s policies 

with relevant sections of the National Planning Policy Framework and which the Basic 

Conditions Statement states “provides a summary of how each policy in the TCNP [Tibberton 

and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan] conforms specifically to the NPPF”.  

 

44. The assessment provided is relatively limited and generally comprises a description 

of the purpose of the Plan policy.  Nevertheless this does serve to demonstrate that 

consideration has been given to national planning policy. 

 

45. I address some conflicts with national planning policy in my consideration of 

individual policies and recommend some modifications.  There are also some areas where 

the drafting of the Plan’s policies needs to be amended in order to meet the National 

Planning Policy Framework’s requirement for plans to provide a clear framework within 

which decisions on planning applications can be made.  The policies should give a clear 

Page 190



15 
 

indication of “how a decision maker should react to development proposals” (paragraph 16).  

It is also important for the Plan to address the requirement expressed in national planning 

policy and Planning Practice Guidance that “A policy in a neighbourhood plan should be clear 

and unambiguous.  It should be drafted with sufficient clarity that a decision maker can 

apply it consistently and with confidence when determining planning applications.  It should 

be concise, precise and supported by appropriate evidence.  It should be distinct to reflect 

and respond to the unique characteristics and planning context of the specific 

neighbourhood area for which it has been prepared.” (NPPG Paragraph: 041 Reference ID: 

41-041-20140306).  The Plan’s policies do not always meet these requirements and a 

number of recommended modifications are made as a result.  

 

46. Generally, I conclude that the Plan has regard to national planning policy and 

guidance but there are exceptions as set out in my comments below.  These cover both 

conflicts with national planning policy and the need for some policies to be more clearly 

expressed and/or evidenced. 

 

47. I am satisfied that the Plan meets this Basic Condition other than where identified in 

my detailed comments and recommended modifications to the Plan policies. 

 

Sustainable development  

48. The Plan must “contribute to the achievement of sustainable development”.  This is 

addressed in the Basic Conditions statement by an assessment of each Plan objective and 

policy relevant to each of the three dimensions of sustainable development set out in 

national planning policy.  This concludes “the strategic objectives of the Neighbourhood Plan 

comprise a balance of social, economic and environmental goals”. 

 

49. The approach is relatively high level and does not identify any potential conflicts 

between any of the three dimensions of sustainable development.  Nevertheless I am 

satisfied that the overall contribution of the Plan to sustainable development is positive and 

I am satisfied that the Plan meets this Basic Condition. 

 

 

Page 191



16 
 

Development plan 

50. The Plan must be “in general conformity with the strategic policies of the 

development plan”.   

 

51. The Basic Conditions Statement addresses this by providing a comment on the 

conformity of the Plans policies against each of the relevant strategic policies in the Telford 

and Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031.  This commentary does not identify any issues of 

conformity and Telford and Wrekin Council has confirmed to me “The Council is content that 

the plan is in general conformity with the strategic policies set out within the Telford & 

Wrekin Local Plan”.  I address some specific issues in my examination of individual policies. 

 

52. I am satisfied the Plan meets this Basic Condition other than where identified in my 

detailed comments and recommended modifications to the Plan policies. 

 

Strategic Environmental Assessment 

53. The Plan must be informed by a Strategic Environmental Assessment if it is likely to 

have significant environmental effects.  An undated Strategic Environmental Assessment 

Screening Statement was published in February 2020 that concluded “that none of the 

proposed policies within the draft Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan has the 

potential to have a significant effect on the natural environment” and that a full Strategic 

Environment Assessment was not required. 

 

54. Natural England and Historic England agreed with this conclusion and Environment 

Agency did not express a view when initially consulted.  When asked for a view during the 

Examination the Environment Agency confirmed the Plan “would raise no concerns”. 

 

55. I conclude that the Plan meets this Basic Condition. 

 

Habitats Regulations Assessment 

56. The Plan must be informed by a Habitats Regulations Assessment if it is likely to lead 

to significant negative effects on protected European sites.  An undated Screening Report 

was published in February 2020 that concluded “that none of the proposed policies within 

Page 192



17 
 

the draft Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan has the potential to lead to a Likely 

Significant Effect on a European Site” and that an Appropriate Assessment was not required.  

Natural England agreed with this conclusion. 

 

57. I conclude that the Plan meets this Basic Condition. 

 

58. I share the Parish Council’s view that the changes made to the Plan since the 

screening assessments were undertaken are not significant in relation to either the Strategic 

Environmental Assessment or Habitats Regulations Assessment requirements and that the 

conclusions remain robust. 

  

Other European obligations 

59. The Plan must be compatible with European Union (EU) and European Convention 

on Human Rights (ECHR) obligations.  The Basic Conditions Statement asserts that this is the 

case. I am satisfied that the Plan has appropriate regard to the rights and freedoms 

guaranteed under the ECHR and to the Equality Act 2010.  No contrary evidence has been 

presented.  There has been adequate opportunity for those with an interest in the Plan to 

make their views known and representations have been handled in an appropriate and 

transparent manner with changes made to the Plan.   

 

60. I conclude that the Plan meets this Basic Condition. 

  

Page 193



18 
 

7. Detailed comments on the Plan policies 

61. This section of the report reviews and makes recommendations on each of the Plan’s 

policies to ensure that they meet the Basic Conditions.  I make comments on all policies in 

order to provide clarity on whether each meets the Basic Conditions.  Some of the 

supporting text, Annexes, policy numbering and Contents will need to be amended to take 

account of the recommended modifications. 

 

Community Amenities 

62. Policy CA1 – This protects a defined list of six community facilities in Tibberton and 

introduces policy criteria to be met by development that might result in their loss. 

 

63. The Policy is supported by a Parish Profile which references the six community 

facilities and there is clear evidence of support for their retention from public consultation 

on the Plan.  There is limited additional evidence as to the significance of each facility.  I 

visited each of the facilities identified in the Policy and am satisfied that they each make an 

important contribution to the local community. 

 

64. The Policy drafting introduces a presumption in favour of the retention of the 

facilities and states that proposals resulting in their loss “will not be supported” unless 

specific criteria are met.  The Policy is unduly prescriptive in stating that a change of use in 

any of the facilities “will only be supported” for other similar uses and lacks clarity in what 

these uses might be.  This element of the Policy is unnecessary given the broader protection 

provided by the first part and that changes of use to “similar uses” will not require a 

planning application.  There is a grammatical error in stating that proposals to expand or 

replace them “would” be supported subject to evidence of viability, need and sustainability. 

 

65. The effect of the Policy would be to introduce an inappropriate “double 

presumption” given that national planning policy is already for a “presumption in favour of 

sustainable development” (NPPF, paragraph 11).  Plan policies should be prepared and 

generally drafted in terms of the development that will be supported.  It would be helpful if 

the location of each community facility was identified on a map. 

Page 194



19 
 

 

66. Policy CA1 does not meet the Basic Conditions. 

 

 M2 – Amend Policy CA1 as follows: 

o Replace the first two lines of the first paragraph with “Development 

proposals will be supported that protect or enhance the following 

community facilities:” 

o Delete the first line of the second paragraph 

o Replace “will not be supported unless it satisfies” in the second line of the 

second paragraph with “should satisfy” 

o Replace “would” with “will” in the first line of the third paragraph 

 

 OM5 - [Provide a map showing the location of each of the identified community 

facilities] 

 

67. Policy CA2 – This introduces policy criteria for supporting the development of small 

scale employment opportunities. 

 

68. There is evidence of support for the Policy from public consultation and it is 

consistent with the approach in Local Plan Policy EC3. 

 

69. The Policy is not supported by evidence of the scale of existing employment 

opportunities or a definition of “small-scale” and there was no substantive additional 

information provided to me on request.  I was informed “There is general agreement that 

‘small scale’ would have a maximum of 5 people” but this does not provide an adequate 

evidence base for the Policy and it is not included in the Plan.  As a result the Policy is not 

“unambiguous” as required by national planning policy (NPPF, paragraph 16).  Local Plan 

Policy EC3 already supports development where the “scale, use and design is responsive to 

the local context” and any employment development proposals will need to satisfy this. 

 

70. The Policy drafting means that the third bullet does not relate to the previous two 

and should be freestanding.  Some of the Policy is negatively worded and references use of 

Page 195



20 
 

a “recognised form of appraisal” to demonstrate a lack of viability.  This is not supported by 

any evidence or examples of what comprises such an appraisal. 

 

71. Policy CA2 does not meet the Basic Conditions. 

 

 M3 – Amend Policy CA2 as follows: 

o Delete “small-scale” in the title and first line 

o Add “; or” to end of first bullet 

o Remove bullet before “Proposals for the re-use of land…..” to create a new 

paragraph 

o Replace “will not be permitted unless” with “should demonstrate” 

o Replace “recognised form of” with “viability” 

 

72. Policy CA3 – This introduces policy criteria for supporting new or diversified tourist 

development. 

 

73. The Policy intends to provide more locally relevant considerations for such 

development than are in the Local Plan.  It is acknowledged that the issue of tourism 

development is not a major one as identified through the public consultation on the Plan. 

 

74. The Policy drafting is such that it is not clear that all the criteria apply, the third 

bullet combines two different criteria and the last bullet should be freestanding as it does 

not relate to all the previous criteria.  The approach is restrictive even for development 

having a minor adverse impact or detrimental effect.  The drafting needs clarifying in two 

instances to reference the development being addressed by the policy. 

 

75. Policy CA3 does not meet the Basic Conditions. 

 

 M4 – Amend Policy CA3 as follows: 

o Insert “significant” before “detrimental” in the first bullet and “adverse” in 

the second bullet 

o Insert “the development” after “settlements and” in the first bullet 

Page 196



21 
 

o Delete third bullet after “service provision” 

o Add “; and” at end of the penultimate bullet 

o Insert new fourth bullet “development of a size and with landscaping 

appropriate to its rural location in the parish” 

o Delete existing fourth bullet and insert new paragraph “Appropriate 

tourism and leisure development proposals involving the re-use of existing 

buildings or as part of farm diversification will be supported.”  

 

Rural Character and Housing 

76. Policy RCH1 – This introduces policy criteria considering the historic character of the 

area. 

 

77. The Policy is supported by clear evidence of public support for protecting the area’s 

historic character and amplifies Local Plan policies, including by identifying the local 

importance of Duke of Sutherland cottages.  There is evidence for the area’s historic 

character provided in Annex B, including details of 17 nationally listed buildings and 

structures. 

 

78. The Policy drafting  is for development to “preserve”, “enhance”, “protect”, 

“contribute”, “respect”, “retain” and “positively contribute” each of which has distinct 

meaning when considering development proposals.  This creates ambiguity.  National 

planning policy is for plans to be “sustaining and enhancing” historic significance and 

supporting new development “making a positive contribution” to local character.  There are 

no Conservation Areas within the neighbourhood area where development must “preserve 

or enhance” its special character.  The Policy takes the same approach to nationally listed as 

other historic buildings.  This is inconsistent with national planning policy which 

distinguishes between designated and non-designated heritage assets and listed buildings 

are already addressed in the Local Plan. 

 

79. The Policy references “locally important buildings, structures and open spaces” and 

“historic agricultural buildings” but these are not identified in the Plan or its evidence base 

except for The Playing Field.  This creates ambiguity.  I recommend addressing this 

Page 197



22 
 

ambiguity by referencing the contribution made to local and historic character as a means of 

identifying relevant buildings, structures and open spaces. 

 

80. The Policy is unduly prescriptive in stating what “must” be provided in support of 

planning applications and restrictive in stating what “will not be supported”. 

 

81. The reference to Policy CA2 within the Policy is superfluous as planning applications 

must be considered against all relevant policies in the development plan.  It is not clear that 

all the policy criteria need to be considered. 

 

82. Policy RCH1 does not meet the Basic Conditions. 

 

 M5 – Amend Policy RCH1 to: 

o Replace the first paragraph with “Development proposals will be supported 

that sustain and enhance the significance of historic buildings (including 

their settings) that contribute to local character and which make a positive 

contribution to the locally distinctive historic character of the Parish.” 

o Delete “locally important” and insert “significantly” after “contribute” in 

the third bullet 

o Create a new bullet from the second sentence of the third bullet that reads 

“Avoid substantial demolition, alteration, extension or other development 

of a Duke of Sutherland cottage that causes significant harm to its 

significance, including its setting.” 

o Replace “enhancing” with “enhance” in the fifth bullet 

o Replace the sixth bullet with “Involve the conversion or extension of 

historic agricultural buildings to residential use when accompanied by 

evidence that there is no appropriate alternative employment 

development“ 

o Replace the seventh bullet with “Are of innovative design which fits 

sensitively into Tibberton’s and Cherrington’s frontages and street scenes” 

o Insert “; and/or” at the end of the penultimate bullet 

Page 198



23 
 

o Replace the last paragraph with “Development proposals likely to have a 

significant impact on local historic character and distinctiveness and/or on 

heritage assets should include evidence as to how this is taken into account 

by the proposal.” 

 

83. Policy RCH2 – This establishes the Tibberton Settlement Boundary within which 

appropriate proposals for new residential development will be supported. 

 

84. The Policy is supported by Figure 1 which defines the Tibberton Settlement 

Boundary.  This has been developed with the support of Telford and Wrekin Council in the 

light of recent planning experience of uncertainty over the extent of the built up area.  It is 

acknowledged that Cherrington is within the rural area and a settlement boundary would 

not be appropriate.  The Tibberton Settlement Boundary was subject to specific public 

consultation and its definition is addressed in Annex A.  This recognises the need to include 

some areas of open land with recent planning permission within the settlement boundary.  I 

reviewed the settlement boundary during my visit to the area and am satisfied with the 

overall rigour of its definition.  There is strong support for the Tibberton Settlement 

Boundary and its impact from the public consultation on the Plan. 

 

85. The detail of the Tibberton Settlement Boundary has been questioned in two 

locations through representations on the submitted Plan.  The owner of Honey House has 

questioned the exclusion from land within the settlement boundary of an area that “has 

been used as a garden for the past 15 years”.  The owner of 63 Plantation Road has 

questioned the exclusion from land within the settlement boundary of an area used as a 

garden, an area for which planning permission has been granted for a triple garage and an 

area of lawn/paddock. 

 

86. The criteria used to define the Tibberton Settlement Boundary recognise that some 

large gardens may be excluded and that in some cases the boundary may not follow existing 

features.  Both representations seek to align the settlement boundary with an area of 

property ownership and this is not the purpose of the boundary.  It is entirely appropriate 

for a settlement boundary to run through an area of property ownership and for significant 

Page 199



24 
 

gardens and paddocks to be excluded.  My assessment of the Tibberton Settlement 

Boundary in the two locations in question is that it is reasonably drawn and performs an 

appropriate planning function in relation to the land in question.  It is recognised that the 

unimplemented planning permission for a triple garage on land at 63 Plantation Road means 

the area of this proposed building should be within the settlement boundary.  The garage is 

to be located close to the access and the settlement boundary should be drawn close to the 

proposed building.  I am content with the revised boundary proposed by the 

Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group in correspondence with Telford and Wrekin Council on 

18 December 2020. 

 

87. The drafting of the Policy lacks clarity.  It includes a purpose which should be located 

in the supporting text and selectively duplicates Local Plan Policy HO11 in respect of 

residential development in Cherrington.  The approach to development within the 

settlement boundary should be more positively worded and its contribution to local 

character is addressed in other Plan policies.  The amended Policy relates only to Tibberton. 

 

88. An intention of the Policy is to distinguish between the application of Local Plan 

HO10 to Tibberton (within the settlement boundary) and Local Plan Policy HO11 to the rest 

of the parish area (including Cherrington).  This could be more clearly expressed in the 

supporting text. 

 

89. Policy RCH2 does not meet the Basic Conditions. 

 

 M6 – Retitle and replace Policy RCH2 with: 

“Policy RCH2: Residential development within Tibberton 

 

Proposals for new housing development will be supported on suitable infill sites 

within the Tibberton Settlement Boundary (Figure 1).” 

 

 OM6 – [Provide a clear explanation on the intention of the Policy to distinguish 

between the application of Local Plan policies HO10 and HO11 across the parish area 

in the supporting text.] 

Page 200



25 
 

 

90. Policy RCH3 – This establishes a restrictive approach to residential development 

outside Tibberton and Cherrington. 

 

91. The Policy is supported by public consultation on the Plan.  Its approach is that all 

new housing (including “self-build and custom housing”) will be “strongly resisted” outside 

Tibberton and Cherrington.  The supporting text is that affordable exception sites would be 

supported but this is not addressed in the Policy.  This is a significant conflict with Local Plan 

policies HO10 and HO11 which make provision for affordable rural exception sites and also 

affordable self-build or custom-build housing.  The Plan is not supported by any evidence 

that a distinctly different approach to the neighbourhood area is appropriate.  

 

92. The geographical area affected by the Policy is ambiguous.  Tibberton has a defined 

settlement boundary but the Plan explicitly acknowledges this is not appropriate to 

Cherrington and it is therefore unclear what parts of the neighbourhood area are “outside” 

Cherrington.  

 

93. Consequently, I conclude that Policy RCH3 does not meet the Basic Conditions and it 

should be deleted.  Local Plan policies HO10 and HO11 are already relevant to residential 

development in the area outside the Tibberton Settlement Boundary (whether in 

Cherrington or elsewhere in the neighbourhood area) and Policy RCH3 either duplicates 

their approach or departs significantly from them without supporting evidence to justify it. 

 

 M7 – Delete Policy RCH3 

 

94. Policy RCH4 – This introduces policy criteria relating to the design of new housing. 

 

95. The Policy addresses considerations which arose during public consultation on the 

Plan and has strong support.  It amplifies the design criteria in Local Plan Policy BE1 in the 

local context of the neighbourhood area. 

 

Page 201



26 
 

96. The Policy references the “Parish’s ‘Dark Sky’ Policy” and no further details are 

provided.  The Parish Council has confirmed “there is no formal written policy for dark skies” 

and proposed amendments to both Objective 7 and the Policy to refer instead to “the 

Parish’s strongly stated preference for a ‘dark sky’”.  This approach addresses all lighting and 

not just the street lighting included in the Policy.  The significance of dark skies and limiting 

the impact of light pollution is recognised in national planning policy (NPPF, paragraph 185) 

and the policy drafting should recognise this separate from the particular view of the Parish 

Council.  It would be preferable for the clarification to Objective 7 to be similarly expressed.  

I am content with the update to the supporting text proposed by the Parish Council. 

 

97. The Policy supports good “pedestrian and cycle connections” but omits horse riders.  

This is inconsistent with Policy HB1 which includes horse riders. 

 

98. The Policy lacks clarity in its support for “environmentally friendly measures”, 

addresses greenhouse gas emissions only in terms of “CO2” and uses examples which 

should be provided in the supporting text.  There is no evidence provided as to why 

development that exceeds Local Plan parking standards should be supported and I was 

provided with a single example on further request.  This is not sufficient evidence to justify a 

local departure from the established parking standards.  A relaxation of standards also 

creates conflicts with other objectives seeking a reduced environmental impact.  The impact 

of traffic and parking on road and pedestrian safety should be significant before it needs to 

be considered. 

 

99. I note West Mercia Police’s support for additional reference to “Secured by Design” 

principles in the Policy.  The scope of issues to be addressed is a matter for the Parish 

Council and it is pertinent that the Telford and Wrekin Local Plan already references 

“Secured by Design” including as a monitoring indicator for achieving its aim to “Promote 

more socially cohesive, healthy and active communities”. 

 

100. The Policy drafting should be more positively expressed in terms of support for 

development which meets the criteria.  It is unclear whether all the criteria apply to all 

development proposals.  

Page 202



27 
 

 

101. Policy RCH4 does not meet the Basic Conditions. 

 

 M8 – Amend Policy RCH4 to: 

o Replace “are to” with “should” in the first line 

o Replace “and cycle” with “cycling and horse riding” in criterion e) 

o Replace criterion h) with “It has regard to the importance of retaining the 

Parish’s dark skies” 

o Replace criterion j) with “It contributes to reducing environmental and 

climate impacts” 

o Replace “adversely affect” with “have significant adverse impacts on” in 

criterion k) 

o Insert “; and/or” at the end of the penultimate criterion 

 

102. Policy RCH5 – This supports homes for smaller households suited to both younger 

and older generations where there is evidence of need. 

 

103. The Policy is supported by some evidence of household size in the Parish although 

this does not demonstrate a need for a distinct local approach.  There is strong support from 

public consultation on the Plan for the intent of the Policy and it is consistent with Local Plan 

Policy HO4. 

 

104. The Policy seeks to address size, type and tenure of new housing.  It lacks clarity on 

how tenure might be considered in determining the suitability of a development for 

meeting the needs of smaller households.  The Policy does not need to reference that 

developments will need to “conform with other policies” given this is automatic. 

 

105. Policy RCH5 does not meet the Basic Conditions. 

 

 M9 - Amend Policy RCH5 to: 

o delete “and tenure” from the title” 

o insert “of a size and type” after “households” 

Page 203



28 
 

o  delete the text from “need” to the end 

 

Environment, Open Space and Recreation 

106. Policy EOR1 – This introduces policy criteria for development impacting on The 

Playing Field which is stated as being a designated Local Green Space. 

 

107. The Policy is supported by details of how some parts of The Playing Field in the heart 

of Tibberton are protected against residential development under Telford and Wrekin 

Council’s “Green Guarantee” scheme.   The Playing Field also includes an additional area 

which is not protected under this scheme.   

 

108. The Policy and the supporting text assume that The Playing Field is already 

designated as Local Green Space and also indicates that more than one site is designated as 

Local Green Space but no further detail is provided.  I was informed that steps had been 

taken to secure the designation of The Playing Field.  Local Green Spaces can, however, only 

be designated in a Local or neighbourhood plan.  The Telford and Wrekin Local Plan states 

“The Council is not designating any Local Green Spaces through this Local Plan but supports 

designations through neighbourhood development plans”.  There are therefore no 

designated Local Green Spaces in the neighbourhood area and the Tibberton and 

Cherrington neighbourhood plan is, therefore, the means for securing designation.   

 

109. From my visit I consider there is every reason to believe a proposal to designate The 

Playing Field as Local Green Space would be successful but this has not been taken forward 

in the Plan.   The space is at the heart of Tibberton’s community and demonstrably special in 

terms of its formal and informal use and in providing an important green lung.  It is a well-

defined area of open land now separated from the surrounding countryside.  Local Green 

Space designation could be addressed when the Plan is reviewed based on an assessment of 

how it meets the criteria which would justify designation as provided for in national 

planning policy (NPPF, paragraph 100).  Any proposal would need to be accompanied by a 

higher quality map of the area to be protected and this should be for the whole area and 

not just that protected under the Green Guarantee scheme.  The precise boundaries of the 

Local Green Space will need to be clear, including in relation to the school buildings and the 

Page 204



29 
 

rear boundary of residential properties along Maslan Crescent.  The Policy approach would 

need to be consistent with national planning policy that inappropriate development will not 

be approved except in very special circumstances. 

 

110. In response to my initial consideration of the Policy I was provided with a proposal 

agreed by the Parish Council and local planning authority for a new Policy EOR1 and 

supporting text seeking to protect the whole area of The Playing Field.  This was supported 

by a large scale map defining the boundary of the area addressed by Policy EOR1. 

 

111. This proposal provides a much clearer approach.  It recognises that The Playing Field 

is not designated as Local Green Space (and that there is currently no intention to seek such 

a designation) while recognising its significance as a whole and providing future protection.  

It recognises that some development with direct community benefits that causes harm may 

be appropriate.  It is appropriate for the revised Policy to include the area of open space 

between the two areas protected under the Green Guarantee scheme given this was 

identified in the draft Plan and has been consulted on. 

 

112. It is appropriate for the policy approach to be restrictive when considering 

development (other than that bringing direct community benefit) that would cause loss or 

significant harm given the nature of the land in question and the protection afforded by the 

Green Guarantee scheme. 

 

113. Policy EOR1 does not meet the Basic Conditions. 

 

 M10 - Replace Policy EOR1 with “Development proposals that would cause loss of 

or significant harm to The Playing Fields, including the children’s play area, (see 

Table 1 and Figure 5) will not be supported, with the exception of those associated 

with community facilities (including the expansion of the school and the 

enhancement of facilities supporting the playing fields).” 

 

 M11 – Clarify the boundary of the open space protected under the Green Guarantee 

scheme in relation to the school buildings and include the area of open space 

Page 205



30 
 

between the two areas protected under the Green Guarantee Scheme in a revised 

Figure 5 as provided during the examination 

 

 M12 – Replace the supporting text with that provided during the examination.  

 

114. Policy EOR2 – This requires all development to protect and enhance features of 

nature conservation or landscape significance. 

 

115. The Policy is supported by evidence of support through public consultation.  There is 

some evidence of important wildlife and landscape features and designations in the Parish 

Profile. 

 

116. The Policy would apply to any planning application for development regardless of its 

size or likely impact on wildlife or the landscape.  It is unduly prescriptive in stating what 

“will be expected”. 

 

117. Policy EOR2 does not meet the Basic Conditions. 

 

 M13 – Amend to Policy EOR2 to: 

o Replace “All development will be expected” with “Development proposals 

should” 

o Insert “where appropriate” after “woodland” 

 

Highways and Byways 

118. Policy HB1 – This addresses the impact of development on rights of way and other 

routes and seeks pavements to be in keeping with the area’s rural character. 

 

119. The Policy is supported by evidence of support through public consultation.  It 

recognises that the Plan cannot directly address matters subject to highways legislation.  

Figure 14 provides a map of the area’s public footpaths and bridleways.  The supporting text 

describes the distinctive grass verges and banks along roads in the area which make an 

important contribution to its character and this was very evident during my visit. 

Page 206



31 
 

 

120. The Policy would apply to any planning application for development regardless of its 

size or likely impact on wildlife or the landscape.  It is unduly prescriptive in stating what 

“will be expected” and what “must” happen.  It is unclear where the particular 

considerations relating to new pavements would apply as neither “village” nor “specific 

neighbourhood” have a clear definition and the supporting text indicates an intention for it 

to apply in both Tibberton and Cherrington.  The definition of “any other measures” in 

addition to pavements is unclear. 

 

121. Policy HB1 does not meet the Basic Conditions. 

 

 M14 – Amend Policy HB1 to: 

o Insert “where appropriate” after “supported” 

o Replace “will be expected to” with “should” 

o Insert “serving the same function” after “measures” 

o Replace “must” with “should” 

o Replace “village” with “Parish” 

o Replace “the character of the specific neighbourhood involved” with “local 

character” 

 

 

  

Page 207



32 
 

8. Recommendation and Referendum Area 

122. I am satisfied the Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic 

Conditions and other requirements subject to the modifications recommended in this report 

and that it can proceed to a referendum.  I have received no information to suggest other 

than that I recommend the referendum area matches that of the Neighbourhood Area. 

 

Page 208



 

 

Tibberton and Cherrington 
Parish Council 

 

 

 
 

 
 

TIBBERTON AND CHERRINGTON  
PARISH NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN  

2020-2031 
 
 

Regulation 15 Submission Version 

16 July 2020 
 

 

Page 209



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

2  

FOREWORD 
 
The Parish of Tibberton and Cherrington is a rural Parish, which over time has managed to 
maintain the rustic tranquillity of a country Parish. However parts, namely in the village of 
Tibberton, have seen considerable growth over the last couple of years, which has resulted in 
tremendous pressure on the roads and services throughout the Parish and beyond. 
 
This Neighbourhood Plan is as a result of the Government’s belief that decision-making should be 
not just at national and local government levels but also at a local level involving the whole 
community. This is because it is these decisions that will affect the community for years and 
generations to come. 
 
The Plan will be in effect until 2031 and has been created by the Tibberton and Cherrington 
Neighbourhood Plan Group – a group of residents from both Tibberton and Cherrington who have 
worked tirelessly over the last few years to try and reflect the concerns and wishes of those who 
live and work in the Parish.  They have worked in conjunction with the Parish Council to produce a 
document which will help shape the future of our Parish. 
 
Over the last few years the Neighbourhood Plan Group and the Parish Council have listened to 
residents through conversations whilst walking around the Parish, and public drop-in sessions to 
individual questionnaires – all of which has shown that although there is a feeling that the Parish 
must continue to evolve in order to maintain a thriving community, it must do so whilst retaining the 
heritage and pride in living in such a pleasant Parish.   
 
We would like to thank the whole of the local community who through their honesty and time taken 
to make known their views in such detail have helped produce this document so that it reflects their 
thoughts.  Without your comments this plan would not have been able to be made. 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan will help to protect the character of the Parish and help ensure that any 
future development is suitable for the local need and located in sites which are suitable for 
development and which will not have a detrimental or harmful effect on the intrinsic character or 
beauty of the open countryside.  
 
Nick Eyles 
Chair of the Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group 
 
Jim Berry 
Chair of Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Council 

Page 210



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

3  

CONTENTS 
 
 
Lists of Figures and Tables ................................................................................... page 4 
 
Introduction ………………………………..……………………………………............ page 5 
 
Setting the Context ……………………………………………….………………......... page 6 
 
Why we are Preparing a Neighbourhood Plan for Tibberton and Cherrington....... page 10 
 
Process of Preparing  the Plan .....………....................................………….……… page 11 
 
National and Local Policy Planning Framework ........................…........................ page 12 
  
Evidence  Base ………………………………………………………..…................…. page 15 
 
Vision and Objectives …………………………………..............…...…...................... page 17 
 
Policies ………………………………………………………………………......….……. page 18 
 
Monitoring and Review ……………………………………………............................. page 28 
 
Settlement Boundaries ........................................................................................... Annex A 
 
Tibberton’s and Cherrington’s Historic Character …............................................... Annex B 
 
Parish Profile ……………………………………………............….....................….... Annex C 
 
Additional Technical Evidence ………………………………….................…………. Annex D

Page 211



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

4  

LIST OF FIGURES 
 

Figure 1: Tibberton Settlement Boundary ............................................................. pages 7 & A-5 
 

Figure 2: Parish Boundary and Neighbourhood Plan Area……………........…...... page 8 
 

Figure 3: Tibberton Building Development Map 2012 - 2021………………….….... page 9 
 

Figure 4: The Neighbourhood Planning Process…………………….......…….….... page 11 
 

Figure 5: Local Green Spaces…………………………………………………….….... page 27 
 

Figure 6: Development within Settlement Boundary...................…........................ page A-3 
 

Figure 7: Increase in Housing 1999 - 2020………………………………………….... page A-3 
 

Figure 8: Listed Buildings in Tibberton and Cherrington Map................................ page B-1-3 
 

Figure 9: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Age Profile ……....…......................... page C-1 
 

Figure 10: Highest Level of Qualification ………………………………………….... page C-2 
 

Figure 11: Growth of Population and Housing Stock.............................................. page C-5 
 

Figure 12: Travel to Work Patterns………………………………………….......….… page C-6 
 

Figure 13: Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) 2012............ page C-10 
 

Figure 14: Tibberton and Cherrington Rights of Way.............................................. page C-13 
 

Figure 15: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Agricultural Land Classification ….... page C-14 
 

Figure 16: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Mineral Safeguarding Areas……….. page C-15 
 

Figure 17: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Flood Risk Areas…………..………... page C-16 
 

Figure 18: Local Wildlife Site and Local Geological Site…...........………..………... page C-17 

 
 

LIST OF TABLES 
 

Table 1: Local Green Spaces ………………………………………….…………...…. page 24 
 

Table 2: Example of Policy Monitoring ……………………………………………….. page 29 
 

Table 3: Student Population …………………………………………………….…...... page C-2 
 

Table 4: Housing Stock in Tibberton and Cherrington …………………………....... page C-3 
 

Table 5: Household Types in Tibberton and Cherrington Parish ………….…........ page C-4 
 

Table 6: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Housing Tenure ………………....…... page C-4 
 

Table 7: Comparison of Tibberton and Cherrington Parish and  
  Telford & Wrekin House Prices in 2014 and 2015  ………...............…................ page C-5 
 

Table 8: Car Availability……………………………………………………………....... page C-7 
 

Table 9: SHLAA 2012 Appendix 1 - Tibberton……..……………………………....... page C-11

Page 212



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

5  

INTRODUCTION 
 
Our Neighbourhood Plan  
 
This Neighbourhood Plan has been formulated on the basis of the public’s response to all the 
Parish Council’s consultations held between October 2017 and April 2020. Inputs from the public 
and consultees received by the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group during the Regulation 14 
Consultation period1 were used to prepare this Draft Plan and it was presented to the Parish 
Council on 16 July 2020, after a delay caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. Following the Parish 
Council’s approval, this version of the Plan, known as the ‘Regulation 15’ version, has been 
submitted to Telford & Wrekin Council. A statutory consultation exercise will be undertaken by the 
Local Planning Authority to ensure that the Plan and all accompanying documents comply with 
legal requirements. The Plan will then be placed on the Local Planning Authority website for a 
further final six-week consultation. 
 
Comments and representations received during the period of statutory consultation will be collated 
by Telford & Wrekin Council and forwarded, along with the Plan and supporting documents, to an 
Independent Examiner. The Independent Examiner will then decide whether the Neighbourhood 
Plan meets the Basic Conditions and could proceed to a final referendum of all eligible 
parishioners. 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan that you have before you offers a vision for the future of Tibberton and 
Cherrington Parish and delivers a clear set of policies based on comments received. These 
policies have also been subjected to scrutiny by the statutory agencies (Environment Agency, 
Natural England and Historic England) through a screening exercise related to environmental 
assessments (Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitat Regulations Assessment 
(HRA) screening statements). If supported by a referendum, the policies enshrined within the 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan will become part of the Borough’s Development 
Plan, thus giving much greater weight to the views of the Parish in the decision-making process. 
 
All relevant documents can be downloaded via the Telford & Wrekin Council website. 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20453/neighbourhood_planning

                                                     
1
 18 January 2020 to 29 February 2020 with a Supplementary Consultation period from 21 February 2020 to        

10 April 2020. 

Page 213

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20453/neighbourhood_planning


2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

6  

SETTING THE CONTEXT 
 

The Parish of Tibberton and Cherrington is in the Borough of Telford and Wrekin and ceremonial 
county of Shropshire (Figure 2 on Page 8). It is located 4.8 miles (7.7 km) west of the town of 
Newport and approximately 11 miles (17.7 km) north of Telford town centre. The Parish population 
at the 2011 Census was 698, which was a 2% increase from 684 in 2001; however, this figure is 
forecast to rise to approximately 994 by 2021 due to recent housing developments, an increase of 
42.4% since 2011.  
 
Similarly, the housing stock in Tibberton increased by less than 9% in the 10 years between 1999 
and 2009 but the rate trebled to nearly 27% (256 to 325 houses) during the following 8 years to 
2017. This rise in the development of new homes will accelerate by a further 27% during the next 4 
years from 2017 to 2021 (325 to 413 houses) as a result of those houses that are currently in build 
or are highly likely to be built. This represents an increase of 142 houses (52%) in the 10 years 
from 2012 to 2021 (inclusive). Additionally, another 3 houses on 3 separate plots have outline or 
‘reserved matters’ planning permission. Planning applications that were granted full or reserved 
matters approval in each year for this period are shown on the map in Figure 3 on Page 9 and full 
details of the increases in housing stock and population are given in Annex C. 
 
The Parish consists of 2 settlements, the village2 of Tibberton and the hamlet3 of Cherrington, 
which are set in a predominantly rural landscape that extends into the heart of these settlements. 
Agriculture is the dominant land use with 90% of land classified as Grade 2 or 3 (very good to 
moderate). The open rural character of the landscape of the Parish is an asset much valued by the 
community for its scenic amenity, recreational use and environmental value and establishes the 
principal context for the setting of Tibberton and Cherrington. 
 
Cherrington has no local amenities or public facilities, although there are some small businesses.  
Over 43% of the historic core of the hamlet, sometimes known as Cherrington Green, are Grade 2 
listed buildings (7 out of 16 dwellings). There is also a linear development of houses and 
agricultural buildings along the road leading from the B5062 towards Cherrington Manor. 
 
Tibberton has one public house (The Sutherland Arms), a Village Hall, a Church of England 
primary school, a village community run shop and a Methodist Chapel.  There is also an Anglican 
Church that is dedicated to All Saints’ within the Archdeaconry of Salop and the Diocese of 
Lichfield. Additionally, there are over 22 small businesses, which provide employment to the local 
community.  A recreation field, called simply "The Playing Field", is used by both the School and 
outside teams for organised sport but it also caters for informal recreation by local residents.  It has 
protection against residential development under the Borough's 'Green Guarantee' scheme. 
 
Development in the Parish has naturally expanded and evolved over time but for centuries the two 
settlements consisted predominantly of scattered tenanted farms and small-holdings, interspersed 
with an occasional row of workers’ cottages. Even well into the 20th Century the nominal centre of 
Tibberton, around the Church, original school building and the Sutherland Arms, was of low density 
surrounded by agricultural land.  The paper mill by the River Meese, with its towering chimney, 
provided a stark industrial contrast to the otherwise rural scene. 
 
Prior to the major dispersal sale in 1912, almost all the land and property in the Parish belonged to 
the Duke of Sutherland, hence the strong influence of the estate’s preferred style of design on 
homes built in the 19th Century.  The gabled dormers, elaborate chimneys, brick detailing and 
overhanging eaves of the typical ‘Duke of Sutherland’ cottage still provide a degree of architectural 
cohesion and local identity in the Parish and surrounding settlements. 
 
The original linear pattern of development in Tibberton along its road network only began to 
change post 1945 into the more rectangular form recognisable today.  Maslan Crescent was built in 

                                                     
2
 The National Geographic Society defines a village as a settlement of between 500 and 2500 pe ople. 

3
 The OED defines a hamlet as being smaller than a village, usually without a church.  

Page 214

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Telford_and_Wrekin
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ceremonial_counties_of_England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ceremonial_counties_of_England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Shropshire
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Newport%2C_Shropshire
http://www.edgmondvillagehall.org/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Archdeaconry_of_Salop
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Archdeaconry_of_Salop
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Recreation


2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

7  

the 1950s, followed by further residential developments in the 1970s & ‘80s. The new school and 
adjacent playing-field established in 1970 also contributed to the change of use from agriculture to 
settlement in what was becoming the core of the village. This process of changing from a linear 
layout to a more rectangular form has accelerated with recent housing developments.  
 
The Local Planning Authority specifically opposes any proposed development that would cause 
harm to the character of the villages or encroachment into the countryside4.  However, the confines 
of Tibberton are not formally defined, leading to differing interpretations of where the ‘built-up’ area 
ends and ‘open countryside’ begins.  This potential conflict of opinion has now been resolved by 
assigning a ‘Settlement Boundary’ to Tibberton, as shown at Figure 1 below. However, the hamlet 
of Cherrington is already defined as being in open countryside, therefore, it would be unnecessary 
and inappropriate to define a boundary for the settlement of Cherrington.  Details of the rationale 
for the Tibberton boundary, together with a larger map, are at Annex A. 
 
 

 
 

Figure 1: Tibberton Settlement Boundary 
 
Apart from Tibberton and Cherrington, the Parish is otherwise rural. Both settlements have historic 
cores with 17 listed buildings recorded in the National Heritage List for England as buildings of 
special historic or architectural interest. Of these, 16 are listed at Grade II and one is at Grade II*, 
marking it out as being of particular national importance. Almost all the listed buildings are timber 
framed houses and cottages, the earlier ones with cruck construction. The other listed buildings 
consist of red brick houses, a church and a bridge over the River Meese. Other buildings of local 
interest include the ‘Primitive’ Methodist Chapel in Tibberton, which was built in 1844.  Background 
information on Tibberton’s and Cherrington’s historic character is at Annex B and full details of the 
listed buildings within the Parish are at Appendix 1 to Annex B.  
 
The full Parish Profile is at Annex C. 

                                                     
4
 Telford and Wrekin Local Plan Policy HO10 

Key 
 
Parish Boundary   
        
Settlement Boundary 
      

Th
e 

Page 215

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tibberton,_Shropshire
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cherrington
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Heritage_List_for_England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cruck


2020 - 2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 

 

8  

Figure 2: Parish Boundary and Neighbourhood Plan Area 

 

P
age 216



2020 - 2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 

 

9  

Figure 3: Tibberton Building Development Map 2012 - 2021 
 

 

 Year of 
Planning 
Approval 

No of 
Houses 

    Outline 3 
    2019 48 
    2018 40 
    2017 28 
    2016 5 
    2015 0 
    2014 4 
    2013 15 
    2012 2 

 P
age 217



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

10 

WHY WE ARE PREPARING A NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
FOR TIBBERTON AND CHERRINGTON 

 
Neighbourhood Plans form part of the Statutory Development Plan for an area. They are prepared 
by Parish Councils to promote, guide and control local development and importantly, are used to 
help determine local planning applications. For the first time, local communities can have a direct 
input into the planning process and have an influence on the shaping of the future of their 
community based on the views expressed through surveys of the local population and businesses. 
 
Not all Parish Councils have chosen to produce a Neighbourhood Plan.  However, in September 
2017 Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Council decided that this was an important right to 
exercise, and applied to be designated a Neighbourhood Planning Body for the whole area 
covered by the Parish (Figure 2 on Page 8). 
 
The Parish Council submitted its application to Telford & Wrekin Council for designation of its 
Neighbourhood Area in October 2018. After a formal six-week consultation which began on 15 
November 2018 and ran until 10 January 2019, Telford & Wrekin Council resolved to support the 
Neighbourhood Area application made by Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Council and confirmed 
that the area shown in the application should be designated as a Neighbourhood Area. A formal 
notice was published on the 24 January 2019 that confirmed the designation. 
 
The Parish Council’s Steering Group has been preparing this Draft Neighbourhood Plan since 7 
August 2018. Following consultation with residents and stakeholders, the Plan will be subjected to 
external examination before it can proceed to a final referendum of all eligible parishioners.  
Thereafter, its policies will reflect the aspirations of the majority of the people of Tibberton and 
Cherrington who have all had an opportunity to play a part in shaping the future of their Parish. 

Page 218



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

11 

PROCESS OF PREPARING THE PLAN 
 
Neighbourhood Plans must be prepared following a procedure set by government (Figure 4). 
 
Figure 4: The Neighbourhood Planning Process 

 

 
 

Consultation with Tibberton and Cherrington parishioners on the Neighbourhood Plan began with a 
series of open-door drop-in sessions in Tibberton Village Hall during October and November 2017.  
The range of views expressed during these sessions was used to inform the development of 
themes for the Plan. 
 
Further consultation took place in 2020.  This second period was held with Tibberton and 
Cherrington Parish residents, businesses and consultative bodies over a 6 week period between 
18 January 2020 and 29 February 2020 in accordance with Regulation 14 of the Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) Regulations 2012. During this consultation period, many responses were 
concerned about the level of housing development in Tibberton, particularly during the last 3 years.  
The Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group therefore decided to develop a Settlement Boundary for 
Tibberton which delineates between the ‘built up’ area and ‘open countryside’.  As this was a 
significant change to the Plan, it was further decided to have a supplementary consultation period 
of at least 6 weeks from 21 February 2020 to allow further comment on this new initative. 
 
Following these consultations, the Neighbourhood Plan was revised to take account of comments 
received and issues raised. A further six-week consultation by Telford & Wrekin Council will take 
place following the Plan’s submission under Regulation 15. The Plan, its evidence base and 
consultation responses, will then be presented by Telford & Wrekin Council for Independent 
Examination. The process will culminate in a local referendum on whether the plan should be made 
part of the Statutory Development Plan for the Borough of Telford and Wrekin. 
 
Telford & Wrekin Council’s Local Plan 2011 - 2031 was adopted in January 2018. The preparation 
of the Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan has been progressed in accordance with the 
Local Plan process, including the review of the Local Plan initiated by the Borough Council in 
December 2019. 

Telford & Wrekin Council 
designate Tibberton and 

Cherrington a ‘Neighbourhood 
Planning Area’

Neighbourhood Plan 
Steering Group write 
draft Plan to reflect 

consultation outcomes

Steering Group consult 
with all stakeholders 

and analyse responses 
(Period: Oct-17 - Mar-20)

Telford & Wrekin 
Council publish Plan 

for wider consultation
(Regulation 16)

Parish Council submit 
draft Plan to Telford & 

Wrekin Council
(Regulation 15)

Independent 
Examination and Final 

Revisions to 
Neighbourhood Plan

If the Referendum decision 
approves the Plan…

Tibberton and Cherrington 
Neighbourhood Plan “Made”

Draft Plan published 
for further stakeholder 

comments 
(Regulation 14)

Parish Referendum 
held within 28 days of  
Notice. Referendum 

decision declared

Steering Group revise 
draft Plan for Parish 

Council approval.
Once approved…

Parish Referendum 
Notice published by 

Telford & Wrekin 
Council

Page 219



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

12 

NATIONAL AND LOCAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 

The Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan must take account of national planning policy. 
This is primarily contained in one document - the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  
The NPPF states5 that ‘neighbourhood planning gives communities the power to develop a shared 
vision for their area. Neighbourhood plans can shape, direct and help to deliver sustainable 
development, by influencing local planning decisions as part of the statutory development plan. 
Neighbourhood plans should not promote less development than set out in the strategic policies for 
the area, or undermine those strategic policies6. Once a neighbourhood plan has been brought into 
force, the policies it contains take precedence over existing non-strategic policies in a local plan 
covering the neighbourhood area, where they are in conflict; unless they are superseded by 
strategic or non-strategic policies that are adopted subsequently.’  
  
This means our Neighbourhood Plan must “….plan positively to promote local development” and 
must “….support the strategic development needs” set out in Telford & Wrekin Council’s Local 
Plan. Therefore, our Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared to be in “general conformity” with 
Telford & Wrekin Council’s planning policies. 
 
Telford & Wrekin Council’s strategic planning policy is contained in the adopted Telford & Wrekin 
Local Plan 2011 - 2031. The previous Wrekin Local Plan (1995-2006) is now time expired and the 
existing Core Strategy policies have been superseded by the adopted Telford & Wrekin Local Plan. 
An appropriate and sensible approach therefore was to proceed with the Tibberton and 
Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan based on the strategy and policies of the Telford & Wrekin Local 
Plan and to work closely with Telford & Wrekin Council during the preparation of the document.  
 
A revision to the Local Plan was submitted on 30th June 2016 and an examination in public was 
conducted during January and February 2017 by an independent Planning Inspector. Telford & 
Wrekin Council received the Inspector’s Report in November 2017 and the Local Plan was adopted 
in January 2018.  Additionally, the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 places an obligation on Councils to review Local Plans within a five year period 
from the date of adoption. The purpose of a review is to take account of “changing circumstances 
affecting the area, or any relevant changes in national policy7”. A review, therefore, needs to be 
completed by January 2023. 
 

Given these circumstances and opportunities, Telford and Wrekin Council decided in December 
2019 that a review of the Local Plan be launched.  This review would not be housing numbers 
driven but seek to embed key priorities for the Council and Borough. Four core objectives were 
agreed8 to underpin the review:   
  

 Employment led growth through inward investment and job creation 

 A ‘Forest Community’ approach which affords the protection, enhancement and 
accessibility of the natural environment and green spaces that characterise the Borough 

 Support for regeneration of our Borough Towns, new town estates and infrastructure 

 Meet local housing needs including providing more affordable and specialist 
accommodation to support people to live longer and healthier at home  

 

The Parish Council recognised that the implications of the review launched in 2019 would need to 
be taken into account when developing the Neighbourhood Plan. Therefore, the development of 
policies within the Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan are aligned closely with these 
core objectives, particularly the ‘Forest Community’ approach and the development of policies to 
meet local housing needs. 
 

                                                     
5
 NPPF Paragraphs 29 & 30 

6
 Neighbourhood plans must be in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in any development plan 

that covers their area. 
7
 Paragraph 33, National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

8
 Minutes of Telford and Wrekin Cabinet meeting on 2 January 2020 Item CAB-40. 

Page 220



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

13 

Strategic Framework 

 
Telford & Wrekin Local Plan (Policy HO10 - Residential Development in the Rural Area) already 
states that a limited amount of infill housing will be supported in Tibberton and so the development 
strategy for Tibberton and Cherrington has largely been set. However, Tibberton and Cherrington 
are separate settlements in planning policy terms and this Neighbourhood Plan will clarify the 
distinction between the Policies HO10 and HO11 (Affordable Rural Exceptions) as they apply to 
these villages. Consultation responses during the Neighbourhood Plan process show that there is 
no support within the Parish to pursue other development strategies. The options stage of the 
Local Plan preparation considered different approaches to development in the rural area alongside 
considerable consultation and dialogue with the rural parishes. This culminated in a spatial strategy 
which allowed for the inclusion of development in existing rural communities which could have 
positive effects if carried out at the appropriate scale consistent with the capacity of the rural 
communities, services and infrastructure. Small scale focused development could be undertaken to 
help encourage provision of services without changing the character of rural Telford & Wrekin. 
 
Telford & Wrekin Council considers this approach has the greatest potential to achieve appropriate 
growth with minimal detrimental environmental effects. It recognises that careful consideration 
should be given to the location of new development to avoid sensitive sites, to optimise positive 
community effects and to take the opportunity to maximise the benefits of innovative sustainable 
design (by ensuring efficient use of land and resources) to mitigate any potentially significant 
negative effects. 
 
The Spatial Strategy for the Borough is set out in Chapter 3 and policies SP1, 2 and 3 summarised 
in Table 9 of the Local Plan. Telford is the dominant settlement, and the importance of its 
continuing growth dictates that most development takes place here. As a historic market town with 
a population of around 11,000, it is appropriate that some new development be directed to 
Newport. 
 
The small remainder of new housing development will be directed to the most appropriate rural 
‘named’ settlements9 with access to services and other infrastructure in order to support rural 
economic activity whilst protecting sensitive landscapes and settings. Given the pre-eminence of 
the Borough’s Spatial Strategy and the lack of realistic and appropriate alternatives, there is no 
justification in exploring, through the Neighbourhood Plan process, other development strategies 
for Tibberton and Cherrington. 
 
To consider other strategies that seek to provide substantially more housing in the rural area would 
conflict with Government policy (NPPF) which seeks to promote sustainable development by 
encouraging effective use of brownfield land and locating as much housing as possible closest to 
existing infrastructure in larger towns such as Telford or Newport. Most housing in the rural area is 
expected to be delivered on two large brownfield sites at Allscott and Crudgington. Allowing for 
other existing supply, the remainder will be located through limited development in the five named 
settlements, including Tibberton, the selection of which is justified by the process set out in the 
Technical Paper – Rural Settlements (B2f) that considers the presence of primary and secondary 
facilities and services, accessibility and existence of previously developed land. Options exploring 
other strategies for distribution and/or additional development in the rural area would affect the 
successful implementation of these large brownfield sites. Further guidance on Rural Housing is 
included in the Planning Practice Guidance10, which supplements the NPPF. 
 
It is believed that there is sufficient remaining provision for development in the five rural 
settlements to meet the requirements of the NPPF to support a prosperous rural economy 
(paragraph 83), deliver affordable housing (paragraphs 61-64) and support community vitality, 
whilst avoiding isolated development in the open countryside (paragraph 79). In Telford & Wrekin 

                                                     
9
 Edgmond, Ercall Magna, Lilleshall, Waters Upton and Tibberton & Cherrington, all of which have, or are 

preparing, Neighbourhood Plans. 
10

 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-needs-of-different-groups#rural-housing 

Page 221



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

14 

Council’s adopted Local Plan, the Spatial Strategy for the rural area (policy SP3) and its approach 
to planning for rural housing (policy HO10) has been passed as consistent with government 
priorities to boost significantly the supply of housing generally but also takes account of the scale 
and context of the Borough’s villages which, highlighted in the Technical Paper – Rural Settlements 
(B2f), do not have extensive infrastructure provision. 
 
The Policy HO11 (Affordable Rural Exceptions) provisions apply outside the five main rural villages 
and, as stated in paragraph 5.3.2.2 of the Local Plan, new housing may come forward with 
justification on the basis of local need on sites not normally in accordance with local housing 
policies. Paragraph 5.3.2.3 adds that such proposals should be directed towards locations that help 
to enhance and maintain the vitality of rural communities, rather than be used as a means to gain 
planning consent for development in isolated locations.  

Page 222



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

15 

EVIDENCE BASE 
 

Consultation and Engagement 
 
Being such a relatively small community, with 698 residents in 263 occupied houses (as at the 
2011 Census), we were able to collect many more of the concerns and ideas of residents and 
stakeholders during face to face discussions than would be possible in a larger community. 
Following discussions  at Parish Council Meetings, the process to produce a Neighbourhood Plan 
started with 3 public consultations in Tibberton Village Hall during October and November 201711 to 
gather initial views and to identify the areas to be considered for inclusion in the Plan. 
 
Following the approval of the Designated Area, three additional public consultation sessions were 
held in January 202012, after which any additional comments were listed for consideration in the 
Plan, thereby allowing further development of our guidance document. 
 
Four key themes were identified as a result of the 2017 public meeting and these formed the basis 
for further public consultation at the January 2020 consultation sessions: 
 

 Community Amenities 
 

 Rural Character and Housing 
 

 Environment, Open Spaces and Recreation 
 

 Highways and Byways 
 
Building on these four main headings and the responses from the public consultation sessions, a 
questionnaire was drafted for households and businesses, demonstrating how these themes could 
be translated into planning policies and asking whether people agree or disagree with the 
suggested draft policies. Approximately 338 questionnaires were circulated in January 2020 to all 
known businesses and households in the Parish and 102 responses were received. 
 
The inputs from the January 2020 consultations, analysis of responses to the questionnaire and 
returns from statutory consultees, were used to develop the four themes further to enable the 
relevant planning policies to be agreed. Many of the responses received at the Regulation 14 stage 
were concerned with the Draft Plan’s approach to Tibberton and Cherrington rural character and 
context. Consequently a decision was taken by the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group to develop 
a Settlement Boundary for Tibberton which delineates clearly between the ‘built-up’ form of the 
village and ‘open countryside’. Telford & Wrekin Council considered13 that this concept was justified 
as it provides support for the Local Plan strategy for infill housing and exceptions sites policies 
(Policies HO10 and HO11 respectively). However, it was also agreed with that such a boundary 
would be inappropriate for the settlement of Cherrington as it is considered to be in open 
countryside, therefore, the exceptions listed in Policy HO11 (Affordable Rural Exceptions) of the 
Local Plan would only apply in this location.  Details of the Settlement Boundary for Tibberton are 
at Annex A. As this initiative was developed after the start of the Regulation 14 consultation period, 
there was a supplementary consultation period of over 6 weeks from 21 February 2020 to 10 April 
2020 on the specific subject of the Settlement Boundary14. 
 
To support this work, it was decided to commission additional technical evidence based work, 
which focused on a Landscape Character Assessment (LCA) to address the concerns over 
protecting the rural character and context and to validate the Neighbourhood Plan’s approach to 

                                                     
11

 19th & 23rd October 2017 and 4 November 2017 
12

 18
th

, 20
th

 and 21
st
 January 2020 

13
 Email from Telford & Wrekin Council Strategic Planning Team dated 16 March 2020 

14
 TWC and one local resident responded to this consultation on the proposed settlement boundary for Tibberton.  

Page 223



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

16 

settlement boundaries. However, this initiative was delayed by the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020.  
Therefore, the Steering Group agreed to proceed with the developing the Plan without an LCA 
whilst intending to commission an Assessment at the earliest opportunity in the future. 
 
Other representations were received as a result of the pre-submission (Regulation 14) consultation 
including those from Telford & Wrekin Council, the Environment Agency, Natural England and 
Historic England. These representations included responses from Statutory Consultees as given in 
paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 of The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulation 2012. 
 
The aim was for the Neighbourhood Plan to be focused and concise and to concentrate on those 
issues that could be influenced by town and country planning legislation. Other broader issues or 
those that are not controlled through planning legislation will be considered as part of a future 
Parish Council Action Plan. 
 
The Regulation 15 Consultation Statement summarises all statutory and non-statutory consultation 
undertaken with the community and other relevant statutory bodies and stakeholders on the pre-
submission Draft Plan. In particular, it describes how concerns have been addressed and what 
changes have been made to the Plan as a result of the consultation. 
 
Technical Evidence 
 
A great deal of additional technical evidence has been collated by the Parish Council in preparing 
the Draft Neighbourhood Plan. This has naturally been drawn from Telford & Wrekin Council 
sources; in particular, information compiled during the preparation of the Local Plan and 
contributing to its extensive evidence base. A list of the technical evidence considered by the 
Parish Council is available in Annex D. 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
 
Neighbourhood Plans must not breach, and must be compatible with national and international 
Human Rights obligations. Neighbourhood Plans therefore need to be considered against the 
Habitats and Strategic Assessment Directives and associated regulations and might, subject to 
their scope and the issues they are seeking to address, be required to produce an Environmental 
Assessment if the Plan is determined as likely to have significant environmental effects. 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessments (SEA) are required by the Environmental Assessment of 
Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (the Regulations). This regulation also prohibits the 
adoption or submission of a Plan before the responsible Authority has determined whether the Plan 
is likely to have significant effects on the environment. It is not possible to categorically rule out the 
need for a SEA, without first carrying out a screening process to establish whether the Tibberton 
and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan is likely to have significant environmental effects. A 
Screening Report was prepared and published for consultation alongside the draft Neighbourhood 
Plan at Regulation 14. 
 
At this point the three statutory agencies, Environment Agency, Natural England and Historic 
England, were consulted as required by the regulations and their views used to determine whether 
a further formal SEA was necessary. All three agencies agreed with the findings of the draft 
Screening Report that there was no requirement for the Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood 
Plan to undertake a Strategic Environmental Assessment. The Parish Council considers that the 
amendments made to the Neighbourhood Plan as a result of the Regulation 14 consultation are not 
significant enough to require an additional screening report or Strategic Environmental 
Assessment. 

Page 224



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

17 

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN VISION AND OBJECTIVES 
 
VISION 
 
To help shape the future of Tibberton and Cherrington Parish up to 2031 

by enabling the community to have a positive involvement in where and how development 
should take place; working to retain and enhance the Parish’s open rural character and 
historic identity; and by contributing to maintaining the Parish as an attractive, safe and 
neighbourly place to live, work and visit. 

 
OBJECTIVES 
 
Community Amenities 
 
1. To protect existing facilities and services considered important for a vibrant community and 

support the development of new ones which will benefit the community. 
2. To increase opportunities to access community facilities and to enhance the range of 

activities and facilities available for all. 
3. To encourage suitable employment opportunities and communications connectivity 

(broadband and mobile ’phone). 
 
Rural Character and Housing 
 
4. To allow future infill development of a scale and type in keeping with the rural character and 

identity of the Parish. 
5. To protect the character and setting of the Parish's historic housing and ensure new development 

is in keeping with other buildings, with a particular focus on the ‘Duke of Sutherland’ style of 
housing. 

6. To support the provision of a range of house types and tenures on appropriate sites within 
Tibberton and Cherrington villages and the wider Parish. 

7. To maintain the rural nature of the Parish by discouraging developments with street lights or 
excessive external lighting, thereby retaining the Parish’s ‘dark sky’ lighting policy. 

 
Environment, Open Spaces and Recreation 
 
8. To conserve and enhance local open spaces by protecting and enhancing existing green 

spaces and recreational areas of value to the community whilst ensuring the Parish retains 
its rural character. 

9. To protect and enhance green areas, natural habitat, wildlife and biodiversity in and around 
the Parish; to encourage appropriate management and limit pollution and damage to the 
environment. 

10. To protect and enhance features of significant nature conservation or landscape value. 
 
Highways and Byways 

 
11. To work to improve public transport options. 
12. To encourage the provision of alternative, safe and convenient means of travel within the 

Parish so as to minimise the use of cars and reduce the associated problems of noise, 
pollution and parking. 

13. To provide a safe, accessible and well-maintained network of roads, cycle routes, footpaths, 
rights of way and pavements, whilst retaining a rural character to support a more sustainable 
environment, reduce reliance on the car and offer healthier lifestyle options. 

14. To improve safety by reducing vehicle speed and limiting access by heavy goods vehicles. 

Page 225



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

18 

POLICIES 
 

The following policies were devised to deliver the objectives listed above by guiding and influencing 
new development proposals and the decisions made about new development through the planning 
application process. Where appropriate, policies will be validated against the proposed Landscape 
Character Assessment (LCA). 
 

The policy framework is set nationally by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and 
locally by Telford & Wrekin Council’s planning policy guidance – in this case the adopted Telford & 
Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031. Policies in a Neighbourhood Plan must align with the framework 
both nationally and locally and not conflict with or undermine it (NPPF paragraph 29). 
 

1. Community Amenities 
 

POLICY CA1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 

There will be a presumption in favour of the protection or enhancement of existing community 
facilities listed in the Parish Profile, which are all located in the village of Tibberton: 

• Village shop - wholly run by community volunteers 

• Public House - The Sutherland Arms 

• All Saints’ Church 

• Playing Field – Cricket & Football, including the Pavilion, Tennis Court and children’s 
play area. 

• Village Hall 

• Methodist Chapel 

The proposed re-use of local community facilities will only be supported for other similar uses. 
Any proposal that would result in the loss of community facilities will not be supported unless it 
satisfies the following criteria: 

 The proposal includes alternative provision, on a site within the locality, of equivalent or 
enhanced facilities. Such sites should be accessible by public transport, walking and 
cycling and have adequate car parking; or 

 Satisfactory evidence is produced that there is no longer a need for the facility, through 
marketing evidence, assessment of the viability of the facilities and opportunities for re-
use, where supported by local and community surveys. 

Proposals  to expand or replace existing facilities would be supported, where appropriate, especially 
for a larger Village Hall and Shop, if the demand from an increased village population indicates that 
these are viable, needed and sustainable. 

 
A particular concern to the community highlighted by consultation responses both to the 
Neighbourhood Plan and to the Local Plan was the need to ensure the retention of community 
facilities to keep the Parish a viable and active community whilst ensuring the level of house 
building does not place too great a strain on existing services. The Local Plan recognises the 
importance of community facilities in the rural area and stresses that it is especially important that 
these facilities are protected. The Neighbourhood Plan seeks to build on this approach by 
identifying and seeking to protect the relevant facilities in the Parish. In particular, space may need 
to be identified to allow for the potential future needs of the community, especially in terms of a 
larger Village Hall and Shop in Tibberton,  with adequate access and parking to meet all users’ 
needs, either through the expansion of existing facilities or by the identification of new sites.  
 

This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 20, 83d, 92 and 182. 

Page 226



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

19 

 Local Plan policies: Policy SP4 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development; COM1 
- Community facilities. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 1 and 2. 
 

POLICY CA2: SMALL-SCALE EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT 

Development proposals that provide suitable, appropriate, small-scale employment 
opportunities will be supported. This could be through one of the following: 

• Conversion of existing buildings across the Neighbourhood Plan area, subject to the 
impact of provision on neighbouring properties, the local environment, the highway 
network and parking and subject to it being an appropriate use. This could, where 
feasible, include the re-use of existing farm buildings or be a part of farm diversification 

• Provision of small well-designed new buildings within the built-up areas of the Parish, 
subject to it being an appropriate use and design 

• Proposals for the re-use of land or buildings on existing employment sites for uses other 
than employment purposes will not be permitted unless: 

• It can be demonstrated through a recognised form of appraisal that the on-going 
use of the premises or land for employment purposes is no longer viable 

• The alternative proposal would provide demonstrable benefits to the local 
community and contribute to its long-term sustainability. 

 

Consultation responses highlighted the need to ensure that opportunities for local small-scale 
employment development should be supported through the Neighbourhood Plan. The 
Neighbourhood Plan seeks to promote rural enterprise by supporting small scale employment uses 
which could be provided by new buildings, conversions of agricultural buildings, or other changes 
of use. While it is appropriate that the Local Plan directs larger-scale enterprises, or those more 
suited to urban locations, to either Newport or Telford, policy EC3 supports new employment 
development in the rural area. 
 

This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 20, 83 and 84. 

 Local Plan policies: SP3 - Rural Area; SP4 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development; EC3 - Employment in the rural area; C3 - Impact of development on 
highways; C4 - Design of roads and streets. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 3 and 14. 
 

POLICY CA3: TOURISM AND LEISURE DEVELOPMENT 

Development that improves the quality and diversity of existing, or creates new tourist facilities, 
attractions, accommodation and infrastructure will be supported where there is: 

 No detrimental effect on the distinct character of the rural landscape and settlements and 
promotes tranquillity and the quiet enjoyment of the countryside 

 No adverse effect on the surrounding infrastructure, particularly local road networks and 
water supply and sewerage 

 Benefit to the local community through, for instance, provision of local employment 
opportunities and improvements to local service provision and is proportionate to its size, 
landscaping and rural location within the Parish; and 

 Where feasible it involves the re-use of existing buildings or is part of farm diversification. 

Page 227



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

20 

Although not a major issue identified through consultation responses, it is felt that there is scope for 
small scale tourism or leisure development within the Parish to assist in the promotion of rural 
enterprise and local employment opportunities. The Local Plan encourages such development 
through policies EC3 and EC12 in particular. However, the Parish Council considers that as policy 
EC12 is Borough-wide in nature, some additional criteria relating to the rural nature of Tibberton 
and Cherrington should be included in the Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraph: 20 and 83c. 

 Local Plan policies: SP3 - Rural Area; SP4 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development; EC3 - Employment in the rural area; EC12 - Leisure, cultural and tourism 
development; C3 - Impact of development on highways. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 3 and 11. 
 
2. Rural Character and Housing 
 

POLICY RCH1: CONSERVATION OF TIBBERTON’S AND CHERRINGTON’S HISTORIC 
CHARACTER 

Development proposals will be expected to preserve or enhance the context and settings of 
listed buildings, other buildings considered to contribute to local or historic interest and historic 
agricultural buildings. In addition, they should promote the locally distinctive character of the 
Parish to ensure that the character, setting and appearance of Tibberton and Cherrington is 
protected or enhanced. 
 

Proposals will be supported that: 
 

 Make a positive contribution to the Parish through high quality design with buildings 
respecting the height, size, scale and massing of adjacent buildings, plot width and form. 

 Respect the local identity, characteristic pattern of development and built form of the 
village of Tibberton, including the use of traditional materials. 

 Retain locally important buildings, structures and open spaces that contribute to Tibberton 
and Cherrington’s rural character. Developments that involve substantial demolition, 
alteration or extension of a Duke of Sutherland cottage or any other development that 
harms its significance, including its setting, will not be supported. 

 Use the historic character of the Parish’s buildings to inform the design concept for new 
development, including proposals for additional buildings within farmsteads 

 Protect or enhancing the setting of listed buildings through appropriately sited and 
designed developments 

 Where the conversion or extension of historic agricultural buildings to residential use is 
proposed, it will be supported only where is has been demonstrated that no commercial or 
business use can be found (see also Policy CA2) 

 Where innovative design is proposed, developments should fit sensitively into the 
Tibberton’s and Cherrington’s frontages and street scenes 

 Retain and/or increase hedgerows, tree cover and sandstone boundary walls, as these 
are essential components of the village character 

 

Developers must provide clear evidence as to how their proposals take into account local 
character and distinctiveness. They must also provide detail on the steps taken to produce high 
quality design that, where appropriate, conserves and enhances significant heritage assets 
together with their settings, context and associated spaces. Proposals that fail to respond to the 
context or that reduce the rural characteristics of the Parish will not be supported.  

 

Page 228



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

21 

Particularly strong support was expressed through the consultations, for the Parish to have a 
specific policy recognising the importance of protecting or enhancing its unique qualities. Locally 
important buildings include the ‘Primitive’ Methodist Chapel, which was built in 1844. Responses 
also made reference to the fact that it is the rural setting of Tibberton and Cherrington and the 
importance of open green spaces in the Parish that contribute to its distinctive character and give 
them their unique nature.  
 
This policy builds on Local Plan policy BE1 and recent responses by the Parish Council to planning 
applications in Tibberton and Cherrington highlighting the importance of the Parish’s historic 
character. The above criteria should be validated against the proposed LCA, when available. 
 
This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 8, 20, 28 and 184 - 187. 

 Local Plan policies: SP4 - Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development; HO10 - 
Residential Development in the Rural Area; BE1 - Design Criteria; BE4 - Listed Buildings; 
BE6 - Buildings of local interest. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 4, 5 and 8. 
 

POLICY RCH2: RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT WITHIN TIBBERTON AND CHERRINGTON 

In order to protect the rural character and open aspect of Tibberton and Cherrington over the 
lifetime of the Plan, proposals for new housing development under policy HO10 within the 
Tibberton Settlement Boundary would only be supported on suitable infill sites where they 
contribute positively to local character and distinctiveness. Only appropriate affordable housing 
exception schemes would be permitted in Cherrington as per Policy HO11 of the Local Plan. 

 
The Neighbourhood Plan interprets the planning context set by national planning policy and the district 
wide local plan policies, into the specific context of Tibberton and Cherrington Parish. The Telford and 
Wrekin Rural Settlements Paper (B2f) states that ‘preserving the integrity of the character and scale of 
the [Parish] and being responsive to the constraints of the small highways which pass through and 
beyond the settlements provide a justification for discouraging substantial numbers of additional new 
homes. A critical challenge is the poor road links between Tibberton and Cherrington and the B5062 to 
the south.’ The Local Planning Authority also specifically opposes any proposed development that would 
cause harm to the character of the village or encroachment into the countryside. 
 
Most consultation responses understood the need for limited infill development in the Parish but 
were also in favour of protecting the character of the area from too great a scale of new 
development. 
 
Consequently, this policy builds on Telford & Wrekin Local Plan policies SP3 and HO10 which 
support new development where it meets the needs of rural communities and seeks to direct a 
limited amount of new housing development in Tibberton to infill sites only. The above criteria 
should also be validated against the proposed LCA, when available. 
 
This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 9, 69, 71, 110, 127, 130, 185 and 192. 

 Local Plan policies: SP3 - Rural Area; SP4 - Presumption in favour of Sustainable 
Development; HO10 - Residential Development in the Rural Area; HO11 - Affordable Rural 
Exceptions. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 4, 5, 6, and 9. 
 
 

Page 229



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

22 

POLICY RCH3: NEW HOUSING DEVELOPMENT OUTSIDE TIBBERTON AND 
CHERRINGTON 

In order to safeguard the built form of the Parish, its rural character and identity, protect the 
surrounding countryside and prevent further ribbon development, new housing,  including open 
market self-build and custom housing, in the open countryside outside of the Tibberton 
Settlement Boundary will be strongly resisted. 

 

 

Consultation responses strongly articulated people’s appreciation of Tibberton and Cherrington’s 
historic character and rural nature and the need for the Neighbourhood Plan to balance the 
requirement for some limited development whilst maintaining Tibberton and Cherrington’s unique 
character and setting. The Telford & Wrekin Local Plan recognises the importance of the rural area 
in policy SP3 and the need to protect its environmental, social and economic characteristics. 
Development would only be supported through affordable exception sites, to meet a clearly 
identified local need, in accordance with the Local Plan Policy HO11. Such proposals should be 
directed towards locations that help to enhance and maintain the vitality of rural communities, rather 
than be used as a means to gain planning consent for development in isolated locations, contrary to the 
principles of sustainable development. This policy should be validated against the proposed LCA. 
 

This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 8, 9, 69, 79, 127, 130 and 170. 

 Local Plan policies: SP3 - Rural Area; SP4 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development; HO10 - Residential Development in the Rural Area; HO11 - Affordable Rural 
Exceptions; NE1 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 4, 6, and 9. 
 

POLICY RCH4: DESIGN OF NEW HOUSING 

Where residential development is proposed, the following criteria are to be met: 

a) It demonstrates high quality design that is in keeping with the scale and character of 
buildings and layout in the area 

b) It complements the existing external materials seen locally 

c) It provides variety in house design and elevation treatment 

d) It provides high quality boundary treatment that is appropriate to maintaining the rural 
character of the Parish 

e) It provides good pedestrian and cycle connections to existing routes 

f) It provides adequate storage for bins and recycling 

g) It does not result in loss of amenity for neighbouring properties 

h) It does not affect the Parish’s ‘Dark Sky’ policy on street lighting 

i) It provides proactive measures to support the wildlife environment15 and biodiversity 

j) It delivers energy efficient and environmentally friendly measures such as the installation 
of solar panels or heat pumps; rainwater porous driveways and parking areas; minimal 
night lighting and proactive measures to reduce CO2 emissions. 

k) Traffic generation and parking does not adversely affect road and pedestrian safety. 
Proposals that exceed the parking standards in Appendix F of the Local Plan will be 
supported 

 

                                                     
15

 Such as initiatives to install ‘Hedgehog highways’ and green corridors that will help other small animals, frogs, 
birds and insects. 

Page 230



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

23 

Consultation responses stressed the need for new housing to be in keeping with the character of 
the Parish and sympathetic to existing design and materials. This policy approach is seen as 
particularly important when dealing with proposals for infill applications to avoid inappropriate 
developments. This policy complements the criteria set out in policy BE1 of the Telford & Wrekin 
Local Plan which seeks to promote good design in line with the requirements of the NPPF which 
recognises that good design contributes positively to improving people’s quality of life. 
 
Additionally, there was strong support for the policy to maintain the rural nature of the Parish by 
reducing light pollution and discouraging developments with street lights or excessive lighting, 
thereby retaining the Parish’s ‘dark sky’ policy. 
 
As with the other policies that affect the rural nature and local character of the Parish, this policy 
should be validated against the proposed LCA, when available. 
 
This policy conforms to: 
 
NPPF paragraphs: 8b, 28, 71, 79, 102, 110, 124 - 132 and 170. 

 Local Plan policies: SP4 - Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development; HO10 - 
Residential Development in the Rural Area; BE1 - Design Criteria; C3 - Impact of 
development on highways; C4 - Design of roads and streets; C5 - Design of parking; NE1 - 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 2, 7, 11, 12, and 13. 

 

POLICY RCH5: TYPE AND TENURE OF HOUSING 

Homes for smaller households, suited to the younger and older generations will be supported, 
subject to meeting a clearly evidenced local need and where the plans conform with other 
policies. The size, type, and tenure of housing will therefore be important considerations when 
making planning decisions.  

 
Many consultation responses referred to the need for suitable housing to be available for those 
members of the community who need smaller or more affordable homes. This was felt to be 
important to assist elderly households to downsize or for younger households to access the 
housing market. Many people commented on the importance of ensuring that affordable housing 
should be made available only to local people with a local connection in perpetuity. Such 
developments are normally brought forward in conjunction with a Housing Association and in close 
cooperation with the Local Authority’s planning and housing functions. 
 
This policy seeks to align the type and tenure of proposed housing developments with the strategy 
for delivery of rural affordable housing outside the Settlement Boundary for Tibberton as set out in 
RCH2, the Local Plan policy HO11 and the NPPF. The above policy should be validated against 
the proposed LCA, when available. 
 
This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 8b, 61 - 63 and 77. 

 Local Plan policies: HO4 - Housing Mix; HO5 - Affordable housing thresholds and 
percentages; HO6 - Delivery of Affordable Housing; HO11 - Affordable Rural Exceptions. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 4 and 6. 

 
 
 

Page 231



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

24 

3. Environment, Open Spaces and Recreation 
 

POLICY EOR1: LOCAL GREEN SPACE 

The Playing Field, including the children’s play area, is the only designated Local Green Space 
in the Parish, as shown on the map, Figure 5, and described below in Table 1. 

Proposals which would be detrimental to the Playing Field or for built development other than 
appropriate community uses on this Local Green Space will not be supported. 

 
Significant support for the protection of open spaces has been a feature of the responses to the 
consultations to date. Responses have highlighted the importance of these open spaces both to 
the community in terms of their recreation and amenity value but also their importance to the 
character and the rural setting of the Parish. These sites are designated in accordance with NPPF 
paragraphs 99 and 100 which specify that Neighbourhood Plans can seek to protect areas of open 
space of significant importance to local communities but that the designation is not appropriate for 
all open space and should only be used where the site is in close proximity to the settlement, it is 
demonstrably special and is local in character. 
 
Tibberton playing field is also a key element in meeting the anticipated growth needed in the provision of 
sport within the Borough.  This has been highlighted in Telford and Wrekin’s Playing Pitch Strategy, that 
is due to be adopted soon. Sport England also have a statutory consultee role in protecting playing 
fields, with a presumption against the loss of playing field land. 
 
Although the Playing Field is the only Public Open Space (POS) in the Parish, the creation of 
additional POS will be supported where possible. 
 
This policy complies with national planning policy as set out in the NPPF and builds on Local Plan 
policies NE1 and NE3 by designating Local Green Spaces thus protecting these areas to 
contribute to provisions for sport, recreation and biodiversity as well as local health and well-being.  
 
Table 1: Local Green Space 
 

Name of Site and  

Distance from centre of Special Qualities/Local Significance 

Tibberton village  

(All Saints’ Church)  

The Playing Field <500m The Playing Field in Tibberton is connected to and essential for 
Tibberton C of E Primary School and outside teams for organised 
sport but it also caters for informal recreation by local residents.   

Following an enquiry about the central section of the field it was 
established that this is Church land, including where the school 
buildings are situated.  The remainder of the field was bought by the 
Borough Council and now belongs to TWC, which has granted it 
protection against residential development under the Borough's 
'Green Guarantee' scheme. 

 

 

This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 8, 96, 97, 99 and 100. 

 Sport England Playing Fields Policy. 

Page 232



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

25 

 Local Plan policies: SP4 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development; NE1 - 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity; NE3 - Existing public open space; COM1 - Community 
facilities 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 8 and 9. 

 

POLICY EOR2: ECOLOGY AND LANDSCAPE 

All development will be expected to protect and enhance features of significant nature 
conservation or landscape value, including mature trees, established hedgerows, rivers 
(especially the River Meese corridor), ponds and existing areas of woodland. Improvement of 
the environmental connectivity between wildlife areas and green spaces will be encouraged to 
enhance the green infrastructure of the Parish. 

 
A recurring theme throughout the consultation process has been the protection of the landscape 
and green or ‘biodiversity’ elements in the Parish, with particular emphasis on the replacement of 
trees and bushes which have been lost as the result of recent building developments. Many 
responses stressed the importance of the environment and the need to ensure that all 
developments respect and wherever possible improves the local environment through appropriate 
measures. This policy will aim to preserve, enhance and improve all known sites of ecological or 
environmental importance, as well as designating new sites that are identified in the future which are 
currently unprotected; it should be validated against the proposed LCA, when available. 
 
This policy complements Local Plan polices NE1 and NE2 by seeking to protect the biodiversity 
and landscape assets of the Parish. 
 

This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 8, 20, 149, 170, 174, 175 and 180. 

 Local Plan policies: SP4 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development; NE1 - 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity; NE2 - Trees, hedgerows and woodlands; BE1 - Design 
criteria. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 1, 2, 8, 9 and 10. 

 
4. Highways and Byways 
 

POLICY HB1: LINKAGES AND CONNECTIONS 

Proposals for the enhancement and improvement of the existing Public Rights of Way will be 
supported. All new planning applications will be expected to demonstrate safe and accessible routes for 
pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders to local services, facilities and existing networks, particularly 
where they link with public transport. The addition of pavements or any other measures must be  in 
keeping with the rural nature of the village and the character of the specific neighbourhood involved.  

 

 
Consultation responses reflected a desire to seek to protect and improve the network of rights of 
way and pedestrian links. Traffic generation by new developments should be mitigated by 
improved links to public transport in order to minimise the additional carbon footprint generated by 
new housing. Although strictly speaking not controlled by planning legislation these are certainly 
affected or influenced by new development and appropriate enhancements can be sought through 
the planning process. 
 
Most roads in the area are narrow, bounded by grass verges or banks, with only a few pavements 
in Tibberton and none in  Cherrington; those that have been provided are sporadic and of very 

Page 233



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

26 

limited width. Additionally, a critical challenge is the poor road links between Tibberton and Cherrington 
and the B5062; access to this road is not satisfactory. As well as the narrow width of the feeder routes, 
the 3 junctions onto the B5062 from Tibberton and 1 of the 2 from Cherrington have particularly poor 
visibility for vehicles exiting onto the main road. The Borough Council consider that the constraints of 
the small highways in the Parish and the surrounding area provide a justification for discouraging 
substantial numbers of additional new homes16. 
 
This policy is reflected in Telford & Wrekin Council’s Local Plan which seeks to improve existing or 
deliver new linkages and connections under a variety of policy headings including the natural 
environment, connections and the built environment. 
 
This policy conforms to: 

 NPPF paragraphs: 8, 91, 98, 102 and 110. 

 Local Plan policies: SP4 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development; C1 - 
Promoting alternatives to the private car; C3 - Impact of development on highways; C4 - 
Design of roads and streets; BE1 - Design criteria. 

 It will help to deliver Neighbourhood Plan Objectives: 1, 2, 8, 9, 10, 12, and 13. 

                                                     
16

 Telford & Wrekin Rural Settlements Paper (B2f). 

Page 234



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

27 

Figure 5: Local Green Spaces 

 

P
age 235



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

28 

MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 
It is expected that Telford & Wrekin Council, as the Planning Authority, will continue to monitor 
progress relating to the number of dwellings and number of affordable homes delivered during the 
period of this Neighbourhood Plan, as part of the wider monitoring responsibilities for the Borough 
set out in their Annual Monitoring Report. 
 
The Plan covers the period until 2031. For long-term success it is essential that developments in 
the Plan Area are reviewed against the Plan’s objectives and policies. 
 
Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Council will monitor the delivery of its policies and work to ensure 
that benefits to the communities within the Parish are achieved. 
 
Each agenda for the Parish Council meetings will include an item ‘Tibberton and Cherrington 
Neighbourhood Plan’ which will ensure that the item is continually reviewed and reported upon 
during its life. 
 
On the anniversary of the adoption of the Plan, the Parish Council will assess the impact of the 
Plan during the previous year and discuss the implementation of the Plan for the forthcoming year, 
taking into consideration any significant changes that have come about. The Parish Council will 
bring to the attention of the Borough Council any matters or problems that have been identified and 
this will be used as part of their contribution to the Annual Monitoring Report produced by Telford & 
Wrekin Council. 
 
In 2025 and 2030, there will be thorough 5-year reviews of progress by a recruited community-
based Steering Group. The purpose of these more comprehensive reviews will be to hold the 
Parish Council to account by assessing how/whether the ‘Objectives’ are being achieved. 
Continued confidence in the Plan for the next Plan period will depend upon ensuring that all current 
and relevant information is taken into account. Each 5-year review will be assessed along with the 
combined Annual Monitoring Reports, and their results will inform any decision on the need for a 
‘Full Formal Review’. If there is a need for a Full Formal Review, up-to-date data on Housing 
Needs Survey, Parish Profile, Census results etc. will be used. 
 
In 2031, or before, a community-based Steering Group will be re-formed to undertake a Full Formal 
Review to decide on the need for a subsequent 15-year Plan, and to oversee the development of 
this new Plan if required. This should coincide with work at the Local Authority on the Local Plan for 
Telford & Wrekin. 
 
In conjunction, Telford & Wrekin Council will undertake its statutory role and continue to monitor 
Neighbourhood Plans as part of its monitoring framework set out in Local Plan Appendix A; Tables 
12- 18. 
 
The Parish Council may be best placed to monitor the progress of certain elements of the 
Neighbourhood Plan; the division of responsibility will be agreed with Telford & Wrekin Council. 
This might mean that Telford & Wrekin Council leads on monitoring the strategic delivery of 
housing while the Parish Council monitors local delivery. Monitoring arrangements are to be 
recorded in a Memorandum of Understanding between the two Authorities. 
 
The Parish Council’s monitoring could take the form of a spreadsheet listing all planning 
applications and the decisions made on them. It should be possible to see the extent to which the 
Neighbourhood Plan has been successful in influencing planning and development decisions by 
recording which policies are being used in decision making and the outcomes. Hence, we should 
be able to assess how well policies are providing the expected outcomes. Findings from this should 
be shared with other interested parties to inform future Plans. 

Page 236



2020 -  2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

29 

Table 2: Example of Policy Monitoring: 

 

Policy No. of times 
used 

Decision in 
accordance 

Decision 
against policy 

Commentary 

     

Page 237



2020 - 2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

A-1 

ANNEX A 
 

SETTLEMENT BOUNDARIES 
 

The majority of the Parish of Tibberton and Cherrington is open countryside, with only Tibberton 
having a significant development of buildings. The Local Planning Authority specifically opposes 
any proposed development that would cause harm to the character of the villages or encroachment 
into the countryside.  However, the confines of Tibberton are not formally defined, leading to 
differing interpretations of where the ‘built-up’ area ends and ‘open countryside’ begins.  This 
conflict of opinion has been resolved by assigning a ‘Settlement Boundary’ to the village.  All of 
Cherrington is deemed to be in open countryside, therefore, there is no need to delineate the 
boundaries of this settlement. 
 

Settlement boundaries are a well utilised planning tool for guiding, controlling and identifying limits 
to development for an individual village. It consists of a line that is drawn on a plan around a 
village, which reflects its built form; this is also known historically as a ‘village envelope’. The 
settlement boundary is used as a policy tool reflecting the area where a set of plan policies are to 
be applied but does not necessarily have to cover the full extent of the village nor be limited to its 
built form.  
 

In general, there is a presumption in favour of development within the settlement boundary. Any 
land and buildings outside of the boundary line are usually considered to be open countryside 
where development would be regulated with stricter planning policies. However, it should be noted 
that any land which has been included within the boundary line does not have a guarantee of 
approval of planning permission, as there will be other planning policies which will need to be 
adhered to also, for example; the protection of the character of a settlement.  
 

There are some advantages and potential disadvantages to defining a settlement boundary 1. 
 

Advantages of Settlement Boundaries 

 Defining the boundary with a line plotted on a plan makes it easy to identify the ‘settlement’ 
from ‘open countryside’. 

 Settlement boundaries are an understood and accepted planning tool for guiding and 
controlling developments. 

 Ensures a more plan-led and controlled approach to future housing growth by allowing 
development sites to be allocated within the villages. 

 Protects the countryside from unnecessary development and prevents ribbon development. 

 Co-ordinated and consistent approach providing a firm basis for refusing planning 
applications which are unacceptable in planning terms. 

 Allows for more certainty to developers/land owners with sites/land within the boundary, as 
long as they adhere to all other plan policies. 

 Allows the development of small sites which cannot be identified as allocations. 
 
Disadvantages of Settlement Boundaries 

 Potentially increases land values within the settlement boundary. 

 Increases hope values for land adjoining but outside the boundary. 

 The use of settlement boundaries has led to criticism that they result in cramming within the 
village as every available area of land competes for development resulting in a potential 
reduction in the landscape quality and character of that village, unless other policies are in 
place. 

                                                     
1
 Herefordshire Council Neighbourhood Planning Guidance Note 20. 

Page 238



2020 - 2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

A-2 

 Settlement boundaries can be crude and inflexible. 

 The character of properties and the village could be altered if development is allowed within 
the gardens of these houses within a settlement boundary. 

 
Defining a Settlement Boundary 

Some criteria used to define the Tibberton Settlement Boundary are detailed below. These were 
used in addition to local circumstances and knowledge. 

 Lines of communication - The boundaries trace the edge of the built up area, therefore 
exclude roads, paths and other lines of communications. 

 Physical features - Wherever possible the boundaries follow physical features, such as: 
buildings, field boundaries or curtilages. However, in order to conserve the character and to 
limit expansion, the settlement boundaries exclude large gardens, orchards and other 
areas. This may mean that occasionally the boundaries do not relate fully to the physical 
features surrounding the village. 

 Planning History - Planning permissions, recent refusals, planning appeal decisions and 
previous Local Plan inspector’s comments concerning areas on the edge of the village have 
been used to help define the settlement boundaries. 

 Village enhancements - Settlement boundaries include buildings and associated land that 
make up the village form. In some edges of village areas, boundaries may need to include 
small areas of land and/or buildings which offer the opportunity for improvements to the 
entrance of the village or ensure infrastructure improvements or a general enhancement to 
the village. 

 Recent development - Where appropriate, the settlement boundaries include new 
developments which have occurred recently. They also include sites that have received 
planning permission within the settlement boundary. 

 Important amenity areas - These form part of the character of the settlement and should be 
identified and protected by policy and included in the settlement boundary due to their 
contribution to built form. 

 Land allocated for housing, employment or other uses will be included within the boundary. 

 The settlement boundaries have been drawn to facilitate an appropriate level of proportional 
growth within the plan period. If land within the boundary is not formally allocated, there will 
be a requirement to demonstrate that there is enough available capacity within the 
boundary to enable development to take place. 

 
Tibberton Settlement Boundary 

 

The existing built form of Tibberton village is around the primary quadrangle of development, close 
to the primary school, church, public house, village shop and access to public transportation links2. 
The Settlement Boundary follows this built form, which leaves some options for limited infill within 
the boundary. 
 

The Parish population at the 2011 Census was 698, which was a 2% increase from 684 in 2001; 
however, this figure is forecast to rise to approximately 994 by 2021 due to recent housing 
developments, an increase of 42.4% since 2011. Similarly, the housing stock in Tibberton 
increased by less than 9% in the 10 years between 1999 and 2009 but the rate trebled to nearly 
27% (256 to 325 houses) during the following 8 years to 2017.  This rise in the development of new 
homes will accelerate by a further 27% during the next 4 years from 2017 to 2021 (325 to 413 
houses) as a result of those houses that are currently in build or will definitely be built.  This 
represents an increase of 142 houses (52%) in the 10 years from 2012 to 2021 (inclusive), which 
far exceeds the development envisaged in the Borough’s Spatial Strategy policies SP1, 2 and 3 

                                                     
2
 Planning Officer Statement in TWC/2019/0251. 

Page 239



2020 - 2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

A-3 

and which were summarised in Table 9 of the Local Plan. These policies envisaged a small 
amount of housing development (approximately 80 houses) to be directed towards the 5 named 
rural settlements3; however, Tibberton has delivered 177% of this requirement on its own. 
 
The year-on-year building development within the proposed Settlement Boundary since the 
Borough’s last Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)4 in 2012 is shown on the 
map at Figure 6 below, whilst the increase in housing stock in Tibberton between 1999 and 2020 is 
shown graphically at Figure 7. 
 
 

     
 
Figure 6: Development within Settlement Boundary        Figure 7: Increase in Housing 1999 - 2020 
 
 

Of the 20 sites in Tibberton identified in the SHLAA, 9 are undeveloped sites which fall outside of 
the Settlement Boundary5; all of these were defined in the SHLAA as being ‘outside of suitable 
settlement’. Of the remaining 11 sites a further 9 have been developed and are therefore contained 
with the boundary, whilst the remaining two6 also lie within the Settlement Boundary, with no known 
constraints, but have not been developed. 
 

Additionally, a further 3 sites have outline planning permission and a planning application for the 
land south and west of Tibberton Motor Repairs7 for 21 houses has had reserve matters granted.  
All sites are within the proposed Settlement Boundary for Tibberton. 
 
Western Limit of Tibberton Settlement Boundary 
 
The field to the west of No 45 Cherrington Road, ‘Willowbank’8 has been defined by a Planning 
Officer as ‘Not in the rural settlement and considered to be in open countryside.’9  This decision 
was supported in the delegated report for a previous planning application10 where the Inspector’s 
decision letter and the delegated report for the appeal application both indicated that the site is 
located outside of the village. The Inspectors decision is particularly helpful on this point where in 
paragraph 18 of the report, he concluded that the site falls within open countryside. Therefore, No 
45 Cherrington Road forms the western edge of the Settlement Boundary for the village of 
Tibberton. 

                                                     
3
 Edgmond, Ercall Magna, Lilleshall, Waters Upton and Tibberton & Cherrington. 

4
 See Annex C Pages C-10 to C-12. 

5
 SHLAA Sites 366, 515, 516, 574, 622, 699, 734, 749 and 770. 

6
 SHLAA Sites 33 and 509. 

7
 TWC/2019/0177 and TWC/2014/1080 

8
 Part of SHLAA Site 366 as shown in Figure 11 in Annex C Page C-10 

9
 TWC/2019/0251 

10
 TWC/2016/0891 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

450 

1999 2002 2005 2008 2011 2014 2017 2020 

 Year of 
Planning 
Approval 

No of 
Houses 

   
 Outline 3 
   
 2019 48 
   
 2018 40 
   
 2017 28 
   
 2016 5 
   
 2015 0 
   
 2014 4 
   
 2013 15 
   
 2012 2 

 

Page 240



2020 - 2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

A-4 

 

Eastern Limit of Tibberton Settlement Boundary 
 
The eastern edge of Tibberton is clearly defined by the current built form of the village.  
 
Northern Limit of Tibberton Settlement Boundary 
 
The River Meese and the built form of the north-eastern side of Tibberton form a distinct settlement 
boundary to the north of the village. A planning application has been submitted for the land south-
west of Tibberton Motor Repairs Mill Lane7, with reserve matters granted, therefore this site has 
been included within the boundary. 
 
Southern Limit of Tibberton Settlement Boundary 
 
Although there is some housing to the south of Plantation Road, in refusing an application to 
develop 3 houses on the site of 62 Plantation Road, the Planning Officer noted that ‘It is therefore 
reasonable to consider the site as ‘locally important incidental open land’ that contributes to the 
village’s undeveloped character on this side of Plantation Road and its development would 
represent an encroachment into the open countryside on the southern edge of the village’11. Hay 
Street marks the south-eastern boundary of Tibberton village, with a proposed development to the 
south east of Grangefield, to the east of Hay Street, considered to encroach unacceptably into the 
countryside12. Therefore, the Tibberton Settlement Boundary has been drawn along the line of 
Plantation Road, but including existing housing and recent developments. 
 
The Settlement Boundary for Tibberton is shown at Figure 1 on Page A-5 below. 
 

                                                     
11

 TWC/2016/0016 
12

 TWC/2017/0606 

Page 241



2020 - 2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

A-5  

Figure 1: Tibberton Settlement Boundary 

 

Key 

Settlement Boundary 

Parish Boundary 

The 

P
age 242



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

B-1  

ANNEX B 
 

TIBBERTON’S AND CHERRINGTON’S HISTORIC CHARACTER 
 
Following the dissolution of the monasteries in the sixteenth century, much of area was granted to 
James Leveson of Wolverhampton, who subsequently passed the land to the Duke of Sutherland. 
Despite much other property development throughout the twentieth century, both Tibberton and 
Cherrington owe a substantial debt to the Duke of Sutherland and not just for the style of 
architecture found in houses old and new in the Parish. The older houses built at the end of the 
nineteenth century have been described as ‘spacious and dignified but not spectacular ... built at 
low a density, the cottages had large gardens which were well kept’. The writer also commended 
the church, the bridge and the Sutherland Arms which is ‘pleasantly simple’. 
 
In addition to this heritage, Tibberton and Cherrington both have historic cores with 17 listed 
buildings recorded in the National Heritage List for England as buildings of special historic or 
architectural interest. Of these, 16 are listed at Grade II and one is at Grade II*, marking it out as 
being of particular national importance. Almost all the listed buildings are timber framed houses 
and cottages, the earlier ones with cruck construction. The other listed buildings consist of red brick 
houses, a church and a bridge over the River Meese. A full list of these buildings is at Appendix 1. 
 
The historic linear pattern of Tibberton village has evolved in the post war period into a quadrilinear 
form covering four roads around a central field and a school. This new form has become more 
pronounced following the granting of planning applications TWC/2017/0355 (land off Plantation 
Road), TWC/2016/1127 (land off Back Lane and Plantation Road) and TWC/2016/0446 (land north 
of 61 Plantation Road). The Council has successfully resisted major applications subsequently 
following the release of its five year land supply statement in March 2015 (for example 
TWC/2014/0236 at 12 Tibberton) but has lost a planning appeal on land that is part previously 
developed at Mill Lane (TWC/2019/0177). Smaller infill schemes continue to be approved and built 
in the village. 
 
Over 43% of properties in the historic core of Cherrington, sometimes known as Cherrington 
Green, are Grade 2 listed buildings (7 out of 16 dwellings). There is also a linear development of 
houses and agricultural buildings along the road leading from the B5062 towards Cherrington 
Manor. Most development in recent years has focused on converting barns into housing at 
Cherrington Grange and Cherrington Manor with limited additional buildings elsewhere. 
 

Page 243

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Heritage_List_for_England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cruck


2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

B-1-1  

APPENDIX 1 TO ANNEX B 
 

NATIONAL HERITAGE LIST FOR TIBBERTON AND CHERRINGTON  
 

 Name and 
location  

Date  Notes  Grade  

1 
Cruck 
Cottage 
Cherrington  

16th 
century  

A timber framed cottage with cruck construction and painted brick infill 
on a sandstone plinth, and with a thatched roof. There is one storey and 
an attic, and three bays, and the cottage contains three pairs of cruck 
trusses. The windows are casements, and there are three eyebrow 
dormers.  

II  

2 
Tibberton 
House , No 
21 

1611  

A timber framed cottage with plastered infill and a tile roof. There is one 
storey and an attic, and three bays. On the front is a gabled porch, and 
the windows are casements. There are three large dormers with 
oversailing gables, the right gable is on shaped brackets, and is dated.  

II  

3 7 Stackyard 
Lane 
Cherrington 

Early 17th 
century 

(probable)  

A timber framed cottage with cruck trusses, red brick infill, and an 
asbestos tile roof. There is one storey and an attic, and three bays. The 
windows are casements, and there is a gabled dormer.  

II  

4 
Longacre, 
Cherrington  

Early 17th 
century 

(probable)  

A timber framed cottage with cruck construction that has been restored. 
It has plastered infill, the northeast end is in painted sandstone, and the 
tile roof is gabled and hipped. There is one storey and an attic, and three 
bays. The windows are casements, and there are two gabled dormers.  

II  

5 

Cherrington 
Manor House  

1635  

A timber framed house with painted brick infill and a tile roof. There are 
two storeys and an attic, and three gabled bays, the centre bay a two-
storey projecting porch. At the rear are 19th-century extensions. The 
upper storeys and the gables are jettied with moulded bressumers, and 
the gables have bargeboards and pendants. The doorway has a 
rectangular fanlight, the windows are casements, and under the upper 
floor windows are carved blank arches.  

II*  

6 
5 and 6 The 
Green, 
Cherrington  

17th 
century  

A pair of timber framed cottages, refronted in red brick and partly 
rendered, with exposed timber framing at the rear, and a tile roof. There 
is one storey and attics, and four bays. The windows are casements, 
and there are four gabled dormers.  

II  

7 

7 Tibberton  
17th 

century  

A restored and extended timber framed cottage, with brick infill, the 
extension in brick, and a tile roof. There is one storey and an attic, and 
three bays. On the front is a gabled porch, the windows are three-light 
casements, and there are three gabled dormers.  

II  

8 

12 Tibberton  
17th 

century  

A timber framed house with painted brick infill and a tile roof. There is 
one storey and attics, a front of five bays, and to the right is a 19th-
century gabled wing with a porch in the angle. The windows are 
casements, and there are three gabled dormers.  

II  

9 

Cherrington 
Grange  

17th 
century  

A timber framed house, later encased in brick and painted. It has a 
dentilled eaves course, a tiled roof, one storey and an attic, two bays, 
and a 19th-century rear wing. In the centre is a porch, and a doorway 
with pilasters and an entablature. The windows are casements with 
segmental heads, and there are two gabled dormers.  

II  

10 
Peartree 
Cottage, No 4 
Cherrington  

17th 
century  

A timber framed cottage with later extensions in sandstone, it has 
painted brick infill and a tile roof. There is one storey and an attic, two 
bays, an 18th-century one-bay extension to the left and a later extension 
to the right. The windows are casements.  

II  

11 Rose 
Farmhouse, 
Tibberton  

17th 
century  

A timber framed farmhouse that was altered in the 19th century. It has 
plastered infill, a tile roof, two storeys, two bays, and a lean-to at each 
end. In the centre is a timber porch, and the windows are casements.  

II  

12  
Sutherland 
Forge, 
Tibberton  

17th 
century  

A timber framed house with painted plaster infill and a tile roof. There is 
one storey and an attic, two bays, and later extensions. On the front is a 
gable porch, the windows are casements, and there are two large 
dormers with oversailing gables.  

II  

Page 244

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cruck
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sandstone
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Plinth
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cruck
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cruck
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sandstone
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hip_roof
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Jettied
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Molding_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bressumer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bargeboard
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Fanlight
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Stucco
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dentil
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Eaves
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pilaster
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Entablature
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sandstone
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timber_framed
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Casement_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dormer


2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2031 
 

B-1-2  

 Name and 
location  

Date  Notes  Grade  

 

13 
Tibberton 
Manor House  

1796  

A red brick house with a tile roof, three storeys and three bays. In the 
ground floor is a gabled porch flanked by bay windows, the upper floors 
contain sashes, and above the middle window in the central bay is a 
tablet with a coronet and the date.  

II  

14 

Tibberton 
Grange  

1810  

A red brick house with a slate roof, three storeys, three bays, and 
flanking recessed two-storey one-bay pavilions. In the centre is a porch 
with pairs of openwork iron columns, and a doorway with pilasters and a 
semicircular fanlight. The windows are sashes, those in the ground floor 
under white rendered lunettes.  

II  

15 

Day House  1819  

A farmhouse on a model farm, it is in red brick, and has a tile roof with 
coped gables and moulded kneelers. There are two storeys and three 
bays. In the centre is a porch with pilasters, a pediment and an elliptical 
arch, and the doorway has a semicircular fanlight. Flanking the porch 
are canted bay windows, in the upper floor are sash windows with stone 
lintels, and above the middle window is a plaque with a coronet and the 
date.  

II  

16 
All Saints 
Church  

1842  

The church is in sandstone, and consists of a nave, a south transept, a 
square chancel, and a west tower. The tower has clock faces, and an 
embattled parapet with pinnacles. The windows have pointed arches 
and contain Y-tracery.  

II  

17 

Bridge over 
River Meese  

Circa C18  

Circa C18 or earlier sandstone rubble road bridge over River Meese 
north-west of the Church of All Saints’. Two segmental arches with cut-
water between and with parapet above. Widened in brick on east side 
and with iron lock mechanism for mill pool to the former mill which has 
been demolished. 

II  

 

Page 245

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sash_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Coronet
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Slate
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pavilion
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pilaster
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Fanlight
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sash_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Stucco
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lunette
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Model_farm
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Coping_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gable
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Molding_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pilaster
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pediment
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Fanlight
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cant_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bay_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sash_window
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lintel_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Coronet
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sandstone
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Nave
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Transept
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Chancel
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Embattled
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Parapet
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pinnacle
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tracery


2020 -  2031 
Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 

 

B-1-3 
 

Figure 8: Listed Buildings in Tibberton and Cherrington

1 

3 

9 

17 

6 

4 

15 

10 

5 

14 

8 

12 

13 

16 

7 

2 
11 

P
age 246



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-1 

ANNEX C 
 

TIBBERTON AND CHERRINGTON PARISH PROFILE 
 

This profile of the Parish draws on a number of data sources including the 2001 and 2011 
Censuses, the Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Plan 2005/2006, the Telford & Wrekin Rural 
Settlements paper (June 2016) and local knowledge. 
 

Location 
 

Tibberton and Cherrington Parish is situated in the rural north of the borough of Telford & Wrekin, 
north of Telford and west of the town of Newport.  
 

PEOPLE 
 

Population 
 

The 2011 Census recorded a population of 698 people, a rise of 2% since 2001, when population 
was 684. However, this is forecast to rise to approximately 994 by 2021 due to recent housing 
developments; this is an increase of 42.4% since 2011. With a Parish area of 1,042.16 hectares, 
this gives a population density of 0.7 persons per hectare in 2001 rising to 0.95 persons per 
hectare in 2021. 
 

Age Profile 
 

Figure 9: Parish Age Profile (as of 2011. Source: ONS, Table KS102EW) 
 

 
 
With a mean age of 42.6 years, Tibberton and Cherrington Parish has a higher age profile than 
other rural areas in the Borough, where the mean age is 38.1 years. However, the Parish has a 
similar proportion of school age (16.9% are age 5 - 17 years) but a significantly higher percentage 
of retirement age (18.5% are over 65, compared with 14.4% in the rest of the Borough). 
 
Educational Attainment 
 
The 2011 Census of educational attainment reflects a relatively highly skilled population in 
Tibberton and Cherrington (Figure 10). The number of residents with Level 4 qualifications 
(equivalent to Certificate of Higher Education) is 20% above the rest of the rural area and 75% 
above the rest of Telford and Wrekin. 
 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

160 

180 

200 

Age Profile 

Page 247



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-2 

Figure 10: Highest Level of Qualification - comparison between Tibberton and Cherrington, 
the rest of the Rural Area and the whole of the Borough and Telford & Wrekin (%) (Source: 
ONS, Table QS501EW) 
 

 
 
Table 3: Student Population - comparison between Tibberton and Cherrington and the 
whole of the Borough and Telford & Wrekin (%) (Source: NOMIS KS501EW). 
 

 
Student Population 

 

Tibberton and 
Cherrington 

% 

 

Telford & Wrekin 
% 

All categories: Student Population 100 100 

School Children and full-time students   
 Age 16 - 17 

4.2 27.1 

School Children and full-time students  
          Age 18 and over 

5.9 36.5 

Level 2 qualifications 17.7 17.9 

Full time students Age 18 - 74:  
           Economically active: in employment 

0.9 12.4 

Full time students Age 18 - 74: 
           Economically active: Unemployed 

0.0 2.3 

Full time students Age 18 - 74: 
           Economically inactive 

5.0 21.7 

 
Tibberton Church of England Primary School is very popular and achieved an ‘Outstanding’ Ofsted 
rating in 20131. 
 
Deprivation 
 
The Index of Deprivation 2015 ranks the Tibberton and Cherrington as being in the top 20%-30% 
of the least deprived neighbourhoods in England2. 
 
 
 

                                                     
1
 Ofsted.gov.uk/provider/files/2200145/urn/123474.pdf 

2
 Telford & Wrekin Indices of Deprivation 2015. 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

35 

40 

%

 

Qualifications 

Parish 

Rest of Rural Area 

Telford & Wrekin 

Page 248



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-3 

HOUSING 
 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) 
 

Telford and Wrekin Council produced a SHLAA in 2012, with updates in 2014 and 2016.  The aim 
of the SHLAA was to consider sites offered for potential housing development, make an 
assessment of their suitability and deliverability before calculating how many dwellings could be 
built and when. This assisted the Council in identifying the capacity of the borough to 
accommodate new housing development. A map of the SHLAA for Tibberton and Cherrington is at 
Figure 13 on Page C-10 and details of the 20 specified sites are shown in Table 9 on Page C-11. 
 

The SHLAA provides an evidence base of site potential to inform new planning policy 
documents. However, the inclusion of sites in the SHLAA should not be taken to imply that they will 
be allocated for development, or that the Council will consider planning applications favourably. As 
shown in Table 9, eight of the sites identified in the SHLAA have been developed since 2012, 
despite 6 of these being considered to be ‘outside of suitable settlement’. One further site is the 
subject of a planning application, although that is also ‘outside of suitable settlement’.  
 

In January 2020 Telford and Wrekin Council invited land owners once again to submit sites which 
may be suitable for future development. The intention is to identify a future supply of land which is 
suitable, available and achievable for economic development, housing and other uses, such as 
renewable energy leisure developments, with a priority of identifying land for employment 
development. The results will be published in the Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability 
Assessment (SHELAA) and provide an evidence base of potential sites to inform future planning 
policy work. 
 

Housing Stock 
 

Table 4 sets out the Parish’s housing stock by dwelling type in 2011. However, this figure rose from 
271 to 325 by 2017 (a rise of 20%) and there has been a significant increase in housing 
developments in Tibberton since that date.  The forecast total, based on housing currently in build 
or highly likely to be built, will result in a total of 413 houses by circa 2021, an increase of 52% over 
the 2011 housing stock levels. Additionally, another 3 houses on 3 separate plots have outline or 
‘reserved matters’ planning permission. 
 
Table 4: Housing Stock in Tibberton and Cherrington (Source: ONS, Table QS402EW) 
 

Dwelling type  % 

All Household Spaces 271 100 

Household spaces with at least one usual resident 263 97.0 

Household spaces with no usual residents 8 3.0 

Whole house or bungalow: Detached 163 60.1 

Whole house or bungalow: Semi-detached 94 34.7 

Whole house or bungalow: Terraced (including end-terrace) 8 3.0 

Flat, maisonette or apartment: Purpose-built 2 0.7 

Flat, maisonette or apartment: Part of converted house 1 0.4 

Flat, maisonette or apartment: In a commercial building 2 0.7 

Caravan or other mobile or temporary structure 1 0.4 

 
Household Type 
 

As would be expected in a rural Parish there are a significantly greater proportion of households 
with members over 65 years old. There are also relatively few one-person and lone-parent 
households in the Parish of Tibberton and Cherrington - a reflection of the urban/rural split that is 
seen across the Borough. The presence of some accommodation for Harper Adams students is 
reflected in the comparatively high level of households in the Parish which are all full-time students. 

Page 249



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-4 

 

Table 5: Household Type in Tibberton and Cherrington (source: ONS Table KS105EW) 
 

Household Type Tibberton and 
Cherrington 

Telford & 
Wrekin 

 % % 

One person household 17.5 25.2 

 Aged 65 and over 11.4 10.7 

 Other 6.1 14.5 

One family household 76.0 67.6 

 All aged 65 and over 12.9 7.6 

 Married, Same-sex, civil partnership couple 52.5 48.2 

  No children 20.5 19.5 

  Dependent children 20.9 22.0 

  All children non-dependent 11.0 6.7 

 Cohabiting couple 6.1 11.9 

  No children 2.3 5.7 

  Dependent children 3.4 5.6 

  All children non-dependent 0.4 0.6 

 Lone parent 4.6 11.7 

  Dependent children 2.7 8.1 

  All children non-dependent 1.9 3.6 

Other household types 6.5 7.2 

 With dependent children 2.3 2.9 

 All full-time students 1.9 0.3 

 Other 2.3 4.0 

 
Housing Tenure 
 
As a relatively affluent Parish, home ownership is predictably high among the settled permanent 
population with more than four in five households owning their own home, as shown in Table 6. 
 
Table 6: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Housing Tenure (ONS, Table QS405EW) 
 

Tenure 2011 % 

All categories: Tenure 263 100 

Owned: Total 211 80.2 

Owned: Owned outright 117 44.5 

Owned: Owned with a mortgage or loan 94 35.7 

Shared ownership (part owned and part rented) 0 0 

Social rented: Total 26 9.9 

Social rented: Rented from Council (Local Authority) 7 2.7 

Social rented: Other 19 7.2 

Private rented: Total 24 9.1 

Private rented: Private Landlord or Letting Agency 22 8.4 

Private rented: Other 2 0.8 

Living rent free 2 0.8 

 

Page 250



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-5 

House Prices.  The Parish has house prices that are amongst the highest in the Borough, with 

median prices being in the most expensive band of £200,000+3. 
 
Table 7: Comparison of Tibberton and Cherrington Ward and Telford & Wrekin house prices 
in 2014 and 2015 (Source: SHMA 2016 – Table 3.1) 
 

 Lowest quartile (25%) Median figure 

Tibberton and Cherrington 4 £205,000 £284,167 

Telford & Wrekin £108,000 £140,000 

 
A more detailed review of the Land Registry database for house sales in the “TF10 8” postcode 
area for 2015 and 2016 (up to November 2016) showed that the median price for a house sold was 
£247,000. 
 
Growth of Parish Population and Housing Stock 
 
The population of the Parish showed steady growth during the nineteenth century, from 289 in 
1801 to 392 in 1881.  However, there was a steep decline at the turn of the twentieth century, down 
to 250 in 1931, when farming jobs were disappearing and local services were increasingly supplied 
from the surrounding towns.  With improved health care, transport, the successful development of 
Telford, increasing levels of movement out of cities and towns towards rural areas, the population 
of the Parish rose to 653 in 1991, with a commensurate rise in housing stock. Whilst the period up 
to 2011 showed modest growth in the population and housing stock of Tibberton and Cherrington, 
the last 10 years has seen a significant rise in both these indices. 
 
The population of the Parish grew by 2% from 2001 to 2011, but is predicted to increase by over 
40% in the following 10 year period from 2011 to 2021.  Similarly, the housing stock in Tibberton 
increased by 15% in the 12 years between 1999 and 2011; however this total increased by 20% in 
the next 6 years between 2011 and 2017 (271 to 325 houses) and will rise by a further 27% (325 to 
413 houses) during the following 3 years to 2021 as a result of those houses that are currently in 
build or are highly likely to be built. This represents an increase of 52% (142 houses) in the 10 
years from 2012 to 2021 (inclusive). 
 

  
 
Heritage 
 
The Parish has 17 listed buildings and structures in the Parish. Details are at Appendix 1 to Annex 
B. 
 

                                                     
3
 Telford & Wrekin SHMA Report 2016. 

4
 This extends beyond the parish boundaries and cover part of Ercall Magna Ward and Edgmond Ward. 

0 

200 

400 

600 

800 

1000 

1200 

1801 1821 1841 1861 1881 1901 1921 1941 1961 1981 2001 circa 
2021 

Population 

Households 

Figure 9: 
Growth of 

Population and 

Housing Stock 

Page 251



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-6 

TRANSPORT 
 

Transport Infrastructure 
 
The Parish of Tibberton and Cherrington has adequate east-west connections with other rural 
areas of the Borough; however, north-south connections are predominantly along narrow roads, 
which are often single track with passing places. The B5062 (Shrewsbury Rd), a single lane local 
distributor road, runs to the south of Tibberton and Cherrington and connects Shrewsbury with 
Newport.  A critical challenge is the poor road links between Tibberton and Cherrington and the 
B5062; access to this road is not satisfactory. As well as the narrow width of the feeder routes, the 
3 junctions onto the B5062 from Tibberton and 1 of the 2 from Cherrington have particularly poor 
visibility for vehicles exiting onto the main road. The Borough Council consider that the constraints 
of the small highways in the Parish and the surrounding area provide a justification for discouraging 
substantial numbers of additional new homes5. 
 
Most roads in the area are narrow, bounded by grass verges or banks, with few pavements in 
Tibberton and none in  Cherrington; those that have been provided are sporadic and of very limited 
width.  There is an increasing volume of traffic in Tibberton as a result of recent housing 
developments and a significant number of large farm vehicles also use these roads. An additional 
issue is that roads through the Tibberton and Cherrington are used as a shortcut onto the A41 at 
Standford Bridge, further increasing the volume of traffic.  The Parish is not an accident hotspot; a 
review of traffic accidents in the period 2010 to 2019 shows that there were 18 injury accidents of 
which 2 were fatal, 3 were classified as ‘serious’ and 13 as ‘slight’. However, these figures do not 
include other accidents where there was no injury. 
 
Public Transport 
 
There is a two-hourly weekday bus service (#519) that connects Tibberton and Cherrington with 
Newport and Shrewsbury. The Wrekin Rider bus also operates around Tibberton, Cherrington and 
adjoining villages, taking people to Newport. There is no direct link to Telford town centre. 
 

Travel to Work 
 
Most residents of working age in Tibberton and Cherrington commute to work with a mean travel to 
work journey of 21.5 km compared with 15.3 km for the whole Borough of Telford and Wrekin.  It is 
notable that 18.6% of all people in employment work from home, over 2.5 times the rate in the 
whole of rest of the rural area of Telford & Wrekin and over five times the average for England6. 
 
Figure 12: Travel to Work Patterns (Source: NOMIS Table QS702EW) 
 

 
 

                                                     
5
 Telford & Wrekin Rural Settlements Paper (B2f). 

6
 Ibid (Page 11) 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

< 2 km 2 - 5 km 5 - 10 km 10 - 20 
km 

20 - 30 
km 

30 - 40 
km 

40 - 60 
km 

> 60 km Work at 
Home 

Other 

% 

Distance 

Tibberton & Cherrington 

Telford & Wrekin 

Page 252



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-7 

 
The population figures in Figure 11 on Page C-5 hide the occupational make up of the Parish. In 
the nineteenth century Tibberton and Cherrington had three blacksmiths, two pubs and a beer 
retailer, a tailor, a carrier, a brick and tile maker, a boot and shoe maker, several carpenters, 
butchers and wheelwrights and even a straw bonnet maker. The vast majority of the rest of the 
Parish worked on the farms where they would be employed either on the land or for domestic 
service. Today, most of the population work away from the local area in the surrounding towns of 
Telford and Shrewsbury, with some further afield in Birmingham, Wolverhampton and even 
London. Consequently, more people from the Parish travel greater distances to work than is the 
norm for the rest of the Borough, as shown in Figure 12 above. 
 
Car Availability 
 
The relatively poor public transport links coupled with high levels of affluence, and the travel to 
work patterns already identified, mean that residents in Tibberton and Cherrington, as with other 
parts of the rural area of the Borough, are highly dependent on the car, the use of which is likely to 
change over the next ten years in response to environmental concerns. 
 

Table 8: Car Availability (Source: ONS, Table QS416EW) 
 

Cars Tibberton and 
Cherrington 

% 

Rural Area 
% 

Telford & 
Wrekin 

% 

All categories: Car or van availability 100 100 100 

No cars or vans in household 3.4 7.2 20.6 

1 car or van in household 27.8 33.1 43.1 

2 cars or vans in household 44.9 40.2 25.8 

3 cars or vans in household 17.1 13.2 5.9 

4 or more cars or vans in household 6.8 6.2 2.1 

 
Rights of Way 
 
There are 6 Public Rights of Way in the Parish (Figure 14 on Page C-13) consisting of 5 footpaths 
(numbered 1-5) and one bridleway (marked ‘A’). It is important that these rights of way are 
accessible and maintained and that stiles and way-markers are in place. 
 

COMMUNICATIONS 
 

Mobile ’Phone Coverage 
 

The coverage offered by all mobile ’phone providers is poor indoors throughout the Parish and 
variable outdoors.  With the development of 5G infrastructure requiring a significant number of 
masts to provide the network it is unlikely that this will be available in a majority of rural areas in the 
near future. This is likely to be a significant constraint to established and new local businesses 
which could restrict the growth and number of parish-based enterprises. 
 
Broadband 
 

Superfast broadband (>24 Mbps) is available throughout the Parish of Tibberton and Cherrington 
and to 98.3% of the Borough of Telford and Wrekin7. This compares with the Government’s target 
of 95% availability. 
 
 
 

                                                     
7
 www.superfast-telford.co.uk 

Page 253



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-8 

GEOGRAPHY 
 

Farmland quality 
 
Much of the surrounding countryside is of high quality agricultural land (Figure 15 on Page C-14) 
with 80% classified as Grade 2 (very good, which often has a presumption that it should not be 
developed for building) and another 10% as Grade 3 (moderate to good)8. 
 
Geology 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) defines a mineral safeguarding area as: ‘An area 
designated by Minerals Planning Authorities which covers known deposits of mineral which are 
desired to be kept safeguarded from unnecessary sterilisation by non-mineral development.’ In the 
Parish of Tibberton and Cherrington, the underling solid geology (beneath any surface drift 
deposits from the last ice age) comprises the Kidderminster Formation which is part of the 
Sherwood Sandstone Group.  The Kidderminster Formation comprises red, yellow and brown 
sandstones, which is part pebbly.  The strata is free draining and is an important aquifer.  Outcrops 
of the deposit are well exhibited at Sheep Bridge, to the north of All Saints’ Church near the site of 
the former paper mill and Bobaston Quarry. 
 
Apart from the aforementioned outcrops of the Kidderminster Formation the remainder of the 
Parish is overlain by glacial drift deposits of sandy boulder clay and unbedded sandy clay. Where 
the clay fraction is thick they have been exploited for marl as at the western end of Plantation 
Road.  Boulder clay deposits are impermeable and often exhibit impeded drainage characteristics 
which can lead to flooding during periods of high precipitation.  The valley of the River Meese is 
overlain by post glacial material of alluvium and terrace deposits, the latter comprising a mix of 
sand and gravel with interbedded clay lenses. 
 
The Mineral Safeguarding Map for the Parish is at Figure 6 on Page C-15. 
 
Water and Flood Risk 
 
Telford & Wrekin Council has commissioned a number of Borough-wide studies concerning water 
quality and flood risk9. One or two properties in the Parish have either been flooded or have had 
outbuildings flooded.  The continuing blocking of some drainage ditches may also result in more flooding 
if rainfall / snowmelt accumulates. See Figure 17 on Page C-16 for flood zones in Tibberton and 
Cherrington Parish. 
 

The recent Telford and Wrekin Detailed Water Cycle Study10 stated that ‘the drainage network in 
Tibberton and Cherrington is an historic combined system and is at or near capacity. Prior to any 
development taking place Severn Trent Water must be consulted to assess what impacts this 
development would have and what necessary improvements will be required.’ 
 

OTHER FACILITIES AND SERVICES 
 

Economics 
 

A review of Telford & Wrekin Council business rates records identifies over 22 small retail and 
service businesses in the Parish. Much of the adjoining rural land is used for farming. 
 
 
 
 

                                                     
8
 Agricultural Land Classifications of England and Wales, Section 2.  

9
 Scoping Study Water Cycle Study 2012 and Strategic Flood Risk Assessments prepared to support the Telford & 

Wrekin Local Plan. 
10

 C6iii TWC Detailed Water Cycle Study - Update 2016. 

Page 254



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-9 

 
Access to Facilities and Services  
 

Most community facilities and services are centred within the village of Tibberton. These include 
the following community facilities: 
 

• A volunteer run community Village shop (limited opening hours) 
• Public House - The Sutherland Arms 
• All Saints’ Church 
• Playing field 
• Methodist Chapel 
• Village Hall 
 

Tibberton Community Shop (TCS) opened in December 2011 and is registered under the Co-
operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.  TCS has over 170 members with 60 
volunteers and is run by its own Management Committee.  The Shop’s community received the 
Queen’s Award for Voluntary Service on 2017.  Tibberton Village Hall is owned under Trust and is 
also managed by its own Management Committee.  Both Committees use the Village hall as their 
meeting place, together with the Parish Council. 
 
There are a number of active community groups in the Parish which meet regularly at the Village 
Hall including: Scouts; Cubs; Beavers; Brownies and Guides; Keep Fit, Pilates; the Bridge Club; 
Table Tennis; Art Classes; the Women’s Institute; Mums and Toddlers; Knit, Sew, Craft and IT for 
ALL. 
 

Additionally, a number of other clubs and activities are centred on the village, including: the Cycling 
Club, Walking Club and the Bell Ringers who are based at All Saints’ Church. 
 
Public Open Space 
 
The Playing Field in Tibberton is connected and essential for Tibberton C of E Primary School and 
outside teams for organised sport but it also caters for informal recreation by local residents. 
 
Following an enquiry about the central section of the field it was established that this is Church 
land, including where the school buildings are situated.  The remainder of the field was bought by 
the Borough Council and now belongs to TWC, which has granted protection against residential 
development under the Borough's 'Green Guarantee' scheme. The Tibberton and Cherrington 
community values the green spaces, including the school field. 
 
Designated Wildlife Site and Geological Site  
 
Kynndersley Moor Woods in the south of the Parish is designated a Local Wildlife Site and Shray 
Hill, Cherrington, on the western border of the Parish is a Local Geological Site.  These are shown 
in Figure 18 on page C-17. 
 
Strategic Landscape 

 
To the south of the B5062, the Parish contains a small section of the Weald Moors Strategic 
Landscape, which is one of only two such areas in the Borough to be afforded special protection – 
the other being the Wrekin Forest.  The two most direct routes into The Weald Moors from 
Tibberton and Cherrington have both been designated as ‘Quiet Lanes’ to help maintain the 
tranquillity and character of the area and to discourage their use as ‘rat-runs’ to and from Telford. 

Page 255



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-10 

 

 
Figure 13: Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 2012 

 Key 
  
 Developed since 2012 
  
 Partially Developed since 2012 
  
 

P
age 256



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-11  

Table 9: SHLAA 2012 Appendix 1 - Tibberton 
 
The inclusion of sites in the SHLAA should not be taken to imply that they will be allocated for development, or that the Council will consider planning applications favourably.  
This site schedule should be read in conjunction with the SHLAA document itself.  

 

SHLAA Site Name Constraint Mitigation Mitigation 
Date 

Issue 
summary 

Density Site area Dwellings Available Suitable Achievable 

33 Land Opposite 39 Mill 
Lane 

No known constraints  2012  25 0.148 4    

366 Land adjacent to Hollies 
Farm, Tibberton 

Out of suitable settlement. 
Flood Zone 3a 

Planning Policy Review. 
NPPF - Exceptions Test, 
application SFRA Level 2. 

2015 Flood Zone 
2. 

25 2.630 66    

457 Plantation - 5, Tibberton Outside of suitable 
settlement 

Planning Policy Review 2015 TPO 25 2.991 75    

509 Opposite Tibberton Shop No known constraints  2012  25 1.056 26    

515 Land south-west of 
Tibberton 

Outside suitable 
settlement 

Planning Policy Review 2015  25 9.047 226    

516 Land at Tibberton Outside suitable 
settlement 

Planning Policy Review 2015  25 1.702 43    

552 Sutherland farm Tibberton No known constraints  2012  25 0.413 10    

574 Land to the south of 
Cherrington Road, The 
Hollies, Tibberton 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 1.096 27    

580 Plantation - 1, Tibberton No known constraints  2012 TPO 25 0.770 19    

581 Plantation - 2, Tibberton No known constraints  2012 TPO 25 0.455 11    

582 Plantation - 3, Tibberton Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 1.104 28    

583 Corner of Plantation Road 
and Back Lane, Tibberton 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 1.372 34    

621 Land adjacent to 44 
Cherrington Road - Site 1 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 0.318 8    

622 Land adjacent to 44 
Cherrington Road - Site 2 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 0.960 24    

P
age 257



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-12  

SHLAA Site Name Constraint Mitigation Mitigation 
Date 

Issue 
summary 

Density Site area Dwellings Available Suitable Achievable 

699 Land adjacent to site 509, 
opposite Tibberton shop. 

Out of suitable settlement. 
Flood Zone 3a 

Planning Policy Review. 
NPPF - Exceptions Test, 
application SFRA Level 2. 

2015  25 6.216 155    

710 Land and buildings to the 
north of Cherrington 
Road, The Hollies, 
Tibberton 

Flood Zone 3a. Out of 
suitable settlement.  

Planning Policy Review. 
NPPF - Exceptions Test, 
application SFRA Level 2. 

2015 Flood Zone 
2. 

25 0.529 13    

734 Site 2 at Sutherland Farm, 
Tibberton 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 0.964 24    

744 Land South of, 
Grangefields, Hay Street, 
Tibberton 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 0.679 17    

749 Land at Hay Street, 
Tibberton 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015 TPO 25 0.738 18    

770 Land east of, Hay Street, 
Tibberton 

Out of suitable settlement. Planning Policy Review 2015  25 1.493 17    

 
 
 Key 
  
 Developed since 2012 
  
 Partially Developed since 2012 
  
 
 

P
age 258



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-13  

 

 
 
 
Figure 14: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Rights of Way 

Legend 
  Parish Boundary 
 

  Public Footpath 
 

  Bridleway 

 

1 

A 

P
age 259



2020 - 2031 

Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-14  

 
 

Figure 15: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Agricultural Land Classification 

 

P
age 260



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

C-15  

 
Figure 16: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Mineral Safeguarding Areas 

P
age 261



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
2020 - 2031 

 

C-16  

 
Figure 17: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Flood Risk Areas 

P
age 262



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
2020 - 2031 

 

C-17  

 
Figure 18: Tibberton and Cherrington Parish Local Wildlife Site and Local Geological Site 

P
age 263



2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

D-1  

ANNEX D 
 

ADDITIONAL TECHNICAL EVIDENCE 
 
1. National Heritage list for Tibberton and Cherrington. https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-
list/results/ 
 
2. National Planning Policy Framework. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf 
 
3. Planning Practice Guidance. https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-needs-of-different-groups#rural-
housing 
 
4. Telford & Wrekin Neighbourhood Planning Advice and Guidance 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20453/neighbourhood_planning/3934/neighbourhood_planning_adv
ice_and_guidance 
 
5. Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011 – 2031 Submission Version 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4486/a1_telford_and_wrekin_local_plan_2011- 2031_-
_submission_version_low_res 
 
6. Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011 – 2031 – Integrated Appraisal 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4362/a3_twlp_intergrated_appraisal_- 
_submission_version 
 
7. Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011 – 2031 – Representations 
http://telford-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/local_plan/local_plan/twlp?tab=list 
 
8. Telford & Wrekin Statement of Community Involvement 2019 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1372/statement_of_community_involvement_2012 
 
9. Telford & Wrekin Local Development Scheme 2020 - 2023 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1447/local_development_scheme_2013 
 
10. Telford & Wrekin Annual Monitoring Reports 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20172/planning_policy_and_strategy/124/annual_monitoring_repo 
rt_amr 
 
11. Telford & Wrekin Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 2012 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20457/housing/126/strategic_housing_land_availability_assessment
_shlaa 
 
12. G2 - Telford & Wrekin Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) (update 2016)  
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4659/g2_-
_telford_and_wrekin_strategic_housing_land_availability_assessment_shlaa_update_2016 
 
13. Telford & Wrekin Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4427/c2b- 
i_t_and_w_strategic_housing_market_assessment_shma_2016_-final_report 
 
14. Telford & Wrekin Water Cycle Study 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4456/c6c-iii_twc_detailed_water_cycle_study_- 
_update_2016 
 
15. Telford & Wrekin Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4460/c6e_twc_llfa_flood_risk_management_strategy 

Page 264

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/results/
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/results/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-needs-of-different-groups#rural-housing
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-needs-of-different-groups#rural-housing
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20453/neighbourhood_planning/3934/neighbourhood_planning_advice_and_guidance
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20453/neighbourhood_planning/3934/neighbourhood_planning_advice_and_guidance
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4486/a1_telford_and_wrekin_local_plan_2011-%202031_-
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4486/a1_telford_and_wrekin_local_plan_2011-%202031_-
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4486/a1_telford_and_wrekin_local_plan_2011-%202031_-
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4486/a1_telford_and_wrekin_local_plan_2011-%202031_-
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4362/a3_twlp_intergrated_appraisal_-_submission_version
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4362/a3_twlp_intergrated_appraisal_-_submission_version
http://telford-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/local_plan/local_plan/twlp?tab=list
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1372/statement_of_community_involvement_2012
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1447/local_development_scheme_2013
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20172/planning_policy_and_strategy/124/annual_monitoring_report_amr
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20172/planning_policy_and_strategy/124/annual_monitoring_report_amr
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20172/planning_policy_and_strategy/124/annual_monitoring_report_amr
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20457/housing/126/strategic_housing_land_availability_assessment_shlaa
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20457/housing/126/strategic_housing_land_availability_assessment_shlaa
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4659/g2_-_telford_and_wrekin_strategic_housing_land_availability_assessment_shlaa_update_2016
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4659/g2_-_telford_and_wrekin_strategic_housing_land_availability_assessment_shlaa_update_2016
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4427/c2b-i_t_and_w_strategic_housing_market_assessment_shma_2016_-final_report
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4427/c2b-i_t_and_w_strategic_housing_market_assessment_shma_2016_-final_report
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4456/c6c-iii_twc_detailed_water_cycle_study_-_update_2016
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4456/c6c-iii_twc_detailed_water_cycle_study_-_update_2016
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4460/c6e_twc_llfa_flood_risk_management_strategy
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4460/c6e_twc_llfa_flood_risk_management_strategy


2020 - 2031 Tibberton and Cherrington Neighbourhood Plan 
 

D-2  

 
16. Telford & Wrekin Local Plan Technical Paper B2f – Rural Settlements 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4379/b2f_rural_settlements_update 
 
17. Telford & Wrekin Strategy and Options – Shaping Places 2013 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1383/strategy_and_options_document 
 
18. Telford & Wrekin Strategy and Options – Sustainability Appraisal 2013 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4395/d2b_shaping_places_lp_sustainability_appraisal_str
ategy_and_options 
 
19. Telford & Wrekin Strategy and Options - Consultation report 2013 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1395/shaping_places_local_plan_strategy_and_options_s
ummary_of_comments_december_2013 
 
20. Telford & Wrekin Strategic Landscape Study 2017 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20459/natural_environment/1161/strategic_landscapes_study 
 
21. Sport England Playing Fields Policy: https://sportenglandproduction-files.s3.eu-west-
2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/finalplaying-fields-policy-and-guidance-document.pdf 
 
22. Shropshire Landscape Typology study 2006  https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/media/1803/the-
shropshire-landscape-typology.pdf 
 
23. 2001 Census – Population and Household Statistics 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/275/tibberton_and_cherrington_parish_profile_2001_cen
sus 
 
24. 2011 Census – Population and Household Statistics 
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20121/facts_and_figures/61/census 
 
25. The Parish Plan of Tibberton and Cherrington 2005/2006. 
 
26. Tibberton Parish Geology. Mr G White BSc FRICS FIQ CEnv. Chartered Mineral Surveyor.  
 
 
 

Page 265

http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4379/b2f_rural_settlements_update
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4379/b2f_rural_settlements_update
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1383/strategy_and_options_document
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1383/strategy_and_options_document
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4395/d2b_shaping_places_lp_sustainability_appraisal_s
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/4395/d2b_shaping_places_lp_sustainability_appraisal_s
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1395/shaping_places_local_plan_strategy_and_options_summary_of_comments_december_2013
http://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1395/shaping_places_local_plan_strategy_and_options_summary_of_comments_december_2013
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20459/natural_environment/1161/strategic_landscapes_study
https://sportenglandproduction-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/finalplaying-fields-policy-and-guidance-document.pdf
https://sportenglandproduction-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/finalplaying-fields-policy-and-guidance-document.pdf
https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/media/1803/the-shropshire-landscape-typology.pdf
https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/media/1803/the-shropshire-landscape-typology.pdf
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/275/tibberton_and_cherrington_parish_profile_2001_census
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/275/tibberton_and_cherrington_parish_profile_2001_census
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20121/facts_and_figures/61/census


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Agenda Item 7: Annual Customer Feedback Report 

 

“I am delighted that these reports indicate an increased level of customer satisfaction 
with council services across the organisation. Complaints have dropped by 16% in 
2020/21 compared to the previous year, while we have also seen a 35% increase in 
customers that have complimented council services during the same period. 

“In total, we received only 491 complaints in 2020/21, which, in the context of the 
many thousands of transactions and interactions that take place across the 
organisation in a week, remains an incredibly small proportion. 

“Our priority is to be a community-focussed, innovative council providing efficient, 
effective and quality services; we want our customer experience to be the best 
possible. 

“These reports, which flag up the increase in positive feedback, the significant 
reduction in in complaints and the improvement in our complaint handling 
performance, highlight the excellent progress we are making to deliver on this 
priority.” 

 

Councillor Richard Overton, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Enforcement, 
Community Safety and Customer Services  

Page 267

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET –     23/09/2021    
 
TITLE  Customer Feedback and Statutory Complaints Reports 

for 2020-21 
 
REPORT OF Director: Communities, Customer and Commercial 

Services 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER –  Cabinet Member for Enforcement, Community Safety 

and Customer Services 

 
 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 

1.1. The purpose of this report is to set out the amendments to the Complaints policies for 
Corporate, Children’s Statutory and Adult Statutory Complaints and to update Cabinet 
on the Council’s response to complaints between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021.  

 

1.2. The Council’s current complaint policies have been in place for some time and have 
been refreshed and updated to reflect latest best practice. The amended policies in 
full can be found online at Appendix A, Appendix B and Appendix C, however a 
summary of the changes can be found at Appendix H. 

 

1.3. To demonstrate effective complaint handling the Council produces an annual report 
on complaint handling for Children’s Statutory Complaints, Adult Statutory Complaints 
and Corporate Feedback and Complaints. These reports can be found at Appendices 
D, E and F. 
 

1.4. In total there were just 491 complaints received across  the Council in 2020/21 from a 
total of 473 complainants.  This is against a backdrop of the many millions of service 
transactions that take place every week including 10.2 million refuse collections and 
229,000 calls to our call centre each year including new services provided to support 
our residents during the most challenging of years due to the Covid Pandemic.  The 
total number of complaints therefore remains an incredibly small proportion of our 
transactions at less than 0.005%. 
 

1.5. The service area who received the majority of the complimentary feedback was by a 
large margin, Neighbourhood and Enforcement Services, followed by Children’s 
Safeguarding/Family Support and Communities, Customer and Commercial Services. 
 

1.6. Conversely, Neighbourhood and Enforcement Services were also the service that 
received the highest number of complaints, which is an indication of the ubiquitous 
nature of this service in the day to day lives of every resident and visitor to the 

Page 269

https://www.telford.gov.uk/draftcomplaintpolices


Borough. 
 

1.7. In summary there has been an overall reduction in the number of complaints received 
by 16%. It is also positive to note that there do not appear to be any common reasons, 
or patterns to the complaints we have received, which suggests that the issues 
reported are isolated incidents.   
 

1.8. In addition, it is pleasing to see a 35% increase in customers that have complimented 
Council services, with 392 received compared to 290 in 2019/20. 

 

1.9. During this reporting period there were 424 corporate stage one complaints, an 11% 
reduction from 2019/20, taking an average of 12 days to respond and well within the 
15 working day deadline. 
 

1.10. 38 Adult Statutory complaints were received, a 34% decrease on the 58 received in 
2019/20. The lowest number received in 5 years. 
 

1.11. 29 Children’s Statutory complaints were received, a 42% decrease on the 50 received 
in 2019/20, the lowest number received in 6 years. 
 

1.12. The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman review letter 2021 has also be 
included at Appendix G which provides details of the outcomes of complaints which 
have had been investigated by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. 
 

1.13. Headline amendments to council complaints policies include the ability to report 
anonymous complaints and complaints about council policy, some changes to 
timescales for response and the introduction of user friendly and easy to read 
versions of the policies.   

 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1  That Cabinet approves the changes to the new Complaints Policies available online at 

Appendix A, B and C.  These policies will be introduced with immediate effect. 
 
2.2  That Cabinet grants delegated authority to the Director for Communities, Customer & 

Commercial Services in consultation with the Lead Cabinet Member for Enforcement, 
Community Safety and Customer Services to make amendments to these policies 
going forward in line with changes to the appropriate legislation.  

 
2.3  That Cabinet reviews the Customer Feedback and Statutory Complaints Reports for 

2020-21 in respect of Adult Statutory, Children’s Statutory Complaints and Corporate 
Customer Feedback and the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Review 
Letter 2021. 

 
2.4 That Cabinet notes the significant reduction in complaints received in 2020/21, the 

increase in positive feedback and the improvement in complaint handling 
performance. 

 

Page 270

https://www.telford.gov.uk/draftcomplaintpolices


 
 
 
 
3  SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-Operative Council 
priority objective(s)? 

Yes A community- focussed, innovative Council 
providing efficient, effective and quality services. 
 
Key outcome: 
 
Our customer experience is the best possible and 
facilities are accessible to all. 
 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

No  

TARGET 
COMPLETION/DELIVERY 
DATE 
 

Once approved the complaint policies will be introduced with 
immediate effect. 

FINANCIAL/VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

Yes The cost of dealing with complaints is mainly in the 
form of officer time and is met from existing Council 
budgets. The mystery customer exercise is funded 
from reserves.  
 
01.07.2021 MB 

LEGAL ISSUES No  On 08.10.2020 the Local Government & Social 
Care Ombudsman issued updated guidance on 
effective complaint handling for local authorities 
 
Children’s social care statutory complaints are 
conducted under Section 26 Children Act 1989, the 
Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure 
(England) Regulations 2006, known as the CARP 
Regulations and guidance Getting the Best from 
Complaints   
 
Complaints about Adult Social Care Services are 
governed by The Local Authority Social Services 
and National Health Service Complaints (England) 
Regulations 2009 and guidance Listening, 
responding, improving: a guide to better customer 
care. 
 
01.07.2021 KF 
 

OTHER IMPACTS, RISKS 
& OPPORTUNITIES 

No   

Page 271

http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/7-511-4253?originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&transitionType=PLDocumentLink&contextData=(sc.Default)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/7-511-4253?originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&transitionType=PLDocumentLink&contextData=(sc.Default)


IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

No Borough-wide impact 

 
 
PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
4 INFORMATION 

 

4.1 Amendments to Complaints Policies and Procedures 

4.1.1 Corporate Complaints Policy (Appendix A) 
 

The Corporate Complaint Policy has been refreshed. Key changes to the policy 
include updated acknowledgment timescales, a timescale for Stage 2 escalation 
requests, enabling customers to make complaints about Policy and also allowing 
anonymous complaints to be submitted as recommended in the recent Customer 
Service & Digital Peer review.  

 
4.1.2 Adult Statutory Complaints Policy (Appendix B) 

 
The Adult Statutory Complaint procedure is outlined in legislation. The key 
amendments to the Adult Statutory Policy includes more detail around what may or 
not be excluded from the procedure, Inter-agency Joint working, who may act on 
behalf of a service user and the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s 
role. Timescales have been amended and the 25 working day target has been 
removed.  

 
The policy now states that anonymous complaints will be handled via our Corporate 
complaints procedure.  

 

4.1.3 Children’s Statutory Complaints Policy (Appendix C) 
 

The Children’s Statutory Complaints procedure is outlined in legislation. Amendments 
have been made in relation to timeframes around Stage 2 complaints, so that the 
process that follows receipt of the Investigation Officers Report is clearer and local 
timeframes are applied. The policy states that anonymous complaints will now be 
accepted via our corporate complaints procedure.  

 
4.1.4 As part of the review of both the Adult and Children’s Statutory Complaint Policies, a 

shortened version of both policies will be created to ensure that this process is 
accessible for all. For example, easy read versions and child friendly versions of the 
policies will be created keeping in mind the specific needs of our customers.  
Consultation with specific groups such as the Making it Real Board (Adult Social Care 
service users) and Voice (young children in care) will take place to ensure the 
accessibility of these shortened policies.  An easy read version of the corporate 
complaint policy will also be created.  

 
4.1.5 A summary of the changes to the policies can be found at Appendix H. 
 

Page 272

https://www.telford.gov.uk/draftcomplaintpolices
https://www.telford.gov.uk/draftcomplaintpolices
https://www.telford.gov.uk/draftcomplaintpolices


  
 
4.2  Corporate Feedback Report (Appendix D) 
 
4.2.1 In 2020/21 there were 424 corporate stage one complaints received, an 11% 

reduction on the number of complaints received in 2019/20. This is also the lowest 
number of complaints received in the previous 7 years. 42% (180) were partly or fully 
upheld, this is where services have acknowledged that we could have done better.   
6% (24) of the complaints were either withdrawn or out of jurisdiction.  

 
82% of corporate complaints were responded to within the 15 working day time scale, 
an improvement on the 81% achieved in 2019/20. There has been a sustained 
improvement since 2017/18. 

  
4.2.2  Of the 424 complaints received, 29 were escalated to Stage two of the procedure with 

40% partly or fully upheld. The average number of days to complete a full 
investigation was 29 working days. The impact of COVID-19 did affect these 
timescales, however this is still well within the extended timescale of 65 working days 
as outlined in the complaints policy.  

 
4.2.3 All of the 180 complaints partly or fully upheld have been reviewed to ensure wider 

learning to avoid such issues occurring in the future.  There are no major trends or 
common themes that have led to complaints being reported.  This is against a 
backdrop of providing over 750 different types of service and millions of transactions.  
As a result this is a very low percentage of complaints levied against the council.    

 
4.2.4 Some positive improvements resulting in learning from complaints include; 

 The Financial Case Management client charging process has been updated, 

which will improve timescales  

 Procedures reviewed so there is better preparation and communication between 
social workers prior to meetings 

 All officers who complete financial agreements now undertake a one year online 

course and also have to complete an induction programme, including training to 

the required competency 

 Contactors have been reminded of the standards expected in relation to sightlines 

at junctions to ensure that, when signs are installed, they do not obstruct them 

 New proof of residency procedures for Revenues Enforcement agents have been 

implemented 

4.2.5 Our Customer Insight Programme was put on hold in April 2020 due to the pandemic. 

However we relaunched the programme in July 2020 with a new digital agenda. Our 

Mystery Customers completed website and digital access reviews.  76 Mystery 

Customer assignments were completed in the year and key results include that; 

 91% of customers were satisfied with their experiences as a whole and the quality 

of the information on the website 

 92 % of customers were satisfied with the ease of navigating the website  

 

Page 273



 
 
4.3 Adult Statutory Complaint Report (Appendix E) 
 
4.3.1  We received 38 Adult Statutory complaints in 2020/21, a 34% decrease on the 58 

received in 2019/20. 
 
4.3.2 Of the 38 complaints completed, 69% (26) were upheld 
 
4.3.3 We aim to respond to all Adult Statutory complaints within 25 working days, because 

of the nature and complexity of some issues it may take longer, and complainants will 
be informed if this is the case. The time scales may be extended to a maximum of 65 
working days. In 2020/21 the average number of days to respond to an Adult Statutory 
complaint across all portfolios was 53 working days this is an increase on the 51 
working days achieved in 2019/20. There has been a significant improvement in 
timescales since October 2020, which has seen the average number of days reduce to 
32 during the last two quarters of the year. 

 
4.3.4  Of the remedies recorded against Adult Statutory Complaints in 2020/21: 
 

 37% were to provide an explanation and apology 

 16% were to provide an explanation and no remedy was required 

 16% were to improve service provision 

 
4.3.5 Positive improvements that have resulted from learning from complaints include; 
 

 There is now a specialist commissioning framework for providers to autistic people, 
Mental Health services and Learning Disability services 

 Hospital discharges are now supported at weekends 
 A Specialist Housing Strategy for accessible housing for people with disabilities has 

been developed 

 The development of accessible information for Mental Health services 
 
4.4 Children’s Statutory Complaint Report (Appendix F) 
 
4.4.1 We received 29 Children’s statutory complaints in 2020/21. All were dealt with at 

Stage One, with only four progressing to an independent Stage Two investigation. No 
Stage 3 panels were completed in 2020/21. 

 
4.4.2 Of the 29 complaints completed in the year, 52% (15) of the complaints were upheld. 
 
4.4.3 The average time scales for all Children’s Statutory Stage One Complaints is 23 

working days, which exceeds the timescales outlined in the regulations. However 
there is a clear improvement since November 2020, where complaints were 
responded to in an average of 17 days.  

 
4.4.4 Positive improvements that have resulted from learning from complaints include; 
 

Page 274



 Individual remedies have been completed regarding support plans and working 

agreements, assessments and contact.  

 Officers have been reminded regarding the expectation that minutes are provided 

from meetings.  

 We are now using Parent and Baby placements more consistently with high levels 

of wrap around support to parents during the Mental Health assessment process.  

 High levels of training and development has been given to social workers around 

the impact of domestic violence so that the appropriate support can be offered to 

survivors.  

4.5 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review 2021 (Appendix 

G) 

4.5.1 During 2020/21 a total of 22 complaints were escalated to the Local Government and 

Social Care Ombudsman, in addition to this 12 detailed investigations remained open 

on 31 March 2020.  

4.5.2 During the year the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman made the 

decision that 2 complaints were premature and decided not to further investigate 15 

complaints. 6 complaints were referred for a detail investigation and a decision has yet 

to be made on these cases.  There were 9 detailed investigations completed in 

2020/21, and the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman has confirm that 

there was fault in 8 of these cases.  

4.5.3  In all cases where fault was found the Local Government and Social Care 

Ombudsman was satisfied that we had successfully implemented their 

recommendations. In two cases the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

was satisfied that the Council has provided a satisfactory remedy before the complaint 

reached them.  

4.5.4 In each upheld case the Council has taken learning forward to improve practices in 

relation to the faults identified, apologies have also been given to customers in these 

cases. 

5 IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

N/A 
 
6 PREVIOUS MINUTES 

None 
 
7 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Appendix A- Corporate Complaints Procedure 
Appendix B- Adult’s Statutory Complaint Procedure 
Appendix C- Children’s Statutory Complaint Procedure 
Appendix D- Corporate Feedback Report 2020-21 
Appendix E- Adult’s Statutory Complaint Report 2020-21 
Appendix F- Children’s Statutory Complaint Report 2020-21 

Page 275

https://www.telford.gov.uk/draftcomplaintpolices
https://www.telford.gov.uk/draftcomplaintpolices
https://www.telford.gov.uk/draftcomplaintpolices


Appendix G- Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 
2021 
Appendix H – Summary of amendments to complaints policies and procedures 

 
 
Report prepared by Rebecca Zacharek, Customer Relationship and Quality Assurance 
Team Leader, Telephone: 01952 383890 

Page 276



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 1 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Resolving Complaints and 
Improving Services 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Policy & Procedure 
for 

Corporate Complaints, 
Compliments & Comments 

 

 

Page 277



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 2 

 
Contents: 
 
Section 1- Scope of the Representations and Complaints Procedure     3 
 
1 Defining representations and complaints 3 
2 Our Policy on Complaints 4 
3 What may be complained about? 5 
4 Who can complain under this procedure? 6 
5 What is excluded from this procedure? 6 

 
Section 2- How the Process Works          9 
 
6 How the process works 9 
7 Resolution and Remedies 13 
8 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 13 
9 Improving services following complaints 14 
10 Unacceptable behaviour and vexatious complainants 15 
11 Compliments and Comments 17 
12 Performance monitoring 17 
13 Corporate Complaints Flowchart 18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 278



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 3 

 
Section 1 – Scope of the Representations and Complaints Procedure 
 

1. Defining representations and complaints 
 

1.1 At Telford and Wrekin Council we welcome all feedback from customers, this is                
because it helps us improve the way we do things and to learn from things that have 
gone wrong.  
 

1.2 The intention of this document is to set out the procedure for a customer who is likely to 
want to make representations, including complaints about, the actions, decisions or 
apparent failings of our corporate services and to allow any other appropriate person to 
act on their behalf.  

 
1.3 This policy and procedure on complaints, compliments and comments applies solely to 

corporate feedback that sits outside of all statutory processes. 
 

 
1.4 We define a complaint as 

 
‘An expression of dissatisfaction, however made, about the standards of service, 
action or lack of action, decisions taken by the Council or the way in which the 
council employees carry out their duties’ 

 
People can complain, where they believe the Council has: 

 
• Failed to do something it should have done 
• Behaved unfairly or discourteously 
• Failed to carry out a service to a recognised standard  
• Done something wrong 
• Done something it should not have done 

 
It is recognised that this definition does not cover every scenario and that complaints 
can range from major grievances to minor annoyances.   

 
1.5 We realise that it would be unrealistic to register every such statement within the 

procedure, particularly in cases where it is possible to deal with the matter of concern 
there and then. 
 

1.6  It is nevertheless the complainant’s right ultimately to decide whether or not the matter 
of concern should be registered within this complaints procedure. It is crucial therefore 
that clear information about the procedure is made available in advance, so that 
complainants can make an informed decision about whether they want to make a 
complaint in line with this procedure.   
 

1.7       Representations may not always be complaints; they might also be positive remarks or 
ideas that require a response from the Local Authority. Enquiries or comments about the 
availability, delivery or nature of a service which are not criticisms are also welcomed 
and can help us to improve our services.  

 
 

Page 279



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 4 

 
2. Our Policy on Complaints 

 
2.1 Users of any service provided on or behalf of Telford & Wrekin Council should have 

access to a simple, well-publicised procedure common to all services 
 

2.2  The policy is framed to:  
 
• Provide high quality and responsive service; 
• Acknowledge that all people who receive services have a right to complain if they think 

that something that should have been done has not been done, or that something has 
been done poorly or incorrectly.  
 

2.3 We know that things can go wrong with services, and that staff and managers can make 
mistakes. When this happens, we believe it is important to put things right, as rapidly and 
as effectively as possible. Through this complaints procedure, we are committed to 
working with customers who use our services, their advocates, carers and relatives, 
listening to them and deciding with them, where possible,  the most effective way of 
sorting out whatever has gone wrong, with a view to putting the customer back into the 
position they were in prior to any injustice occurring.    

 
2.4 Above all, the way we deal with complaints will be based on 

 
• Customer focus – listening to what people tell us 
• Responsiveness – acting on what people say to us 
• Promptness – making sure people get answers in good time 
• Transparency – dealing openly and honestly with problems 
• Proportionality – making sure that the resolution fits the complaint 
• Learning – making sure complaints result in changes and improvement, where 
appropriate 
 

2.5 We recognise our responsibility to ensure the customer has a proportionate level of 
awareness of their entitlement to complain among people who use or may be eligible for 
services. We will therefore make sure, in a number of ways that people are well informed 
and reminded that the complaints procedure is available if necessary. Customers can 
expect assistance and support if they have cause to use it.  
 
Among the ways in which we will meet this obligation are:  
 
• Information about the complaints process will be made available in a variety of ways 

e.g. on the Council website, by means of leaflets and posters. 
• Our customers will be given details by staff members in the course of their work. 
• Case management correspondence will routinely incorporate references to the right 

to make complaints. 
• A dedicated email address for complaints 

 
2.6 For this procedure to be of benefit, we think it is crucial for all customers/service users to 

be well informed about how the complaints process works, so that everyone is aware of 
their rights and obligations. Recognising that we serve a diverse community, we will 

Page 280



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 5 

therefore make details of the procedure available on request in a range of formats, in 
order to maximise its accessibility and to ensure it remains inclusive.  
 

2.7 Whenever we deal with a comment or a complaint, we will look critically at what has 
happened, to see what lessons we can learn and ensure that any changes which need to 
be made are applied.  This not only applies to the case being complained about, but 
across the service. If we believe that something has gone wrong, then we need to put it 
right and to make sure that the customer/service user has not lost out as a result. If when 
the investigation concludes the complaint was not justified, we will provide a full written 
explanation. In all cases, we will provide clear information about how to take matters 
further, so that the person making the complaint can decide if that is what they want to 
do. 

 
2.8 We realise that the different procedures which could be applicable when concerns are 

raised about services (e.g. the complaints procedures of other bodies, a provider’s own 
in-house complaints arrangements, disciplinary processes, criminal investigations etc.) 
could result in confusion for customers/service users. In cases like this, complaints staff 
will ensure that there is consultation and engagement with complainants, and that sound 
decisions are reached with them about which procedure should take precedence, and 
why. We regard it as crucial however that people are provided with clear information about 
the possible interplay between different procedures and are reassured that they are 
entitled to request that any remaining issues can be taken up through this complaints 
process, once the other process is concluded.  

 
2.9 We recognise that many people fear that making a complaint may result in reprisals or in 

a deterioration of the service provided, and so we offer an assurance that we would regard 
this as wholly unacceptable, and that we would take very seriously any concern that this 
had happened. We will work to ensure that all members of our staff and management 
have a positive and informed view of complaints, and will give whatever help is necessary 
to enable people to get due benefit from the procedure. 

 
2.10 This policy and procedure will be available to members of the public on the Council’s 

website, but hard copies will be provided on request. The complaint leaflet ‘Have your 
say’ which summarises this information is widely distributed and is available at a range of 
community contact points, as well as from the Customer Relationship Team. 

 
2.11 We also believe that when people who use our services send us comments and 

compliments based on their experiences, they should be acknowledged, considered and 
acted upon. This is an important aspect of the dialogue between local people and local 
services. 

 
 
3. What may be complained about? 

 
3.1       A complaint may arise as a result of many things relating to service functions such as: 

 
• An unwelcome or disputed decision; 
• Concern about the quality or appropriateness of service; 
• Delay in decision making or provision of services; 
• Delivery or non-delivery of services including complaints procedures; 
• Quantity, frequency, change or cost of a service; 

Page 281



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 6 

• Attitude or behaviour of staff; 
• Policy and procedures 

 
4. Who can complain under this procedure? 

 
4.1  This procedure is open to everyone who lives, works or visits the Telford & Wrekin area or 

uses Telford and Wrekin Council services. 
 
4.2  Where the complaint is being made on behalf of another person: 

 
Telford and Wrekin Council will consider representations including complaints made to us 
by any customer or third party who is contacting us on the customer’s behalf. If someone 
makes representations on customer’s behalf written consent will be sought, before the 
complaint is registered. 
 

4.3     The Complaints Manager may decline to register a complaint if it appears that it is being 
brought by a representative who is not acting in the best interests of the customer.  Any 
such decision will be recorded and notified in writing to the complainant.  

 
4.4 From time to time the council receives anonymous complaints, these will be logged and 

passed to the relevant service for investigation, whilst a response cannot be sent in these 
cases it is important that we investigate and taking learning from these complaints. 

 
4.5 Complaints will not be registered more than a year after the matter giving rise to concern 

arose. Nevertheless, the Complaints Manager may waive this time limit if; 
 

• It would not be reasonable to expect the complainant to have made the complaint 
sooner, and 
 

• It is still possible to deal with the complaint effectively and fairly. 
 

 
5.      What is excluded from this procedure? 

 
5.1 The procedure will not apply where it is a: 

 
• request for service 
• request for information 

 
5.2  The corporate complaints procedure specifically excludes certain matters;  

 
• Legal matters – issues that involve a legal action by or against, the Council. 

 
• Insurance matters – issues that involve an insurance claim against the Council or 

its insurers. 
 

• Statutory, regulatory or other procedures including: 
 

• Admissions to schools. 
• Complaints about decision to place a child on the Child Protection Register. 

Page 282



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 7 

• Childcare matters such as court decisions and care proceedings. 
• Childminders and residential care and nursing homes – decisions on 

appeals against failure to register and against decisions to de-register. 
• Social services complaints: 

• Children & Young People 
• Adults and vulnerable people 

• Objections to planning applications. 
• Council tax and housing benefit determinations- should be considered 

under Courts or Tribunals. 
• Complaints about Councillors- this will be referred to the Monitoring Officer. 
• Enforcement procedures for which there is a right of appeal. 
• Licensing and registration – appeals against refusals, revocations or 

conditions attached. 
• Parking fines and Enforcement 
• Planning decisions, applicant’s right of appeal 
• Right to Buy Valuation re-determinations 
• Special Educational Needs Tribunals 
• Staff matters covered by the grievance, disciplinary and recruitment and 

selection procedures. 
• Statutory Landlord and Tenant matters. 
• School Complaints- dealt with via the Head and board of governors.  

 
A complaint will not be taken where it relates to the decision/ outcome of an appeal. 
However, a complaint maybe taken relating to the process of how the decision was 
made.  

 
5.3  Relationship to other Policies and Processes  
 

This procedure may be suspended if any of the following procedures are invoked: 
 

a) Disciplinary and Grievance Procedures  
b) Harassment Procedures 
c) Police Investigation- Criminal  
d) Children’s Social Services Complaints Procedure 
e) Adults Social Service Complaints Procedure 
f) Safeguarding Procedure 

 
5.4  Any complaint which contains an allegation or suspicion of fraud, corruption or financial 

irregularity, whether allegedly carried out by an employee or third party against the 
Council, will be reported immediately to Audit Services for investigation. 

 
5.5  Complaints concerning staff from other agencies 
 
 The complaint will be recorded by the Customer Relationship Team. The Customer 

Relationship Team will seek permission from the customer to pass the complaint to the 
relevant person who has the responsibility for managing complaints for the other agency. 

 
 
 
 

Page 283



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 8 

5.6 Complaints regarding external contractors 
 

If the complaint involves services that are provided for the Council by external providers, 
in the first instance the Council would wish to be notified if there is a problem. However, it 
is important that the external provider be given the opportunity to investigate and try and 
resolve the complaint directly with the customer.  
 
Each external provider has their own complaints procedure in line with their contractual 
obligation to the Council. The Council will maintain an oversight of all complaints dealt with 
under the contractual arrangement. 
 

 
5.7 Compensation Claims 
 
 When a complaint gives rise to a potential or actual insurance claim; usually this involves 

the customer suffering loss or injury arising out of an alleged negligent act by the Council, 
its employees or agents. Such complaints will be forwarded to the Councils Insurance 
Team and the customer informed.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 284



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 9 

 
Section 2- How the Process Works 
 

6. How the process works  
 
6.1 This section details the procedure for handling all representations, which must be 

registered with the Customer Relationship Team. 
 
6.2  Compliments, Comments and Suggestions 

 
It is very important that the service learns from the positive statements made by customers 
as well as the negative comments about services. Where these other forms of 
representation are made, including criticisms which the sender does not wish to regard as 
a complaint, the Customer Relationship Team will record and forward these 
representations to the appropriate manager for their attention.  

 
6.3 Complaints 

 
The purpose of a complaints process is to resolve concerns raised by service users and 
their representatives, to deliver outcomes which are appropriate and proportionate to the 
seriousness of the issues and to ensure that changes are made in response to any failings 
which are identified.  

 
6.4 To achieve this, the approach to handling complaints must incorporate the following 

elements 
 

• Engagement with the complainant or representative throughout the process 
• Agreement with him/her about how the complaint will be handled 
• A planned, risk-based and transparent approach 
• Commitment to prompt and focussed action to achieve desired outcomes 
• Commitment to improvement and the incorporation of learning from all complaints. 

 
6.5  How complaints can be made 

 
Complaints may be received through a variety of channels (phone, letter, email, feedback 
form, personal visit etc.) and at various points within the organisation, to staff members via 
the respective email addresses or direct to the Customer Relationship Team. Complaint 
correspondence should be scanned and emailed to customer.relationship@telford.gov.uk. 
The internal post should not be used.  

 
6.6 Regardless of the medium used or the point where it arrives within the organisation, each 

complaint must be notified immediately to the Customer Relationship Team, so that it can 
be registered and formally acknowledged within two working days. If the complaint has 
been received verbally, staff in the Customer Relationship Team will make a written 
account of it which will be sent to the complainant for approval in an appropriate format, 
the complaint will be formally acknowledged when the written account has been approved.  
 

6.7 There are two stages in the procedure, allowing for the initial response by the service 
concerned (usually the Service Delivery Manager or Team Leader) and a second stage 
investigation by an investigator independent of the service being complained about.  

 

Page 285

mailto:customer.relationship@telford.gov.uk


 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 10 

6.8 Stage One- Service Investigation 
 

6.8.1 If it has not be possible to resolve the complaint informally, the complaint will be 
recorded formally by the relevant service area on the Councils’ Complaints System. 
 

6.8.2 All complaints should be acknowledged by the Customer Relationship Team within two 
days of receipt.  The acknowledgement letter/email should clearly state the reference 
number, name and contact details of the investigating officer, which will normally be the 
Service Delivery Manager or Team Leader responsible for the service in question. 
 

6.8.3 The relevant service area will investigate the complaint and respond to the customer 
within the timescales set out in this procedure.  
 

6.8.4 A full response should be sent within 15 working days of the complaint and should 
advise the customer of their right to take the complaint to stage 2 of the corporate 
complaints procedure. This request should be made by the customer within 20 working 
days of receiving the response to their concerns. 

 
6.8.5 It may be appropriate on occasion for a complaint to be put on hold and a holding 

response sent. For example where there are ongoing legal proceedings or the matter 
is being considered via another process, which needs to be completed before it can be 
considered via the complaints process. Complainants will be informed of the reasons 
why a ‘holding’ response is considered appropriate, when the formal investigation will 
recommence and the timescale for completion.  
 

6.8.6 Where an investigation is unlikely to be completed within 15 working days, the 
investigating officer should request an extension from the Customer Relationship Team 
giving a reason for the extension.  The Customer Relationship Team will send an update 
informing the complainant of the extended response date, which should then be 
completed within 20 working days. 
 

6.8.7 On completion, the investigating officer should pass a copy of the full response to the 
Customer Relationship Team so that the action taken can be recorded on the 
complaints system and any outstanding or follow up actions can be monitored. 

 
6.9 Stage Two- Independent Investigation 

 
6.9.1 If the customer is not satisfied with the outcome of the investigation at Stage 1, they 

may request that the complaint be reviewed providing their reasons for this. A request 
can be made to progress their concerns to stage 2 by completion of a stage 2 
escalation pro-forma.  This records the reason for escalation and the outcome 
required by the customer. The request for a review and any subsequent investigation 
would be considered by the Senior Formal Complaints Investigator, who is a member 
of the Customer Relationship Team and Independent from Corporate services. 

6.9.2 The customer will be asked to provide details of why they feel that their complaint has 
not been fully responded to at Stage 1; 

6.9.3 However, if it is considered that there are no suitable grounds for escalating the 
complaint to a full investigation at Stage 2 the customer will receive written 
confirmation detailing the reasons why their request had been declined, together with 

Page 286



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 11 

contact details for the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO).  
The request to escalate to stage 2 should be considered and if the escalation is 
refused will be responded to within 10 working days of the request.  

6.9.4 If the complaint is escalated and a full investigation is to be considered, the 
independent Senior Formal Complaint Investigator will compile a full response within 
25 working days.  If this deadline is not met an interim reply will be sent to the 
customer detailing progress.  The investigation should then be completed within a 
maximum of 65 working days. 

6.9.5 The purpose of Stage 2 in this procedure is to consider if: 

• The customer’s complaint was fully understood and addressed;  

• All of the relevant evidence was taken into account;  

• The Council’s policies and procedures were properly followed;  

• The complaints process was carried out properly and fairly;  

• The conclusions were reasonable and fair and reached on the basis of evidence;  

• Any other actions or remedies are appropriate.  
It is not to: 

• Reinvestigate the complaint – it will focus on understanding continuing concerns and 
consider whether the Stage 1 resolution was undertaken fairly and that the 
conclusions reached were reasonable;  

• Revisit a decision taken by committee or an officer under delegated powers; 

• Undermine the professional judgement of officers; 

• Deal with any new matters that were not part of the original complaint;  

• Cover any points dealt with by a court or where an appeal against a decision lies with 
a court or other legal process.  

 
6.9.6 On completion of the Stage 2 investigation the recommendations will be passed to the 

Assistant Director to agree any recommendations / service improvements resulting 
from the investigation. The investigation report will then be forwarded to the customer 
and will include information on their right of redress to the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman, if they continue to remain dissatisfied. 

 
 

6.10 Special Cases 
 

In certain cases, the general rules regarding who investigates complaints will not apply. 
These cases will be as follows: 

 
• At Stage 1, if the complaint relates to the actions of the Service Delivery Manager/ 

Team Manager who would normally act as investigating officer, it should be referred 
to the appropriate Assistant Director for action. 

 
• Any complaint against an Assistant Director should be referred to the Chief 

Executive for action. 

Page 287



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 12 

 
• There is a separate procedure for investigating complaints about Elected Members 

of the Council, which should be referred to Council’s Monitoring Officer.   
 

6.11  Complaints covering more than one service 
 
Where a Stage 1 or Stage 2 complaint involves more than one service, then the 
relevant investigating officers should liaise so that whenever possible a single co-
ordinated response is sent to the complainant.  The Customer Relationship Team may 
at times co-ordinate such a response. 

 
6.12 The Process 
 

 Action Timescale Responsibility 
 Stage 1   
1. To notify the Customer 

Relationship Team of any 
complaint which has been 
received elsewhere in the Council 

Immediately, by phone, fax or 
email 

All members of staff 

2. Send a formal acknowledgement 
to the customer that the complaint 
has been received and registered. 

Within 2 working days Customer 
Relationship Team 

3. To pass the complaint to the 
relevant Service Delivery Manager 

Within 2 working days Customer 
Relationship Team 

4. To undertake investigation and 
actions to resolve the complaint 
informally at Stage 1 to the 
customer’s satisfaction. The 
findings should be communicated 
in writing to the customer. 

15 working days (extendable 
by 5 more working days if the 
complaint is complex) 

Relevant Service 
Delivery Manager 

 Stage 2   
1. Customer makes a request to 

escalate their complaint to Stage 
2. Provide details of the complaint 
and what they consider has not 
been addressed. 

Within 20 working days of the 
Stage one response. 

Complainant 

2. The Senior Formal Complaints 
Investigator reviews the escalation 
request and provides a written 
response confirming a full 
investigation or if the request has 
been refused. 

Within 10 working days Senior Formal 
Complaints 
Investigator 

3. If a full investigation is required 
appoint an Investigator to 
undertake a Stage 2 Investigation. 

Within 5 working days of 
confirmed escalation to Stage 
2 or agreed complaint 
statement 

Customer 
Relationship Team 

4. To complete the investigation and 
submit the draft Stage 2 report to 
the appropriate Assistant Director 
for approval of the 
recommendations / service 

Within 25 working days of 
complaint statement being 
signed (unless extension 
agreed with complainant in 
which case this period is 

Investigator 

Page 288



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 13 

improvements resulting from the 
complaint investigation. A copy of 
this report will also be sent to the 
Customer Relationship Team 

extended to 65 working days 
maximum.) 

5. To notify the complainant where 
appropriate the reasons for 
necessary extension past 25 
working days and to specify a new 
completion date. 

Within 25 working days of the 
complaint statement being 
signed 

Customer 
Relationship Team 

6. To provide the complainant with a 
formal Stage 2 response. 

Within 5 working days of 
receiving the final reports and 
in all cases, within 65 working 
days of the complaint 
statement being agreed & 
signed. 

Customer 
Relationship Team 

7. To discuss Learning to prepare a 
Service Action Plan to monitor any 
service improvements. 

Within 25 working days of 
complaint response having 
been sent to the customer. 

Customer 
Relationship Team 

 
 

7 Resolution and Remedies  
 

7.1 Where some justification is found for a complaint consideration needs to be given to the 
question of appropriate remedy.  
 

7.2 An apology and/or explanation will always be needed where any part of the complaint is 
upheld. It may be necessary to determine who can provide remedial action and what 
arrangements are needed.  
 

7.3  The Council’s guidance in the use of financial redress is that this should be made in 
exceptional circumstances where some direct financial loss has been incurred, and where 
agreement has been reached with the Assistant Director, as well as the Monitoring Officer. 

 
 

8 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) 
 

8.1 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman is independent and impartial and 
gives a service which is confidential and free of charge. The Ombudsman has the same 
powers as the High Court to require people to provide information and to produce 
documents for investigation.  
 

8.2  Any member of the public is able to complain to the Ombudsman if they feel there has 
been an injustice. However, the Ombudsman’s office usually states that customers should 
first take up their complaint with the relevant Department or Council.  
 

8.3  If the customer is not happy with how the Council has dealt with their complaint, they can 
take the matter to the Ombudsman, whose role is to investigate complaints of 
maladministration by Local Authorities. Maladministration means that there has been a 
fault in the way the Council has or has not done something, such as a failure to follow its 
own rules or a breach of legislation. 

 

Page 289



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 14 

8.4 Complaints which members of the public make to the Ombudsman will be dealt with by 
the Customer Relationship Team who will ensure that the complaints process has been 
followed.  
 

8.5  The Ombudsman may reject any complaint as premature if the complaints procedure has 
not been followed. The Ombudsman’s involvement may be ended at any point where it is 
clear there is no maladministration or where the Council agrees to settle with the customer. 
 

8.6  Complainants who remain dissatisfied with the proposed outcome after their complaints 
have been handled within this procedure will be notified advised that they are entitled to 
approach the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman, to request that the matter 
be considered. The Ombudsman by telephone on 0300 061 0614 or online at 
www.lgo.org.uk  
 

8.7  People who use the Council’s services are in fact entitled to make an approach to the 
Ombudsman at any point. It is generally the case however, that the LGSCO declines to 
undertake an investigation until the complaint has been dealt with within the local 
authority’s complaints process.  
 

 
9 Improving services following complaints 

 
9.1 A primary objective of the complaints process is to ensure that mistakes are identified and 

remedied, and that they are not repeated in future. Achieving this requires analysis of what 
went wrong, why the mistake was made and what changes are needed to ensure that it 
does not recur. 
 

9.2 We are committed to ensuring that all possible lessons are learnt from the complaints we 
deal with, that our services improve as a result and that any mistakes that are identified 
are not repeated. For this reason, we have put in place ways of maximising the learning 
opportunities which arise from complaints. 
 

9.3 Most complaints prove capable of being resolved with relative informality at the first stage. 
It is nevertheless crucial that the issues and themes which arise from these complaints are 
considered carefully and comprehensively so that any poor practice or structural difficulties 
are identified and addressed. The number and type of complaints about each service area 
are reported on a quarterly and 12 monthly basis to the Senior Management Team with a 
summary of comments, recommendations and any emerging themes. 

 
9.4 Complaints which are handled at Stage 2 invariably raise important issues for the Council 

and the Investigator’s report provides an invaluable independent perspective on the 
service provided and on the matters which resulted in the complaint.  

 
9.5 A summary of learning points and changes made arising from complaints will be included 

in the annual report on complaints. 
 
 
 
 
 

10.    Unacceptable behaviour and unreasonable persistent complainants 

Page 290

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 15 

 
10.1     We are committed to providing an inclusive, responsive and easily accessible complaints 

process. We will generally not impose restrictions upon the way in which complainants 
are able to contact or communicate with staff members.   

 
10.2   In line with the authority’s duty of care however, staff are entitled to protection from 

complainants whose behaviour is abusive, offensive or threatening. In such cases, the 
Customer Relationship Team will inform the complainant why his/her behaviour is 
considered unacceptable and ask him/her to change it. If this has no effect, possible ways 
forward will be discussed at a formal (noted) strategy meeting, convened and chaired by 
the Customer Relationship Team. Decisions and action in such cases must be consistent, 
proportionate to the concerns, time-limited and subject to review at least on a six monthly 
basis. 

 
10.3  Among the possible measures available are 
 

• Restriction of access to service area sites 
• Routing of all contact with the person through a named staff member 
• Requiring contact with the person to be by letter only  
• Proposing a formal agreement with the complainant about his/her behaviour 
• Accessing legal advice regarding obtaining an injunction 
• Notification to the police 
• Notification to the keeper of the Council’s Personal Safety Precautions Register 

 
 

10.4 Whilst no single definition of an unreasonable persistent complainant exists, vexatious 
behaviour may include some or each of the following, this is not an exhaustive list; 

 
• Refusing to specify grounds of the complaint, despite offers of assistance from the 

council.  
 

• Refusing to cooperate with the complaints investigation process whilst still wishing the 
complaint to be resolved.  

 
• Refusing to accept that issues are not within the remit of a complaints procedure 

despite having been provided with information about the procedure’s scope. 
  

• Unwillingness to accept the terms of the complaints procedure. 
 

• Insisting on the complaint being dealt with, in ways that are incompatible with the 
complaints procedure or good practice.  

 
• Making what appear to be groundless complaints about the staff dealing with the 

complaint, and seeking to have them replaced.  
 

• Changing the basis of the complaint as the investigation proceeds and/or denying 
statements made at an earlier stage. 

 

Page 291



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 16 

• Introducing trivial or irrelevant new information which the complainant expects to be 
taken into account and commented on, or raising large number of detailed but 
unimportant questions and insisting they are fully answered.  

 
• Electronically recording meetings and conversations without the prior knowledge and 

consent of the other persons involved.  
 

• Making unnecessary excessive demands on the time and resources of staff whilst a 
complaint is being looked into, by for example excessive telephoning or sending 
emails to numerous council staff, writing lengthy complex letters every few days and 
expecting immediate responses.  

 
• Submitting repeat complaints, after the complaints processes have been completed, 

essentially about the same issues, with additions/variations which the complainant 
insists make these “new” complaints which should be put through the full complaints 
procedure.  

 
• Refusing to accept the decision – repeatedly arguing the point and complaining about 

the decision. 
  

• Repetition of identical or similar complaints, but failure to accept any outcome 
 

• Excessive focus on the complaints process, as opposed to the desired outcome  
 

• Focus on unrealistic and unachievable outcomes 
 

• Unreasonably persistent and repetitious contact with the service area 
 
• Tendency to approach different parts of the organisation, in the apparent hope of 

eliciting different responses  
 

• Abusive or threatening behaviour or language towards council staff. 
 

10.5 Subject to any considerations about unacceptable behaviour, it is crucial to ensure that 
the substance of any complaint which seems to be being pursued in a vexatious manner 
is considered and investigated with the same rigour as any other complaint, as far as 
possible. Only on this basis could the service area justify any later course of action which 
had the effect of treating the complainant differently from others. 

 
10.6 The basis on which a vexatious complainant might be treated differently from any other 

complainant stems from the authority’s obligation to deploy its resources as fairly as 
possible. This entails avoiding using resources disproportionately and unproductively in 
respect of some individuals. Responding to vexatious complaints can be stressful to the 
staff involved and the authority’s duty of care to its employees requires appropriate 
remedial action to be taken in such cases. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 292



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 17 

11. Compliments and comments 
 

11.1  All comments or compliments, whether received in person, by telephone, in writing or by 
e-mail should also be passed to the Customer Relationship Team, as soon as possible 
i.e. by fax, e-mail or telephone for acknowledging. 

 
11.2  If a comment requires further action or a response, this will be passed to the Team 

Leader or Service Delivery Manager responsible for the service concerned.  The 
Manager will aim to deal with the comment within the same time scale as a complaint 
and should notify the Customer Relationship Team of the action taken. 

 
 

12. Performance monitoring 
 

12.1    Activities undertaken within the complaints procedure will be reported on a quarterly and 
12 monthly basis to the Service Delivery Management Team, and will be summarised in 
an Annual Report, which will be published on the Council’s website. 

 
12.2 In considering complaints performance, particular attention will be paid to  

 
• Number of complaints arising in each service area. 
• Proportion which were upheld on investigation. 
• Significance of any common themes which emerge from complaints. 
• Extent of compliance with agreed timescales. 
• Extent of service user satisfaction with the operation of the process. 
• Number of complaints which have not been resolved within the process, and are 

referred to the Ombudsman.  
• Any learning identified. 
• Changes and improvements which occur in consequence of complaints. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 293



 

Corporate Complaints, Compliments & Comments Policy/Procedure November 2020 18 

13. Corporate Complaints Flowchart 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 

Key 
CRT – Customer Relationship Team 
 
 

Complaint received and passed 
to CRT 

Complaint registered and 
acknowledged by CRT within 2 

working days. 

Complaint allocated to Service 
Delivery Manager for 

investigation 

Investigation report and draft 
response submitted to Director for 

approval  

Complainant satisfied Complainant not satisfied 

Identify and record learning points 

Learning Outcome Meeting 

Close 

Complaint Response at Stage 1 
sent to customer 

Complaint escalation request 
considered by Senior Formal 

Complaints Investigator Escalation request refused, 
customer notified in writing of 

reasons.  

Signpost to LGSCO 
Full investigation completed 

Escalation request accepted 

Stage 2 Response finalised and 
sent to customer. Signposting the 

customer to LGSCO if remains 
dissatisfied.   

Page 294



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 1 

 

 
 

 
 

Resolving Complaints and 
Improving Services 

 
 
 

 
 

Policy & Procedure 
for 

Telford and Wrekin Council 
Adult Social Care 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 295



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 2 

Contents: 
 
Section 1- Scope of the Representations and Complaints Procedure     3 
 
1 Defining representations and complaints 3 
2 Legislation 3 
3 Our Policy on Complaints 4 
4 What may be complained about? 7 
5 Who can complain under this procedure? 7 
6 What is excluded from this procedure? 8 

 
Section 2- How the Process Works          14 
 
7 How the process works 14 
8 Conciliation and mediation 20 
9 Resolution and Remedies 22 
10 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 22 
11 Improving services following complaints 23 
12 Complaints about services provided under contract (Care 

Standards/Social Care Provider complaints) 
23 

13 Complaints which are partly about National Health Service bodies 25 
14 Unacceptable behaviour and vexatious complainants 26 
15 Performance monitoring 28 
16 Flowchart- Statutory complaints process for Adult Social Services 29 
17 Flowchart- Non Section 42 Provider Complaints  

 
30 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 296



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 3 

Section 1 – Scope of the Representations and Complaints Procedure 
 

1. Defining representations and complaints 
 

1.1 At Telford and Wrekin Council we welcome all feedback from customers this is                
because it helps us improve the way we do things and to learn from things that have 
gone wrong.  
 

1.2 The intention of this document is to set out the statutory procedure for a customer who 
is likely to want to make representations, including complaints, about the actions, 
decisions or apparent failings of our Adult Social Care Services and to allow any other 
appropriate person to act on their behalf.  

 
1.3 We define a complaint as 

 
‘An expression of dissatisfaction or disquiet about the actions, decisions or apparent 
failings of our adult social services provision, which requires a response.’ 
 

1.4 We realise that it would be unrealistic to register every such statement within the 
procedure, particularly in cases where it is possible to deal with the matter of concern 
there and then. Indeed the 2009 Regulations specify that a complaint which is made 
orally and which is resolved to the person’s satisfaction the same or the following working 
day, does not need to be registered within this procedure.  
 

1.5  It is nevertheless the complainant’s right ultimately to decide whether or not the matter 
of concern should be registered within this complaints procedure. It is crucial therefore 
that clear information about the procedure is made available in advance, so that 
complainants can make an informed decision about whether they want to make a 
complaint using this procedure.   
 

1.6        Representations may not always be complaints; they might also be positive remarks or 
ideas that require a response from the Local Authority. Enquiries or comments about the 
availability, delivery or nature of a service which are not criticisms are also welcomed 
and can help us to improve our services.  

 
2. Legislation  

 
2.1 This complaints procedure is based upon The Local Authority Social Services and 

National Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations 2009, which came into force 
on 1st April 2009. 
 

2.2 The Regulations simplified the framework for dealing with complaints. It removed the 
previous three-stage process which marked Local Authority complaints procedures for 
social services since 1990, and set out a requirement that there should be a single 
investigation and response to complaints raised.  

 
2.3 The way the matter is handled is to be determined in consultation and agreement with 

the complainant, on the basis of how serious and far-reaching the concerns raised are. 
 

Page 297



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 4 

2.4 This procedure complies with the Data Protection Act 2018 and the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000. Any information obtained in relation to a complaint can only be 
used for that purpose. 

 
2.5 This complaints procedure will support individuals to appeal their assessment decisions 

under Section 72 of the Care Act 2014.  
 

3. Our Policy on Complaints 
 

3.1 This policy and procedure on complaints applies to services provided by the Council’s 
Adult Social Care in Telford and Wrekin. 
 
Complaints about the areas of the service which are not concerned with Adult Social Care 
will generally be handled within separate policies. 

 
3.2  The policy is framed to:  

 
• Provide high quality and responsive service; 
• Acknowledge that all people who receive services have a right to complaint if they 

think that something that should have been done has not been done, or that something 
has been done poorly or incorrectly.  
  

 
3.3 Inter-Agency Joint Working Protocol 
 
 As of April 2009 there is a duty to co-operate between different agencies for example 

Councils, Primary Care Trust’s etc, to resolve issues effectively and quickly. Each agency 
should have a joint working protocol to ensure that both customers and officers are aware 
of the process involved should a complaint cover more than one organisation. This 
protocol sets out the steps in the decisions making process as to which organisation 
should take the lead in handling the complaint. It also sets out the necessary steps to 
gain permission to share information and inform the customer throughout the process. A 
copy of our Joint Working Protocol can be found on our website at 
www.telford.gov.uk/complaints. (For more information regarding this process see 14) 

 
3.4 We are committed to ensuring that Adult Social Care meet the highest quality standards. 

This applies regardless of whether we provide the service directly, or whether we 
purchase it from a provider (such as a care home or a home-care service) with whom we 
have a contract. 

 
3.5 We know that things sometimes go wrong with services, and that staff and managers 

sometimes make mistakes. When this happens, we believe it is important to put things 
right, as rapidly and as effectively as possible. Through this complaints procedure, we are 
committed to working with customers who use our services, their advocates, carers and 
relatives, listening to them and deciding with them the most effective way of sorting out 
whatever has gone wrong, and putting it right.  

 
3.6 Above all, the way we deal with complaints will be based on 

 
• Customer focus – listening to what people tell us 
• Responsiveness – acting on what people say to us 

Page 298

http://www.telford.gov.uk/complaints


 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 5 

• Promptness – making sure people get answers in good time 
• Transparency – dealing openly and honestly with problems 
• Proportionality – making sure that the resolution fits the complaint 
• Learning – making sure complaints result in changes and improvement 
 

3.7 We recognise our responsibility to ensure a high level of awareness of their entitlement 
to complain among people who use or may be eligible for services. We will therefore make 
sure in a number of ways that people are informed and reminded that the complaints 
procedure is available if necessary and they can expect assistance and support if they 
have cause to use it. Among the ways in which we will meet this obligation are  
 
• Information about the complaints process will be made available in a variety of ways 

e.g. on the Council website, by means of leaflets and posters. 
• Individuals will be given details by staff members in the course of their work. 
• Case management correspondence will routinely incorporate references to the right 

to make complaints. 
• Dedicated email address for complaints including those about Adult Social Care. 

 
3.8 Also, for this procedure to be of benefit, we think it is crucial for all customers who use 

our services, their advocates, carers and relatives, members of the public, staff, managers 
and providers of our contracted services to be well informed about how the complaints 
process works, so that everyone is aware of their rights and obligations. Recognising that 
we serve a diverse community, we will therefore make details of the procedure available 
on request in a range of formats, in order to maximise its accessibility and to ensure that 
no individual or group is prevented from using and benefiting from it. To request this 
information, please call the Customer Relationship team on 01952 382006 or email 
customer.relationship@telford.gov.uk.  

 
3.9 We recognise that some people who use our services are especially frail or vulnerable, 

have communication difficulties, do not speak English as a first language or are without 
the support of family members or friends. If we receive a complaint from such a person, 
we will ensure that details of an approved independent advocacy service are offered, and 
we will arrange this if the service user agrees. Where a service user lacks mental capacity, 
advocacy will always be considered. In cases where a complaint is made on behalf of a 
vulnerable person by a family member or friend, we will try as far as possible to establish 
that the complaint reflects the vulnerable person’s own wishes. In such cases, we will 
always consider whether it would be beneficial for the vulnerable person to involve an 
independent advocacy service, as well. Once this has happened the advocate will be 
entitled to participate on the complainant’s behalf in all activities related to the complaint, 
and speak for him/her, for as long as the complainant agrees, until the matter is 
concluded.  

 
Details of how the advocate should be involved in the process should be discussed and 
agreed when the investigation plan is compiled. 
 
The contact details for locally accessible advocacy services will be publicised through the 
Council’s information systems and in material which is addressed to persons in receipt of 
or have received Adult Social Care Services, both in hard-copy and electronic formats.   
 
 

Page 299

mailto:customer.relationship@telford.gov.uk


 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 6 

3.10 Whenever we deal with a comment or a complaint, we will look critically at what has 
happened, to see what lessons we can learn, and ensure that any changes which need 
to be made are applied, not only in the case being complained about, but across the 
service. We believe that if Adult Social Care have got something wrong, then we need to 
put it right, and to make sure that the service user has not lost out as a result. If we 
conclude, when the process has been completed, that the complaint was not justified, we 
will provide a full written explanation. In all cases, we will provide clear information about 
how to take matters further, so that the person making the complaint can decide if that is 
what they want to do. 

 
3.11 We realise that the different procedures which could be applicable when concerns are 

raised about services (e.g. Adult Safeguarding Procedure, the complaints procedures of 
other bodies, a provider’s own in-house complaints arrangements, disciplinary processes, 
criminal investigations etc) could result in confusion for customers. In cases like this, 
complaints staff will ensure that there is consultation and engagement with complainants, 
and that sound decisions are reached with them about which procedure should take 
precedence, and why. Where, for example, a complaint raises concerns about any 
person’s safety, the matter will be referred for investigation under the Adult Safeguarding 
Procedure, and the decision may be taken that action on the complaint will be suspended, 
pending the outcome. We regard it as crucial however that people are provided with clear 
information about the possible interplay between different procedures and are reassured 
that they are entitled to request that any remaining issues can be taken up through this 
complaints process, once the other process is concluded.  

 
3.12 We recognise that many people fear that making a complaint may result in reprisals or in 

a deterioration of the service provided, and so we offer an assurance that we would regard 
this as wholly unacceptable, and that we would take very seriously any concern that this 
had happened. We will work to ensure that all members of our staff and management have 
a positive and informed view of complaints, and will give whatever help is necessary to 
enable people to get due benefit from the procedure. 

 
3.13 The overall responsibility for ensuring the Council’s compliance with the Local Authority 

Social Services and National Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations 2009 rests 
with the Council’s Chief Executive. As the ‘responsible person’ within the regulations, s/he 
may delegate this function as appropriate. 

 
3.14 Responsibility for managing the day-to-day operation of the Adult Social Care complaints 

process lies with the Customer Relationship Team Leader who is the designated 
Complaints Manager, and whose duties and functions may be delegated. 

 
3.15 This policy and procedure will be available to members of the public on the Council’s 

website, but hard copies will be provided on request. The complaint leaflet ‘Have your 
say…?’ which summarises this information is widely distributed and is available at a range 
of community contact points, as well as from the Customer Relationship Team. 

 
3.16  We also believe that when people who use our services send us comments and 

compliments based on their experiences, they should be acknowledged, considered and 
acted upon. This is an important aspect of the dialogue between local people and local 
services and forms an important part of our Quality Assurance Framework. 

 
 

Page 300



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 7 

4. What may be complained about? 
 
A complaint may arise as a result of many things relating to service functions such as: 
 
• An unwelcome or disputed decision; 
• Concern about the quality or appropriateness of service; 
• Delay in decision making or provision of services; 
• Delivery or non-delivery of services including complaints procedures; 
• Quantity, frequency, change or cost of a service; 
• Attitude or behaviour of staff; 

 
5. Who can complain under this procedure? 

 
5.1  The following parties are entitled to make complaints under this procedure: 

 
• Individuals accessing support from Adult Social Care.  
• Someone for whom the Council has a power or duty to provide or secure the provision 

of a service, and this need for a service has come to the attention of the Council;  
• People whose needs have been the subject of an assessment within one or more of 

Adult Social Care Services. 
• People whose possible need for a service has been notified to the service area. 
• People who wish to dispute the service’s assessment of their mental capacity. 
• Someone in receipt of direct payments from the Council for services. 
• Family members, friends, carers, advocates or representatives of people in any of 

these groups, providing that it is established as far as possible that the service user 
agrees with the complaint. 

• People who are or might be affected by an action or decision which is the subject of a 
complaint. 

 
Where the complaint is being made on behalf of another person: 
 
• Telford and Wrekin Council will consider representations including complaints made 

to us by any customer or third party who is contacting us on the customers behalf.  
• Where the service user has capacity (i.e. the ability to received, understand and 

process information given and can make a decision) then written permission should 
always be obtained.  

• Where the service user lacks capacity (within the meaning of the Mental Capacity Act 
2005) then Power of Attorney documentation should be requested.  

• We will also consider representations from Formal Authorised Representatives for 
further information see section 9.7. 

• The Council must be satisfied the person making the complaint is a suitable person, 
and is making the complaint in the best interests of the person on whose behalf the 
complaint is being made. 

• Responses will be proportionate based on the individual circumstances of the case. 
 

5.2      The Complaints Manager may decline to register a complaint if it appears that it is being 
brought by a representative who is not acting in the best interests of the service user.  
Any such decision will be recorded and notified in writing to the complainant. 

 

Page 301



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 8 

 
 

5.3 Who may act on behalf of an individuals with written permission? 
 

• A person providing care to a service user without being employed for that purpose 
(private carer). 

• Family member of relative of the service user 
• Any other person having sufficient interest in the service user’s wellbeing to warrant 

their making representations on their behalf (staff may make a complaint on behalf of 
a service user where there is no other person able to do so and there is a duty of care). 

• Elected Councillor, MP and MEP 
 

5.4 Complaints will not be registered more than a year after the matter giving rise to concern 
arose. Nevertheless, the Complaints Manager may waive this time limit if; 

 
• It would not be reasonable to expect the complainant to have made the complaint 

sooner, and 
• It is still possible to deal with the complaint effectively and fairly. 

 
 
6.      What is excluded from this procedure? 

 
6.1 There are occasions when this procedure will not be the most appropriate procedure to be 

used, for instance; 
 

• When the initial contact is a request for service; 
• When the issue is about something other than Adult Social Care provision; the 

Corporate Complaints Procedure may be more appropriate. 
• Where the issue of the complaint is over 12 months old, unless there are exceptional 

circumstances; 
• Allegation of staff misconduct is dealt with under a separate procedure; 
• Appeals against court rulings; 
• Matters under consideration by the courts, for example prosecutions; 
• A criminal Police investigation is invoked; 
• When there are Court of Protection Proceedings underway; 
• Multi-agency adult protection procedures are invoked; 

 
6.2 Complaints within the following categories are deemed to lie outside the remit of these 

procedures and will not be registered or dealt with under this process:      
 

• Complaints by other local authorities, independent providers or NHS bodies. 
• Complaints about Children and Young People’s Services ; 
• Complaints from staff about their terms and conditions of employment. 
• Complaints which are resolved to the complainant’s satisfaction by the end of the 

working day following receipt (see 1.4 above) 
• Complaints of which the subject matter has been previously investigated within the 

terms of this procedure or another relevant complaints procedure. 
• Complaints of which the subject matter has been previously investigated by the Local 

Government Ombudsman and where no new information has been raised to cast 
doubt on the Ombudsman’s decision. 

Page 302



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 9 

• Complaints about a failure to comply with the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 
• Approved Mental Health Professionals (AMHP) decisions regarding applications 

under the Mental Health Act 1983, are actions taken independently of the council and 
fall outside of this procedure. However the process of the AMHP assessment is 
covered by this procedure. 

       
 
6.3 Contracted Services and Other Cross Boundary Issues 
 
 An area of confusion arises around boundaries between the Council’s responsibility and 

those of other bodies delivering services on behalf of the Council, for example: 
 

• Domiciliary care through a private agency 
• Registered homes 
• Contracted agencies and multi-agency services 
• Shared Lives schemes 
• Independent Social Work reports submitted to court 
• Multi-agency health service packages 

 
Protocols are in place for successful handling of these complaints. Partner agencies will 
have appropriate procedures of their own in place for responding to complaints in the first 
instance. This will be part of the contracting procedure and will be monitored by the 
relevant service managers. (For more information regarding this please see section 12) 

 
6.4 Complaints regarding residential and Domiciliary Care and/or NHS/ CCG 
 
 As of 1 April 2009 The Care Quality Commission (CQC) took over the work of the following 

three commissions: 
 

• Commission for Social Care Inspection (CSCI) 
• Healthcare Commission 
• Mental Health Act Commission 
 
Where a complaint includes issues that are the responsibility of CQC these should be 
sent to the CQC National Customer Service Centre (enquiries@cqc.org.uk), as soon as 
possible. 
 
A member of the Customer Relationship Team will discuss and agree with the customer 
those parts of the complaint that are the responsibility of the other agency, and seek their 
agreement to forward this part of the complaint to the other agency (please see section 
14 for further information). 

 
6.5 Complaints concerning Allegations of abuse by staff against vulnerable Adults 
 
 The complaints procedure will only apply to those allegations of abuse or ill-treatment 

made against Council Staff, Council carers (adults) or any agency that the Council has 
contracted to provide a service on behalf of the Council. 

 
 A vulnerable adult is ‘any person aged 18 years or above who is or maybe in need of 

community care services by reason of mental health and other disability, age or illness 

Page 303



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 10 

and who is, or may be, unable to take care of him or herself, or unable to protect him or 
herself for significant harm or exploitation’. 

 
 An allegation of abuse or ill-treatment registered as a complaint would still require a written 

response under the complaints procedure. After the multi-agency Adult Safeguarding 
Policy has been carried out the relevant manager would be expected to investigate further 
any outstanding matters from the complaint which were not dealt with within the protection 
procedures. 

 
 The manager would reply directly to the customer and adult (unless he or she is not of 

sufficient understanding) or advocate. The reply would also refer to any additional matters. 
 
 
6.6 Complaints about an individuals placed in the area of another Council by Telford 

and Wrekin Council 
 
 Telford and Wrekin Council will retain responsibility for all individuals that are placed in 

another local authority area as we will continue to fund and review these placements.  
 
 Each residential home is required to have its own complaints procedure, whilst customers 

also have the right to have their complaints considered by the CQC or Telford and Wrekin 
Council as the purchasing Council.   

 
6.7  Complaints concerning staff from other agencies 
 
 The complaint will be recorded by the Customer Relationship Team. The Customer 

Relationship Team will seek permission from the customer to pass the complaint to the 
relevant person who has the responsibility for managing complaints for the other agency. 

 
6.8 Compensation Claims 
 
 When a complaint gives rise to a potential or actual insurance claim; usually this involves 

the customer suffering loss or injury arising out of an alleged negligent act by the Council, 
its employees or agents. Such complaints will be forwarded to the Councils Insurance 
Team and the customer informed.  

 
 
6.9 The statutory process will not apply if: 
 

• The complaint is on behalf of a group of customers who use our services; group 
complaints should be referred to the Complaints Manager. Where discretion is used 
to consider a group complaint under the statutory procedure, it will be necessary for 
the group to appoint a single point of contact who will assume responsibility and to 
whom responses will be sent, and s/he will be responsible for distributing these to the 
group. 
 

• The same complaint is received from a number of individuals in such a way as to 
suggest an organised campaign. The substance of the complaint maybe investigated 
at the discretion of the Complaints Manager.  

 

Page 304



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 11 

• The customer is abusive or makes threats to staff in the course of submitting the 
complaint. The customer appears to be a persistent and vexatious customer or other 
unreasonable behaviour. 

 
• The complaint appears to be substantively indistinguishable from one that has already 

been submitted by, or on behalf of, the same service user, and has received a written 
response through statutory procedure. 

 
• The complaint concerns the behaviour of an individual who is not employed by the 

Council, or in receipt of payment from the Council, to provide a service; 
 

• The complaint has been made anonymously, although the substance of the complaint 
may be investigated and learning taken, a response cannot be sent (see section 6.15); 

 
• The complaint is not about any actions or decision of the Council, or anybody acting 

on its behalf; 
 

• The complaint has already be dealt with at all stages of the procedure; 
 

• The same complaint has been dealt with by a local commission, other legal process, 
judicial review or Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman; 

 
• The matters complained about should be dealt with under other procedures such as 

disciplinary or grievance procedures, personal issues or the corporate complaints 
procedure; 

 
• The dissatisfaction is with a court decision or where a remedy to any issue is through 

an appeal to court; 
 

• There is a special statutory procedure which already exists for dealing with the 
particular issue; 

 
• Separate internal arrangements for Appeal and/or Review for reconsideration of 

professional decisions taken. The complaints process is then available if a customer 
has grounds for complaint about the process, this will include appeals against 
assessment decisions under section 72 of the Care Act 2014; 

 
• Where a customer is ‘self-funded’ and uses independent services. The customer will 

be advised of their rights under the Care Standards Act 2000; 
 

6.10 If customers are campaigning for a new or amended services, or increased resources for 
groups of service users or potential service users they should consult with their elected 
representatives, not use the complaints process. 

 
6.11 Where a customer states in writing s/he intends to take legal proceedings in relation to 

the substance of the complaint, access to the complaints procedure may be restricted, 
and where the Complaints Manager is certain the complaint cannot be resolved through 
this procedure. In the following situation customers should be advised to consult with 
their legal representative; 

 

Page 305



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 12 

• Challenging legislation or judicial decisions 
 

• Applying for compensation or damages arising from alleged actions or inaction of staff 
 

• If a complaint has been initiated under a statutory procedure then the process should 
be suspended until the final outcome of the legal action. There is no requirement to 
suspend the complaints process if the customer is simply seeking legal advice or is 
taking legal action against the Council on a matter not directly related to the complaint. 

 
• The complaint subject is a matter to be determined by a judicial body, the complaint 

should be referred back to the body in question. 
 

6.12 In the following situation complaints should be discussed with the Complaints Manager 
and a Senior Manager; 

  
• The complaint involves allegations against staff of a serious nature, for example 

professional incompetence, dishonesty or criminal behaviour. In such cases, a 
relevant senior manager may determine that other processes would be used to deal 
with the complaint, for example formal disciplinary procedures or criminal 
investigation. 
 

• Advice should be sought before a complaint is responded to within the statutory 
procedure in the above instances, where a degree of local discretion is required. 
Consideration would be given to these types of issues under the Corporate Complaints 
Procedure. 

 
6.13 Relationship to other Policies and Processes 
 
 This procedure may be suspended if any of the following procedures are invoked: 
 

a) Disciplinary and Grievance Procedures  
b) Children and Young Peoples Services Complaints Procedure 
c) Harassment Procedures 
d) Police Investigation- Criminal 

 
 

6.14 Deferring or Freezing Decisions 
  
 Customers must not be discouraged from making their complaints. The status of the 

provision of a service which is subject of complaint would not usually be subject to 
change, delay, suspension or withdrawal while a complaint is being dealt with under this 
procedure.  

 
 Decisions may be frozen when a complaint has been made about such a decision/action 

which could have a significant impact on the life of an individual. The decision would be 
considered by the relevant operational manager and unless good reason could be shown 
for doing otherwise, the decision would be frozen pending the outcome of the complaint. 
The manager would be expected to record the reasons for not freezing a decision and to 
provide a copy to the Complaints Manager. 

 

Page 306



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 13 

 The investigation of complaints must preserve confidentiality and reflect the Council’s 
commitment to equal opportunities and anti-discriminatory practice.  

 
6.15 Whenever a complaint is received and any of the above exclusions apply, we will (unless 

the complaint has been resolved with 24 hours) acknowledge the matter in writing, 
explaining why the relevant elements will not be considered within this statutory 
complaints process. We will as far as possible continue to deal with any other elements 
of the complaint which are not affected by these exclusions.  

 
6.16      If an anonymous complaint is received, it will as far as possible be registered as usual 

under the corporate complaint procedure, and notified to the relevant Service Manager. 
This is particularly important where the anonymous complaint contains information which 
may need to be considered within the procedure for the Protection of Vulnerable Adults. 
It is obviously not possible to acknowledge and respond to anonymous complaints, and 
telephone callers who prefer to withhold their identity will be reminded of this. The 
substance of any such complaint will however be addressed by the relevant manager. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 307



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 14 

Section 2- How the Process Works 
 

7. How the process works  
 
7.1 This section details the procedure for handling all representations, which must be 

registered with the Customer Relationship Team. 
 
7.2  Compliments, Comments and Suggestions 

 
It is very important that the service learns from the positive statements made by customers 
as well as the negative comments about services. Where these other forms of 
representation are made, including criticisms which the sender does not wish to regard as 
a complaint, the Customer Relationship Team will record and forward these 
representations to the appropriate manager for their attention.  

 
7.3 Complaints 

 
The purpose of a complaints process is to resolve concerns raised by customers who use 
our services and their representatives, to deliver outcomes which are appropriate and 
proportionate to the seriousness of the issues and to ensure that changes are made in 
response to any failings which are identified.  

 
7.4 To achieve this, the approach to handling complaints must incorporate the following 

elements 
 

• Engagement with the complainant or representative throughout the process 
• Agreement with him/her about how the complaint will be handled 
• A planned, risk-based and transparent approach 
• Commitment to prompt and focussed action to achieve desired outcomes 
• Commitment to improvement and the incorporation of learning from all complaints. 

 
7.5  How complaints can be made 

 
Complaints may be received through a variety of channels (phone, letter, email, feedback 
form, personal visit etc) and at various points within the organisation (to staff members, 
via the respective email addresses) or direct to the Customer Relationship Team. 

 
7.6 Regardless of the medium used or the point where it arrives within the organisation, each 

complaint must be notified immediately to the Customer Relationship Team, so that it can 
be registered and formally acknowledged within three working days – this is a required 
and regulatory standard. If the complaint has been received verbally, staff in the Customer 
Relationship Team will make a written account of it which will be sent to the complainant 
for approval in an appropriate format, the complaint will be formally acknowledged when 
the written account has been approved.  
 
 

7.7 Complaints Procedure  
 
An initial assessment of the complaint is done to determine the issues, the severity and 
the potential impact and to identify any other organisations that may be involved.  
 

Page 308



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 15 

Either through the acknowledgement or by means of direct contact, complaints staff will in 
the first instance, if appropriate, offer the complainant the opportunity to meet to discuss 
the matter or to establish his/her desired outcomes. Should the complainant decline a 
meeting, then the matters set out below at 7.8 will need to be clarified over the phone, or 
if this is not acceptable, then by correspondence or failing that on the basis of existing 
information. 

 
7.8 Agreement will be sought on the following points; 

 
• Detailed account of the complaint. 
• Complainant’s view of the impact, which this has had on him/her. 
• Specific reference to any aspect which requires immediate action within the adult 

safeguarding/protection procedures. 
• Details of the outcome(s) which will resolve the matter from the complainant‘s 

perspective. 
• Whether the subject of the complaint could relate, entirely or partly, to another body 

(eg an NHS body or an independent care provider) and could therefore need a joint 
approach (see sections 13 and 14 below). 

• How the complaint will be investigated, and by whom. 
• How long it should reasonably take to investigate the matter and to provide the 

complainant with the Council’s formal response. 
• How often and by what means, the complainant will be updated on the progress of the 

investigation. 
• Whether an advocacy, translation or other support service is required. 
• Whether the involvement of an impartial mediator might contribute to a satisfactory 

resolution of the complaint.    
 
 The meeting/communication should result in an agreed Investigation Plan, which both 

parties are content to sign. 
 

7.9 The meeting/communication provides an opportunity for complaints staff to explain how 
the procedure works and to explain any matters on which the complainant needs 
clarification. It is at this point also that any desired outcomes by the complainant which 
are unrealistic or unfeasible should be identified. The outcome of any such discussion 
must be confirmed in writing at the earliest opportunity. 

 
7.10 The meeting should also ensure the capture of information upon which the issues raised 

in the complaint can be risk-assessed, for the purpose of ensuring that the mode of 
investigation is appropriate and proportionate. Accordingly the issues raised are plotted 
on two axes 

 
• Seriousness (both from the service user’s perspective, in terms of harm, risk or other 

damaging impact, and from that of the service, in terms of risk of litigation or serious 
damage to reputation). 
 

• Likelihood of a similar failing recurring 
 

The resulting categorisation of the risks raised by the complaint will promote a logical 
approach to the way forward in managing the complaint, and in providing an indication of 

Page 309



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 16 

the most suitable means of investigating it, in a way which is proportionate to the nature 
of the concerns raised.  

  
7.11 The receipt of any complaint indicates that something has gone wrong, so it is vital to 

establish the facts about what happened. For some serious complaints, it will be 
necessary to appoint someone independent of the authority to look into the case. In most 
cases however, complaints will be investigated by a manager from within the Service 
Delivery Area, who is independent of the service which is the subject of the complaint. 
The risk assessment process will provide a guide as to which approach should be 
adopted. 

 
7.12 Complaint investigations may be suspended if the subject of the complaint is subject to 

criminal proceedings or action under the disciplinary procedure. This is because these 
are considered to have priority over the complaint investigation process. Once they are 
concluded, any residual matters of complaint can be investigated. It may also be 
appropriate to suspend all or part of an investigative process to enable an Adult 
Safeguarding investigation to proceed.  In such cases the Complaints Manager will 
engage with Adult Social Care managers to determine the most appropriate course of 
action. There is no presumption for suspension, and each case will be treated on its 
merits. 

 
7.13 The Department of Health and the Local Government Ombudsman’s Office have both 

published guidance on the conduct of investigations into complaints 
  

• Investigating Complaints (Advice Sheet 1, DoH 2009) 
• Guidance on Running a Complaints System (LGO’s Office 2009) 

 
The principles set out should be observed in all complaint investigations under this 
procedure, whether undertaken in-house or externally. 

 
7.14 Investigating a complaint may involve any or all of the following activities; 

 
• Meeting with the complainant 
• Reading case file records 
• Reading Council policies and procedures 
• Accessing relevant law and regulations 
• Making site visits 
• Interviewing staff and managers 

 
All investigations need to be summarised in a report, the relevant Service Manager will 
then respond to the complaint, within the timescale agreed with the complainant when the 
investigation plan was drawn up. 

 
7.15   The report, of which the nature and level of detail will be proportionate to the concerns 

raised in the complaint, will contain the following elements; 
 
• Description of how the complaint has been investigated 
• A judgement of ‘upheld’ or ‘not upheld’ in regard to each element 
• Conclusions reached, especially in relation to the desired outcomes originally 

specified in the complaint 

Page 310



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 17 

• Recommendations for changes and improvements which need to be made following 
resolution of the complaint (these need to be specified within the Learning Log section 
of each investigation report). 

 
7.16 The relevant Service Manager is responsible for sending a formal letter of response 

including the rationale, to the complainant. The letter of response should summarise the 
salient aspects of the report, offer apologies as appropriate, specify what action will be 
taken in consequence and set out what broader learning points have been identified, for 
future implementation. It must also refer to the complainant’s entitlement, should s/he 
remain dissatisfied, to refer the matter to the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman. 

 
7.17   In the event that the responding manager is of the view, on receiving the investigation 

report, that additional action, communication or liaison could contribute to a surer or more 
effective resolution of the complaint, s/he may request that this be put in hand, by 
complaints staff or operational staff as appropriate. Any consequent delay to an agreed 
timescale should be explained to and agreed with the complainant.   

 
7.18    If the complaint is about a proposed change to a support plan, a placement or a service, 

the decision may need to be deferred until the complaint has been considered.  
Consideration should always be given to deferring a decision that will have a significant 
effect upon the life of an individual until the complaint has been considered, always 
keeping in mind the best interests of the service user. The decision to defer will normally 
be made through detailed discussion and risk assessment between the Complaint 
Manager and the Service Manager responsible for the service. In cases where decisions 
are met with opposing views, the relevant Director will make a final decision.  

 
7.19 In seeking to resolve complaints to the satisfaction of our customers and their 

representatives, the underlying aim needs to be to return the person who has suffered a 
loss, distress, delay or inconvenience as a result of the Council’s actions or inactions, to 
the position in which they would have been, if the failing which gave rise to the complaint 
had not occurred. This means that the remedy offered should be proportionate to the 
failing. When a complaint is upheld, the desired outcomes agreed with the complainant 
at the outset will provide a guide to the means of putting the matter right. If it is not possible 
to provide a remedy in any other way, consideration should be given to offering the 
complainant financial redress. This should always take account of the Ombudsman’s 
published guidance on Remedy, and of the appropriate sections of Treasury guidance 
‘Managing Public Money’. 

 
7.20 Unlike the previous complaints arrangements, no specific timescale is stipulated for the 

specified components of this procedure. The length of time which is allowable will largely 
be negotiated and agreed with the complainant when the investigation plan is drawn up. 
Once agreed if any additional time is required it must be explained to and agreed with the 
complainant, by the Customer Relationship Team, who remain responsible for keeping 
the complainant informed throughout the process.  

 
7.21 Any complaint which remains unresolved after six months will be the subject of formal 

review by the Complaints Manager and a Director. 
 
 
 

Page 311



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 18 

7.22 The Process 
 

Task Timescale Actions 
Complaint 
Received 

 • Assessment of complaint- severity /impact/likelihood or 
reoccurrence.  

• Identify if involvement from other agencies, consider 
Joint Working Protocol. 

• Identified Safeguarding issue: follow Adult Protection 
Policy and protocol before any other action.  

Telephone Service 
Manager 

 Contact relevant Service Manager to discuss; 
  

• the issues raised and  
• agree the risk assessment and  
• possible required action plan  

 
prior to contact with customer.  
 
This discussion may lead to more information being required 
from customer in order to properly assess the issues. 

Acknowledgement Within 3 
working 
days 

If telephone number has been given then telephone 
customer to discuss issues raised, where appropriate; 
 

• arrange a meeting and  
• offer advocacy and  
• signpost to support or resolve issue if possible. 
• Confirm date and time of any meeting,  
• the name of officer involved and  
• Advise them of the complaint handling process.  

 
Signposting leaflets will be sent, along with if relevant 3rd 
party consent forms, if a representative is involved.  
 
If no telephone number, write to the customer 
acknowledging the complaint requesting they make contact 
with the Customer Relationship Team in order to discuss the 
issues and offer a meeting with a stated date and time.  
 
Within this letter it will state that if we receive no response 
by the indicated target date then we will send out a further 
letter that will outline the complaint handling process and 
responding officer.  
 
If the complaint received is about a social care provider or 
CCG then consent to share this with the named organisation 
is required from the customer and agreement gained that 
the organisation be allowed to investigate and respond to 
the complaint.  
 

Page 312



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 19 

The Customer Relationship Team can act as main contact 
and work with other agencies to agree a combined 
response.  

Mediation Meeting  It is useful to arrange a mediation meeting to discuss the 
issues and work towards a solution.  
 
If no meeting is possible it is essential that contact either by 
letter or telephone is made with the customer to agree a way 
forward which will shape the action plan and work towards 
an agreed timescale of resolution. There may be other 
parties/agencies that need to be involved. 

Response with 
action plan and 
timescale 

Mutually 
agreed 
timescale 

Following the mediation meeting The Customer 
Relationship Team will send out a letter giving details of the 
action plan, timescales of resolution and confirm the name 
of responding officer. 
 
If no meeting has taken place but contact has been achieved 
by letter, email or telephone and agreement has been 
reached via this method; then the Customer Relationship 
Team will send out a letter giving details of the action plan, 
timescale of resolution and confirm the name of the 
responding officer. 

Investigation Mutually 
agreed 
timescale – 
no longer 
than 6 
months 

Issues are fully investigated – this investigation may be 
undertaken by an independent person or in most cases the 
complaint will be investigated by a manager from within the 
Service Delivery Unit. 

Full Response Mutually 
agreed 
timescale – 
no longer 
than 6 
months 

Following the investigation a copy of the investigation report 
is submitted to the Service Manager who will respond to the 
complaint, within the timescale agreed with the complainant 
when the investigation plan was drawn up.  
 
Full response is sent to the customer along with an 
investigation report. 
 
The customer is advised of their right to take the matter to 
the LGSCO if they are unhappy with the response and 
investigation findings. They have 12 months in which to do 
this.  
 
If once the report has been submitted to the Service 
Manager there is the view that additional action, 
communication or liaison could contribute to a more 
effective solution it may be referred back to operational staff 
to carry out further work. 
 
Any delay to the agreed timescale should be explained to 
and agreed with the complainant.  

Page 313



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 20 

Review 6 Months Customer Relationship Team will monitor complaints that 
are coming up to six months without resolution and review 
the status with relevant officers and the Director. 

Referral to LGSCO  The customer can take the matter to the LGSCO for their 
consideration. 

 
8. Conciliation and Mediation   

 
8.1 The complaints regulations which came into force in April 2009 are less prescriptive than 

their predecessors. By focussing on the complainant’s perspective, the sustainable 
resolution of concerns and the identification of learning points, they encourage creativity 
and innovation in the manner in which complaints can be handled. 

 
8.2 It is recognised that a complaint investigation may not contribute to the improvement of 

working relationships between the service user and the staff involved. We will offer 
complainants the opportunity to take part in conciliation, through the Customer 
Relationship Team, to help resolve issues of concern and to improve working relationships 
as an alternative to, or in addition to, pursuing action through the complaints procedure.  

 
8.3 In certain circumstances, it may be appropriate to propose that a mediation approach be 

considered.  This can be especially useful if there is an actual or a potential breakdown in 
relationships or communication. It is a means of addressing the disagreements and 
conflicts which arise in such cases, with the aim of resolving them, on a win-win basis. 

 
8.4 There is no single prescribed mediation process, but the two requirements which are 

essential to successful mediation are  
   

• An impartial mediator who enjoys the confidence of both sides 
• Commitment to and belief in the mediation process 

 
8.5 What is Mediation? 
 
 Mediation is sometimes referred to as Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) and can be 

used at all or any stage of the process of handling complaints. 
 
 Mediation provides all persons involved the time and space to listen to each other and 

their expectations, with a better chance of focusing on solutions rather than on problems, 
which benefit everyone.  

 
 A structured and open approach to conflict resolution, seeking to help all parties identify 

their own and others feelings and interests rather than defend individual positions. 
 
 Mediations will be agreed in advance by the Complaints Manager, the customer and the 

responding officer. It will be offered as early as possible in the process, but can be 
accessed at any point by agreement, and will be: 

 
• Confidential 
• Without Prejudice 
• Impartial, independent and non-judgemental and encourage collaboration with all 

people. 

Page 314



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 21 

• All parties involved in mediation must be willing to be involved and be committed to 
seeking a resolution to the issues of the complaint. 
 

8.6 What is Adjudication and who is the adjudicator? 
  

Adjudication is part of the decision making process following the investigation. The 
Adjudicator may take the opportunity on receipt of the Investigation Report to meet the 
customer and discuss outcomes before a written response is sent. The Adjudicator can be 
the responding Service Manager. 
 

8.7 Who is a Formal Authorised Representative? 
 
A person with a formal statutory entitlement, locally recognised authority, or explicit 
mandate to complain on behalf of a service user. These may include:  
 
• Power of Attorney, Enduring Power of Attorney, or Lasting Power of Attorney or 

Receiver (e.g. a person appointed by court of law).  
• A Court appointed deputy by the Court of Protection registered with the Office of Public 

Guardian.   
 

8.8  Who is an Independent Person?  
 
An independent person may take part in the Council’s consideration of a complaint during 
the process, about services provided to vulnerable adults.  
An Independent Person is:  
• Not a current or former member of the Council.  
• Not the spouse or partner of a Member of the Local Council handling the complaint.  
• Not the advocate; his/her role is to provide an objective element in the Council’s 

considerations for the vulnerable adult.  
 
The Independent Person will:  
 
• Have written consent from the Complaints Manager to have access to the customer’s 

files, should access not be with the Investigating Officer.  
• Treat all aspects of the complaint with strict confidentiality.  
• Begin by first meeting the Investigating Officer and/or Complaints Manager to plan 

their part of the investigation.  
• See the customer with the Investigating Officer, if required, to hear about the 

complaint.  
• With the Investigating Officer, see other people involved in the complaint - then be 

invited to attend any meetings in connection with the complaint.  
• Be informed of all information relevant to the complaint.  

 
The local council cannot direct the Investigating Officer and Independent Person to see or 
interview anyone. It is for them to decide how many interviews they will attend in order to 
satisfy themselves that the investigation has been thoroughly investigated.  
 
The Independent Person should not:  
• Assume the complaint could not have happened;  
• Make promises they may not be able to keep;  

Page 315



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 22 

• Say that nothing can be done.  
 

9. Resolution and Remedies  
 

9.1 Where some justification is found for a complaint consideration needs to be given to the 
question of appropriate remedy.  
 

9.2 An apology and/or explanation will always be needed where any part of the complaint is 
upheld. It may be necessary to determine who can provide remedial action and what 
arrangements are needed.  
 

9.3  The Council’s guidance in the use of financial redress is that this should be made in 
exceptional circumstances where some direct financial loss has been incurred, and where 
agreement has been reached with the Service Manager as well as the Monitoring Officer. 

 
 

10. The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) 
 

10.1 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman is independent and impartial and 
gives a service which is confidential and free of charge. The Ombudsman has the same 
powers as the High Court to require people to provide information and to produce 
documents for investigation.  
 

10.2  Any member of the public is able to complain to the Ombudsman if they feel there has 
been an injustice. However, the Ombudsman’s office usually states that customers should 
first take up their complaint with the relevant Department or Council.  
 

10.3  If the customer is not happy with how the Council has dealt with their complaint, they can 
take the matter to the Ombudsman, whose role is to investigate complaints of 
maladministration by Local Authorities. Maladministration means that there has been a 
fault in the way the Council has or has not done something, such as a failure to follow its 
own rules or a breach of legislation. 

 
10.4 Complaints which members of the public make to the Ombudsman will be dealt with by 

the Customer Relationship Team who will ensure that the complaints process has been 
followed.  
 

10.5  The Ombudsman may reject any complaint as premature if the complaints procedure has 
not been followed. The Ombudsman’s involvement may be ended at any point where it is 
clear there is no maladministration or where the Council agrees to settle with the customer. 
 

10.6  Complainants who remain dissatisfied with the proposed outcome after their complaints 
have been handled within this procedure will be notified advised that they are entitled to 
approach the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman, to request that the matter 
be considered. The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman can be contacted via 
telephone on 0300 061 0614 or online at www.lgo.org.uk  
 

10.7  People who use the Council’s services are in fact entitled to make an approach to the 
Ombudsman at any point. It is generally the case however, that the LGSCO declines to 
undertake an investigation until the complaint has been dealt with within the local 
authority’s complaints process.  

Page 316

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 23 

11. Improving services following complaints 
 

11.1 A primary objective of the complaints process is to ensure that mistakes are identified and 
remedied, and that they are not repeated in future. Achieving this requires analysis of what 
went wrong, why the mistake was made and what changes are needed to ensure that it 
does not recur. 

 
11.2 Following the resolution of a complaint, one of the following two courses of action must be 

adopted 
 

• Where the matter has been the subject of internal investigation, the manager 
undertaking the investigation will complete a Learning Log, and incorporate its 
conclusions into the report. This will follow a prescribed pattern, and detail the 
learning points which arose from the complaint and the measures which need to be 
put in place to minimise the recurrence of mistakes. The report should be submitted 
to the Customer Relationship Team for endorsement, collation and subsequent 
reporting to the Service Manager. 
 

• If the complaint was investigated by someone independent of the Council, a formal 
Learning Outcome Meeting involving relevant managers will be convened by the 
Customer Relationship Team for the purpose of identifying learning points, planning 
remedial actions, setting timescales and assigning tasks. The outcomes will be 
reported to and monitored by the Service Manager. 

 
11.3 Where the complaint has involved another body (e.g. an NHS trust or an independent care 

provider) it will be important to secure the participation of their relevant managers for the 
purpose of maximising and sharing the learning process. 

 
11.4 The complainant should be kept informed about whatever actions are taken as a result of 

the complaint. Once implemented, the changes or service improvements should be 
notified to him/her, with a note of appreciation for raising the issue.   

 
 

12. Complaints about services provided under contract (Care 
Standards/Social Care Provider complaints) 

 
12.1   In considering complaints about services which the Council purchases from independent 

providers, there is a distinction between the authority’s responsibilities and those of the 
provider of the service. The Council is responsible for commissioning and purchasing 
services, arranging placements, (re-)assessing individual needs, monitoring the adequacy 
of particular packages of care etc. The provider is responsible for ensuring that the service 
provided meets the necessary standards, as set out under the Care Standards Act 2000 
(and from 1st April 2010 under the Health & Social Care Act 2008) and complies with the 
respective regulations. The provider must also comply with the requirements of its contract 
with the authority. 

 
12.2 Each of the independent providers from whom the Council purchases services is required 

to have arrangements for handling complaints about the service it provides (known as 
‘Care Standards complaints’ or ‘Social Care Provider complaints’). These arrangements 
have to be sufficiently robust and effective to enable the provider to deal with complaints 
promptly, fairly and in a way which is proportionate to the concern raised, without the need 

Page 317



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 24 

to refer the matter elsewhere for action. The arrangements which the provider has in place 
for this purpose must also comply with the respective regulations and National Minimum 
Standards prescribed by the Department of Health, and monitored by the Care Quality 
Commission.  

 
12.3 While the Council is accountable through this complaints procedure for the way in which it 

carries out its own obligations, it is not primarily responsible for Care Standards 
complaints/ Social Care Provider complaints. These are for the provider to handle within 
the arrangements prescribed in the relevant regulations. Nevertheless, the Council is also 
responsible and accountable for services it commissions. Telford & Wrekin will seek to 
ensure that all complaints which arise within the services which it purchases are properly 
and satisfactorily resolved. 

 
12.4 In cases where the provider’s final response to a Care Standards/Social Care Provider 

complaint proves unsatisfactory to the complainant, the complaint may be referred to the 
Customer Relationship Team, for a consideration of further options, which could include 

 
• Action within the Adult Social Services complaints procedure. 
• Action taken by the contracting/commissioning unit. 
• Referral to the Care Quality Commission for their consideration of regulatory action. 

 
12.5 If the Service Delivery Unit receives a Care Standards/Social Care Provider complaint, 

complaints staff will the same or the next working day ask the complainant whether s/he 
wants the matter to be passed to the registered manager of the service concerned? If so, 
the matter will be sent to the registered manager within 3 working days. The service area 
will also notify the Care Quality Commission of any such complaint, and liaise as 
necessary with its staff. 
 

12.6  Where a complaint received by the service area includes aspects which relate both to Care 
Standards/Social Care Provider matters and to the way in which the service area has 
carried out its duties, the complainant’s permission will be sought to pass the relevant 
information to the registered manager of the service. Service area staff will then 
collaborate closely with the provider and with the complainant, within the remit of this 
complaints procedure in order as far as possible to provide a single co-ordinated response 
to the complainant. 

 
12.7 The distinction between areas of complaint which are Care Standards/Social Care 

Provider matters and those which properly fall to the service area to deal with is not always 
self-evident. In general terms, if the matter being complained about is one where the 
provider service is acting or carrying out a function on the local authority’s behalf, then it 
will fall within the remit of this complaints procedure. 

 
 

13. Complaints which are partly about National Health Service bodies 
 

13.1 The Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service Complaints (England) 
Regulations 2009, which came into force on 1st April 2009 put complaints about Adult 
Social Services and about the NHS on the same legal and procedural footing. This means 
that, although each authority and NHS organisation will operate its own procedure, the 
processes, ethos and aspirations of each will be similar. The regulations impose a ‘duty to 
co-operate’ on local authorities and NHS bodies, with respect to complaints.   

Page 318



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 25 

 
13.2 Adult services not only collaborates closely with local NHS organisations but also provides 

services jointly in some cases, including; 
 

• Community Mental Health services 
• Community Learning Disability services  
• Community Substance Misuse services 
• Intermediate Care services 

 
It is therefore necessary to clarify the manner in which complaints which may cross 
traditional service boundaries are to be handled, so that people who bring complaints are 
provided with prompt considered responses and are clear about how cross-cutting matters 
will be handled.  
 

13.3 A collaborative approach to cross-cutting complaints will rely on close communication, 
contact and engagement between complaints staff in the Service Delivery Unit and in the 
NHS trusts, on relevant complaints. A protocol to which all local authorities and NHS 
organisation within the Staffordshire and Shropshire sub-region are signatories has been 
agreed for this purpose, and is an adjunct to these procedures. 
 

13.4 If a complaint received by the service area appears in part to require a response from an 
NHS body, Customer Relationship Team staff will notify the complainant within 3 working 
days of its intention to collaborate with the NHS body as regards; 

 
• Identifying which agency will take the lead in the complaint 
• Establishing a joint investigation plan 
• Providing a single co-ordinated response 

 
13.5 It is vital that the written consent of the complainant is obtained before personal information 

is passed to complaints staff in the CCG. When this is received, those aspects of complaint 
which are for the CCG to address must be sent to them without delay.   
 

13.6 When the Service Delivery Unit receives a complaint which appears not to relate to social 
services functions at all, but to apply solely to the remit of an NHS organisation, Customer 
Relationship Team staff will ask the complainant within 3 working days for permission to 
pass that part to complaints staff in the NHS organisation.  When consent is received, the 
complaint must be sent to them without delay. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 319



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 26 

14.    Unacceptable behaviour and unreasonable persistent complainants 
 

14.1     Adult Social Care Services is committed to providing an inclusive, responsive and easily 
accessible complaints process for Adult Social Services. It will generally not impose 
restrictions upon the way in which complainants are able to contact or communicate with 
staff members.   

 
14.2   In line with the authority’s duty of care however, staff are entitled to protection from 

complainants whose behaviour is abusive, offensive or threatening. In such cases, the 
Complaints Manager will inform the complainant why his/her behaviour is considered 
unacceptable and ask him/her to change it. If this has no effect, possible ways forward 
will be discussed at a formal (noted) strategy meeting, convened and chaired by the 
Customer Relationship Team. Decisions and action in such cases must be consistent, 
proportionate to the concerns, time-limited and subject to review at least annually. 
 .  

14.3 Among the possible measures available are 
 

• Restriction of access to service area sites 
• Routing of all contact with the person through a named staff member 
• Requiring contact with the person to be by letter only  
• Proposing a formal agreement with the complainant about his/her behaviour 
• Accessing legal advice regarding obtaining an injunction 
• Notification to the police 
• Notification to the keeper of the Council’s Personal Safety Precautions Register 

 
 

14.4 Whilst no single definition of an unreasonable persistent complainant exists, vexatious 
behaviour may include some or each of the following, this is not an exhaustive list; 

 
• Refusing to specify grounds of the complaint, despite offers of assistance from the 

council.  
 

• Refusing to cooperate with the complaints investigation process whilst still wishing the 
complaint to be resolved.  

 
• Refusing to accept that issues are not within the remit of a complaints procedure 

despite having been provided with information about the procedure’s scope. 
  

• Unwillingness to accept the terms of the complaints procedure. 
 

• Insisting on the complaint being dealt with, in ways that are incompatible with the 
complaints procedure or good practice.  

 
• Making what appear to be groundless complaints about the staff dealing with the 

complaint, and seeking to have them replaced.  
 

• Changing the basis of the complaint as the investigation proceeds and/or denying 
statements made at an earlier stage. 

 

Page 320



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 27 

• Introducing trivial or irrelevant new information which the complainant expects to be 
taken into account and commented on, or raising large number of detailed but 
unimportant questions and insisting they are fully answered.  

 
• Electronically recording meetings and conversations without the prior knowledge and 

consent of the other persons involved.  
 

• Making unnecessary excessive demands on the time and resources of staff whilst a 
complaint is being looked into, by for example excessive telephoning or sending 
emails to numerous council staff, writing lengthy complex letters every few days and 
expecting immediate responses.  

 
• Submitting repeat complaints, after complaints processes have been completed, 

essentially about the same issues, with additions/variations which the complainant 
insists make these “new” complaints which should be put through the full complaints 
procedure.  

 
• Refusing to accept the decision – repeatedly arguing the point and complaining about 

the decision. 
  

• Repetition of identical or similar complaints, but failure to accept any outcome 
 

• Excessive focus on the complaints process, as opposed to the desired outcome  
 

• Focus on unrealistic and unachievable outcomes 
 

• Unreasonably persistent and repetitious contact with the service area 
 
• Tendency to approach different parts of the organisation, in the apparent hope of 

eliciting different responses  
 

• Abusive or threatening behaviour or language towards council staff. 
 

14.5 Subject to any considerations about unacceptable behaviour, it is crucial to ensure that 
the substance of any complaint which seems to be being pursued in a vexatious manner 
is considered and investigated with the same rigour as any other complaint, as far as 
possible. Only on this basis could the service area justify any later course of action which 
had the effect of treating the complainant differently from others. 

 
14.6 The basis on which a vexatious complainant might be treated differently from any other 

complainant stems from the authority’s obligation to deploy its resources as fairly as 
possible. This entails avoiding using resources disproportionately and unproductively in 
respect of some individuals. Responding to vexatious complaints can be stressful to the 
staff involved and the authority’s duty of care to its employees requires appropriate 
remedial action to be taken in such cases. 

 
14.7     As in the case of unacceptable behaviour, the manner in which the portfolio deals with 

vexatious complainants must be agreed at a noted strategy meeting. The actions agreed 
which may include several of those listed at 14.4, must be consistent, proportionate to the 
concerns, time-limited and subject to review at least on a six monthly basis. 

 

Page 321



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 28 

15.  Performance monitoring 
 

15.1    Activities undertaken within the complaints procedure will be reported on a quarterly and 
12 monthly basis to the Senior Management Team, and will be summarised in an Annual 
Report, which will be published on the Council’s website. 

 
15.2 In considering complaints performance, particular attention will be paid to  

 
• Number of complaints arising in each service area. 
• Proportion which were upheld on investigation. 
• Significance of any common themes which emerge from complaints. 
• Extent of compliance with agreed timescales. 
• Extent of service user satisfaction with the operation of the process. 
• Number of complaints which have not been resolved within the process, and are 

referred to the Ombudsman.  
• Any learning identified. 
• Changes and improvements which occur in consequence of complaints. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 322



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 29 

16. Statutory complaints process for Adult Social Services 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

  

Key 
CRT – Customer Relationship Team 
 
 

Complaint received and passed 
to CRT 

Complaint registered by CRT 
and risk assessment completed 

CRT to make contact with 
customer to offer meeting and 

discuss complaint 

Complaint acknowledged by CRT 
within 3 working days 

Complaint allocated to a Manager 
for investigation 

On occasion the decision could be 
made to appoint an Independent 

Investigator  
 

Investigation report submitted to 
the Service Manager 

Service Manager responds to 
complainant including details of 

LGO  
Complainant satisfied Complainant not satisfied 

CRT to identify if any 
further action can be taken 

to resolve the matter 

Action taken as agreed 

Complaint not satisfied 

Signpost to LGSCO 

Identify and record learning points 

Learning Outcome Meeting 

Close 

Page 323



 

Adult Social Care Complaints Policy/Procedure November 2020 30 

17.   Non Section 42 Provider Complaints  
 
SAFEGUARDING             Council                 
Section 42         Non Section 42                                     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Customer Relationship Team 

CRT to signpost to provider 
complaints process 

Identify responsible team to take forward 
to: 

Sole area of concern 
Not S42 

Cross portfolio 
Not S42 

CRT to identify responsible officer to 
investigate – tasks others 

Responsible officer  
- Collates responses 
- Prepares report 

Responsible officer investigates – 
prepares reports 

Sign off by lead Service Manager who 
may consult if required 

Identify responsible officer  
or other 

Sign off by responsible officer or 
Service Manager 

CRT chases up if 
limited response 

Contracts Multi Agency Approach 

Page 324



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

1 

 
 

 
 

 
Resolving Complaints and 

Improving Services 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy & Procedure 
for 

Telford and Wrekin Council 
Children’s Services 

 

 
 
 

Page 325



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

2 

Contents: 
 
Section 1- Scope of the Representations and Complaints Procedure     3 
 
1 Our Policy on Complaints  3 
2 Defining representations and complaints  4 
3 Legislation 5 
4 What may be complained about? 5 
5 Who can complain under this procedure? 6 
6 What is excluded from this procedure? 8 

 
Section 2- How the Process Works          11 
 
7 How the process works 11 
8 Improving services following complaints 20 
9 Complaints about services provided under contract by 

independent providers. 
20 

10 Complaints which are partly about the National Health Service 21 
11 Unacceptable behaviour and vexatious complainants 22 
12 Corporate Complaints 24 
13 Enquiries from members of parliament 26 
14 Compliments and Comments 26 
15 Performance Monitoring 26 
16 Further Information 27 
17 Flowchart- Statutory complaints process for Children’s Social 

Services 
28 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 326



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

3 

Section 1- Scope of the Representations and Complaints Procedure  
 

1. Our Policy on Complaints 
 

1.1 This policy and procedure on complaints, compliments and comments applies to 
social services provided by the Service Delivery Units responsible for the following 
areas: 

 
• Safeguarding & Looked After Children 
• Children’s Placements (Fostering Service) 
• Children with Disabilities 
• Work with children assessed as being in need 

 
Complaints about the Joint Adoption Service, which is operated by Shropshire Social 
Services for both of our authorities, will be handled by Shropshire Council. 
 

1.2 We are committed to ensuring that the services for which the Service Delivery Unit 
is responsible meet the highest quality standards. This applies whether we provide 
the service directly, or purchase it from a contractual provider. 

 
1.3 We know that things sometimes go wrong with services, and that staff and managers 

sometimes make mistakes. When this happens, we believe it is important to put 
things right, as rapidly and as effectively as possible. Through this complaints 
procedure, we are committed to giving the children who use our services, their 
advocates, carers and relatives, members of the public, staff, managers and the 
providers of our contracted services a clear understanding of how we will do this. 

 
1.4 In the same way, we believe that all comments and compliments from services users 

and their representatives about the services which we provide, need to be 
acknowledged, considered and acted upon.  

 
1.5 In order for the procedure to be effective, we think it is crucial for the children who 

use our services, their advocates, carers and relatives, members of the public, staff,  
managers and providers of our contracted services to be well informed about how it 
operates and about what rights and obligations it entails. Recognising that we serve 
a diverse community, we will make details of the procedure available on request in 
a range of formats, in order to maximise its accessibility and to ensure that no 
individual or group is prevented from using and benefiting from it.   

 
1.6 We will ensure that children and young people who are dissatisfied with aspects of 

the services provided can be offered an advocacy service which works effectively 
on their behalf within this and other related processes. 

 
1.7 Whenever we deal with a comment or a complaint, we will look critically at the service 

we provide, to see what lessons we can learn. We will give people who make 
comments or complaints clear and prompt responses to the matters they have raised 
and make whatever changes are needed to put things right, whenever we can. If this 
is not possible, or if we think that the complaint is not justified, we will provide a full 
written explanation. In all cases, we will provide clear information about how to take 

Page 327



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

4 

the concerns raised in the complaint further, should the person making the complaint 
remain dissatisfied with the Council’s response. 

 
1.8 As a provider and purchaser of services, we are committed to learning lessons from 

the complaints we deal with, and to making whatever changes in our practice, 
policies and procedures are necessary to improve services and to prevent further 
dissatisfaction.  

 
1.9 In view of the number of different procedures which could be applicable when 

concerns are raised about children’s services (e.g. child protection procedure, CCG 
complaints procedures, contractual providers’ complaints arrangements, disciplinary 
processes, criminal investigations etc) and the possibility of confusion among people 
who use services, the Customer Relationship Team will ensure that sound decisions 
are taken about which procedure should take precedence. Above all it is crucial that 
children and other people making complaints are provided with clear information 
about the possible interplay of different procedures and about any decision to 
suspend action under this procedure, pending the outcome of action taken under 
another process. At the point when the other process comes to a conclusion, the 
complainant is entitled to request that any remaining issues of concerns are taken 
up through this procedure.   

 
1.10 Recognising the widespread perception that making a complaint may result in 

reprisals or a deterioration in the service provided, we will seek to ensure that all 
members of our staff and management have a positive and informed view of 
complaints and of complainants’ entitlements, and will give whatever help is 
necessary to enable people to get due benefit from the procedure. 

 
1.11 We positively welcome and value complaints, and so we will publicise this procedure 

as widely as possible, in ways that suit different sections of our diverse community. 
We will also offer people whatever assistance they need to get benefit from the 
process, and send out complaints publicity material and correspondence in 
accessible and preferred formats and languages, wherever possible.  We accept 
that some children and adults are not confident in using the written word, and that 
we sometimes need to use other ways to make the complaints process meaningful 
and useful.  

 
 

2. Defining representations and complaints 
 
2.1 At Telford and Wrekin Council we welcome all feedback from customers this is                

because it helps us improve the way we do things and to learn from things that have 
gone wrong.  
 

2.2 The intention of this document is to set out the statutory procedure for a customer 
who is likely to want to make representations, including complaints, about the 
actions, decisions or apparent failings of our Children’s Social Care Services and to 
allow any other appropriate person to act on their behalf.  

 
2.3 We define a complaint as 

 

Page 328



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

5 

‘A statement, written or verbal, which expresses dissatisfaction about any aspect 
of the social services provided by or on behalf of the Service Delivery Units 
responsible for services to children.’  

 
2.4 We realise that it would be unrealistic to register every such statement within the 

procedure, particularly in cases where it is possible to deal with the matter of concern 
there and then. It would similarly be undesirable for simple and easily resolved 
matters, which have no wider significance beyond the circumstances in which they 
arose, to be fed into the relative formality of this procedure. Such matters are best 
recorded in the child or young person’s case file. 
 

2.5  It is nevertheless the complainant’s right ultimately to decide whether or not the 
matter of concern should be registered within this complaints procedure. It is crucial 
therefore that clear information about the procedure is made available in advance, 
so that complainants can make an informed decision about whether they want to 
make a complaint using this procedure.   
 

2.6        Representations may not always be complaints; they might also be positive remarks 
or ideas that require a response from the Local Authority. Enquiries or comments 
about the availability, delivery or nature of a service which are not criticisms are also 
welcomed and can help us to improve our services.  

 
 
3. Legislation 
 
3.1 The Children Act 1989 defines the representations procedure as being for 

‘representations (including complaints)’. The Children Act 1989 Representations 
Procedure (England) Regulations 2006 came into force on 1 September 2006: they 
are referred to in these procedures as the Regulations. 

 
3.2 This procedure may also be considered in conjunction with the Children Act 1989 

and Adoption and Children Act 2002. 
 
 

4. What may be complained about? 
 

4.1 A wide range of issues may give rise to complaints under this procedure including; 
 

• Unwelcome or disputed decisions 
• Concern about the quality or appropriateness of a service 
• Delays in making decisions or in providing services 
• Assessments, case management and review 
• Delivery or non-delivery of services 
• Quantity, frequency, change or cost of a service 
• Attitude or actions of staff members who represent Telford and Wrekin Council 
• Application of criteria for eligibility or assessment 
• The impact on a child or young person of the application of a local authority policy; 

and 
 

Page 329



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

6 

4.2 In addition, the regulations and guidance which came into force from 1 September 
2006 refer to a number of new functions which may be the subject of a complaint.  

 
These are; 
 
• Part 4 of the Children Act 1989 including decisions to initiate care and supervision 

orders (Section 31), the effect of a care order and the authority’s actions where 
one is in force (Section 33), control of parental contact with children in care 
(Section 34) and the performance of supervisors implementing a supervision 
order (Section 35). 

 
• Part 5 of the Children Act 1989 including the authority’s application for and 

implementation of child assessment orders (Section 43) and emergency 
protection orders (Section 44). 

 
• A range of adoption-related functions (please note: complaints about many of 

these will be handled by Shropshire Council, who manage the Joint Adoption 
Service). 

 
• A number of functions arising under the Special Guardianship Regulations 2005.  

 
• financial support for Special Guardians; 
• support groups for children and young people to enable them to discuss 

matters relating to Special Guardianship; 
• assistance in relation to contact; 
• therapeutic services for children and young people; and 
• assistance to ensure the continuation of the relationship between the 

child or young person and their Special Guardian or prospective Special 
Guardian. 

 
4.2 Although the complaints procedure cannot overturn a decision of the court, the new 

arrangements allow for complaints about the quality and accuracy of court reports. 
In the event of such a complaint being upheld, the complainant will be notified in 
writing of what action the authority will take with regard to the court action.   

 
 

5. Who can complain under this procedure?  
 
5.1  Section 26(3) and section 24D of the Children Act, 1989 and section 3(1) of the 

Adoption and Children Act, 2002 require the local authority to consider 
representations including complaints made to us by: 

 
• any child or young person (or a parent of his or someone who has parental 

responsibility for him) who is being looked after by the local authority or is not 
looked after by them but is in need; 
 

• Advocates and representatives of any of the above children and young people 
(providing that it has been established as far as possible that the advocate or 
representative is reflecting the child or young person’s own wishes). 

Page 330



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

7 

 
• any local authority foster carer (including those caring for children placed 

through independent fostering agencies), who want to comment or complain 
about the service being provided to a child or young person for whom they are 
caring. 

 
• children leaving care; 

 
• Special Guardians; 

 
• a child or young person (or parent) to whom a Special Guardian order is in force; 

 
• any person who has applied for an assessment under section 14F(3) or (4) of 

the Children’s Act 1989; 
 

• such other person as the local authority consider has sufficient interest in the 
child or young person’s welfare to warrant his representations being considered 
by them. 

 
5.2 Complaints about the Joint Adoption Service, which is operated by Shropshire 

Social Services for both of our authorities, will be handled by Shropshire Council 
and complaints received will be forwarded to them to handle 

 
• any child or young person who may be adopted, their parents and guardians; 

 
• persons wishing to adopt a child; 

 
• any other person whom arrangements for the provision of adoption services 

extend; 
 

• adopted persons, their parents, natural parents and former guardians; 
 

5.3 Complaints made on behalf of a child 
 
5.3.1 Where a complaint is received from a representative acting on behalf of a 

child or young person, we will normally confirm where possible that the child 
or young person is happy for this to happen and that the complaint submitted 
reflects his/her views. 
 

5.3.2 The local authority has the discretion to decide whether or not the     
representative is suitable to act in this capacity or has sufficient interest in the 
child’s welfare. If our Complaints Manager considers that the representative 
does not have sufficient interest, he will notify the representative in writing, 
explaining that no further action will be taken. 

 
 

5.4  Complaints relating to a child 
 

5.4.1 We can also receive complaints by adults that relate to a child or young   
person but are not made on the child's behalf. The Children Act, 1989 gives     

Page 331



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

8 

discretion to local authorities to decide in cases where eligibility is not 
automatic whether or not an individual has sufficient interest in the child’s 
welfare to justify the own complaint being considered by us. In reaching a 
decision, where possible, we can check with the child or young person that 
s/he is happy with the person making a complaint. 

 
 

6. What is excluded from this procedure? 
 

6.1  Complaints will not usually be registered more than a year after the matter giving 
rise to concern arose. Nevertheless, the Council has discretion to waive this time 
limit if: 

 
• It would not be reasonable to expect the complainant to have made the 

complaint sooner, and 
 
• It is still possible to deal with the complaint effectively and fairly  

 
Where the complaint falls outside of the time limit then the Complaints Manager 
must also decide whether the complaint can be considered effectively and 
efficiently. If the Complaints Manager considers that the complaint cannot be 
considered within these procedures then the complainants will receive a written 
explanation. The letter will include information about being able to approach the 
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) to consider the 
decision. 
 
If an anonymous complaint is received, it will as far as possible be registered as 
usual under the corporate complaint procedure, and notified to the relevant Service 
Manager. This is particularly important where the anonymous complaint contains 
information which may need to be considered within the procedure for the 
Protection of Vulnerable Adults. It is obviously not possible to acknowledge and 
respond to anonymous complaints, and telephone callers who prefer to withhold 
their identity will be reminded of this. The substance of any such complaint will 
however be addressed by the relevant manager. 
 

 
6.2 Relationship to other Policies and Processes  

 
A complaint will not be considered under this procedure where: 

 
1. It has been withdrawn by the complainant, and the Council has confirmed 

this in writing. 
 

2. It has already been considered at all stages of this or an earlier statutory 
complaints procedure, or by the Local Government Ombudsman. 

 
3. It is more suitable to be dealt with under the authority’s corporate 

complaints procedure (see section 12 below). 
 

Page 332



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

9 

4. The authority has been informed in writing that legal proceedings are 
being taken or will be taken about the matter of concern. 

 
5. Disciplinary action has started or is about to start regarding the matter 

which gave rise to the complaint. 
 

6. The authority has been informed that criminal proceedings are pending, 
or that an investigation which could result in criminal proceedings has 
started with regard to the substance of the complaint.  

 
6.3 In the circumstances described above in points 4, 5 or 6 in the previous paragraph, 

the Customer Relationship Team will identify any aspects of the complaint which 
can proceed without compromising the other investigative process, and inform the 
complainant that these will be dealt with according to this procedure. The 
complainant will also be informed that s/he is entitled to resubmit the other parts of 
his/her complaint when the other proceedings are complete.  

 
6.4 This procedure may be suspended if any of the following procedures are invoked:- 
  

a. Disciplinary and Grievance Procedures 
b. Child Protection Procedures 
c. Harassment Procedures 
d. Police Investigation- Criminal 

 
6.5 This procedure also has implications for the purchasing of services. Independent 

Service Providers should have a suitable Complaints Procedure and customers 
using these services should be advised that they have access to the authority’s 
own procedure if necessary when their services are provided by, or on behalf of, 
the local authority. 

 
6.6 Compensation Claims 
 
 When a complaint gives rise to a potential or actual insurance claim; usually this 

involves the customer suffering loss or injury arising out of an alleged negligent act 
by the Council, its employees or agents. Such complaints will be forwarded to the 
Councils Insurance Team and the customer informed. 

 
 

6.7 Complaints concerning staff from other agencies 
 
The complaint will be recorded by the Customer Relationship Team. The Customer 
Relationship Team will seek permission from the customer to pass the complaint 
to the relevant person who has the responsibility for managing complaints for the 
other agency. 
 

6.8 Deferring or Freezing Decisions 
  

 Customers must not be discouraged from making their complaints. The status of 
the provision of a service which is subject of complaint would not usually be subject 
to change, delay, suspension or withdrawal while a complaint is being dealt with 
under this procedure.  

Page 333



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

10 

 
However, decisions may be frozen when a complaint has been made about such 
a decision/action which could have a significant impact on the life of an individual. 
The decision would be considered by the relevant operational manager and unless 
good reason could be shown for doing otherwise, the decision would be frozen 
pending the outcome of the complaint. The manager would be expected to record 
the reasons for not freezing a decision and to provide a copy to the Complaints 
Manager. 

 
 The investigation of complaints must preserve confidentiality and reflect the 

Council’s commitment to equal opportunities and anti-discriminatory practice.  
 

6.9 Whenever a complaint is received and any of the above exclusions apply, we will 
(unless the complaint has been resolved with 24 hours) acknowledge the matter in 
writing, explaining why the relevant elements will not be considered within this 
statutory complaints process. We will as far as possible continue to deal with any 
other elements of the complaint which are not affected by these exclusions.  

 
6.10      If an anonymous complaint is received, it will as far as possible be registered as 

usual, and notified to the relevant Service Delivery Manager. This is particularly 
important where the anonymous complaint contains information which may need 
to be considered within the procedure for the safeguarding of Children. It is 
obviously not possible to acknowledge and respond to anonymous complaints, and 
telephone callers who prefer to withhold their identity will be reminded of this. The 
substance of any such complaint will however, be addressed by the relevant 
manager or will be dealt with under Children’s Safeguarding procedures. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 334



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

11 

Section 2- How the Process Works 
 

7. How the process works  
 

7.1 This section details the procedure for handling all representations, which must be 
registered with the Customer Relationship Team. 

 
7.2 The procedure is designed to give children, young people and others prompt and 

considered answers to the matters that they raise, to ensure that appropriate action 
is taken in response to any failures or shortcomings identified during the process 
and to learn wider lessons where matters have gone awry in individual cases. In 
addition, the procedure provides the Council with valuable information about the 
views of children, young people and their families and representatives on the 
services it provides. 

 
7.3 The procedure for dealing with complaints is based on the Children’s Act 1989 

Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006, and the related guidance 
issued by the Department for Education and Skills entitled ’Getting the Best from 
Complaints’. 

 
7.4  The procedure consists of three separate stages:-  
 

• Stage One (informal resolution) 
• Stage Two (formal investigation) 
• Stage Three (review Panel) 
 

7.5 Whenever a complaint is received from a child or young person, the Customer 
Relationship Team will notify the Rights & Representations Service of the need to 
offer the complainant an advocacy service, within the remit of the 2004 Advocacy 
(Services & Representations) Regulations. A child/young person whose complaint 
is being considered within this procedure is entitled to advocacy services 
throughout the process. Subject to the approval of the child/young person, all 
correspondence with regard to the complaint will be copied to the advocate, who 
will be entitled to accompany the complainant at any meeting or interview about 
the complaint, which the complainant attends.    

 
7.6  All letters of response which are sent to complainants at any stage of the process 

will contain a standard section notifying them of how to move to the next stage of 
the procedure, should they wish to do so.  

 
7.7 All complaints are registered by the Customer Relationship Team, which is 

managed separately from the operational services and therefore enjoys a measure 
of independence. The Customer Relationship and Quality Assurance Team Leader 
(acting as Complaints Manager, within the meaning of the regulations and 
guidance) is responsible for the management of this complaints process.   

 
7.8 The Customer Relationship Team is committed to working for the effective and 

sustainable resolution of complaints, and for outcomes which please the 
complainant, as far as possible. We will therefore regard all avenues as open in 

Page 335



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

12 

trying to resolve people’s concerns, regardless of the stage at which the complaint 
is being handled. 

 
7.9 If a complaint is about a proposed change to a care plan, service or placement, it 

will generally be appropriate to defer the change or decision until the complaint has 
been considered. A decision to defer will be discussed between the Customer 
Relationship and Quality Assurance Team Leader and the respective Service 
Delivery Manager. If no agreement can be reached, the respective Director, and if 
necessary the Director will be consulted.   

 
7.10 All activity undertaken within this procedure, complaints received, responses 

issued, compliance with time scales will be recorded by the Customer Relationship 
Team for the purposes of accountability and service improvement. 

 
7.11 Stage One (Informal Resolution) 

 
7.11.1 In most cases, we believe it is desirable and possible to resolve complaints 

promptly, with the minimum of formality and as close as possible to where they 
arose. This first stage of the procedure therefore requires a response from the 
Service Delivery Manager for the service concerned. 
 

7.11.2 We are pleased to receive complaints by any means, whether on a complaint form, 
by letter, by telephone, email or from people calling personally to the Customer 
Relationship Team (open 9am – 5pm on weekdays). If there is any lack of clarity 
as to the nature of the complaint, staff from the Customer Relationship Team will 
contact the complainant and offer a personal meeting or visit, in order to clarify the 
matter.  

 
7.11.3 For children in local authority residential care where the complaint concerns the 

operation or management of the home and not the actions of other parts of the 
local authority. The Customer Relationship Team will inform complainants that they 
can, if preferred, have their complaints referred to the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) and also provide details. Complainants will also be informed of their rights 
to have their complaints considered within the Residential Homes or Care Agency’s 
own Complaints Procedures as well as the CQC. (The CQC’s brief concerns all 
operations which have to be registered by them). However it would normally be 
expected by CQC that where an agency provides a service on behalf of the Council 
that that agency has an opportunity to first redress any mistakes. 
 

7.11.4 Wherever and however the complaint is received within the Council, it is for the 
Customer Relationship Team to register it formally and to send a letter of 
acknowledgement to the complainant with 2 days of receiving the complaint, with 
details of the complaints procedure attached. The acknowledgement will specify 
which Service Delivery Manager will deal with the complaint, and by which date a 
written response will be provided.  The letter will also inform the complainant of 
his/her right to request progression to the next stage, if the matter is not resolved 
within the specified time scale. It is imperative that any complaint received 
elsewhere in the Council is immediately notified and sent to the Customer 
Relationship Team for registration. 

 

Page 336



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

13 

7.11.5 The Customer Relationship Team will pass details of the complaint to the 
appropriate Service Delivery Manager, at the same time as the acknowledgement 
is issued to the complainant. It is the Service Delivery Manager’s responsibility to 
ensure that the matters of concern are addressed and resolved within the specified 
timescale, even though this role may be delegated to another manager. It is 
nevertheless the Service Delivery Manager’s responsibility to send the letter of 
response.  

 
7.11.6 In dealing with the complaint, the Service Delivery Manager or his/her delegate will 

wish to consider a number of perspectives.  As well as referring to case records, 
speaking to staff and ensuring that legal and procedural requirements have been 
followed, s/he will give serious consideration to making personal contact with the 
complainant, at least by telephone but preferably by means of a face-to-face 
meeting.  Stage One offers the opportunity to enter into a range of problem-solving 
approaches such as negotiation, mediation and reconsideration, each of which 
depends on active engagement with the complainant. 

 
7.11.7 The time available for the Service Delivery Manager or his/her delegate to consider 

and try to resolve the complaint to the complainant’s satisfaction is a maximum of 
10 working days from the date on which the complaint was received in the 
Customer Relationship Team, unless: 

 
• The complainant has agreed a specified longer timescale (subject to a 

maximum of 20 working days) 
 

• There is an unavoidable delay in appointing an advocate, in which case the 
timescale commences on the date on which an advocate is appointed. 

 
• There is a delay in determining whether the complainant has sufficient interest 

to justify the complaint being considered, in which case the timescale 
commences on the date on which this is determined. 

 
• It is agreed between the respective Service Delivery Manager and the 

Complaints Manager that the complaint is complex, in which case a maximum 
of 10 additional working days is available, providing this is clearly notified to 
the complainant. 
 

7.11.8  As soon as possible after the conclusion of the consideration and resolution 
process, the Service Delivery Manager will send the complainant and any 
appointed advocate a letter of response, confirming any agreement made, setting 
out the judgments made on the matters raised by the complainant, explaining any 
actions or changes which will result, or explaining why the complaint cannot be 
upheld. If it is found that mistakes have been made, the Service Delivery Manager 
will offer an apology and set out the means by which these will be corrected, and 
matters put right for the complainant. This letter must be sent as soon as possible 
and in any event within 5 working days of the resolution of the complaint. 

 
7.11.9 The Service Delivery Manager’s letter of response will include a standard 

paragraph, setting out how the complainant can take the matter to the next stage 
of the procedure in case s/he remains dissatisfied. The response letter must be 

Page 337



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

14 

copied to the Customer Relationship Team for collation with other complaints 
records.   

 
7.11.10 Any delay which is likely to result in failure to comply with the specified time limit 

for a Stage One response must be explained in advance to the complainant or 
his/her representative. This will be undertaken by the Customer Relationship Team 
who must gain the complainant’s agreement to the delay. In such circumstances, 
the Service Delivery Manager needs also to set the date by which the response will 
be provided and notify this to the Customer Relationship Team to enable them to 
update the customer. 

 
7.11.11 If the matter is not resolved within the timescale specified in 7.11.7, the complainant 

or the advocate is entitled to request that the complaint be independently 
investigated at Stage Two. This request may be made verbally or in writing. 

 
7.12 Stage Two (Formal Investigation) 

 
7.12.1 A person whose complaint was not resolved at Stage One within the specified 

timescale is entitled to seek progression to the second stage of the complaints 
process. S/he will be required to make a request for progression to Stage Two 
within 25 days of the date when the Stage One response was issued or within 20 
days of the date when the Stage One response was due (whichever is earlier).  
 

7.12.2 Occasions may also arise when a complainant or his/her representative requests 
a formal investigation at the outset, or when it is clear from an early stage that the 
nature or seriousness of a complaint is such that it is unlikely to be resolved 
informally. In these cases, it may be appropriate to leave out the Stage One 
process, subject to agreement between the complainant and the Customer 
Relationship Team. 

 
7.12.3 At the beginning of the Stage Two process, it is the responsibility of Customer 

Relationship Team staff to engage with the complainant and advocate to draw up 
an agreed written statement of complaint, setting out in detail the various areas of 
concern and dissatisfaction, in a manner which is amenable to investigation. This 
can also be completed by the Independent Investigator when they meet with the 
complainant before commencing the investigation. The statement should also 
incorporate details of the outcomes which the complainant is seeking which will 
resolve the concerns raised in the complaint. Before the start of an investigation, 
the statement must be signed and dated by the complainant, as an authentic and 
full account of their concerns and wishes. 

 
7.12.4 The Customer Relationship Team maintains a pool of Independent Investigators 

for the specific purpose of undertaking formal investigations of complaints at Stage 
Two of the complaints process.  Investigations will generally be commissioned from 
members of this pool, none of whom has any operational connection with Telford 
& Wrekin Council.  Any exceptional departure from this arrangement (for example, 
because no member of the pool is available at the time required) will be fully 
discussed and agreed with the complainant.  

 
7.12.5 It is a requirement in all complaints which are investigated at Stage Two for an 

Independent Person to be appointed to participate in the investigation, working 

Page 338



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

15 

closely with the Investigator to ensure that the matter is investigated fairly, fully, 
promptly and the interests of the child are addressed. The Independent Person 
submits a brief report at the end of the Stage Two process specifically addressing 
these issues and this is shared with the complainant see 7.12.7.  

 
7.12.6 The Independent Investigator is responsible for undertaking a full impartial 

investigation of each element of the complaint and for submitting a draft report to 
the Customer Relationship Team in sufficient time to ensure that the required 
timescale will be met (see 7.12.11 below). It is expected that Investigators will refer 
in undertaking investigations to Annex 2 of ‘Getting the Best from Complaints’ 
published by the Department for Education and Skills, which provides guidance on 
good practice for Investigators.  

 
7.12.7 When the draft investigation report has been received, the Customer Relationship 

Team sends it to each staff member who was interviewed during the investigation, 
unless there is a compelling reason not to do so, for instance because of 
confidentiality or data protection considerations. This part of the process, which 
normally takes a maximum of five working days, is intended to ensure that the 
report is factually accurate. It is not intended to give rise to debate about the 
Investigator’s interpretations or conclusions. Any observations relating to accuracy 
from the staff members concerned are submitted to the Investigator who considers 
whether they should be incorporated into the final report.  

 
7.12.8 As soon as the Customer Relationship Team receives the final report signed by the 

Investigator, it is passed to the respective Director who is responsible for sending 
the formal response to the complainant and for attaching a copy of the investigation 
report and the Independent Person’s report.  

 
7.12.9 The letter of response which is sent to the complainant will comment on the 

independent investigation and its findings. It will incorporate an apology in respect 
of any elements of the complaint which have been upheld or with regard to the 
complaint as a whole. It will set out in appropriate detail the actions which will be 
taken within the Service to implement the necessary changes and learning points 
which arise from the investigation report (see also Section 8 below). The Customer 
Relationship Team will take any necessary steps to ensure, with the advocate, that 
the complainant understands the response provided and is supported as far as 
possible. 

 
7.12.10 The letter of response will include a standard paragraph, which sets out how the 

complainant can take the matter to the next stage of the procedure, in case s/he 
remains dissatisfied. A copy of the response letter must be sent to the Customer 
Relationship Team for recording.   

 
7.12.11 To comply with the regulations, it is expected that the draft investigation report for 

most complaints will be submitted to the Customer Relationship Team within 20 
working days of the signed statement of complaint being received from the 
complainant, this allows a further 5 working days for making any necessary 
amendments and for submission to the Director for response. Where it is not 
possible for a response to be delivered to the complainant within 25 working days, 
an extension up to 65 working days (i.e. 40 additional working days) is available 

Page 339



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

16 

providing that the complainant is notified and provided with the reasons why it was 
not possible to conclude the process earlier. 

 
 

7.13 Stage Three (Review Panel)                                                                                                  
  

7.13.1 Any complainant who remains dissatisfied with either the investigation or the 
proposed outcome after receiving the Stage Two investigation report and the letter 
of response from the Director is entitled to seek progression to the third stage of 
the complaints process. S/he or the advocate is required to make a request for 
progression to Stage Three within 20 working days of the date when the Stage Two 
response was issued, and set out the reasons for dissatisfaction with the proposed 
outcome. 

 
7.13.2 The Review Panel must take place within 30 working days of the complainant’s 

request.  It is convened, organised and administered by the Customer Relationship 
Team. 
 

7.13.3 The Review Panel consists of three independent persons one of whom takes the 
role of chair. 

 
Present at the Panel in addition will be: 
 
• The Complainant 
• The Complaint Manager 
• The Independent Investigator 
• The Independent Person from Stage Two 
• The Director who responded to the complaint at Stage Two 
• The Panel Clerk (from Customer Relationship Team) 
 

7.13.4 The complainant may be accompanied at the Panel by a representative, friend or 
advocate, whom s/he may nominate to speak on his/her behalf.  Because the 
process is not intended to resemble a court of law this person should not be a 
lawyer acting in a professional capacity.  Likewise in light of this no lawyer from the 
local authority should be present at the meeting. 

 
7.13.5 After introductions the complainant or his/her advocate or representative is invited 

to submit a verbal summary of the complaint. The Director or nominated 
representative then responds verbally to the complaint on behalf of the Council. 

 
7.13.6 The Panel’s role is to review the complaint, rather than to re-investigate it. 

 
It does this by looking at the processes which have been employed at previous 
stages of the procedure to evaluate the quality and soundness of the independent 
investigation. It undertakes the reviewing role by considering, testing and 
evaluating the evidence with which it is provided.  

 
This includes: 
 

Page 340



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

17 

• Looking at the original complaint and any submissions subsequently provided 
by the complainant. 
 

• Consideration of all correspondence, reports and submissions prepared, by or 
on behalf of the authority, in connection with the complaint. 

 
• Consideration of the legal, regulatory and procedural context of the complaint. 

 
• Hearing verbal submissions of similar duration from the complainant or his/her 

representative, and from the appropriate Director.  
 

• Inviting the Independent Person from Stage Two to provide a written or verbal 
submission. 
 

• Addressing questions to the complainant, the Director (or representative), the 
Investigator and the Complaint Manager in order to clarify information under 
consideration. 

 
7.13.7 Once the Panel Chair has drawn this part of the process to a close, the Panel retires 

to deliberate on its conclusions and recommendations. The Panel Chair writes to 
the complainant and to the Director for Children’s Services within 5 working days, 
providing the Panel’s decision regarding whether the complaint was adequately 
dealt with by the Council at Stages One and Two and making any 
recommendations for action.         
 

7.13.8 Within 15 working days of receiving the Panel chair’s letter, the Director will write 
to the complainant with the authority’s formal response at Stage Three, 
commenting on the Panel’s summary and recommendations and providing details 
of any action which will be taken following the Panel’s recommendation.  Details of 
how the complainant can approach the Local Government Ombudsman in the 
event of continuing dissatisfaction will be provided within the letter. 

 
 

7.14 The Process 
 

Task Action Timescale Responsibility 
Stage 1 
Complaint 
Received  

To notify the Customer 
Relationship Team of any 
complaint which has been 
received elsewhere in the 
Council.  

Immediately, by phone, 
fax or email 

Any member of 
staff 

Acknowledgement 
to Complainant 

To send a formal 
acknowledgement to the 
complainant that the 
complaint has been received 
and registered. 

The same or the next 
working day, following 
receipt (within 2 days). 

Customer 
Relationship 
Team 

Allocation to 
Service 

To pass the complaint to the 
relevant Service Delivery 
Manager 

The same or the next 
working day, following 
receipt (within 2 days). 

Customer 
Relationship 
Team 

Page 341



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

18 

Facilitate an 
Advocate  

To notify the Rights & 
Representations Service of 
any complaint made by a 
child or young person 

The same or the next 
working day, following 
receipt 

Customer 
Relationship 
Team 

Investigation and 
Full Response 

To undertake whatever 
activity is required to resolve 
the complaint informally at 
Stage One to the 
complainant’s satisfaction  

10 working days 
(extendable by a further 
10 working days if the 
complaint is complex) 

Relevant Service 
Delivery Manager  

Confirmation of 
Outcome  

To write to the complainant 
and advocate confirming the 
outcome at Stage One if this 
was not confirmed in the 
response letter.  

As soon as possible 
after resolution (5 
working days maximum) 

Relevant Service 
Delivery 
Manager  

Stage 2 
Request a Formal 
Investigation 

   

Appoint 
Investigator and 
Independent 
person 

To appoint an Independent 
Investigator and an 
Independent Person to 
undertake a Stage 2 
Investigation 

Within 5 working days of 
receiving the Stage 2 
request or agreed 
complaint statement 

Customer 
Relationship 
Team 

Investigation Draft 
Report Submitted 

To complete the investigation 
and submit the draft Stage 2 
report to the Customer 
Relationship Team and to 
the Independent Person 

Within 25 working days 
of complaint statement 
being signed (unless 
extension agreed with 
complainant in which 
case this period is 
extended to 65 working 
days maximum.) 

Independent 
Investigator 

Notification of 
Extension 

To notify the complainant 
where appropriate the 
reasons for necessary 
extension past 25 working 
days and to specify a new 
completion date 

Within 20 working days 
of the complaint 
statement being signed 

Customer 
Relationship 
Team  

Final Report 
Submitted 

Having checked for 
accuracy, to submit final 
reports to the Director  

Within 5 working days of 
receiving the Final 
reports.  

Customer 
Relationship 
Team 

Independent 
Persons Report 
Submitted 

To complete and submit the 
Independent Person’s report 
to the Customer Relationship 
Team  

As soon as possible 
following receipt of Final 
Report.        
(2 working days 
maximum) 

Independent 
Person 

Formal Response To provide the complainant 
with a formal Stage 2 
response, together with a 
copy of the investigation 
reports (both items copied to 

Within 5 working days of 
receiving the final 
reports and in all cases, 
within 65 working days 
of the complaint 

Director 

Page 342



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

19 

the advocate where 
appropriate) 

statement being agreed 
& signed 

Learning Outcome 
Meeting 

To convene a Learning 
Opportunity Meeting  

Within 25 working days 
of complaint resolution 
response 

Customer 
Relationship 
Team 

 Stage 3   
Request a Review 
Panel 

To notify the Customer 
Relationship Team that a 
Review Panel is requested 

Within 20 working days 
of receiving the Stage 2 
response 

Complainant or 
advocate 

Organised Panel To organise independent 
chair and panel for Stage 3 
Review Panel 

The same or the 
following working day 
that request is received. 

Customer 
Relationship 
Team  

Convene Panel To convene and service a 
Review Panel 

Within 30 working days 
of the receipt of the 
complainants request. 

Customer 
Relationship 
Team  

Review Panel 
Recommendations 

To notify the complainant, 
the advocate and the 
Director of the Review 
Panel’s recommendations  

Within 5 working days of 
the Panel having met. 

Panel Chair 

Stage Three 
Response 

To provide the complainant 
and advocate with the formal 
Stage 3 response  

Within 15 working days 
of the Panel having met. 

Director 

Learning Outcome 
Meeting 

To convene a Learning 
Opportunity Meeting  

Within 25 working days 
of complaint resolution 
response.  

Customer 
Relationship 
Team 

 
7.15 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) 

 
7.15.1  The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman is independent and 

impartial and gives a service which is confidential and free of charge. The 
Ombudsman has the same powers as the High Court to require people to provide 
information and to produce documents for investigation.  

 
7.15.2 Any member of the public is able to complain to the Ombudsman if they feel there 

has been an injustice. However, the Ombudsman’s office usually states that 
customers should first take up their complaint with the relevant Department or 
Council.  

 
7.15.3  If the customer is not happy with how the Council has dealt with their complaint, 

they can take the matter to the Ombudsman, whose role is to investigate 
complaints of maladministration by Local Authorities. Maladministration means 
that there has been a fault in the way the Council has or has not done something, 
such as a failure to follow its own rules or a breach of legislation. 

 
7.15.4  Complaints which members of the public make to the Ombudsman will be dealt 

with by the Customer Relationship Team who will ensure that the complaints 
process has been followed.  

 
7.15.5 The Ombudsman may reject any complaint as premature if the complaints 

procedure has not been followed. The Ombudsman’s involvement may be ended 

Page 343



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

20 

at any point where it is clear there is no maladministration or where the Council 
agrees to settle with the customer. 

 
7.15.6 Complainants who remain dissatisfied with the proposed outcome after their 

complaints have passed through all three stages of this procedure will be notified 
by the Director for Children Services that they are entitled to approach the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman, to request that the matter be 
considered by him. Contact details for the Ombudsman are: 

 
Phone: 0300 061 0614 

     Online: www.lgo.org.uk  
 

7.15.7  People who receive or use the Council’s services are entitled to make complaints 
to the Ombudsman at any point.   It is generally the case however that the LGSCO 
declines to undertake an investigation until the complaint has passed through all 
stages of the local authority’s complaints process.  

 
8 Improving Services following Complaints 

 
8.1 We are committed to ensuring that all possible lessons are learnt from the 

complaints we deal with, that our services improve as a result and that any 
mistakes that are identified are not repeated. For this reason, we have put in place 
ways of maximising the learning opportunities which arise from complaints. 

 
8.2  Most complaints prove capable of being resolved with relative informality at the first 

stage. It is nevertheless crucial that the issues and themes which arise from these 
complaints are considered carefully and comprehensively so that any poor practice 
or structural difficulties are identified and addressed. The number and type of 
complaints about each service area are reported on a 3, 6, 9 and 12 monthly basis 
to the Senior Management Team with a summary of comments, recommendations 
and any emerging themes. 

 
8.3 Complaints which are handled at Stage 2 and 3 invariably raise serious and 

important issues for the Council and the Investigator’s report provides an invaluable 
independent perspective on the service provided and on the matters which resulted 
in the complaint. Within a month of the final resolution of complaints which have 
passed to Stages 2 or 3, the Customer Relationship Team will convene and chair 
a Learning Opportunity Meeting attended by key staff and managers whose task is 
to prepare a plan for the implementation of necessary actions and changes which 
have arisen from the complaint. These plans will be reported to the Service Delivery 
Management Team. Learning will also be shared and discussed as part of the 
Children’s Quality Assurance Framework.  
 

8.4 A summary of learning points and changes made arising from complaints will be 
included in the annual report on complaints.  

 
9. Complaints about services provided under contract by 

independent providers 
 

9.1  In looking at complaints about services which the local authority purchases from 
independent providers, it is necessary to distinguish between the authority’s 

Page 344

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

21 

responsibility in commissioning services, arranging placements, (re-)assessing 
individual needs, monitoring the adequacy of a particular placement, service etc, 
and the provider’s responsibility to ensure that the service provided meets the 
necessary standards and complies with the requirements of its’ contract with the 
authority.  Complaints about providers’ discharge of their functions and obligations 
are known as Care Standards complaints. 

  
9.2 Each of the independent care service providers with whom the Council contracts is 

required, under its contract or through a pre-placement agreement to have 
arrangements in place for handling complaints about the service it provides. These 
must be sufficiently robust and effective to enable the provider to deal with Care 
Standards complaints promptly, fairly and in a way which is proportionate to the 
gravity of the concern raised, without the need to refer the matter elsewhere for 
action. The complaints management arrangements which the provider has in place 
must also comply with the relevant regulations and with the respective National 
Minimum Standards, which are monitored by an external regulatory body.    

 
9.3  While the local authority can be held accountable through this complaints 

procedure for the way in which it carries out its obligations, it is not primarily 
responsible for Care Standards complaints arising from services registered under 
the Care Standards Act 2000. These are for the provider to handle within the 
arrangements prescribed in the appropriate regulations (e.g. the Children’s Home 
Regulations 2001). 

 
9.4  Although they are directly operated by the local authority, the Council’s children’s 

homes are registered under the Care Standards Act and are therefore required to 
maintain an in-house complaints procedure in compliance with Regulation 24 of 
the Children’s Home Regulations 2001. Care Standards complaints which relate to 
these homes should be handled through the in-house procedure unless it is agreed 
between the responsible Service Delivery Manager and the Customer Relationship 
Team that a different approach should be taken.   

 
9.5  In cases where the provider’s final response to a Care Standards complaint proves 

unsatisfactory to the complainant, the complaint may be referred to the Customer 
Relationship Team where the appropriateness of having the complaint investigated 
at Stage Two of this procedure will be considered. Given that the local authority 
has a duty of care to people for whom it arranges and purchases services, they will 
in most cases be entitled to recourse to this statutory complaints procedure if the 
provider’s procedure has not delivered a satisfactory outcome. 

 
9.6  If the Council receives a Care Standards complaint Customer Relationship Team 

staff will on the same or the next working day ask the complainant whether s/he 
wants the matter passed to the registered manager of the service concerned. If so, 
the matter will be sent to the registered manager within 5 working days. The 
portfolio will also notify the Care Quality Commission (CQC), of any such complaint, 
and maintain close liaison with CQC on all complaints arising from the services it 
regulates. 

 
9.7  Where a complaint received by the Council includes aspects which relate both to 

Care Standards matters and to the way in which the Council has carried out its 
duties, the complainant’s permission will be sought to pass the relevant information 

Page 345



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

22 

to the registered manager of the service and then collaborate closely with the 
provider in order as far as possible to provide a single co-ordinated response to the 
complainant.  

 
9.8  The provider is required to notify the Customer Relationship Team of any Care 

Standards complaint which it receives directly in respect of a service which has 
been purchased by the Council, and to provide a copy of its’ response.    

 
 

10. Complaints which are partly about the National Health Service 
 

10.1  Children’s Services not only collaborates closely with local Primary Care Trust 
(Telford & Wrekin CCG) but also provides some joint services, notably in the case 
of the Child & Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) and the Disabled 
Children’s Team.  It is therefore necessary to clarify the manner in which complaints 
which may cross former service boundaries are to be handled so that people who 
bring complaints are provided with prompt considered responses and with accurate 
details of how to progress matters if necessary.  

 
10.2  The present legal and regulatory arrangements governing the management of 

complaints respectively about local authority services and local health services 
prevent a single unified approach from being adopted. Therefore a collaborative 
approach to cross-cutting complaints will rely on close communication, contact and 
engagement between complaints staff in the Council and in the CCG on relevant 
complaints.  

 
10.3  If a complaint received by the Council appears in part to require a response from 

the CCG, Customer Relationship Team staff will ask the complainant within 10 
working days for permission to pass that part to complaints staff in the CCG.  When 
this is received, those aspects of the complaint which are for the CCG to address 
must be sent to them without delay. The complainant must be notified of which 
elements of the complaint will be dealt with under the procedures described here 
(established under the Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) 
Regulations 2006) and which will be dealt with under the CCG’s procedures 
(established under the National Health Service Complaints Regulations 2004).  

 
10.4  Where a complaint requires consideration by both the Council and the CCG, as 

described in the previous paragraph, there is an obligation on both parties to co-
operate. This includes providing information relevant to the consideration of the 
complaint to the other party, attending collaborative meetings and seeking 
agreement on which of the parties should lead on co-ordinating action to resolve 
the complaint. As far as possible, a single co-ordinated response to the complaint 
will be provided. 

 
10.5  When the Council receives a complaint which appears not to relate to a children 

services function, but to apply solely to the remit of the CCG, Customer 
Relationship Team will ask the complainant within 5 working days for permission 
to pass the matter to complaints staff in the CCG.  When this is received, the 
complaint must be sent to the CCG without delay. 

 
   

Page 346



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

23 

11 Unacceptable behaviour and unreasonably persistent 
complainants  

 
11.1  Children’s Services is committed to providing an inclusive, responsive and easily 

accessible complaints process. It will generally not impose restrictions upon the 
way in which complainants are able to contact or communicate with staff members.  

 
11.2    In line with the authority’s duty of care however, staff are entitled to protection from 

complainants whose behaviour is abusive, offensive or threatening. In such cases, 
the Complaint Manager will inform the complainant why his/her behaviour is 
considered unacceptable and ask him/her to change it. If this has no effect, 
possible ways forward will be discussed at a formal (noted) strategy meeting, 
convened and chaired by the Customer Relationship Team. Decisions and action 
in such cases must be consistent, proportionate to the concerns, time-limited and 
subject to review at least annually. 

 .  
11.3 Among the possible measures available are; 
 

• Restriction of access to service area sites 
• Routing of all contact with the person through a named staff member 
• Requiring contact with the person to be by letter only  
• Proposing a formal agreement with the complainant about his/her behaviour 
• Accessing legal advice regarding obtaining an injunction 
• Notification to the police 
• Notification to the keeper of the Council’s Personal Safety Precautions Register. 

 
11.4 Whilst no single definition of an unreasonable persistent complainant exists, 

vexatious behaviour may include some or each of the following, this is not an 
exhaustive list; 

 
• Refusing to specify grounds of the complaint, despite offers of assistance from 

the council. 
 

• Refusing to cooperate with the complaints investigation process whilst still 
wishing the complaint to be resolved.  

 
• Refusing to accept that issues are not within the remit of a complaints procedure 

despite having been provided with information about the procedure’s scope.  
 

• Unwillingness to accept the terms of the complaints procedure. 
 

• Insisting on the complaint being dealt with, in ways that are incompatible with the 
complaints procedure or good practice.  

 
• Making what appear to be groundless complaints about the staff dealing with the 

complaint, and seeking to have them replaced.  
 

• Changing the basis of the complaint as the investigation proceeds and/or denying 
statements made at an earlier stage. 

 

Page 347



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

24 

• Introducing trivial or irrelevant new information which the complainant expects to 
be taken into account and commented on, or raising large number of detailed but 
unimportant questions and insisting they are fully answered.  

 
• Electronically recording meetings and conversations without the prior knowledge 

and consent of the other persons involved.  
 

• Making unnecessary excessive demands on the time and resources of staff whilst 
a complaint is being looked into, by for example excessive telephoning or sending 
emails to numerous council staff, writing lengthy complex letters every few days 
and expecting immediate responses.  

 
• Submitting repeat complaints, after complaints processes have been completed, 

essentially about the same issues, with additions/variations which the 
complainant insists make these “new” complaints which should be put through 
the full complaints procedure.  

 
• Refusing to accept the decision – repeatedly arguing the point and complaining 

about the decision.  
 

• Repetition of identical or similar complaints, but failure to accept any outcome. 
 

• Excessive focus on the complaints process, as opposed to the desired outcome. 
  

• Focus on unrealistic and unachievable outcomes. 
 

• Unreasonably persistent and repetitious contact with the service area. 
 

• Tendency to approach different parts of the organisation, in the apparent hope of 
eliciting different responses.  
 

• Abusive or threatening behaviour or language towards council staff. 
 

11.5 Subject to any considerations about unacceptable behaviour, it is crucial to ensure 
that the substance of any complaint which seems to be being pursued in a 
vexatious manner is considered and investigated with the same rigour as any other 
complaint, as far as possible. Only on this basis could the service area justify any 
later course of action which had the effect of treating the complainant differently 
from others. 
 

11.6 The basis on which a vexatious complainant might be treated differently from any 
other complainant stems from the authority’s obligation to deploy its resources as 
fairly as possible. This entails avoiding using resources disproportionately and 
unproductively in respect of some individuals. Responding to vexatious complaints 
can be stressful to the staff involved and the authority’s duty of care to its 
employees requires appropriate remedial action to be taken in such cases. 
 

11.7     As in the case of unacceptable behaviour, the manner in which the portfolio deals 
with vexatious complainants must be agreed at a noted strategy meeting. The 
actions agreed which may include several of those listed at 11.4, must be 

Page 348



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

25 

consistent, proportionate to the concerns, time-limited and subject to review at least 
on an annual basis. 

 
 

12  Corporate Complaints 
 

12.1  It will be appropriate for certain complaints which are made with relation to 
children’s services to be handled within the authority’s corporate complaints 
procedure, rather than within this statutory procedure. Examples of such instances 
include circumstances where: 

 
• The person bringing the complaint is not specified within the regulations as being 

permitted to do so, or is not deemed to have   sufficient interest in the child’s 
welfare to do so. 

• The complaint is not about the way in which the authority carries out or fails to 
carry out its statutory duties or functions. 
 

• The complaint is made by a professional person or agency on his/her or their own 
behalf, rather than on behalf of a person using the social services provided by the 
Council. 

   
12.2 The corporate complaints procedure has two stages, which are: 

 
• Local resolution and response from a Service Delivery Manager 
• Independent Investigation 

 
Complainants who remain dissatisfied after this process has been exhausted are 
entitled to approach the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

 
12.3 Any person whose complaint falls into this category will be provided by the 

Customer Relationship Team with written details of how the process works.  
However in cases where a complaint incorporates elements which will need to be 
dealt with both within the statutory services procedures and the corporate 
complaints procedures (e.g. a complaint about both housing needs and case 
management issues), Customer Relationship Team will seek to arrange for a single 
co-ordinated response to be issued at the first stage, on behalf of the respective 
Service Delivery Managers.    

 
12.4 Information about corporate complaints is collated centrally and is reported at 3 

and 12 monthly intervals by the Complaints Manager. 
 
 

    
13 Enquiries by Members of Parliament 

  
13.1  The means which the authority has agreed that Members of Parliament make 

enquiries or representations on behalf their constituents is for MP’s to address 
these to the Managing Director. This enables each matter to be registered and 
acknowledged centrally and passed to staff or managers in the appropriate service 
for response. MP enquiries about Children’s Services are sent by the Managing 

Page 349



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

26 

Director’s office to the Customer Relationship Team for distribution to the 
appropriate Service Delivery Manager, Director or the Director as appropriate. 

 
13.2  On occasions MP enquiries arrive by a different route, e.g. direct to a Director or to 

individual managers. In such cases, the Customer Relationship Team must be 
notified promptly so that the matter can be acknowledged, registered and tracked. 

 
13.3  The standard maximum response time for MP enquiries is 10 working days. If it is 

likely that the response will not be provided within this period, for whatever 
reason, the MP should be notified of the delay as a matter of courtesy and 
provided with an estimate of how long the response will be delayed. 

 
13.4 Data Protection considerations demand that caution is exercised in providing 

personal information about service users who are constituents to MPs unless the 
constituent has specifically stated (in writing) that there is no objection to the MP 
receiving this. In cases of doubt, the person about whose services the MP has 
made an enquiry should be approached for permission to provide this. The MP 
should be notified of this as this might well cause a delay in sending the response. 

  
 

14 Compliments and comments 
 

14.1  Whist these procedures are primarily addressed to the handling and  resolution of 
complaints, all comments and compliments received  from customers using our 
services and their representatives are valued just as highly. 

 
14.2  All comments or representations are acknowledged by Customer Relationship 

Team staff and passed promptly to the relevant Service Delivery Manager, for 
whatever response is required.  

 
14.3 Written compliments, commendations and expressions of thanks and appreciation 

are formally recorded and acknowledged by the Customer Relationship Team 
before being passed on to the appropriate Service Delivery Manager.   

 
 

15 Performance Monitoring 
 

15.1  A report on complaints activity within children’s services is produced for the Senior 
Management Team on a quarterly basis. This will incorporate statistical details as 
well as information about trends. The outcome of any Learning Opportunity 
Meetings (see 8.3) is also reported. 

 
15.2  An annual report on the operation of the Complaints, Compliments and Comments 

Procedure is prepared relating to the past business year. The annual report is 
presented to the elected members on Audit Committee. The final report is 
published on the Council’s website with hard-copies available on request from the 
Customer Relationship Team. 

 
 
 

Page 350



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

27 

16 Further information about the complaints, comments & 
compliments procedure 

 
• Complaints leaflets  
• Child friendly Child’s Statutory Complaints Policy 
• Getting the Best from Complaints Guidance 
• Policy for Managing Persistent and vexatious Complainants 
• Guidance and Protocols for Complaints 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 351



 

Children’s Social Services Complaints Policy/ Procedure October 2020  
 

28 

17 Flow Chart- Statutory Complaints process for Children’s Social 
Services. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 

Key 
CRT – Customer Relationship Team 
 
 

Complaint received and passed 
to CRT 

 

Complaint registered by CRT 
and CRT notify Rights and 
Representation Service if 

complaint made by a child or 
young person.  

Complaint acknowledged by CRT 
within 2 working days 

 

Complaint allocated to Service 
Delivery Manager for 

Investigation 
 

Service Delivery Manager to 
respond to customer within 10 

working days (can be extended to 
20 working days).   

Director responds to complainant 
including details of LGO  

Complainant satisfied Complainant not satisfied 
Independent Investigation 
at Stage two Requested 

Action taken as agreed 

Complaint not satisfied 

Signpost to LGSCO 

Identify and record learning points 

Learning Outcome Meeting 

Close 

Investigator and Independent 
Person appointed 

Report sent to Service area to 
check accuracy of officer 

statements. 

Final Report received and sent to 
Director to send a response within 

5 working days. 

Learning outcome meeting    

Complainant satisfied 

Complainant not satisfied 
Request for a Stage Three 

Panel 

Action taken as agreed 

Stage Three Panel 
convened within 30 days, 

recommendations received 
from panel. Response to 
recommendations sent to 

complainant including 
LGSCO. 

Complainant satisfied 

Close 

Draft investigation report to be 
completed and submitted to the 

Customer Relationship Team and 
Independent Person within 25 

working days (can be extended to 
65 working days). 

Page 352



Davis, Holly 
 

 

Telford & Wrekin Council 

 Customer 

Feedback Report  

Improving our Customer Experience 

Annual Report 2020/21 

P
age 353



           

 

2 
  

Contents 
  
Report summary…………………………………………………………………………………... 
Highlights of 2020/21……………………………………………………………………………... 
Purpose of the report……………………………………………………………………………... 

3 
4 
5 

Background………………………………………………………………………………………… 5 
Positive feedback…………………………………………………………………………………. 8 
Customer Insight Programme……………………………………………………………………. 10 
Corporate Stage One complaints……………………………………………………………….. 
Stage One complaint outcomes……………………………………………………………….... 

12 
15 

Timescales for responses at Stage One……………………………………………………….. 17 
Corporate Stage Two complaints……………………………………………………………….. 18 
Learning from corporate complaints……………………………………………………………. 19 
Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman enquiries……………………………………. 22 
Concluding comments……………………………………………………………………………. 23 
Oversight and support provided by the Customer Relationship team………….…………… 24 
Customer Relationship team priorities for 2021/22……………………………….…………... 24 
Appendix A: Corporate service performance 2020/21………………………………………... 
 

25 

 

 

 

P
age 354



           

 

3 
  

Report summary 

This Annual Feedback Report shows that, this year, the Council has seen a 35% increase in the positive feedback received across the organisation. In 

addition to this, the number of corporate complaints received has decreased by 11%. This is a trend that has continued for the last seven years. When 

considering the total number of transactions and interactions undertaken by the Council during the year, the data in this report clearly shows that the 

number of complaints received continues to be well within accepted customer service industry standards and appreciably under 0.05% of all transactions. 

When considering that over 10.2 million refuse bins where emptied and our corporate contact centre alone handled 228,251 calls during the year. The 

Council continues to manage complaints well and is committed to putting right anything that has gone wrong. 

This year has been challenging due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as many managers were reassigned from their day-to-day roles in order to respond to 

the emergency, and yet all still managed to continue responding to customer complaints. It is therefore a remarkable achievement that response 

timescales only increased by one day during this period. It is also fantastic to see that the number of residents and customers who have taken the 

opportunity to provide positive feedback has increased significantly.  

Without a doubt though, there are areas of opportunity for continued improvement, and the Customer Relationship team will continue to work with senior 

leadership teams to effectively utilise complaints intelligence and customer feedback to support positive improvements in service delivery. 

Due to the pandemic, the Customer Insight Programme was regrettably put on hold for a period as the scheduled work involved face-to-face assignments 

that it was not possible to progress. Work did, however, recommence in July 2020 when Website Reviews were introduced. This was a perfect opportunity 

to utilise our Mystery Customers to undertake virtual remote reviews of our digital services. We also introduced usability testing, and our Mystery 

Customers were also able to test our new chatbot, ASK TOM, before it went live. The chatbot was launched in April 2021, allowing customers to get 

answers to their questions on our website 24/7. Our Customer Insight Programme continues to proactively identify and remedy concerns. It also 

continues to deliver organisational intelligence to drive transformation and continuous improvement by identifying trends and enhancements that could 

be made to customers’ experience of our services. For more information about the Customer Insight Programme, please go to page 10. 

In January 2021, we launched our new Customer Strategy and Customer Contract documents, during the development of which we took the opportunity 

to consult our Mystery Customers and other groups in the community. Feedback received during the consultation shaped an action plan, as well as the 

final Strategy and Contract themselves. These documents seek to outline our ambitions for the next four years, during which we want to work with our 

customers to develop quality services that are accessible to all, while making every contact count. Furthermore, we want to make sure that the experience 

our customers have is outstanding. We also recognise that to achieve this we need to get the basics right, pay attention to detail and make sure that we 

uphold high standards of customer service across the Council. To view our Customer Strategy and Customer Contract, please visit 

www.telford.gov.uk/customerstrategyandcustomercontract 

P
age 355

http://www.telford.gov.uk/customerstrategyandcustomercontract


           

 

4 
  

Highlights of 2020/21         * Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman 

Over 

120  

volunteers 

registered to be 

Mystery Customers 
 

 

Average of 
 

12 days  
 

to respond to corporate 

complaints 

 

11% reduction 
in 

corporate complaints 

 

 

Complaints under 

1% 
of all transactions 

 

76 completed 

Mystery 

Customer 
assignments 

 

82% of corporate 

complaints 

responded to in 

15 working days 

 

100%  
LGSCO* 

recommendations 

completed 

 

A total of 
392  

positive feedbacks  
 received 

 

 

35% 
increase in positive 

feedback 

 

P
age 356



           

 

5 
  

Purpose of the report 
 

 To give Members and Officers an overview of Telford and Wrekin Council’s corporate customer feedback, including complaints and compliments, 
from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021. This includes highlighting areas of positive performance and those for development. 

 To outline the key developments and planned improvements to customer feedback processes operated by the Council. 

 To consider how learning from customer feedback can be used to gain a better understanding of the experience customers are having while 
accessing council services, drive improvement by acting on the feedback received, prioritise quick wins and ensure that longer-term actions feed 
into the Customer Strategy, and continue to develop and improve the services we provide. 

 

Background  
 

The Customer Relationship team co-ordinates complaints relating to three separate complaints processes. These are: 
 

1. The Adult Social Care Statutory Process, reported separately in the Adult Statutory Complaints Annual Report 2020/21 

2. The Children’s Social Care Statutory Process, reported separately in the Children’s Statutory Complaints Annual Report 2020/21 

3. The Corporate Complaints Process. These are complaints relating to other services provided by the Council where there is no statutory 
complaints procedure 

 
In addition, the team deals with a wide range of interactions with customers that do not go on to become formal complaints. These include general enquiries, 
MP Enquiries, Leader and Cabinet Member Enquiries, comments and suggestions, as well as any matters that are exempt from consideration under our 
complaints policies. 
 
We recognise that our customers have a range of experiences when contacting us, working with us and using our services. Some of these experiences 
are positive, and we want to recognise and celebrate where good practice is evident, while others fall short of our standards, where it is essential that we 
learn from them. As an organisation, we provide customers with a mechanism to feedback to us both positive and negative experiences, and encourage a 
culture of learning, where the focus is on resolution and continual improvement. Whenever possible, we take immediate action to put things right at the first 
point of contact, and if this can’t be done, we operate a robust complaints procedure. 
 

P
age 357



           

 

6 
  

 
Above all, the way we deal with complaints is based on our co-operative values, as published on the Council website 
www.telford.gov.uk/info/20268/co-operative_council/779/our_co-operative_values and the following key principles: 
 

 Customer focus – listening to what people tell us and seeing things from the customer’s perspective 

 Responsiveness – acting on what people say to us 

 Promptness – making sure people get answers in good time 

 Transparency – dealing openly and honestly with problems 

 Proportionality – making sure that the resolution fits the complaint 

 Learning – making sure complaints result in changes and improvement 
 
Our policies are also published on the website www.telford.gov.uk/complaints  
 
A complaint is defined within the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure as:  
 
 

‘an expression of dissatisfaction, however made, about the standards of service, action or lack of action or decisions taken by the Council,  
or the way in which council employees carry out their duties’ 

 
 

Telford and Wrekin Council operates a two-stage process for all corporate complaints. 

Complaints recorded under the formal procedure (and dealt with in this summary report) do not include those ‘first time’ representations that were effectively 

requests for a service and so dealt with as such. Accordingly, a new report of a missed bin collection or a broken swing, for example, would not be registered 

and dealt with as a complaint but instead as a service request. Of course, in the event that the Council failed to respond to this request appropriately, this 

may then generate a complaint. Appeals against decisions that have separate appeal routes are not dealt with as complaints. 

 
For more information regarding corporate complaints in 2020/21, please go to page 12 of this report. 
 

 

 

P
age 358

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20268/co-operative_council/779/our_co-operative_values
http://www.telford.gov.uk/complaints


           

 

7 
  

The volume of contacts received by the team 

totalled 1,702 in 2020/21. This is a 13% increase 

from the 1,504 in 2019/20. The team also took a 

total of 1,179 telephone calls over this period. 

The number of calls received have dropped 

again in 2020/21 to 1,179, a 44% reduction on 

the 2,118 received in 2019/20 and 3,345 

received in 2018/19. This is a reflection of the 

team proactively chasing responses and 

keeping customers updated.  

 

 

392

108

162

2 476

Summary of other feedback received by the 
Customer Relationship Team in 2020/21

Positive Feedback- 392

General Enquiries- 108

MP Enquiries- 162

Parish Enquiries- 2

Leader/Cabinet Enquiries- 476

The charts below show the feedback received by the Customer Relationship team in 2020/21: 

Chart 1: Summary of complaint feedback in 2020/21 

 

               Chart 2: Summary of other feedback in 2020/21 
Our customers’ behaviour is changing, with more of them 

now contacting the team via digital methods such as emails 

and webforms, with 948 of the latter being completed in   

2020/21 compared to 702 in 2019/20.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

424

49

29

38

22

Summary of complaint feedback in 2020/21

Corporate Complaints- 424

Corporate Stage 2 Complaints - 49

Childrens Statutory Complaints- 29

Adult Statutory Complaints- 38

Local Government & Social Care
Ombudsman Enquiries- 22

P
age 359



           

 

8 
  

50

32
46

29

4

56

18

2

138

0

17

0

40

69
57

49

11

39

7

25

155

3

36

0
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

A
d

u
lt

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e

C
h

ild
re

n
s 

Sa
fe

gu
ar

d
in

g 
&

 F
am

ily
Su

p
p

o
rt

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s,
 C

u
st

o
m

e
r 

&
C

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l S
e

rv
ic

es

C
ro

ss
 P

o
rt

fo
lio

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

 &
 S

ki
lls

Fi
n

an
ce

 &
 H

u
m

an
 R

es
o

u
rc

es

H
ea

lt
h

 &
 W

el
lb

ei
n

g

H
o

u
si

n
g,

 E
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t 

&
In

fr
as

tr
u

ct
u

re

N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
 &

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t
Se

rv
ic

es

P
o

lic
y 

&
 G

o
ve

rn
an

ce

P
ro

sp
e

ri
ty

 &
 In

ve
st

m
en

t

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

Positive Feedback

Positive Feedback Complaints

Positive feedback           

In 2020/21, there was a 35% increase in the number of positive feedbacks received, which is excellent. This amounts to a total of 392 instances in 
2020/21, amounting to a significant increase on the 290 received in 2019/20. 
 
This year, Neighbourhood & Enforcement Services (138) and     Chart 3: Number of positive feedbacks received in 2020/21 by directorate 
Communities, Customer & Commercial Services (56) received the  
the most positive feedback due to the frontline nature of these 
directorates. 
  
In 2020/21, the definitions of compliments and positive feedback  
were reviewed and the decision made to combine all positive 
feedback to recognise that it should be celebrated. 
 
Positive feedback is logged and copied to Directors and Line 
Managers. This is recognised at service level through team briefs/  
meetings and individual ‘one-to-one’s. The Chief Executive also  
makes regular ‘shout-outs’ about staff who have gone  
above and beyond in his weekly emails to staff.  

 
The chart to the right highlights the positive feedback against the  
number of complaints received for each directorate.  
  
It is positive to see that Adult Social Care, Finance & Human  
Resources and Health & Wellbeing each had more positive  
feedback than the total number of complaints they received. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

P
age 360



           

 

9 
  

Here are some examples of positive feedback received during the year:  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

“I write this with shaking fingers. I cannot 

put into words the sense of relief and 

gratitude I feel at being awarded this grant 

after 10 months without any government 

support at all. I cannot thank you and your 

colleagues enough for processing this for 

me. I will be forever in your debt not just 

for saving my business but for saving my 

dream.” Revenues Services 

 

“…thank you so much- You have gone 

above and beyond what I expected and 

been exceptional. I was thinking I would 

have to wait in a long queue- but you 

have really helped and do so much 

more!” Benefits Service 

“I spoke to a lovely professional lady called Yvonne it was 

a delight to speak to this lady who sorted my collection 

out so efficiently and with such a friendly manner I came 

off the phone thinking there are, lovely people at the end 

of a phone despite what everyone is going through it's 

made my day… You are very lucky to have these 

wonderful people working for you.” 

Customer Contact Centre 

 

 

“I just want to relay my thanks to all of you at Telford & 

Wrekin Council for all your help and support. There is 

no fuss when it comes to contacting you. You have also 

sent me lots of information and contacts for your 

disability team which is very helpful. I just wanted to say 

I appreciate you and that I have never experienced any 

problems. It has been an absolute pleasure dealing with 

you all, you’ve been absolutely fantastic. What a 

wonderful service.” Concessionary Awards  

“I think all of the staff in the Council 

deserve praise, as you are at the 

sharp end and we wouldn’t be going 

very far without you all, you are all so 

wonderful for what you do.” 

Occupational Therapy 

“I want to say how pleased I was with the 
wonderful library service. I had six books 
delivered to my door by Amy who is also 
going to collect them and hopefully bring 

me some more. Well done Telford and 
Wrekin library services. Thank you” 

Library Services 

 

P
age 361



           

 

10 
  

Customer Insight Programme 

Our Customer Insight Programme was launched in October 2019 with the aim of helping us review our services from customers’ perspective. The 

programme is designed to deliver organisational intelligence to drive transformation and continuous development by identifying trends and improvements 

that could be made to enhance customers’ experience of our services. 

Following the outbreak of the pandemic in March 2020, all active Customer Insight assignments were put on hold. This includes snapshot reviews, which 

had commenced in February 2020, through which we were reviewing 22 of our front-facing buildings - including our First Point locations, libraries, leisure 
centres and receptions. At the same time, our Customer Insight Officers were redeployed to other services to support the Council’s response to the 
pandemic. 

The Snapshot Reviews will be refreshed and relaunched in July 2021, at which time we also hope to obtain feedback from customers about our 
COVID-secure measures, in accordance with government guidelines. 

The Customer Insight Programme now has 127 volunteers who have registered with us as Mystery Customers in order to undertake assignments. When 

COVID guidelines allow, we aim to recruit more Mystery Customers to ensure that, collectively, they are as representative of our borough as possible. 

In July 2020, we recommenced the Customer Insight Programme with a new digital agenda. In keeping with the importance of the ‘Stay Home, Keep Safe’ 

message, assignments included website reviews that could be completed by customers remotely. Website reviews were 

completed for webpages related to Planning, Jobs, Schools, Housing and Bins & Recycling. There were also some ‘Treasure 

Hunt’ assignments to test our website’s search tool. Following these reviews, improvements have been made 

to the website, including an update of information on certain pages and the removal of some ‘pop-ups’. 

Following customer feedback, a new Webchat facility has also been developed for a wide range of services, 

including Waste, Council Tax and Housing. The Webchat service can now be found on the Council’s 

homepage. 

Continuing with the ‘Stay Home, Keep Safe’ guidelines, Mystery Customers continued to feedback on our digital developments by completing assignments 
around our redesigned Homepage and a proposed My Telford Bookmark, as these could all be carried out at home. This enabled us to continue to 
successfully gather valuable insights to better deliver our promises to our residents. 

In October 2020, Mystery Customers were invited to a virtual focus group to provide feedback and help shape the Council’s new Customer Contract and 
Customer Strategy documents. 

“I thought the website 
was very well laid out 

and the information was 
detailed for this task. Not 

too busy and well 
branded.” 

 

P
age 362



           

 

11 
  

Usability Testing 
 
In March 2021, Mystery Customers carried out usability testing of the Council’s new chatbot before it went live. This is an 
artificial intelligence system that assists customers with their enquiries 24/7 on the Council’s website. By customers typing 
in direct questions, it navigates them to the appropriate area of the website. The feedback we received was reviewed, with 
one key contribution stating that the initially-proposed name of the chatbot (Telfbot) would not be advisable. Based on the 
comprehensive feedback provided by this Mystery Customer, the chatbot has now been relaunched with the name… 

ASK TOM. 

 
Mystery Customers will shortly undertake usability testing on our new My Telford app, which is currently in development. This will be launched in the next 
few months. 

76 assignments have been completed across Mystery Customer digital assignments since July 2020  

91% of customers were satisfied with their experience with the Council’s website 

91% of customers were satisfied with the quality of information on the website  

92% of customers were satisfied with the effort involved in navigating around 

the website 

 
Some improvements have already been implemented, including the redesign of logos. Downloadable documents are now accessible with our Browsealoud tool 
on our Schools webpages. The quality of information has also been improved within the Jobs, Housing and Bins & Recycling webpages. Recommendations 
are now being monitored in an action plan to be completed over the next 12 to 18 months. Once actions have been completed, they will be reported through 
our ‘you said, we did’ social media articles. 
 
Some headline figures from ASK TOM testing included: 

83% of customers were satisfied with the usability of ASK TOM 

91% of customers were satisfied with the overall look and feel of the functionality 

“I like the fact that you can tell 

you are on the council’s 

website and it is attractive but 

doesn’t look too busy or make 

it harder for visually impaired 

customers to see the pages” 

 

“I scored 10. Fab. 

The size, layout 

and colours used 

are all great.” 

 

“It was actually quite re-

assuring that so much 

information was available 

at my fingertips” 

 

P
age 363



           

 

12 
  

549

485 497
477

424

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Total Corporate Stage 1 by Year

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Corporate Stage One complaints 

In the year 2020/21 a total 491 complaints were received, this figure includes both corporate and statutory complaints. The complaints were received from 473 
complainants.  There were 424 corporate Stage One complaints (those dealt with by more than one service simultaneously are counted as a single complaint). 
In 2019/20 we received 477, while in 2018/19 this figure was 497. The number of complaints received in 2020/21 decreased to their lowest value of the last 
seven years. However, the number of complaints received during the last year will have been directly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. The chart below 
shows comparisons of the number of complaints over the last five years only. 
Chart 4: Total Corporate Stage One by Year 

The number of complaints continue to remain at a 

reduced level compared to those received in 2014/15, 

which saw the figure rise to over 750, although the 

numbers have remained reasonably static for the last four 

years.  

Of these 424 complaints, 29 were escalated to Stage Two 

of our procedure and 22 were the subject of  Local 

Government & Social Care Ombudsman enquiries 

(please note that some of these may have been for 

Stage One complaints prior to 2020/21). There has been 

a decrease in Stage Two complaints this year from the 49 

seen in 2019/20 and 47 in 2018/19. There has also been 

a decrease in complaints progressing to the Local 

Government & Social Care Ombudsman which, in 

2020/21, saw 19 corporate complaints referred. 

 

 

For further information regarding Stage Two complaints, please see page 18. 

For further information regarding Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman enquiries, 

please see page 22. 

Stage Number of 
complaints 

One 424 

Two 29 

LGSCO 19 

P
age 364



           

 

13 
  

Customer access channels and digital contact (Stage One corporate complaints): 

Complaint 
channel 

Number of 
complaints 

Email / webform 322 

Telephone 91 

Letter 11 

Total 424 

 

In 2020/21, 76% of corporate complaints were received via a digital access channel, which includes via our online complaints form and emails directly to 

the Customer Relationship team.  

Complaint Themes: 
 
Chart 5: Corporate complaint themes 2020/21 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This chart shows the top 10 complaint themes for 

2020/21. This is compiled from all complaints received 

prior to investigation. Further analysis of upheld themes 

can be found later in this report. 

Communication and staff conduct accounted for the 

majority of complaints received, representing 28% of 

the total.  

61 58

47
43

35
32

20
16

12 11

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

In
co

rr
ec

t/
In

ad
eq

u
at

e
/I

n
ap

p
ro

p
ri

at
e

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

C
o

n
d

u
ct

 o
f 

St
af

f

La
ck

 o
f 

ac
ti

o
n

D
is

ag
re

e
 w

it
h

 C
o

u
n

ci
l

d
e

ci
si

o
n

P
o

o
r 

Q
u

al
it

y 
Se

rv
ic

e

Le
ve

l o
f 

C
h

ar
ge

/F
e

e

R
eq

u
es

t 
fo

r 
Se

rv
ic

e

La
ck

 o
f 

C
o

n
su

lt
at

io
n

In
ap

p
ro

p
ri

at
e

d
is

cl
o

su
re

 o
f

in
fo

rm
at

io
n

La
ck

 o
f 

Su
p

p
o

rt

Complaint Themes

P
age 365



           

 

14 
  

8

41
57

0

43

10

39

7

25

155

3

36

0

25

50

75

100

125

150

175

A
d

u
lt

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e

C
h

ild
re

n
s 

Sa
fe

gu
ar

d
in

g 
&

 F
am

ily
Su

p
p

o
rt

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s,
 C

u
st

o
m

e
r 

&
C

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l S
e

rv
ic

es

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

C
ro

ss
 P

o
rt

fo
lio

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

 &
 S

ki
lls

Fi
n

an
ce

 &
 H

u
m

an
 R

es
o

u
rc

es

H
ea

lt
h

 &
 W

el
lb

ei
n

g

H
o

u
si

n
g,

 E
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t 

&
In

fr
as

tr
u

ct
u

re

N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
 &

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t
Se

rv
ic

es

P
o

lic
y 

&
 G

o
ve

rn
an

ce

P
ro

sp
e

ri
ty

 &
 In

ve
st

m
en

t

Number of Corporate Complaints received by Directorate

Number of Corporate Complaints received by Directorate

Chart 6: Number of Corporate Complaints received by directorate 
 

The Directorate that received the highest number 

of complaints was Neighbourhood & Enforcement 

Services (155). This is a slight increase on the 142 

received in 2019/20. However, given the number 

of customer interactions that take place through 

Waste, Highways, Grounds Maintenance, Public 

Protection, Community Safety and Enforcement, 

this remains a low number. 

The second highest number of complaints was 

received about Communities, Customer & 

Commercial Services (57). However, this is a 

significant decrease on the 98 received in 

2019/20. This decrease can, in part, be linked to 

the decrease in interactions at our leisure facilities, 

theatres and cafés due to the various COVID 

lockdowns and restrictions. 

 

 

 

 

For further analysis, see the Corporate Service Performance 2020/21 appendix on page 25. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 366



           

 

15 
  

6
14

5

16

2 4
8

62

26

12

3

26

5

22

0 2

11

83

34

24

0 1 0 1 1 1
6

10
3 0

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

A
d

u
lt

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e

C
h

ild
re

n
s 

Sa
fe

gu
ar

d
in

g 
&

 F
am

ily
 S

u
p

p
o

rt

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

 &
 S

ki
lls

Fi
n

an
ce

 &
 H

u
m

an
 R

es
o

u
rc

es

P
o

lic
y 

&
 G

o
ve

rn
an

ce

H
ea

lt
h

 &
 W

el
lb

ei
n

g

H
o

u
si

n
g,

 E
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t 

&
 In

fr
as

tr
u

ct
u

re

N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
 &

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t 
Se

rv
ic

e
s

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s,
 C

u
st

o
m

e
r 

&
 C

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l
Se

rv
ic

es

P
ro

sp
e

ri
ty

 &
 In

ve
st

m
en

t

Corporate Complaints Outcomes 2020/21

Upheld Not Upheld Other

Stage One complaint outcomes 

Of the 431 Stage One complaints that have been completed, 42% (180) were upheld. This is where services acknowledged that they could have done 

better, and represents an improvement on the 43% (201) in 2019/20 and 48% (239) in 2018/19. This indicates that there has been a reduction in cases 

where we could have done better. 53% (227) of Stage One complaints were not upheld and 6% (24) were either withdrawn, out of jurisdiction or resolved 

by the service. 

Chart 7: Percentage of complaints upheld by directorate                   Chart 8: Corporate complaint outcomes 2020/21 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The most upheld complaints were within Adult Social Care (62) and  

Communities, Customer & Commercial Services (26). However, this  

is very much based on the numbers received for these directorates.  

The directorates with the highest proportion of upheld complaints were 

Policy & Governance and Adult Social Care, both at 67%. However,  

these received very few corporate complaints, which has impacted 

on their percentages. 

  

Directorate Percentage of 
complaints 

upheld 

Adult Social Care 67% 

Policy & Governance 67% 

Cross-portfolio (Directorate) 58% 

Health & Wellbeing 57% 

Education & Skills 50% 

Communities, Customer & Commercial 
Services 

41% 

Finance & Human Resources 41% 

Neighbourhood & Enforcement Services 40% 

Children’s Safeguarding & Family Support 34% 

Prosperity & Investment 33% 

Housing, Employment & Infrastructure 32% 

Corporate Communication 0% 

P
age 367



           

 

16 
  

11

17

19

26

26

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Disagree with Council Decision- 6% Upheld

Poor Quality Service- 9% Upheld

Incorrect/ Inadequate/ Inappropriate
Communication/info- 11% Upheld

Staff Conduct/ Behaviour- 14% Upheld

Lack of Action- 14% Upheld

Top 5 Upheld themes Corporate Complaints

The top five upheld themes identified corporately at Stage One were: 

 

Chart 9: Top five upheld themes for corporate complaints            180 complaints were upheld, the top five themes being: 

Lack of Action accounted for 14% of the upheld complaints. This 
is where the customer complained because they had received no 
response. There were no trends in Service Areas for this concern 
and it was seen to cut across all Directorates. In the cases upheld, 
an explanation, apology and service were provided. 
 
Staff Conduct / Behaviour accounted for 14% of the upheld 
complaints. Staff conduct and behaviour covers a variety of 
concerns, including a lack of support from individual officers, no 
identification shown when attending a property, how a member of 
staff spoke to a customer and the general behaviour of staff, 
whether face-to-face or over the phone. In the cases upheld, an 
apology was given, the officers were spoken to by their Line 
Managers and additional training given. 
 
Incorrect / Inadequate / Inappropriate Communication / 
Information accounted for 11% of the upheld complaints, with the 
issue crossing many different services. Generally, the concerns 
raised involved records not been updated correctly (resulting in 
notices being issued), services not making contact with customers 
to provide an update, or them not returning calls. The majority of 
these complaints received an explanation and apology.  
 

 
Poor Quality Service accounted for 9% of the upheld complaints. Again, this issue crossed many different services; however, a number were related to waste 
services and refuse collections. These upheld complaints were raised via Contract Management with our contactors. In the cases upheld, an explanation, apology 
and service were provided. 
 
Disagree with Council Decision accounted for 6% of the upheld complaints. This included complaints raised against waste, enforcement, traffic calming and 
licencing. The remedies for these complaints were to offer an explanation, apology and provide the service. 

P
age 368



           

 

17 
  

44% 41%

89% 88%

60%

95% 100%

84%
87%

67% 72%

24

19

11 12
15

10

10

9

12 10

1…

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

A
d

u
lt

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e

C
h

ild
re

n
s

Sa
fe

gu
ar

d
in

g 
&

…

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s,
C

u
st

o
m

e
r 

&
…

C
ro

ss
 P

o
rt

fo
lio

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

 &
 S

ki
lls

Fi
n

an
ce

 &
 H

u
m

an
R

es
o

u
rc

e
s

H
ea

lt
h

 &
 W

el
lb

ei
n

g

H
o

u
si

n
g,

Em
p

lo
ym

en
t 

&
…

N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
 &

En
fo

rc
e

m
en

t…

P
o

lic
y 

&
 G

o
ve

rn
an

ce

P
ro

sp
e

ri
ty

 &
In

ve
st

m
en

t

Response Timescales

Percentage responded to within 15 working days

Average time scale to respond in days

15 working days

Timescales for responses at Stage One 

The Council’s Corporate Complaints Policy states that Stage One corporate complaints should be responded to within 15 working days. This may be 

extended in exceptional circumstances by a further five days. The following chart shows the percentage of complaints responded to within 15 working days 

by directorate and also the average number of days for each to respond to corporate complaints at Stage One. 

The data indicates that, in the main, directorates are meeting the corporate timescale of 15 working days, which is excellent. 
 
Chart 10: Response timescales for Stage One corporate complaints     

Please note: 2020/21 has been an unprecedented year, during 

which the Council has and continued to respond to the COVID-19 

pandemic. The pandemic has had an impact on the Council’s 

ability to respond to complaints within timescales, as officers have 

sometimes been assigned to alternative roles and duties. During 

this time, complainants were constantly updated regarding the 

progress of their complaints and when a response would be 

available. 

However, the Council has managed to respond to corporate 

complaints in an average of 12 days, which is well within the 15 

working day timescale. 

82% of complaints were responded to within the 15 working day 

timescale, an increase on the 81% achieved in 2019/20. Our local 

target is to respond to 90% of corporate complaints within 

15 working days. Finance & Human Resources and Health & 

Wellbeing exceeded this target during the year. Other directorates 

also saw an improvement in their percentage response e.g. 

Communities, Customer and Commercial Services, which saw an 

improvement from 83% in 2019/20 to 89% in 2020/21. 

For further information and analysis regarding the five directorates that received the most complaints, please refer to Appendix A. This also includes 
dashboard data for the remaining five directorates, Corporate Communications and cross-portfolio complaints. 

P
age 369



           

 

18 
  

8 8

5

4

2

1 1

2 2

1

2 2

1

3 3

1

5

3

1

2

3

1 11

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
 &

 E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t
Se

rv
ic

es

P
ro

sp
e

ri
ty

 &
 In

ve
st

m
en

t

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s,
 C

u
st

o
m

e
r 

&
C

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l S
e

rv
ic

es

C
ro

ss
 P

o
rt

fo
lio

C
h

ild
re

n
s 

Sa
fe

gu
ar

d
in

g 
&

 F
am

ily
Su

p
p

o
rt

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

 &
 S

ki
lls

H
o

u
si

n
g,

 E
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t 

&
In

tr
as

tr
u

ct
u

re

Corporate Complaints Outcomes 2019/20

Total Stage 2 Total Refused Upheld Not Upheld Other

Corporate Stage Two complaints 

During 2020/21, 29 corporate Stage One complaints (7%) progressed to Stage Two of the process. This represents a 3% decrease on the percentage that 

progressed in 2019/20, 49 (10%). All investigations have now been completed.  

Chart 11: Stage Two complaints received and outcomes by directorate 
A higher volume of Stage Two complaints were seen in 
Neighbourhood & Enforcement Services (8) and Prosperity & 
Investment (8). 
 
Health, Wellbeing & Commissioning, Adult Social Care, Financial 

& Human Resources and Policy & Governance had no complaints 

escalated to Stage Two in 2020/21, meaning that they are not 

detailed in Chart 11. 

Out of the 29 complaints, it was considered that nine had already 

been addressed at Stage One or the desired outcome that the 

complainant was seeking was not achievable by progressing their 

complaint further, i.e. there would have been no added value in 

taking the complaint through to a full Stage Two investigation.  

These complaints were responded to in an average of nine 

working days. The aim is to respond to Stage Two escalation 

requests within 10 working days. 

Of the 29 Stage Two complaints, 20 resulted in full investigations. 

This is a 43% decrease on the number completed in 2019/20 (35). 

40% of full investigations were upheld. 

The average number of working days taken to complete a full investigation was 29. This is an increase on the 24 days taken in 2019/20. The impact of the 

COVID-19 pandemic did affect these timescales; however, this figure is still within the extended timescale of 65 working days outlined in the complaints policy. 

  

P
age 370



           

 

19 
  

130

105

70

59

20
16 9

5 5

Complaint Remedies 2020/21

Explanation No Remedy Required- 130

Explanation & Apology- 105

Information Provided- 70

Explanation & Service Provided- 59

Apology & Service Provided- 20

Withdrawn- 16

Training Identified- 9

Apology & No Service Provided- 5

Improved Service Provision- 5

Learning from Corporate Complaints 

Although they provide an overall picture of our services, we should not, however, be looking purely at the numbers. We should also be focusing on the learning 

we have undertaken from these complaints. 

Complaints are a valuable source of information that can help to identify recurring or underlying problems and potential improvements. We know that numbers 
alone do not tell us everything about attitudes towards complaints and how they are responded to locally. Arguably, it is of greater importance to understand the 
impact that complaints have had on people and to learn the lessons from them to so as to improve the experience of others. 
 
Lessons can usually be learned from complaints that were upheld, but also in some instances where no fault was found but the Council recognises that 

improvements to services can still be made. 

Occasionally, during the course of an investigation, issues will be identified that need to be addressed over and above the original complaint. The Customer 
Relationship team will then work with services to ensure that they see the “bigger picture” so that that residents receive the best possible service from the Council. 
 
                  Chart 12: Top complaint remedies 2020/21 (all complaints) 
Remedial actions taken from resolved complaints at Stage One in 2020/21  
  

All 180 complaints where fault was found have been reviewed by the Customer 
Relationship team to ascertain what action the relevant department has taken, 
both in remedying the fault and identifying any wider learning to avoid such issues 
recurring in the future. 
 

Remedial action typically consists of both individual redress (e.g. an apology or 
carrying out overdue work) and wider actions that may affect many other 
customers. On some occasions, the fault has already been remedied - so the 
complaints process is used to ensure that the appropriate action has been taken. 
 

Of the remedies recorded against corporate complaints in 2020/21: 

 25% were to provide an explanation and an apology 

 31% were to provide an explanation and no remedy was required 

 14% were to provide an explanation and the service was provided 

 5% were to provide an apology and the service was provided 

P
age 371



           

 

20 
  

Positive improvements 

Below are some examples of positive changes that have resulted from learning following Stage One complaints: 

 The Financial Case Management client charging process has been updated, which will improve timescales 

  

 Procedures reviewed so there is better preparation and communication between social workers prior to meetings 
 

 The omission of an external staircase from a description at the validation stage of a planning application has been corrected 
 

 All officers who complete financial agreements now undertake a one year online course and also have to complete an induction programme, including 

training to the required competency 

 

 Contactors have been reminded of the fulfilment standards expected in relation to sightlines at junctions to ensure that, when signs are installed, they do 

not obstruct them 

 

 New proof of residency procedures for Revenues Enforcement agents have been implemented 

 

 Procedures have been reviewed in our Highways team to improve response times 

to enquiries 

 

 The telephone calls for the Financial Case Management team are now recorded 
 

 The Enforcement team have reviewed the policy regarding images of those under 16 years 
old appearing in posts linked to ongoing criminal investigations 

 

 The procedure regarding letters from the Planning department has been reviewed and 

validation officers now check all printing 

 

 We’ve implemented a revised monitoring process in relation to complaints against the 

Council’s grounds & cleansing contractor around timescales for responses 

 

P
age 372



           

 

21 
  

 Worked with the contactors at our Household Recycling Centres on solutions to increase information for site users on waiting times and restrictions  
 

 Where incorrect information had been provided to a customer, this has been fed back to officers and training given 
 

 Additional training has been given to officers regarding communication over the telephone and how to manage calls effectively  
 

 

 

Below are examples of positive changes that have resulted from learning following Stage Two complaints: 

 The Enforcement team have reviewed the process for Penalty Charge Notice challenges and will now accept verbal representations in specific 
circumstances 

 

 The Anti-social Behaviour team will make sure that Community Trigger-related correspondence provides details of any agreed actions from multi-agency 
meetings 

 

 The Waste team have added details to their webpages advising that last entry to our Household Recycling Centres might be earlier than advertised due to 
COVID-19 compliance 

 

 The Commissioning & Procurement team have introduced a new escalation process to ensure that delayed payments are progressed sooner  
 

 Customer Contact Centre and Switchboard advisors have been reminded of call escalation and termination processes  
 

 Family Connect have been reminded that calls should be handled in a professional and sensitive manner  
 
 

 

  

P
age 373



           

 

22 
  

14

4

1
2

0
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Not investigated Open Cases (awaiting
decision)

Premature Referal Upheld Not Upheld

LGSCO Outcomes

Not investigated Open Cases (awaiting decision) Premature Referal Upheld Not Upheld

Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman enquiries 

The Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) has the authority to investigate complaints when it appears that our own process has not resolved 

them. Complainants can refer their complaint to the LGSCO at any time, although the Ombudsman will generally refer them back to us if they have not been 

through our process first. In exceptional circumstances, the Ombudsman will look at things earlier; this usually being dependant on the vulnerability of the person 

concerned.  

During this period, 19 complaints were forwarded to the LGSCO.  

 
Chart 13: Corporate LGSCO outcomes 

 

Of the 19 corporate complaints, four remain open awaiting a decision. 

Two decisions were also received in 2020/21 in respect of complaints 

escalated in 2019/20. 

There were two upheld corporate complaints in 2020/21, both of 

which followed complaints that were escalated in 2019/20.  

Telford & Wrekin Council has taken learning from the upheld 

decisions, and 100% of recommendations made by the LGSCO have 

been completed by us. 

More information regarding the Council’s performance and LGSCO 

decisions can be found at: www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre.     

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 374

http://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre


           

 

23 
  

Concluding comments 

The data held in this report highlights that there has been a 6% increase in the formal customer feedback received in 2020/21. Although there has been an 11% 

reduction in the number of complaints received, the number of positive feedbacks has increased by 35%. 
Whilst the number of complaints received is small in comparison to the number of transactions, each service has used the complaints they have received to inform 

ongoing service improvements. 

The outcomes for this year are positive when considered against the backdrop of the national response to COVID-19 and the fact that officers were also undertaking 

other duties as a result. Our overall response timescales have increased slightly from 11 to 12 working days during the year. However, this remains within the 

timescales outlined in our Corporate Complaint Policy and was expected given the challenges faced. 

In 2021/22, we must remain focussed on continuous learning from complaints, even in cases where the complaint is not upheld and no fault is found. In these 

instances, we need to consider if there is a point in the customer journey that could be improved in order to prevent repeat complaints in the future, for example 

via improved communication or access channels. 

All complaints are an opportunity to learn and improve the service we provide. 

Actions will be monitored going forward and services challenged to follow-up on learning opportunities from all complaints, including those that are not upheld. 

This is to ensure that positive changes continue to be made to customers’ experience when they do business with the Council. 

Feedback from our Customer Insight Programme has also added to the customer feedback received in 2020/21, and the programme will continue in 2021/22 to 

ensure that we are proactive in trying to prevent complaints and improve our customers’ experience. 

Real time instant insights will also be gathered via new QR code surveys located in many of our buildings, including our libraries, leisure centres, receptions, cafés 

and Register Office, and also from our Contact Centre satisfaction survey. 

We will also continue to ask our customers to user-test new technologies and processes so that they remain involved in the development of our services. 

 

 

P
age 375



           

 

24 
  

Oversight and support provided by Customer Relationship team 

The Customer Relationship team continues to support Service Areas to both manage and learn from complaints. The key services they offer are: 

1. To manage and support the Council’s approach to customer intelligence, ensuring we effectively manage and learn from our interactions 

with customers 

2. Provide support to services concerning all aspects of customer insight and obtaining feedback 

3. Perform in-depth and snapshot reviews of our services, our key physical front doors and digital front door 

4. Provide services with complaints advice and support, including support with persistent and unreasonable complainants 

5. Provide reports on the quality of complaint responses and make recommendations for improvement 

6. Act as a critical friend to challenge service practice 

7. Provide advice on drafting comprehensive responses to complaint investigations 

8. Continue to escalate overdue complaints to Directors  

 

Customer Relationship team priorities for 2021/22 

During 2021/22, the Customer Relationship team will focus on a number of key priorities: 

 Continue to roll out the Customer Insight Programme, Mystery Customer Snapshot Reviews and Mystery Customer Website Reviews, with the view 

to proactively reduce complaints further 

 Perform a review of how we obtain customer feedback across the Council, mapping what feedback different services gather and ensuring that we 

obtain feedback from all demographics 

 Drive an improvement in the percentage of complaints responded to within timescales from 82% to 90%  

 Obtain approval for our reviewed and updated complaint policies 

 Continue to provide a quarterly and monthly reporting dashboard of performance data to senior management so that improvement can be driven 

forward continuously during the year 

 Continue to improve and add to the resources available to managers when responding to complaints and other correspondence, while encouraging 

self-help 

 Work to maintain low levels of maladministration findings by the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman 

 Develop a new customer service training package 

 Organise Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman complaint training for managers 

P
age 376



           

 

25 
  

15

6
3 3

8
11

7
4

16

6
3

10
7 7

11
8

2 3 2 3
6

3
1

4 5
2

4
6

4 3

0

5

10

15

20

D
o

m
es

ti
c

R
ef

u
se

…

En
vi

ro
n

m
e

n
ta

l
En

fo
rc

e
m

en
t

G
ra

ss
 C

u
tt

in
g

G
re

en
 &

R
ec

yc
lin

g…

H
al

es
fi

el
d

 C
R

C

H
o

rt
o

n
w

o
o

d
C

R
C

La
n

d
 d

ra
in

ag
e

is
su

e
s

P
ar

ki
n

g 
Is

su
es

P
u

b
lic

P
ro

te
ct

io
n

Sh
ru

b
/ 

H
ed

ge
P

ru
n

in
g

St
re

et
 L

ig
h

ti
n

g

St
re

et
 w

o
rk

s

Te
m

p
o

ra
ry

R
o

ad
 C

lo
su

re
s

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
al

m
in

g

Tr
ee

 Is
su

e
s

Number of complaints and upheld by Service

Number of complaints by Service Number upheld

Appendix A: Corporate Service Performance 2020/21                                               

Greater detail has been provided for those services that received over 50 complaints during the year. A breakdown of the headline figures is available for all 
directorates on page 29. 
 

Neighbourhood & Enforcement Services 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The majority of Neighbourhood & Enforcement services are                 Chart 14: Number of complaints for Neighbourhood & Enforcement Services 
customer-focused frontline services that have millions of interactions 
with customers during the year. Our Waste Services team emptied 
approximately 10.2 million refuse bins across the borough in 
2020/21. Furthermore, 99.94% of bin collections were completed  
on time. Our Neighbourhood Services team facilitated the emptying 
of 2,414 public litter bins in 2020/21, and over 10,600,000 square 
metres of ground was cleansed and maintained during the year. 
 
The majority of complaints were received by Public Protection and 
Domestic Refuse Collections. The chart shows the number of 
complaints per service where three or more complaints were 
received. 
 

  

155 
complaints 

40% 
upheld 

 

87% 
of responses 

sent in 15 days 

Average 
number of 

days to 
respond 

12  

138 
positive 

feedbacks 

P
age 377



           

 

26 
  

13

12

9

7

4

4

4

Top 'Upheld' Themes

Lack of action- 13

Conduct - Staff/Officer- 12

Poor Quality of Service/ Workmanship- 9

Incorrect/ Inadequate Communication/
Information- 7

Disagree with council decision- 4

Incomplete Work/ Service- 4

Request for Service- 4

Public Protection received 16 complaints, four of which were upheld. Domestic Refuse Collections received 15 complaints, eight of which were upheld - this being 
due to a variety of issues, including whole-street and individually-missed collections. The number of complaints in this area has significantly decreased from the 
31 complaints received in 2019/20, of which 25 were upheld.  

      Chart 15: Top upheld themes for Neighbourhood & Enforcement Services 
Tree issues resulted in 11 complaints, three of which were upheld.  
Issues included no notification of works, disagreement with hedge 
removal and timescale to action not meeting customers’ 
expectations.  
 
Whilst 40% (62) of complaints were upheld, this is extremely low  
compared to the number of interactions that took place across this 
directorate. 
 
It should be noted that 12 upheld complaints related to staff conduct 
or behaviour. 13 complaints that were upheld related to a lack of 
action. These complaints were against a number of services, including 
Public Protection, Street Lighting and land drainage. In situations 
where there is a delay in carrying out actions, customers should 
be updated and their expectations managed.  
 
 
 
 
Below are details of the number of complaints and positive feedbacks received in respect of the main contractors for Neighbourhood & Enforcement Services. In 
2020/21, the amount of positive feedback exceeded the number of complaints received for each contractor. All complaints are monitored as part of contract 
management. 
 

Contractor Complaints Positive 
feedbacks 

Veolia 35 75 

Idverde 13 32 

Balfour Beatty 3 5 

Prysmian 0 3 

 

P
age 378



           

 

27 
  

10

7

18

3
5

2 21
3

7

2 3
1 1

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18
20

B
en

ef
it

 C
la

im
s

C
o

n
ce

ss
io

n
ar

y 
&

W
el

fa
re

C
o

n
ta

ct
 C

en
tr

e

O
ak

en
ga

te
s 

Le
is

u
re

C
en

tr
e

R
eg

is
tr

at
io

n
Se

rv
ic

es

Te
lf

o
rd

 T
o

w
n

 P
ar

k

H
o

rs
eh

ay
 V

ill
ag

e
G

o
lf

 C
en

tr
e

Number of Complaints by Service

Number of complaints by Service Number upheld

Communities, Customer & Commercial Services 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The chart to the right shows the number of complaints received by    Chart 16: Number of complaints for Communities, Customer & Commercial Services 
services where three or more complaints were lodged. The  
majority of complaints related to the Customer Contact Centre. 
 
Visitors to our leisure centres decreased significantly during the year  
due to COVID restrictions and lockdowns. Many officers from   
Leisure Services were redeployed in response to the pandemic,  
while The Place@Oakengates Theatre became a testing centre. 

 
The total number of customer contacts received and dealt with by  
our Contact Centre in 2020/21 was 228,251, which is fewer than  
the 278,194 handled in 2019/20 due to a reduction in enquiries 
about services caused by the pandemic. 
  
Additional phone lines were also provided during the year, including a 
Community Support line to assist shielding residents access food 
parcels, prescriptions and other support. 
 
 
 

57 
complaints 

41% 
upheld 

 

89% 
of responses 

sent in 15 days 

Average 
number of 

days to 
respond 

11  

46 
positive 

feedbacks 

P
age 379



           

 

28 
  

6

2

3

2

Top 'Upheld' themes

Conduct of Staff/ Staff behaviour- 6

Cementry Maintenance- 2

Poor Quality of Service- 3

Disagree with Council Decision- 2

Of the upheld complaints, the main service was the Customer Contact Centre (18), who had seven complaints upheld. This is a 4% reduction in upheld complaints 
compared to 2019/20 and also represents a 36% reduction in the number of complaints received since 2019/20. The seven upheld complaints related to staff 
conduct, quality of service, lack of action and disagreement with council decisions. 

 
The Benefits Service received ten complaints, one of which was upheld, due to access to the service by phone and issues with automation on the line. The 
Concessionary & Welfare team received seven complaints, three of which were upheld. Two of these related to staff conduct and the other related to a delay in 
notifying a change. Training was identified for staff, and an explanation and apology provided. 

 
Chart 17: Top upheld themes for Communities, Customer & Commercial Services 

The top ‘upheld’ themes for the directorate were as follows: 
 
There were 26 upheld complaints, representing 41% of the total.  
 
Six upheld complaints related to staff conduct/behaviour. In each case, 
Team Leaders have been working closely with the officers involved 
to prevent recurrences in the future.  

 
Two complaints related to cemetery maintenance where concerns were 
raised regarding flooding and the general condition of a cemetery. Action 
was taken to remedy these concerns. 

  
The instances recorded for poor quality of service vary, but this area  
included issues with a phone line connection, the level of information  
requested by an advisor and an overall experience of Horsehay Village  
Golf Centre. 
 
Two upheld complaints related to a disagreement with a council  
decision, which included the choice of music for an event and a  
payment schedule not updated for a customer following a phone call. 

 
 
Other themes that accounted for one upheld complaint each included COVID-19 Test & Trace sites, a delay in notifying a change, a lack of action, a lack of 
consultation and a webpage not working. 

  

P
age 380



           

 

29 
  

Chart 18: Headline figures for all directorates  

Directorate Complaints Percentage 

upheld 

Average number 

of working days 

to respond 

Percentage of 

responses 

within 15 

working days 

Positive 

feedbacks 

Neighbourhood & Enforcement 

Services 

155 40% 12  87% 138 

Communities, Customer & 

Commercial Services 

57 41% 11  89% 46 

Cross-portfolio 43 58% 12  88% 29 

Children Safeguarding & Family 

Support 

41 34% 19  41% 32 

Finance & Human Resources 39 41% 10  95% 56 

Prosperity & Investment 36 33% 14  72% 17 

Housing, Employment & Infrastructure 25 32% 9  84% 2 

Education & Skills 10 50% 15  60% 4 

Adult Social Care 8 67% 24  44% 50 

Health & Wellbeing 7 57% 10  100% 18 

Policy & Governance 3 67% 10  67% 0 

Corporate Communications 0 N/A N/A N/A 0 

 

P
age 381



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

Telford & Wrekin Council 

 Adult Statutory 

Complaints Report 

Improving our Customer Experience  

Annual Report 2020/21 

Page 383



2 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Contents 

 
 

Purpose of the report………………………………………………………….… 
 

3 

Introduction………………………………………………….………………….… 
 

3 
 

Adult Statutory Complaints received in 2020/21….…..…………………....... 
 

Themes of upheld complaints……………………………………………….…. 
 

Timescales for responses…………………………….…..………………….… 

4 
 
6 

 
7 

  
Learning from Adult Statutory Complaints……………..…………………...... 

 
Complaints made to the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman…. 

 
Concluding comments………………………………………..…………………. 

 
Oversight and support provided by the Customer Relationship team……... 

 
Customer Relationship team priorities for 2021/22…………..…………....... 

8 
 
10 
 
10 
 
12 
 
12 

 
Appendix..………………………………………………………………………… 

 
13 

 
 
 

  

Page 384



3 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Purpose of the report 
 
To report statistical information to Members and Officers detailing Telford and Wrekin 
Council’s Adult Social Care complaints and compliments activities from 1 April 2020 to 
31 March 2021 

To provide an open resource to anyone who wishes to scrutinise local services 

To outline the key developments and planned improvements to the complaints processes 
operated by the Council 

To consider how the learning from complaints and compliments can be used to improve the 
overall customer experience 
 

Introduction 
 
This is the Complaints Manager’s Annual Report for Adult Social Care. It is a statutory 
requirement to prepare an Annual Report each year concerning the complaints activity within 
Adult Social Care that can be made available to anyone on request. This must: 
 

1. Specify the number of complaints received  
 

2. Specify the number of complaints upheld 
 

3. Specify the number of complaints that we have been informed have been referred to 
the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman 

 
4. Summarise:  

a. The subject matter of the complaints received 
b. Any matters of general importance arising out of these complaints, or the way 

in which these complaints were handled 
c. Any matter where action has been, or is to be, taken to improve services as a 

consequence of these complaints 
This report provides information about complaints made between 1 April 2020 and 31 
March 2021 under the Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service Complaints 
(England) Regulations 2009. 
 

Highlights for 2020/21 

In 2020/21, there were 5,446 adults supported by the Council. Out of those, 2,360 received a 

Long Term service (a service that was expected to continue and not be time-limited or low 

level). There were 7,094 new contacts in 2020/21 for 4,362 different people. This includes 

1,614 contacts for people being discharged from hospital. As well as this, there were a further 

143 reviews for people leaving hospital who were already being supported by the Council 

before going into hospital, and were then discharged back to council services. 

 

34% 
  

reduction in Adult 
Statutory Complaints 

received 

 
Improved processes 

for handling 
complaints including 
6 weekly meetings, 

Director reviews and 
complaints rating 

system.  

 

6% 
 

reduction in the 
percentage of 

complaints exceeding 
65 working days 

 
 

 
The average number 
of days to respond 

has improved to 
 

32  
working days. 

 
*since October 2020 

Page 385



4 
 

 

 
 
 

Adult Statutory Complaints received in 2020/21 

We received 38 Adult Statutory Complaints between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021. The 
chart below compares the number of statutory complaints we’ve received over the past 
five years.  
 

Chart 1: Total Adult Statutory Complaints by year 

 
 

There has been a significant decrease in the number of complaints received in 2020/21.  
 

Customer access channels and digital contact 
 

Complaint channel Number of complaints 

Email / webform 22 

Telephone 10 

Letter 6 

Total 38 
 

In 2020/21, 58% of Adult Statutory Complaints were received via a digital access channel, 

including via our online complaints webform and by email.  

Complaint themes 

Chart 2: Adult Statutory Complaint themes in 2020/21 

 

38
46

51
58

38

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Total Adult Statutory Complaints by year

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

8 8

7

6 6

4 4

3

1 1

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

In
co

rr
ec

t/
In

ad
eq

u
at

e
/I

n
ap

p
ro

p
ri

at
e

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

Le
ve

l o
f 

C
h

ar
ge

/F
e

e

La
ck

 o
f 

C
o

n
su

lt
at

io
n

D
is

ag
re

e
 w

it
h

 C
o

u
n

ci
l

d
e

ci
si

o
n

Le
ve

l/
La

ck
 o

f 
Su

p
p

o
rt

C
o

n
d

u
ct

 o
f

St
af

f/
So

ci
al

 W
o

rk
er

La
ck

 o
f 

ac
ti

o
n

P
o

o
r 

Q
u

al
it

y 
Se

rv
ic

e

P
o

o
r 

Q
u

al
it

y 
Fa

ci
lit

y

R
eq

u
es

t 
fo

r 
Se

rv
ic

e

Complaint themes

Page 386



5 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Most of these themes are self-explanatory and give a clear idea about the aspects of our work 
that received complaints.  
 

Complaints received by the directorate 

Of the 38 complaints received, all have been responded to. Below is a chart of the statutory 
complaints received by each portfolio against the number upheld. Some of the complaints 
were cross-cutting and it was felt appropriate for these to follow the Adult Statutory Complaints 
procedure. One complaint required a multi-agency investigation with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG). 
 
Chart 3: Number of Adult Statutory Complaints received by the directorate 

 

The chart below shows the outcomes of all of these complaints. 

Chart 4: Adult Statutory Complaint outcomes 

 

Of the 38 complaints, 69% (26) were upheld, 34% (11) were not upheld and 3% (1) were dealt 

with via another method. 

The chart below includes the number of complaints received by each service. Please note that 

the number of complaints detailed below is higher than the overall total because certain 

complaints had multiple issues raised against different teams. This chart seeks to show all the 

services against which issues were raised. 

32

6

23

3

0

25

50

A
d

u
lt

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e

A
SC

 C
ro

ss
P

o
rt

fo
lio

Number of Adult Statutory Complaints received by the 
directorate

Number of Adult Statutory Complaints Received by Directorate Number Upheld

23

7

1
3 3

0

5

10

15

20

25

U
p

h
el

d

N
o

t 
U

p
h

el
d

Se
rv

ic
e

R
es

o
lv

ed

Adult Statutory Complaint outcomes

Adult Social Care Cross Portfolio

Page 387



6 
 

 

 
 
 
 
Chart 5: Number of complaints by service, highlighting those upheld 

 

There were 15 complaints that included issues regarding the three social work locality teams, 

and 12 of these were upheld (80%). There were 13 complaints that included issues raised 

regarding the Financial Case Management team, and nine of these were upheld (69%). These 

complaints were due to various issues, including delays in assessment, invoicing, errors in 

calculations, delays in responding and the provision of funding. 

Six complaints involved issues related to Telford Integrated Community Assessment Team 

(TICAT), five of which were upheld (83%). Issues included lack of consultation, inadequate 

communication and the poor quality of a nursing home. 

 

Themes of upheld complaints 
Of the 26 upheld complaints, the top themes raised were as detailed in the chart below. 

Chart 6: Top upheld themes 

 

  

1
3

7
5

1 1

13

2
1

4
3

1 1 1 1

6

2

6
4

1 1

9

0
2 2

1 1

5

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14

A
d

u
lt

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

A
d

u
lt

 S
o

ci
al

 W
o

rk
W

re
ki

n
 (

Tr
an

si
ti

o
n

)

A
d

u
lt

 S
o

ci
al

 W
o

rk
H

ad
le

y 
C

as
tl

e

A
d

u
lt

 S
o

ci
al

 W
o

rk
La

ke
si

d
e 

So
u

th

C
o

m
m

is
so

n
in

g

D
ir

ec
t 

P
ay

m
e

n
ts

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 C

as
e

M
an

ag
em

en
t

H
o

u
si

n
g 

O
p

ti
o

n
s

Le
ad

 S
af

e
gu

ar
d

in
g 

&
M

en
ta

l C
ap

ac
it

y

Le
ar

n
in

g 
D

is
ab

ili
ty

 &
A

u
ti

sm

M
en

ta
l H

ea
lt

h

M
y 

O
p

ti
o

n
s

O
cc

u
p

at
io

n
al

Th
er

ap
y

O
ld

e
r 

P
eo

p
le

SE
N

 (
0

-2
5

)

TI
C

A
T

Complaints by service

Number of complaints by Service Number upheld

7

5

54

4

4

2
1

1 1

Top upheld themes
Lack of Consultation- 7

Incorrect/Inadequate/Inappropriate
Communication- 5
Level of Charge/Fee- 5

Conduct of Social Worker- 4

Disagree with council decision- 4

Staff - Lack of Support- 4

Lack of action- 2

Delay in Allocation Procedure- 1

Poor Quality Facility- 1

Request for Information- 1

Page 388



7 
 

 

 

 

The above categories are self-explanatory and give a clear indication of the overall areas of 

our service or aspects of our work that had the most upheld complaints. This indicates that 

27% of upheld complaints related to a lack of consultation. These concerns were linked to a 

lack of notification of care charges, care required, care planning and a lack of respite. 

13% of the upheld complaints related to communication, including not keeping customers 

updated and customers not being able to make contact with social workers. 

13% of the upheld complaints related to the level of fees and charges associated with Financial 

Case Management invoicing, and errors in calculations. 

Individual management reports are shared with service managers on a regular basis, which 

allows for greater analysis and interpretation of the data.  

 

Timescales for responses 

In 2020/21, the average number of working days to respond to an Adult Statutory Complaint 

across all portfolios was 53. This is an increase in the average response time from 51 days in 

2019/20 but still an improvement on the 56 days achieved in 2018/19. For a breakdown, see 

the chart below. 

Chart 7: Response timescales in 2020/21 

 

Of the 38 complaints received, all have been responded to. Eight of the 38 responses were 

sent within the initial 25 working day timescale, 20 were sent within the extended timescale of 

65 working days and ten exceeded the 65 working day timescale. This represents 26% of 

responses and indicates an improvement on the 32% achieved in 2019/20.  

Two complaints (5%) received in 2020/21 exceeded the six month timescale. Both cases were 

formally reviewed and escalated to the relevant Service Delivery Manager and Director. Whilst 

the number of days to respond to Adult Statutory Complaints has increased and some 

complaints have exceeded 6 months (5%), the Council is pleased that the average number of 

days to respond to complaints has remained below our local target of 65 working days. 

8

0

13

5

9

1

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Adult Social Care Cross Portfolio

Response timescales in 2020/21

Number responded to within 25 working days Number responded within 65 working days

Number exceeding 65 working days

Page 389



8 
 

 

 

 

 

Please note: As an authority, we should be ensuring that we meet the statutory requirements 

and timescales set out in our policy. However, it must be noted that 2020 was an 

unprecedented year, during which the Council had, and continues today, to respond to the 

COVID-19 pandemic. This has had an impact on our ability to respond to complaints within 

timescales, as officers have sometimes been assigned to alternative roles and duties. The 

pandemic also presented challenges which completing investigations with other organisations 

such as the CCG During this time, complainants were constantly updated regarding the 

progress of their complaints and when a response would be available. 

Since November 2020 new procedures have been put in place to improve timescales for Adult 

Statutory Complaints. Complaints are now rated based on timescales and copied to the 

Director, the Director is also copied into progress chases. 6 weekly meetings are now also 

taking place with Directors to review all outstanding cases and learning. 

Timescales have improved significantly since 1 October 2020, and from this date, the average 

number of working days to respond reduced to 32 for the remainder of the year. 

 

Learning from Adult Statutory Complaints 

Complaints are a valuable source of information that can help to identify recurring or 
underlying problems and potential improvements. We know that numbers alone do not tell us 
everything about attitudes towards complaints and how they are responded to locally. 
Arguably, it is of greater importance to understand the impact that complaints have had on 
people and to learn the lessons from them to so as to improve the experience of others. 
 
Lessons can usually be learned from complaints that were upheld, but also in some instances 

where no fault was found but the Council recognises that improvements to services can still 

be made. 

Occasionally, during the course of an investigation, issues will be identified that need to be 
addressed over and above the original complaint. The Customer Relationship team will then 
work with services to ensure that they see the “bigger picture” so that that residents receive 
the best possible service from the Council. The Customer Relationship team will continue to 
provide daily advice and support to managers around complaints management and resolution, 
and with responding to representations. Learning is also shared and progressed as part of the 
Adult Social Care Quality Assurance Framework. 
 
Chart 8: Adult Statutory Complaint remedies in 2020/21

 

14

7

6

4

2
1
1 1 1

Adult Statutory Complaint remedies in 2020/21
Explanation & Apology- 14

Explanation No Remedy Required- 7

Explanation & Service Provided- 6

Improved Service Provision- 4

Information Provided- 2

Apology & Service Provided- 1

Change of worker- 1

Re-Assessment- 1

Training Identified- 1

Page 390



9 
 

 

 

 

Of the remedies recorded against Adult Statutory Complaints in 2020/21: 

 37% were to provide an explanation and apology 

 16% were to provide an explanation and no remedy was required 

 16% were to improve service provision 

 

Positive improvements 

Below are examples of positive changes within Adult Social Care, some of which have resulted 

from learning from complaints and customer feedback: 

 The Financial Case Management team has been moved into Adult Social Care, 

including improved processes and timescales for financial assessments 

 

 A reduction in transferals between teams 

 

 Dedicated brokers for care and support 
 

 There is now a specialist commissioning framework for providers to autistic people, 
Mental Health services and Learning Disability services 

 

 Recognised the positive impact of the Specialist Autism and Learning Disability team 
on practice 

 

 There is now a named worker who supports the individual, family/ carer throughout 
an intervention. 

 

 Hospital discharges are now supported at weekends 
 

 Family Connect requests for unscheduled reviews are more robust 
 

 A Specialist Housing Strategy for accessible housing for people with disabilities has 
been developed 

 

 Family Connect are now ensuring that callers are updating their requests for support 
when there is a change in circumstances 
 

 The development of accessible information for Mental Health services 
 

 Direct Payment Officers have been appointed 
 

Learning was also shared with our Making It Real Board in October 2020 and is a regular 

agenda item for them, as co-production has a key contribution to make to the continual 

development of Adult Social Care delivery. 

During 2021/22, we will continue to learn from complaints to ensure that continuous service 

improvement takes place. 

  

Page 391



10 
 

 

 

 

Complaints made to the Local Government & 

Social Care Ombudsman  

The Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) has the authority to investigate 

complaints when it appears that our own process has not resolved them. Complainants can 

refer their complaint to the LGSCO at any time, although the Ombudsman will generally refer 

them back to us if they have not been through our process first. In exceptional circumstances, 

the Ombudsman will look at things earlier; this usually being dependant on the vulnerability of 

the person concerned. 

Three Adult Statutory Complaint cases remained outstanding with the LGSCO on 31 March 

2020. Decisions on these cases were received in 2020/21. 

Three complaints were escalated to the LGSCO in 2020/21. Two were still under investigation 

on 31 March 2021. 

 Chart 9: Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman outcomes in 2020/21 

 

The Council fully complied with the recommendations made by the LGSCO, and learning was 

taken forward to improve practices in relation to the complaint process, policy documentation, 

delays and communication. 

Concluding comments 

This Annual Report shows that the number of Adult Statutory Complaints we received in 

2020/21 decreased from the previous year. Our services continue to result in a low number of 

complaints at a time when there have been major reductions in government funding for local 

authority service provision. Despite this financial backdrop, the Council continues to manage 

complaints well and is committed to putting right anything that has gone wrong.  

Response times have inevitably been affected by the pandemic in 2020/21, when many 

councils moved staff to other duties in order to respond to it. Whilst timescales did increase 

during the period, despite this backdrop, there has not been a significant impact - with 

complaints only taking, on average, two days longer to respond to. 

2

1 1

2

0

1

2

3

U
p

h
el

d

P
re

m
at

u
re

 R
ef

er
ra

l

N
o

t 
In

ve
st

ig
at

ed

U
n

d
er

 In
ve

st
ig

at
io

n

LGSCO outcomes in 2020/21

Upheld Premature Referral
Not Investigated Under Investigation

Page 392



11 
 

 

 

 

The number of statutory complaints upheld was high in comparison to the total number 

received (at 68.57%). However, the Council acknowledges that the services it provides must 

continually evolve by us acknowledging and learning from our customers’ experiences of them 

and actively identifying improvements. 

 

Complaint handling recommendations 

 When completing a complaint investigation and response, services should assess 
whether any element of the customer journey could have been improved, even if this 
does not form part of the complaint. i.e. Could improved communication have 
prevented the customer’s concerns being escalated to a formal complaint? 

 

 Services should continue to respond in accordance with both statutory policy and our 
local policy so that customers get a resolution as swiftly as possible and are contacted 
at an early stage to discuss their concerns. When an amended response date has 
been provided, this must be honoured and not further extended.  

 

 Services should continue to ensure that they are prioritising complaints and responding 
within the stated timescales. If there are unforeseen delays, the Customer Relationship 
team should be notified immediately so that we can notify the customer and advise 
them of the date they should expect their response and the reason for the delay. 

 

 The legislation allows for a complaint not to be registered as such if it is resolved within 
24 hours of receipt. This should be used as an opportunity to resolve the concerns of 
customers as swiftly as possible and involve them in the resolution of the matter – so 
as to reduce the number of complaints needing to be filed going forward. 

 

 When responding to a complaint, all of its points should be addressed so that the 
customer receives a full response and, as a council, we get it right first time. Resources 
are available to assist officers when investigating and responding to complaints. The 
Customer Relationship team quality checks responses, and often makes comments 
and suggested amendments. The role of the Customer Relationship team is to ensure 
that complaints progress and complaint standards are adhered to. This is reflected in 
the advice they provide. 

 

 The Customer Relationship team will also continue to escalate complaints that have 
exceeded timescales to their appropriate Director.  
 

 Meetings every six weeks with Directors will continue to ensure that complaints are 
being handled appropriately and learning identified. 

 

 The list of complaints outstanding which can be accessed by Directors and their 
Service Delivery Managers, should continue - as this is having a positive impact on 
timescales. 
 

 The Council’s Adult Statutory Complaint Policy has been reviewed and will be 
approved in 2021/22. The Customer Relationship team will continue to work with senior 
leadership teams to effectively utilise complaints intelligence to support positive 
improvements in service delivery. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 393



12 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Oversight and support provided by the 

Customer Relationship team 

The Customer Relationship team continues to support Service Areas to both manage and 

learn from complaints. The key services they offer are: 

1. Complaints advice and support 

2. Quality assurance of statutory complaint responses 

3. Act as a critical friend to challenge service practice 

4. Support with persistent and unreasonable complainants 

5. Assistance in drafting comprehensive responses to complaint investigations 

6. Continue to escalate overdue complaints to Directors 

 
 

Customer Relationship team priorities for 2021/22 
 
During 2020/21, the Customer Relationship team will focus on a number of key priorities: 
 

 Obtaining approval for the updated Adult Statutory Complaint Policy 

 Helping to improve the Council’s record of timely complaint responses 

 Continuing to improve and add to the resources available to managers when 

responding to complaints and other correspondence, while encouraging self-help  

 Providing complaint data to senior management on a monthly basis, as part of 

corporate monitoring 

 Working to maintain low levels of maladministration findings by the Local Government 

& Social Care Ombudsman 

 Continuing to provide a quarterly and monthly reporting dashboard of performance 

data to senior management so that improvement can be driven forward continuously 

during the year 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 394



13 
 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 
 

Legislation 
 
Section 5 of the Regulations (2009) requires local authorities to consider complaints made by 
anyone who: 
 

 Is receiving, or has received, services from the Council 

 Is affected, or is likely to be affected, by the action, omission or decision of the Council 
 
A person is eligible to make a complaint where the local authority has a power or duty to 
provide, or to secure the provision of, a service for someone. 
 
The 2009 regulations set a benchmark for all complaints to be investigated within six months. 
If the investigation is going to exceed this timescale, the local authority should write to the 
complainant to advise them of this and explain the reasons why.  
 
The Corporate complaints process is used for anyone else who makes a complaint. 
 

What is a complaint? 
 
A complaint is generally defined as an expression of dissatisfaction or disquiet about actions, 
decisions or apparent failings of a local authority’s Adult Social Care provision that requires a 
response. We will always try to resolve problems or concerns before they escalate into 
complaints. If it is possible to resolve a matter immediately (or within 24 hours), there may be 
no need to engage in the formal complaints process. 
 
The purpose of a complaints process is to resolve concerns raised by service users and their 

representatives, to deliver outcomes that are appropriate and proportionate to the seriousness 

of the issues, and to ensure that changes are made in response to any failings that are 

identified.  

To achieve this, the approach to handling complaints must incorporate the following elements: 

 Engagement with the complainant or representative throughout the process 

 Agreement with them about how the complaint will be handled 

 A planned, risk-based and transparent approach 

 Commitment to prompt and focussed action to achieve the desired outcome 

 Commitment to improvement and the incorporation of learning from all complaints 
 
A complaint must be made no later than 12 months after: 
 

 The date on which the matter that is the subject of the complaint occurred, or 

 If later, the date on which the matter that is the subject of the complaint came to the 
notice of the complainant 

 
The time limit will not apply if the Complaints Manager is satisfied that: 
 

 The complainant had good reasons for not making the complaint within the time limit, 
and 

 Notwithstanding the delay, it is possible to investigate the complaint effectively 
and fairly 

 
 
 

Page 395



14 
 

 

 
 
 
Who can make a complaint? 
 
A complaint may be made by a relative, carer or someone who is acting on behalf of a person 
who has died, or is unable to make the complaint themselves because of: 
 

 Physical incapacity, or 

 Lack of capacity within the meaning of the Mental Capacity Act 2005, or 

 Has requested that the representative act on their behalf 
 
Complaints may be received through a variety of media (phone, letter, email, feedback form, 

personal visit, etc.) and at various points within the Council (to staff members, via respective 

web addresses, direct to the Customer Relationship team, etc.). 

 

The Adult Statutory Complaints procedure of Telford and Wrekin Council 
 
When a complaint is first received, the Customer Relationship team will carry out an initial 
assessment of it to determine its issues, severity and potential impact, and to identify any other 
organisations that maybe involved.  
 
When someone contacts the Customer Relationship team to make a complaint, they will 
acknowledge it within three working days. They will also offer a meeting to the complainant to 
discuss the matter and establish their desired outcome. Agreement is sought on the following 
points: 
 

 The detailed account of the complaint 

 The complainant’s view of the impact it has had on them 

 Specific reference to any aspect that requires immediate action within the adult 
safeguarding/protection procedures 

 Details of the outcome(s) that will resolve the matter from the complainant‘s 
perspective 

 Whether the subject of the complaint could relate, entirely or partly, to another body 
(e.g. an NHS body or an independent care provider) and therefore a joint approach 
may be needed 

 How the complaint will be investigated and by whom 

 How long it should reasonably take to investigate the matter and provide the 
complainant with the Council’s formal response 

 How often, and by what means, the complainant will be updated on the progress of the 
investigation 

 Whether an advocacy, translation or other support service is required 

 Whether the involvement of an impartial mediator might contribute to a satisfactory 
resolution of the complaint 

 
We aim to respond to all Adult Statutory Complaints within 25 working days. However, 
because of the nature and complexity of some issues, it may take longer, and complainants 
will be informed if this is the case. Timescales may be extended to a maximum of 65 working 
days in such cases. 
 
When the investigation is complete, the appropriate manager will write a letter explaining what 
they have found and what they will do to put things right. 
 
If the complainant is not happy with the final decision or how we have dealt with their complaint, 
they can refer the matter to the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO). 

Page 396



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Telford & Wrekin Council 

 Children’s Statutory 

Complaints Report 

Improving our Customer Experience  

Annual Report 2020/21 

Page 397



2 
 

 

 

 

 Contents  

 
 

Purpose of the report………………………………………………………… 
 

3 

Introduction……………………………………………………………………. 3 
 

Children’s Statutory Complaints received in 2020/21…………………….. 
 

Themes of upheld complaints……………………………………………….. 
 

Timescales for responses…………………………………………………… 

 
Statutory Stage Two complaints in 2020/21……………………………….. 

4 
 

7 
 

8 
 

10 

 
Learning and outcomes from Children’s Statutory Complaints………..… 

 
Complaints made to the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman 

 
Concluding comments……………………………………………………….. 

 
Oversight and support provided by the Customer Relationship team….. 

 
Customer Relationship team priorities for 2021/22……………………….. 

 
10 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

14 
 

Appendix………………………………………………………………………. 15 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 398



3 
 

 
 

Purpose of the report 

To report statistical information to Members and Officers detailing Telford and Wrekin 
Council’s Children’s Social Care complaints and compliments activities from 1 April 2020 to 
31 March 2021 

To provide an open resource to anyone who wishes to scrutinise local services 

To outline the key developments and planned improvements to the complaints processes 
operated by the Council 

To consider how the learning from complaints and compliments can be used to improve the 
overall customer experience 
 
 

Introduction 

This Annual Report covers all complaints made about Children’s Social Care that were 
received by the Customer Relationship team and dealt with under the statutory complaints 
procedure during the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021. 
 
The 2006 Social Care complaints guidance ‘Getting the Best from Complaints’ (Department 
for Educations and Skills (DFES), 2006) requires that an Annual Report be arranged by a local 
authority’s Complaints Manager to provide a mechanism by which it can be kept informed 
about the operation of its complaints procedure. The report should be presented to staff, the 
relevant local authority committee, and be made available to both the regulator and general 
public. It should provide details about: 
 

1. Representations made to the Council 
2. The number of complaints at each stage 
3. The types of complaints made 
4. The outcome of the complaints 
5. Compliance with timescales, and detail complaints resolved within extended, agreed 

timescales 
6. Complaints that were considered by the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman 
7. A review of the effectiveness of the complaints procedure 
8. Learning and service improvements, including changes to services that have been 

implemented and details of any that have not 
 
Please see the Appendix for details of the legislation and procedure. 
 

Highlights for 2020/21 
 
Children’s Social Services recorded 11,044 contacts in 2020/21, with approximately 5,688 
children and young people being the subject of contacts (multiple contacts were received for 
some children and young people). Family Connect recorded 9,621 completed contacts in 
2020/21. 
 

 
The lowest  

number of Children’s 
Statutory Complaints 
received for the last  

six years 

 

Improved processes 
for handling 

complaints, including 
six-weekly meetings, 
Director reviews and 
complaint training for 

all managers 

 

 

100% 

of responses issued 

within 20 working 

days* 

 
*since November 2020 

 
 

The average number 
of days to respond 
to complaints has 

improved to 
17* 

 

*since November 2020 

  

Page 399



4 
 

 

 

 

Children’s Statutory Complaints received in 

2020/21 

We received 29 Children’s Statutory Complaints between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021. 
The number of complaints received in 2020/21 decreased by 42% compared to 2019/20.  
 

The period saw the lowest number of Children’s Statutory Complaints received over the past 
five years. The chart below shows a comparison of the number of statutory complaints over 
the past five years. 
 

Chart 1: Total Children’s Statutory Complaints by year 

 

The 29 complaints were all dealt with at Stage One, with only seven progressing to an 

independent Stage Two investigation. Three complaints remain outstanding. 

Stage Number of complaints 

One 29 

Two 4 

Three 0 

Total 33 

Of the 29 Stage One complaints received, 28 were completed during the period. Four 

Stage Two complaints were received and independently investigated, one of which is still in 

progress. No Stage Three Panels were completed in 2020/21. 

Contact types 

Children’s Statutory Complaints were received from the following in 2020/21: 

Complainant Number of complaints 

Parent/carer 17 

Child/young person 7 

Foster carer 1 

Other family member 2 

Advocate/representative 2 

Total 29 

Seven complaints were received directly from children and young people in 2020/21. This 

represents 24% of the total complaints and an increase on the 10% achieved in 2019/20. 

  

71

82

42

50

29

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Total Children's Statutory Complaints by year

Page 400



5 
 

 

 

Customer access channels and digital contact 

Complainant channel Number of complaints 

Email 14 

Webform 7 

Telephone 5 

Letter 3 

Total 29 

In 2020/21, 72% of Children’s Statutory Complaints were received via a digital access channel, 

including via our online complaints webform and by email directly to the Customer Relationship 

team.  

Complaint themes 

Chart 2: Children’s Statutory Complaint themes in 2020/21 

 

Most of the themes are self-explanatory and give a clear idea about the aspects of our work 

that received complaints. 

Complaints received by directorate 

The chart below details the statutory complaints received by each directorate against the 

number subsequently upheld. 

Chart 3: Number of Stage One Children’s Statutory Complaints received  

  

12

8
7

3
2 1

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

C
o

n
d

u
ct

 o
f

St
af

f/
So

ci
al

W
o

rk
er

La
ck

 o
f 

Su
p

p
o

rt

In
co

rr
ec

t/
In

ad
eq

u
a

te
/I

n
ap

p
ro

p
ri

at
e

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

D
is

ag
re

e
 w

it
h

C
o

u
n

ci
l d

ec
is

io
n

In
ap

p
ro

p
ri

at
e

d
is

cl
o

su
re

 o
f

in
fo

rm
at

io
n

La
ck

 o
f 

ac
ti

o
n

Complaint themes

28

1

14

1
0

10

20

30

C
h

ild
re

n
s

Sa
fe

gu
ar

d
in

g 
&

 F
am

ily
Su

p
p

o
rt

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

&
 S

ki
lls

Number of Stage One Children's Statutory Complaints 
received by each directorate

Number of Corporate Complaints Received by Portfolio Number Upheld

Page 401



6 
 

 

 

The number of upheld complaints against number received for Children’s Safeguarding & 

Family Support was 50%. Education & Skills saw 100% upheld; however, this directorate only 

received one complaint in 2020/21. 

Of the Children’s Statutory Complaints received, 15 were upheld, ten were not upheld, one 

was withdrawn and two were not dealt with as complaints as they were already before the 

court. One was referred to the Joint Adoption Service. 

The chart below shows the outcomes and a breakdown by directorate of all complaints for 

Children’s Social Care. 

Chart 4: Children’s Statutory Complaint outcomes 

 

Of the 29 complaints completed, 51% (15) were upheld, 34% (24) were not upheld and 

10% (3) were dealt with via another method. 

The chart below includes the number of complaints received by each service. Please note that 

the number of complaints detailed below is higher than the overall total because certain 

complaints had multiple issues raised with different teams. This chart seeks to show all the 

services against which issues were raised, meaning that an individual complaint may be 

counted multiple times within it. 

Chart 5: Number of complaints by service, highlighting those upheld 

  

  

2

10

14

11

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16

A
lr

ea
d

y 
b

ef
o

re
co

u
rt

N
o

t 
U

p
h

el
d

U
p

h
el

d

W
it

h
d

ra
w

n

Se
rv

ic
e 

R
es

o
lv

ed

Children's Statutory Complaint outcomes by directorate

Children's Safeguarding & Family Support Education & Skills

2

5

2
3

9

1 1 1
2

1 1
2

1 11

3
2

6

1
0

1 1
0

1 1

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

C
en

tr
al

 C
P

H
ad

le
y 

C
P

La
ke

si
d

e 
C

P

W
re

ki
n

 C
P

C
h

ild
re

n
 in

 C
ar

e/
Le

av
in

g 
C

ar
e…

C
o

n
ta

ct
 T

e
am

D
is

ab
le

d
 C

h
ild

re
n

s
Te

am

P
ar

en
ti

n
g

A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

Te
am

H
ad

le
y 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t

Te
am

La
ke

si
d

e
A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
Te

am

W
re

ki
n

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t

Te
am

Fa
m

ily
 C

o
n

n
ec

t
(F

am
ily

…

SE
N

D
 0

-2
5

Jo
in

t 
A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

Se
rv

ic
e

Complaints by service

Number of complaints by Service Number upheld

Page 402



7 
 

 

 

 

The most upheld complaints were in the Children in Care/Leaving Care service, where nine 

complaints were received and six of them upheld. 

12 complaints in total were received for our Child Protection (CP) and Family Support Child 

Protection teams, six of which were upheld. 

 

Themes of upheld complaints 

Of the upheld statutory complaints, the top themes raised were as detailed in the chart below. 

Chart 6: Upheld themes 

 

The above categories are self-explanatory and give a clear indication of the overall areas of 

our service or aspects of our work that had the most upheld complaints. This indicates that 

65% of upheld complaints related to either the conduct of staff/social workers or the lack/level 

of support received from them. This covers a variety of concerns, including staff behaviour 

and attitude. These concerns related to the disclosure of information, a lack of social worker 

contact or support provided by a staff member, a lack of signposting, the lack of a stable social 

worker and a lack of understanding from staff regarding a complainants situation. 

Individual management reports are shared with service managers on a regular basis, which 

allows for greater analysis and interpretation of the data.  

5

5

4

1

1
Top upheld themes

Conduct of Staff/Social Worker- 5

Lack/level of Support- 6

Incorrect/Inadequate/Inappropriate
Communication/ information- 4

Disagree with Council decision-1

Lack of action- 1

Page 403



8 
 

 

 

 

Timescales for responses 

Our Children’s Statutory Complaints Policy has been written in line with The Children Act 1989 

Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006, which outline how Children’s 

Statutory Complaints should be handled and the three stages involved.   

Stage One should be an opportunity to resolve the complaint at service level and be done 

within ten working days. This may be extended to 20 working days in exceptional 

circumstances and with the prior agreement of the complainant.  

Stage Two is an independent investigation that should be completed within 25 working days. 

This may be extended to 65 working days in more complex cases. 

Stage Three is a Panel where the investigations at Stage One and Stage Two are reviewed. 

Chart 7: Response timescales at Stage One 

 

Of the 28 complaints that were completed in the Children’s Safeguarding & Family Support 

portfolio, two were responded to within the ten working day timescale and 13 were completed 

within the 20 day extended timescale. 13 complaints exceeded the extended 20 working day 

timescale, which equates to 55% of the 29 total complaints being responded to in accordance 

with the regulations. 

The average number of days to respond in Children’s Safeguarding & Family Support was 24, 

which is an improvement on the 25 days achieved in 2019/20 and 26 days in 2020/21. 

Children’s Social Care complaints are complex and this can impact on timescales. Information 

may also need to be sought from partner agencies, which can also add to the timescales 

ultimately achieved. Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted on the ability of 

complainants to meet with investigators. 

  

2
1

13
13

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Childrens Safeguarding & Family Support Education & Skills

Response timescales at Stage One

Number responded to within 10 working days Number Responded to within 20 working days

Number exceeding 20 day timescale

Page 404



9 
 

 

 

 

 

Please note: Since November 2020, new procedures have been put in place to improve 
timescales within Children’s Safeguarding & Family Support. Complaints are now RAG (red, 
amber, green) rated and copied to the Director. The Director is also copied into progress 
chases. Six-weekly meetings now also take place with Directors to review all outstanding 
cases and learning. Complaint training was also given to managers and team leaders in the 
last quarter of 2020. 
 
As a result of the improvements since 1 November 2020, the average number of days to 
respond to complaints has reduced significantly to 17 for Children’s Safeguarding & Family 
Support, with 100% of complaints during this period being responded to within the 20 working 
day extended timescale. The full impact of these positive changes will not be seen until our 
report for 2021/22. 
 
The complaint for the Education & Skills Portfolio was responded to within ten working days, 

in accordance with the statutory timescales. 

The average timescale for all Stage One Children’s Statutory Complaints was 23 working 

days, which exceeded the timescales outlined in the regulations. This was an increase on the 

22 days achieved in 2019/20. However, it was an improvement on the 25 days achieved in 

2018/19. 

Please note: As an authority, we should be ensuring that we meet the statutory requirements 

when responding to complaints. However, it must be noted that 2020 was an unprecedented 

year, during which the Council had, and continues to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

This has had an impact on our ability to respond to complaints within timescales, as officers 

have sometimes been assigned to alternative roles and duties. During this time, complainants 

were constantly updated regarding the progress of their complaints and when a response 

would be available. 

Whilst the number of days to respond to Children’s Statutory Complaints increased, the 

Council is pleased that this increase was not significant.  

As mentioned above, procedures have been put in place since November 2020 to ensure that 

complaints are now responded to in a timelier manner. 

Overall in 2020/21, 55% of complaints were responded to within the statutory timescale of 
20 working days and 10% were responded to within ten working days. 
 
Improvements since November 2020 have since seen 100% of responses issued within 
20 working days. 
 
  

Page 405



10 
 

 
 
 
 

Statutory Stage Two complaints in 2020/21 

During 2020/21, four (14%) statutory Stage One complaints progressed to Stage Two of the 

process. 

 Chart 8: Stage Two complaint outcomes in 2020/21 

All Stage Two complaints were for the Children’s Safeguarding & Family Support portfolio. 

There is one Stage Two complaint currently being investigated. 

The upheld complaints related to a disagreement with a council decision concerning the 

actions taken following an allegation about a foster carer, and also the level of support 

provided by social workers when an application was made for disability-related benefits. 

Both upheld complaints were resolved at Stage Two of the procedure. 

There was a decrease in the number statutory Stage Two investigations in 2020/21, these 

being investigated by the use of Independent Persons. 

The average number of days to complete a Stage Two investigation was 66, which was an 

increase on the 37 day average achieved in 2019/20. 

Please note: The timescales for Stage 2 investigations were directly impacted by the 
COVID-19 pandemic and the availability of complainants to meet with investigators. One 
particular complaint was extremely complex and involved reviewing documentation spanning 
a number of years. 
 
There were no Stage Three panels in 2020/21. 

Learning and outcomes from Children’s Statutory 

Complaints 
Complaints are a valuable source of information that can help to identify recurring or 
underlying problems and potential improvements. We know that numbers alone do not tell us 
everything about attitudes towards complaints and how they are responded to locally. 
Arguably, it is of greater importance to understand the impact that complaints have had on 
people and to learn the lessons from them to so as to improve the experience of others. 
 
Lessons can usually be learned from complaints that were upheld, but also in some instances 

where no fault was found but the Council recognises that improvements to services can still 

be made. 

  

2

1 1

0

1

2

3

4

U
p

h
el

d

N
o

t 
U

p
h

el
d

U
n

d
er

 In
ve

st
ig

at
io

n

Stage Two complaint outcomes in 2020/21

Upheld Not Upheld Under Investigation

Page 406



11 
 

 

 

 

Occasionally, during the course of an investigation, issues will be identified that need to be 

addressed over and above the original complaint. The Customer Relationship team will then 

work with services to ensure that they see the “bigger picture” so that that residents receive 

the best possible service from the Council. The Customer Relationship team will continue to 

provide daily advice and support to managers around complaints management and resolution, 

and with responding to representations.  

Chart 9: Children’s Statutory Complaint remedies in 2020/21 

 

Of the remedies recorded against Children’s Statutory Complaints in 2020/21: 

 45% were to provide an explanation and apology 

 14% were to provide an explanation and no remedy was required 

 14% were to provide information 

 10% were to provide an explanation and a service was provided 

Positive improvements 

Throughout the year, we record the learning identified from each complaint in order to build 

up a picture of common themes or trends. Learning from corporate complaints is considered 

alongside that from statutory complaints as part of our quality assurance activities. 

Below are examples of positive changes that have resulted from learning from complaints: 

 Individual remedies have been completed concerning support plans and working 

agreements, assessments and contact 

 

 Additional training has been given to ensure high standards of record management 

 

 Changes in management and team structure have allowed a change of focus, 

particularly regarding placement experiences 

 

 Improved life story work 
 

 The working relationship between fostering and social work teams has been improved. 
Lines of responsibility are clearer and communication has also been improved with the 
Local Authority Designated Officer . Associated strategy meetings are now held more 
routinely 

  

13

4

4

3

1

1
1

1 1

Children's Statutory Complaint remedies in 2020/21

Explanation & Apology- 13

Explanation No Remedy Required- 4

Information Provided- 4

Explanation & Service Provided- 3

Change of Worker- 1

Improved Service Provision- 1

Outside Juristiction- 1

Referred to External Organisation- 1

Withdrawn- 1

Page 407



12 
 

 

 

 

 Officers have been reminded of the expectation that minutes of meetings are provided  

 

 We are now using Parent & Baby placements more consistently, with high levels of 

wraparound support given to parents during the mental health assessment process 

 

 We have specific support workers that deal with victims of domestic violence. High 

levels of training and development have been given to social workers around the 

impact of domestic violence so that the appropriate support can be offered to survivors 

 

 We have reviewed our Allegations Policy for foster carers and resolved inconsistencies 

with other procedures in respect of actions to be taken by the Council following 

allegations about people in a position of trust 

 

 Our review processes have been updated to ensure that questions around a child’s 

entitlement to disability benefits are included in Child in Care reviews. In Long Term 

Matching meetings, this will also be considered if a child has additional needs 

Complaints made to the Local Government & 

Social Care Ombudsman  

The Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) has the authority to investigate 

complaints when it appears that our own process has not resolved them. Complainants can 

refer their complaint to the LGSCO at any time, although the Ombudsman will generally refer 

them back to us if they have not been through our process first. In exceptional circumstances, 

the Ombudsman will look at things earlier; this usually being dependant on the vulnerability of 

the person concerned.  

Five Children’s Statutory Complaint cases remained open with the LGSCO on 31 March 2020. 

Decisions on these cases were received in 2020/21. No further cases were escalated to the 

LGSCO in 2020/21. 

 Chart 10: Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman outcomes in 2020/21 

 

The Council fully complied with the recommendations made by the LGSCO, and learning was 

taken forward to improve practices in relation to review meetings, administration for child 

protection conferences, complaint handling, and adoption procedures and reports. 

  

4

1

0

1

2

3

4

U
p

h
el

d

N
o

t 
u

p
h

e
ld

LGSCO outcomes in 2020/21

Upheld Not upheld

Page 408



13 
 

 

 

 

Concluding comments 
This Annual Report shows that the number of Children’s Statutory Complaints we received in 

2020/21 decreased from the previous year. Our services continue to result in a low number of 

complaints at a time when there have been major reductions in government funding for local 

authority service provision. Despite this financial backdrop, the Council continues to manage 

complaints well and is committed to putting right anything that has gone wrong. 

Response times were inevitably affected by the pandemic in 2020/21, when many councils 

moved staff to other duties in order to respond to it. Whilst timescales did increase during the 

period, despite this context, there was not a significant impact - with Children’s Statutory 

Complaints only taking, on average, one day longer to respond to. 

We also took the opportunity to review our handling of complaints, with training being provided 

to staff and processes amended in an effort to improve performance going forward. This 

resulted in a significant improvement in the last two quarters of 2020/21. 

The Customer Relationship team continued to update complainants concerning any delays or 

extended response timescales. They also continued to work with services to further improve 

on the timescales achieved. 

In 2021/22, the Customer Relationship team will carry on working with services to ensure that 

the percentage of responses sent within statutory timescales improves from the 55% achieved 

in 2020/21. 

Recommendations 

Our recommendations for this financial year are: 

 When completing a complaint investigation and response, services should assess 

whether any element of the customer journey could have been improved, even if this 

does not form part of the complaint. i.e. Could improved communication have 

prevented the customer’s concerns being escalated to a formal complaint? 
 

 It is recognised that delays maybe occurring due to social worker availability. Ideally 
however, case notes should be sufficiently detailed to allow others to respond in their 
absence. 

 

 Services should continue to ensure that they are prioritising complaints and responding 
within the stated timescales. If there are unforeseen delays, the Customer Relationship 
team should be notified immediately so that we can notify the customer and advise 
them of the date they should expect their response.  
 

 Officers were delayed in provided comments when reviewing interview notes from a 
Stage Two investigation. Comments were only provided once the draft report was 
submitted, causing a delay and additional work for the investigator. Stage Two 
investigations are completed by Independent Investigators, often from outside the 
Council, therefore responding to this information should be prioritised. 

Children’s Safeguarding & Family Support and Education & Skills are developing a service 
level complaints guide, which will cover guidance and expectations for communication with 
complainants, and also timescales and extension arrangements. There is now also an 
expectation that all complainants to Children’s Social Care are either met face-to-face or 
spoken with by phone before their response is sent. This is so that its full details can be 
discussed with them. 
  

Page 409



14 
 

 
 
 
 

Oversight and support provided by the 

Customer Relationship team 

The Customer Relationship team continues to support Service Areas to both manage and 

learn from complaints. The key services they offer are: 

1. Complaints advice and support 

2. Quality assurance of statutory complaint responses 

3. Act as a critical friend to challenge service practice 

4. Support with persistent and unreasonable complainants 

5. Assistance in drafting comprehensive responses to complaint investigations 

6. Continue to escalate overdue complaints to Directors 

 

 

Customer Relationship team priorities for 2021/22 
 

During 2021/22, the Customer Relationship team will focus on a number of key priorities: 
 

 Obtaining Cabinet approval for the updated Children’s Statutory Complaint Policy and 

Child Friendly Policy 

 Helping to improve the Council’s record of timely complaint responses 

 Continuing to improve and add to the resources available to managers when 

responding to complaints and other correspondence, while encouraging self-help 

 Working with services to develop an investigation template, and providing a complaint 

workshop covering complaint procedures and how to both investigate and respond to 

complaints 

 Providing complaint data to senior management on a monthly basis, as part of 

corporate monitoring 

 Working to maintain low levels of maladministration findings by the Local Government 

& Social Care Ombudsman 

 Continuing to provide a quarterly and monthly reporting dashboard of performance 

data to senior management so that improvement can be driven forward continuously 

during the year 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 410



15 
 

 

 

Appendix 

 

Legislation 
 
The Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006 underpin all 
representations received from children and young people, their parents, foster carers or other 
qualifying adults about social care services provided or commissioned by Children’s Social 
Care. The act and regulations set down procedures that councils with social care responsibility 
must follow when a complaint is made. 
 
The Children’s Statutory Complaints Procedure is a three stage process. Stage One is where 
complaints are investigated at service level, Stage Two is where an independent investigation 
takes place and Stage Three is where a Panel of Independent Persons will review the 
investigations undertaken at Stage One and Stage Two.  
 
The Corporate complaints process is used for anyone else who makes a complaint. 
 

What is a complaint? 
 
We define a complaint as: 

‘A statement, written or verbal, which expresses dissatisfaction about any aspect of 

the social services provided by or on behalf of the Service Delivery Units responsible 

for services to children.’  

The purpose of a complaints process is to resolve concerns raised by service users and their 

representatives, to deliver outcomes that are appropriate and proportionate to the seriousness 

of the issues, and to ensure that changes are made in response to any failings that are 

identified.  

To achieve this, the approach to handling complaints must incorporate the following elements: 

 Engagement with the complainant or representative throughout the process 

 Agreement with them about how the complaint will be handled 

 A planned, risk-based and transparent approach 

 Commitment to prompt and focussed action to achieve the desired outcome 

 Commitment to improvement and the incorporation of learning from all complaints 
 
A complaint must be made within 12 months of the event complained about, or when the 
customer became aware of the matter/ event. Nevertheless, the Council has the discretion to 
waive this time limit if: 
 

 It would not be reasonable to expect the complainant to have made the complaint 
sooner, and 

 It is still possible to deal with the complaint effectively and fairly  
 

 
  

Page 411



16 
 

 
 
 
 

Who can make a complaint? 
 
A complaint may be made by: 
 

 Children or young people who are receiving, or have received, services provided by 
the Council, or are entitled to receive such a service because they are looked after 
by the Borough, or because they are deemed to be ‘in need’, as defined by the 
Children Act 1989 

 People who have parental responsibility for these children and young people 

 Advocates and representatives of any of the above children and young people 
(providing that it has been established, as far as possible, that the advocate or 
representative is reflecting the child’s or young person’s own wishes) 

 Foster carers who want to comment or complain about the service being provided to 
a child or young person for whom they are caring 

 Any other person, providing that they are deemed to have sufficient interest in the 
child’s or young person’s welfare to justify the Council considering the complaint 

 
Complaints may be received through a variety of media (phone, letter, email, feedback form, 

personal visit, etc.) and at various points within the Council (to staff members, via respective 

web addresses, direct to the Customer Relationship team, etc.). 

 

The Children’s Statutory Complaints procedure of Telford and Wrekin Council 
 
When a complaint is first received, the Customer Relationship team will carry out an initial 
assessment of it to determine its issues, severity and potential impact, and to identify any other 
organisations that maybe involved. 
 
Whenever a complaint is received from a child or young person, the Customer Relationship 
team will notify the Rights & Representations Service of the need to offer the complainant an 
advocacy service within the remit of the 2004 Advocacy (Services & Representations) 
Regulations. A child or young person whose complaint is being considered within this 
procedure is entitled to advocacy services throughout the process. Subject to the approval of 
the child or young person, all correspondence with regard to the complaint will be copied to 
the advocate, who will be entitled to accompany the complainant at any meeting or interview 
about the complaint they attend. 
 
When someone contacts the Customer Relationship team to make a complaint, they will 
acknowledge their complaint within two working days. The Customer Relationship team will 
then pass details of the complaint to the appropriate Service Delivery Manager. 
 
We aim to respond to all Stage One Children’s Statutory Complaints within ten working days. 
However, due to the nature and complexity of some issues, it may take longer, and - in 
agreement with complainants - the timescale may be longer (subject to a maximum of 
20 working days). 
 
When the investigation is complete, the manager concerned will write a letter explaining what 
they have found and will do to put things right. 
 
If the complainant is not happy with the response or how we have dealt with their complaint, 
they can request that it is considered at Stage Two of the procedure, where it will be 
investigated by an independent investigator. 
 
  

Page 412



17 
 

 
 
 
 
Following this investigation, the findings will be sent to the complainant, at which point they 
may request that the investigations undertaken at Stage One and Stage Two are reviewed at 
Stage Three by a Panel. 
 
Following the Panel meeting, if the customer is not happy with the final decision or how we 
have dealt with their complaint, they can refer the matter to the Local Government & Social 
Care Ombudsman (LGSCO). 

Page 413



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

21 July 2021 
 
By email 
 
Mr Sidaway 
Chief Executive 
Telford & Wrekin Council 
 
Dear Mr Sidaway 
 
Annual Review letter 2021 
 
I write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the decisions made by the Local 

Government and Social Care Ombudsman about your authority for the year ending                      

31 March 2021. At the end of a challenging year, we maintain that good public administration is 

more important than ever and I hope this feedback provides you with both the opportunity to reflect 

on your Council’s performance and plan for the future.  

You will be aware that, at the end of March 2020 we took the unprecedented step of temporarily 

stopping our casework, in the wider public interest, to allow authorities to concentrate efforts on 

vital frontline services during the first wave of the Covid-19 outbreak. We restarted casework in 

late June 2020, after a three month pause.  

We listened to your feedback and decided it was unnecessary to pause our casework again during 

further waves of the pandemic. Instead, we have encouraged authorities to talk to us on an 

individual basis about difficulties responding to any stage of an investigation, including 

implementing our recommendations. We continue this approach and urge you to maintain clear 

communication with us. 

Complaint statistics 

This year, we continue to focus on the outcomes of complaints and what can be learned from 

them. We want to provide you with the most insightful information we can and have focused 

statistics on three key areas: 

Complaints upheld - We uphold complaints when we find some form of fault in an authority’s 

actions, including where the authority accepted fault before we investigated.  

Compliance with recommendations - We recommend ways for authorities to put things right 

when faults have caused injustice and monitor their compliance with our recommendations. 

Failure to comply is rare and a compliance rate below 100% is a cause for concern.  

Page 415



Satisfactory remedy provided by the authority - In these cases, the authority upheld the 

complaint and we agreed with how it offered to put things right. We encourage the early resolution 

of complaints and credit authorities that accept fault and find appropriate ways to put things right.  

Finally, we compare the three key annual statistics for your authority with similar types of 

authorities to work out an average level of performance. We do this for County Councils, District 

Councils, Metropolitan Boroughs, Unitary Councils, and London Boroughs. 

Your annual data will be uploaded to our interactive map, Your council’s performance, along with a 

copy of this letter on 28 July 2021. This useful tool places all our data and information about 

councils in one place. You can find the decisions we have made about your Council, public reports 

we have issued, and the service improvements your Council has agreed to make as a result of our 

investigations, as well as previous annual review letters.  

I would encourage you to share the resource with colleagues and elected members; the 

information can provide valuable insights into service areas, early warning signs of problems and 

is a key source of information for governance, audit, risk and scrutiny functions. 

As you would expect, data has been impacted by the pause to casework in the first quarter of the 

year. This should be considered when making comparisons with previous year’s data. 

Supporting complaint and service improvement  

I am increasingly concerned about the evidence I see of the erosion of effective complaint 

functions in local authorities. While no doubt the result of considerable and prolonged budget and 

demand pressures, the Covid-19 pandemic appears to have amplified the problems and my 

concerns. With much greater frequency, we find poor local complaint handling practices when 

investigating substantive service issues and see evidence of reductions in the overall capacity, 

status and visibility of local redress systems.  

With this context in mind, we are developing a new programme of work that will utilise complaints 

to drive improvements in both local complaint systems and services. We want to use the rich 

evidence of our casework to better identify authorities that need support to improve their complaint 

handling and target specific support to them. We are at the start of this ambitious work and there 

will be opportunities for local authorities to shape it over the coming months and years.  

An already established tool we have for supporting improvements in local complaint handling is 

our successful training programme. During the year, we successfully adapted our  

face-to-face courses for online delivery. We provided 79 online workshops during the year, 

reaching more than 1,100 people. To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
Michael King 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England

Page 416

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
http://www.lgo.org.uk/training


Telford & Wrekin Council 

For the period ending: 31/03/21  

                                                             

 

 

 

 

 

NOTE: To allow authorities to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic, we did not accept new complaints and stopped 

investigating existing cases between March and June 2020. This reduced the number of complaints we received 

and decided in the 20-21 year. Please consider this when comparing data from previous years. 

Complaints upheld 

  

89% of complaints we 
investigated were upheld. 

This compares to an average of 
63% in similar authorities. 

 
 

8                          
upheld decisions 

 
Statistics are based on a total of 9 

detailed investigations for the 
period between 1 April 2020 to 31 

March 2021 

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations 

  

In 100% of cases we were 
satisfied the authority had 
successfully implemented our 
recommendations. 

This compares to an average of 
99% in similar authorities. 

 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 6 
compliance outcomes for the period 
between 1 April 2020 to 31 March 

2021 

• Failure to comply with our recommendations is rare. An authority with a compliance rate below 100% should 
scrutinise those complaints where it failed to comply and identify any learning. 
 

Satisfactory remedy provided by the authority 

  

In 25% of upheld cases we 
found the authority had provided 
a satisfactory remedy before the 
complaint reached the 
Ombudsman.  

This compares to an average of 
10% in similar authorities. 

 

2                      
satisfactory remedy decisions 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 9 
detailed investigations for the 

period between 1 April 2020 to 31 
March 2021 

 

89% 

100% 

25% 

Page 417



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix H – Summary of changes to the complaints policies and procedures. 

1 Corporate Complaints Policy (Appendix A) 

 
Further detail regarding the amendments to the Corporate Complaints Policy are 

detailed below; 

 The wording for the acknowledgement timescale has been amended from ‘the 
same or the next working day to 2 working days so that it falls in line with other 
service timescales. This also makes it clearer for customers. This change can be 
found at 6.8.2.  
 

 A timescale has been included for Stage Two escalation requests which will be 
reviewed within 10 working days. If an escalation request is refused a response 
will be sent within this 10 working day timescale. If the request is accepted the 
investigation will be completed within 25 working days (inclusive of the 10 day 
review period). This change can be found at 6.9.3.  
 

 Following a recommendation made in a Stage Two independent investigation, 
the policy now states that it may be appropriate on occasion for a complaint to be 
put on hold and a holding response sent, reference to this can be found at 6.8.5 
of the Corporate Complaint Policy.  
 

 Complaints about policy are also no longer excluded, under section 5, from the 
process. This will mean that all complaints regarding policy will be considered 
and an appropriate response will be sent. 
 

 Anonymous complaints will now be logged and investigated and learning taken, 
this has been amended at 4.4 of the policy. 

 

2. Adult Statutory Complaints Policy (Appendix B) 

Further detail regarding the amendments to the Adult Statutory Complaints Policy 

are detailed below; 

 More detail has been included regarding the elements that may or may not be 
excluded from the procedure for example, complaints regarding staff from other 
agencies, third party providers, complaints regarding residential, domiciliary care 
and CCG found at section 6. 
 

 The policy now includes a section on Inter- Agency Joint working at 3.3. 
 

 There is now a Policy Framing section at 3.2.  
 

 There is now a section which outlines ‘Who may act on behalf of service user 
with written permission’ at 5.3.  
 

 Timescales have been included, at 7.21, as per the legislation confirming that if 
unresolved in 6 months it will be subject to a formal review.  

 

Page 419



 The 25 working day timescale has been removed in favour of the legislative 
requirement to negotiate a timescale with the complainant found at 7.22. 
 

 Local KPI’s will continue to monitor for responses within 65 working days, this 
may be amended (reduced) over time. The negotiation of timescales manages 
the customer expectations and keeps them informed throughout the process. 
 

 More detail has been included regarding the role of the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman at 11.1.  
 

 Commentary on financial redress has also been included at section 10.  
 

 The policy has been amended to state that responses and investigations will be 
the responsibility of Service Managers, rather than the Director for Adult Social 
Services.  
 

 A section regarding anonymous complaints and that they will be logged and 
investigated under the corporate complaint procedure and will be learning taken 
at 6.9 and 6.16. 

 

3. Children’s Statutory Complaints Policy (Appendix C) 

 

 Amendments have been made in relation to timeframes around Stage 2 
complaints, so that the process following receipt of the Investigation Officers 
Report is clearer and local timeframes are applied. For example, Independent 
person should submit their reports within a maximum of two days of the final 
Report being submitted by the Investigation Officer. This has been amended at 
section 7.14.  
 

 A section regarding anonymous complaints and that they will be logged and 

investigated under the corporate complaint procedure and will be learning taken 

at 6.1. 

 

Page 420



Agenda Item 8: Councillors Pride Fund 

“The Councillors’ Pride Fund has helped our communities better support each other 
in the places where they live.  During the last 18 months, this has been more 
important than ever and is why we have raised each councillor’s fund to £5,000. 

“Feedback from ward councillors highlights how even small amounts of money can 
have a significant and long-lasting impact on communities and people’s wellbeing. 
Breakfasts for young people, Laptops for Learning and wellbeing packs for people 
on their own at Christmas are things that really do make a big difference, and why 
the increased funding is such great news.” 

Councillor Paul Watling, Cabinet Member for Co-Operative Communities, 
Engagement and Partnerships 

Page 421

Agenda Item 8

Kieran.Robinson
Cross-Out



This page is intentionally left blank



TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET:     23 September 2021 
  
TITLE:     Councillors Pride Fund - Helping to Protect, 
     Care and Invest in our Communities.  
 
REPORT OF:    Fliss Mercer, Director: Communities,  
     Customer and Commercial Services 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER: Cllr Paul Watling, Cabinet Member for  

     Co-operative Communities, Engagement 
     and Partnerships 

 
 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 This report provides an update on the Councillors’ Pride Fund, which 
 allows each ward Member to allocate funding to projects that will make 
 a difference in their local area.  The report summarises what the fund 
 has achieved to date and sets out how it will be delivered over the next 
 two years.  
 
1.2  The year 2020 has been like no other, the Council has had to act 
 quickly to support the community through the pandemic and now looks 
 to support the recovery.  Many people have experienced a difficult and 
 isolated time during the course of the pandemic and the Councillors’ 
 Pride Fund now offers the opportunity for ward Members to help local 
 community groups and centres to welcome people back safely.  It is 
 also an opportunity to support the green spaces that have been so 
 important to local residents over the course of the pandemic.   
 
1.3 In recognition of the importance of a strong recovery from Covid-19 
 the Council is making an additional £3,000 per ward Member 
 available for the years 2021-22 and 2022-23 meaning each ward 
 Member will have £5,000 to allocate in their ward per year.  This 
 additional funding is being made available from the Covid-19 Recovery 
 Reserve and will see a total investment of £540,000 over the next 2 
 years. 
 
1.4 Feedback from Members has been that even small amounts of money 
 can have a significant and long-lasting impact. Projects funded by the 
 Councillors’ Pride Fund have encouraged people to become  regularly 
 active in their community, for example through volunteering or 
 attending a local group supported by the fund.  
1.5 Over the past 10 years, the Council has invested £918,000 into funds 
 for Members to improve their wards, working co-operatively with their 
 local communities. Since 2015, more than 1,160 community projects 

Page 423



 have been delivered, supporting a diverse range of activities.  The last 
 two years have been the most successful to date with over 400 
 projects delivered and 100% of funding allocated each year.   
 
1.6 In addition to the funding made available by Telford & Wrekin Council 
 each year, some Members double the impact of their allocation by 
 seeking match funding from their Town or Parish Council.  Applicants 
 also seek match funding from a variety of other sources.  In 2019 and 
 2020 alone 126 applications were matched by a total of £121,656 
 meaning that the Councillors’ Pride Fund supports and contributes to a 
 significant delivery of local projects whilst enabling applicants to make 
 the most of all available resources.   
 
 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That an additional £3,000 allocation per member per year for the 
 periods 2021-22 and 2022-23 funded from the Covid-19 Recovery 
 Reserve be noted.  
 
2.2 That the continued impact that the Councillors’ Pride Fund (previously 
 Ward Cooperative Fund) has had since it was launched in 2011 be 
 noted.  
 
2.3 That the change in deadline for this year’s applications as set out in 
 section 4.2.5 be noted 
 
2.4 That delegated authority is given to the Group Manager of Community 

Services in consultation with the relevant ward Member(s) to assess 
and approve or refuse applications for funding in accordance with the 
grant criteria.   

 
 

  

Page 424



3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-
Operative Council priority objective(s)? 

Yes All 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of 
people? 

Yes The Councillors’ Pride Fund is 
available Borough wide and open to 
all Ward Members to apply.  There is 
potential to positively impact on a 
wide range of specific groups of 
people across all communities and 
wards. 

TARGET 
COMPLETION/DELIVERY 
DATE 
 

The Councillors’ Pride Fund is an ongoing 
annual process that is aligned with the financial 
year.   

FINANCIAL/VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

Yes  The budget for the Councillors’ Pride 
Fund was £54k per year for 2011/12, 
2012/13 and 2013/14 rising to £108k 
per year from 2014/15 onwards.  
 
The proposed budget allocation 
remains at £108k for 2021/22. The 
additional £3k allocation per ward will 
be funded via the Covid 19 Recovery 
Reserve set aside at year end and 
totals £324k for 2021/22 and 
2022/23.  
CLM 17/08/21 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes  The general power of competence 
under section 1 of the Localism Act 
2011 allows local authorities to do 
anything which individuals generally 
may do.  
 
This is a very wide ranging power and 
it is for the Council to identify its 
priorities, setting out how the 
spending is envisaged through policy 
and budget plans. 
 
Every decision of the Council is open 
to challenge and so it is important to 
ensure that every allocation of 
funding is made in a fair, reasonable 
and transparent manner and is in line 
with the Council’s Equality duties. 
 

Page 425



Ongoing legal advice can be 
provided in respect of this scheme 
and individual projects, if required. 
EH 18.8.21 

OTHER IMPACTS, RISKS 
& OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes The sustainability impact of the 
Councillors’ Pride Fund will depend 
on the specific projects that are 
approved.  However, there is 
potential to positively impact on 
environmental sustainability, for 
example through projects that 
improve green spaces or access to 
green spaces. 
 
We will be promoting to Members 
how they could use their Pride Fund 
allocation to contribute to the 
Council’s Sustainable Telford & 
Wrekin programme including our 
aspiration for the Borough to become 
carbon neutral by 2030, as set out in 
Paragraph 4.2.9 

IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

Yes The Councillors’ Pride Fund will 
benefit all wards. 

 

Page 426



PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
 
4. INFORMATION 
 
4.1 Background 
 
4.1.1 This report provides an update on the delivery of the “Councillors’ 

Pride Fund” and outlines the current delivery of the scheme. 
 
4.1.2 The Councillors’ Pride Fund was established in 2015 following 

development of the “Ward Cooperative Fund” and previously the “Your 
Money Your Projects Scheme” and is allocated from the Councils base 
budget. 

 
4.1.3 Following positive feedback about the impact the scheme was having 

from Members, Town and Parish Councils and the community in 
2014/15 this allocation was increased to £2,000 for each ward Member 

 
4.1.4 The Councillors’ Pride Fund offers a way for Members to support small 

and large projects in their ward, to encourage community participation, 
improvement of the local area and support projects that benefit the 
local community. 

 
4.1.5 In 2021 the Councillors’ Pride Fund provides Members with an 

opportunity to support their communities to recover from the Covid-19 
pandemic with additional financial resources. 

 
4.2 Councillors’ Pride Fund today  
 
4.2.1 In 2021 the Councillors’ Pride Fund continues to be an important 

source of support to local community projects particularly in light of 
events over the last 18 months due to the pandemic.  Covid-19 has 
impacted on communities in many ways.  Many community groups 
have increased what they do in order to help those vulnerable during 
the pandemic, brand new groups have established, others have lost 
funding revenues or have seen additional costs due to the pandemic, 
and green spaces have seen increased footfall. 

 
4.2.2 Community groups are key to the Borough recovering from the 

pandemic, in supporting residents that have been isolated to get back 
out and to take part in their communities safely.  The Councillors’ Pride 
Fund has been key to supporting communities through this difficult 
time.  Funding has allowed Councillors to make a huge difference to 
the local community from supporting community groups to take steps 
to become Covid-19 secure, supporting the provision of food banks 
and community fridges at a time when many are seeing their situation 
change and providing funding to help local children to continue their 
learning whilst unable to attend school.  Further details can be found 
under section 4.3 “Making a Difference”. 

Page 427



4.2.3 The Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted the importance of the 
availability of flexible financial support at a local level.  The Councillors’ 
Pride Fund helps to make community projects happen by offering 
funding that can be difficult to achieve from other grant giving 
organisations with the flexibility to support even the smallest of 
community groups.  The Councillors’ Pride Fund makes things 
possible. 

 
4.2.4 The Council recognise the difference Members can make with this 

funding by supporting organisations to continue to thrive and assisting 
community groups and facilities to be available for local residents.  The 
current circumstances are exceptional with greater need for support to 
ensure the stability of these organisations and facilities that are so 
critical for many local residents in learning to live with the pandemic 
and return to actively engage in the community.  The Council has 
therefore not only committed to continue to invest in the Pride Fund 
but in 2021/22 and 2022/23 an additional investment of an extra 
£3,000 per member per year will be made over and above the 
£108,000 already committed.  This funding is being made available 
from the £1.25 million Covid-19 Recovery Reserve meaning each 
Member will have a total of £5,000 to allocate per year seeing a total of 
£540,000 invested in community projects by ward Members over the 
two year period. 

 
4.2.5 Linked to the financial year, the Fund traditionally launches in April and 

closes on 1 December.  This is in recognition of the fact that time is 
required to process applications and recipients are required to deliver 
their projects by the end of the financial year at the end of March.  In 
recognition of the additional funding available this year it is proposed 
that the deadline will extend and the fund will close with a final 
deadline of 31 January 2022. 

 
4.2.6 Although the deadline for applications is 31 January 2022, we 

encourage Members to submit applications as early as possible and 
throughout the year to ensure timely delivery of funding to recipients. 

 
4.2.7  Applications for 2021 are already being received and to date focus on 

reducing social isolation, improving the physical environment, 
encouraging sporting activity, lifesaving equipment, projects that 
contribute to the sustainability of community buildings and celebrations 
of the resilience seen in communities during Covid-19. 

 
4.2.8 Following feedback from Members, it is now a requirement for all grant 

recipients to keep in touch with their awarding Member to inform them 
of the difference the funding has made.  This could include, should the 
Member be available, a visit to the project.  Recipients are asked to 
liaise directly with Members in respect of this. 

 
4.2.9 Members are encouraged to give due consideration to environmental 

projects in their ward including the wider theme of a carbon neutral 

Page 428



borough.  Support of projects which contribute to the Council’s 
Sustainable Telford & Wrekin programme including our aspiration for 
the Borough to become carbon neutral by 2030 is encouraged. 

  
4.2.10 To support Members to achieve the Council’s vision to Protect, Care 

and Invest to Create a Better Borough, projects seeking funding will be 
asked to identify which of the Council’s Priorities their project supports.  

 
4.3 Making a difference 
 
4.3.1 Since 2011 £918,000 has been made available to ward Members to 

allocate to projects that make a big difference with a small amount of 
money.  Recipients include, community and voluntary groups, Town 
and Parish Councils and Schools, grants have ranged from £50 to 
awards of £2,000. 

 

4.3.2 Since 2015 the fund has supported more than 1,160 projects across 
the borough. 2019 and 2020 have been the most successful years to 
date with 100% of funds allocated within every ward, supporting over 
400 projects across the two years. 

 

4.3.3 Funds have supported community self-help and have strengthened 
 the capacity within our communities to ensure people are better 
 supported in the places where they live.   
 

4.3.4 In 2020 the Councillors’ Pride Fund was reflective of the global 
 situation with many councillors choosing to use their funds to support 
 children to continue their learning when unable to attend school.  Over 
 £36,570 of Councillors’ Pride Funding was used to support the 
 Laptops for Learning project across the Borough which also brought in 
 £31,100 of match funding.  Funds also supported the provision of 
 Breakfast packs for children in receipt of income-related Free School 
 Meals, Christmas meals for those that are on their own and isolated at 
 Christmas and the improvement of green spaces and play facilities. 
 

4.3.5 In addition to the funding made available by Telford & Wrekin Council 
each year, some Members seek match funding from their Town or 
Parish Council.  Meaning that the value of grant funding can double 
and thereby increasing the impact that the Councillors’ Pride Fund has 
at a local level.  Applicants also seek match funding from a variety of 
other sources including grants, local fundraising and financial partners 
such as local businesses.  In the last two years 126 applications were 
matched by over £170,200 meaning for every £1 invested by the 
Councillors’ Pride Fund applicants were able to source 78p of match 
funding.  This means that the Councillors’ Pride Fund supports and 
contributes to a significant delivery of local projects whilst enabling 
applicants to make the most of all available resources. 

 

4.3.6 Case studies from the 2020 Councillors’ Pride Fund: 

Page 429



   

  

 

 Case Study one:  

 

 Laptops for Learning 

 

                                                                                                           

 

 

 

The Laptops for Learning Project gained support across the Borough with 44 
Members choosing to allocate funding to the project.  Over £36,570 of 
Councillors’ Pride Funding was used to support the Laptops for Learning project 
which also brought in £31,100 of match funding meaning that more than 240 
Laptops were distributed to children across the Borough to support them to 
continue their education at home during the closure of schools.  This was part of a 
bigger programme which provided over 700 laptops to children across the 
Borough. 
 

 

 

                                                                                                      
                                                                                                           

  

   

  

 Case Study two:    

  

 Newport Tree Project 

 

 

                                                                                                               

 

 

 

 

 

A Councillor in Newport North & West supported the Newport Tree Project with 

£800.  The project saw trees planted in Norbroom Park and Strine Park to support 

local aims to reduce the towns impact on climate change.  The Councillor worked 

with the Councils Specialist Environmental Officer to source and plant the trees 

assisted by local volunteers on the day of planting.  The end result will see an 

improved environment for residents to enjoy plus, with the ability of trees to 

remove a significant amount of carbon dioxide from the atmosphere in their 

lifetime, will support the Boroughs aim to be Carbon Neutral by 2030.     

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 430



  

 Case Study three:  

 

 Supporting Community Buildings during Covid-19 

                                        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Councillors in both Woodside and Hadley & Leegomery chose to support their 
local community centres through grants to help the centres to take steps to 
become Covid secure.  Grants funded the purchase of tables to be used as 
sanitiser stations and the purchase of other equipment and maintenance of the 
centres for this purpose. 
 
In total £1,010 was granted to two Community Centres to support steps to make 
the centres as Covid secure as possible. 
 

 

 

 

 

 Case Study four: 

  

 Improvements at Middle Pool  

 

 

 

 

Three Councillors in Oakengates and Ketley Bank chose to pool their resources 

to offer a total grant of £750 to carry out improvements at Middle Pool.  The grant 

enabled the purchase and installation of new seating, repair of existing seating 

wherever possible and the provision of facilities that will enhance the popular 

recreation area which has seen increased use during the pandemic.  By working 

with the Town Council they were able to secure a further £500 of match funding 

meaning a total of £1,250 was contributed to the project. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 431



4.4 Councillors’ Pride Fund 2020 in photos 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Councillors in Woodside donate 
£500 each so that Park Lane 
Centre can create a wellbeing 
pack for Woodside residents 
who were on their own at 
Christmas.  The packs aim to 
reduce feelings of loneliness 
and improve mental wellbeing 
through providing a meal along 
with wellbeing activities and 
treats. 

During 2020/21 community and 
voluntary organisations, charities and 
Town and Parish Councils supported 
delivery of Telford & Wrekin Council’s 
Breakfast Parcel scheme.  Which 
provided around 200,000 breakfasts for 
children across the Borough in receipt of 
income related Free School Meals. 
Members in Arleston, College, Haygate 
and Hadley & Leegomery, supported 
one of our delivery partners, Telford & 
Wrekin Interfaith Council, who can be 
seen here sorting breakfast packs. 

Two members donated a total of £400 
to Wrekin View Community Fridge and 
Café.  Based at Wrekin View Primary 
School the project supports local 
families to access food when they are 
in need.  Plus ensures food waste 
from supermarkets does not end up in 
landfill by making it available to local 
families in need of support. 

Page 432



5. IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
None 
 
6. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 
Cabinet: 23 July 2015, Report: Councillors’ Pride Fund 
 
Cabinet: 9 January 2014, Report: ‘Everyday Telford Pride in Your Community 
Programme’ – investing in our infrastructure and communities 
 
Cabinet: 23 February 2012, Report – A cooperative approach to working with 
the Community 
 
Cabinet: 19 March 2020 – Report - Councillors’ Pride Fund Update 
 
 
7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None 
 
 
Report prepared by Fran Bache, Community Funding Officer, 01952 
385103, fran.bache@telford.gov.uk 

Page 433

mailto:fran.bache@telford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Agenda Item 9: Local Government Association Corporate Peer 
Review 

 

“We invited the Local Government Association Peer Challenge Team to visit us in 
Telford & Wrekin and see how we operate as part of our commitment to delivering 
the best possible services for our residents. 

“The review was a robust and challenging process and the team spoke to over 130 
key people –people who work for the council, our partner organisations, local 
businesses and Government departments. 

“Although no overall grade is given for these reviews, it has identified the council as 
a high performing organisation that is striving constantly to deliver for local people.  

“To quote the report – “Telford and Wrekin fights for Telford and Wrekin”. We are 
ambitious, we are proud and this external validation of our efforts is really welcome. 

“We will now take the feedback and recommendations in the report and continue to 
push forward with plans to protect, care and invest to create a better borough.”  

 

Councillor Shaun Davies, Leader of the Council 

Page 435

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
CABINET 23/09/2021 
COUNCIL 18/11/2021 
LGA CORPORATE PEER REVIEW 
REPORT OF DAVID SIDAWAY, CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER SHAUN DAVIES, COUNCIL LEADER 

 

PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 

 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 

1.1 The Council has a commitment to drive continuous improvement to ensure that 
services, and the organisation as a whole, is as efficient and effective as it can 
be to take forward delivery of its strategic priorities. As part of this commitment, 
in June, the LGA undertook a Corporate Peer Review of the organisation to 
explore how effectively resources are prioritised and used to deliver the 
organisation’s vision “to protect care and invest to create a better borough”. This 
report sets out the findings of the Review. 

 
2. Recommendations 
 

 It is recommended that Cabinet endorses: 

2.1  the LGA Corporate Peer Review report that highlights that: 
- the Council is a high performing organisation 

- has strong and effective leadership together with a committed 

workforce 

- is valued by partners as an organisation that gets things done 

2.2 the proposed approach to addressing the Peer Review report 
recommendations and the timescale for reporting progress to Cabinet. 

 

 
3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-Operative 

Council priority objective(s)? 

Yes Impacts on all Priorities 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of 

people? 

No Borough-wide impact 

TARGET 

COMPLETION/DELIVERY 

DATE 

Complete 

Page 437



 
 

FINANCIAL/VALUE FOR 

MONEY IMPACT 

No  The Council has a track record of strong 

financial management which is integral to 

delivering its ambitions and is highlighted in 

the Peer Review report:  “There is a clear 

focus on managing the council’s budget and 

maintaining and enhancing the overall 

financial position.”  The Service & Financial 

Planning Strategy for 2022/23 will include 

medium term financial projections, albeit in 

the context of limited information available 

from central Government on future funding 

levels for local government.   

PH 24.8.21 

LEGAL ISSUES No  There are no direct legal implications 

associated with this report.  In implementing 

any recommendations, legal advice and 

support will be provided as needed.  AL 

20/08/2021 

OTHER IMPACTS, RISKS 

& OPPORTUNITIES 

No  

IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 

WARDS 

No Borough-wide impact 

 
PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

4. INFORMATION 
 
4.1 The Leader and Chief Executive invited the Local Government Association 

(LGA) to undertake a Corporate Peer Review of the organisation as part of its 
sector improvement role. This Review was the latest of a number of peer 
reviews that have been completed in the past 12 months which have included 
the Council’s response to the Covid pandemic, customer services and digital, 
and Adult Social Care. These reviews have been commissioned to inform and 
drive forward the organisation’s continuous improvement agenda.  

 
4.2 The purpose of the Corporate Peer Review was to understand how the Council 

uses its resources to deliver its priorities through five lines of enquiry: 
 

 Understanding place and priority setting 

 Leadership of place 

 Financial planning and viability 

 Organisational leadership and governance 

 Capacity to deliver 
 

Page 438



 
 

4.3 The Review was undertaken remotely from 7th to 10th June, and involved 
thematic interviews and focus groups with over 130 people including Cabinet 
members, ward members, Scrutiny Chairs, SMT, employee focus groups and a 
broad range of partners including representatives from the Police, Fire Service, 
Health, community and voluntary sector partners, local businesses and 
Government departments. Overall, the Review was a robust and challenging 
process. 

 
4.4 The Review team was: 
 

 Nick Carter, Chief Executive, West Berkshire Council 

 Councillor Michael Payne, Deputy Leader, Gedling Borough Council and 
Deputy Chair of the Local Government Association 

 Laura Church, Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate Director for Population 
Well-Being at Luton Council 

 Richard McGuckin, Director of Towns Investment, Stockton-on-Tees Borough 
Council 

 Andy Ralphs, Strategic Director of Customer and Corporate Services, 
Plymouth City Council 

 David McIntosh, Corporate Director of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development, Dorset Council 

 Will Bramble, incoming Chief Executive of Pembrokeshire County Council 
(shadow) 

 Chris Bowron, Peer Challenge Manager, Local Government Association 
 

4.5 Following the Review, the LGA have a produced a short report (see Appendix 
One) of their findings. Although there is no overall grade or assessment given for 
the Review, the Review has identified the Council to be a high performing 
organisation and one that is working effectively to deliver its vision to “protect, 
care and invest to create a better borough”: 

 

 
 

4.6 As a Co-operative Council, partnership working is core to the organisation’s 
ethos. It is rewarding that the Review identified partnership working as a major 
strength of the Council: 

 

Page 439



 
 

 
 

4.7 In addition, partners have recognised the Council’s ongoing energy and 
commitment to making the borough a better place to live:  

 

 
 

4.8 The effectiveness of the leadership of the organisation was praised as was the 
hard work and commitment of the whole organisation:  

 

 
 

4.9 As well as how we do things, the Review recognised the difference the Council 
is making across the Borough: 

 

 
 
4.10 Fundamentally the Review has robustly endorsed the Council’s approach as to 

how priorities are set, how resources are used, particularly the way in which the 
budget has been managed to protect frontline services, how decisions are made 
and how the workforce has delivered the corporate priorities, and critically, the 
difference that is being made to the communities which the Council serves.  

 

Page 440



 
 

4.11 That the Peer Review found the Council to be high performing is reinforced by 
their suggestion that the organisation should proactively share learning and best 
practice within the local government sector both regionally and nationally: 

 

 
 
4.12 As is the practice with all robust external reviews, the Peer Review identified 

five recommendations to be considered in taking the organisation forward. It is 
positive that these recommendations build on commitments that the Council has 
already made: 

 

Recommendation Response/Action 

 Continues to strengthen the importance 
of the use of data, intelligence and 
insight to inform policy and service 
delivery 

 Significant progress has been made 
on this over the past year including 
the development of a series of 
performance dashboards, locality 
profiles and a Covid-dashboard. To 
build and drive this, additional 
investment was made into the 
refocussed Insight team as part of a 
restructure that was implemented in 
April 2021 

 Publishes the Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy early 2022 and aligns it with the 
Council Plan and priorities 

 The work-programme to achieve this 
is in place as part of the Council’s 
Service & Financial Strategy for 
2022/23. The Council Plan will be 
refreshed as part of this.  

 Works with partners to develop a place-
based vision 

 This work commenced in March 
2021 and will be published in early 
2022. 

 Develops a clear set of ‘Asks and Offers’ 
around Telford and Wrekin – enabling 
partners at the regional and national 
level to see the way in which mutual 
benefit can be derived through tapping 
into what the borough has to offer. 
Determines the extent to which the 
council seeks to extend its engagement 
at the regional and national level – 
crucially involving first a determination of 

 Work to develop our “ask and offers” 
has commenced. We are actively 
seeking opportunities to engage at a 
regional and national level to 
develop a calendar of activity that 
seeks to promote, share and build on 
the Council’s reputation for best 
practice.  

Page 441



 
 

Recommendation Response/Action 

the benefits of this for Telford and Wrekin 
as a council and as a borough 

 Weaves in mechanisms to ensure the 
council ‘takes a breath’ intermittently – 
creating the space for reflection and 
evaluation before moving on 

 The Council has a clear business 
planning framework which is 
refreshed each year. This provides 
an opportunity for the organisation 
and services to reflect, review and 
revise their priorities for the coming 
year. A core part of this includes 
reviewing the capacity and resources 
available to each service to ensure 
there is an effective fit with priorities. 

 
 
Next Steps 

4.13 Delivery of the Review recommendations will be taken forward through this 
financial year with progress being reported to Cabinet at year end. In line with 
this timeframe, the LGA will conduct a follow-up visit to understand the extent to 
which we have adopted and delivered their recommendations. 

 
4.14 The Council will continue to seek appropriate opportunities for further external 

reviews of services to drive forward continuous improvement to ensure that the 
organisation is as efficient and effective as it possibly can be to drive the vision 
to “protect, care and invest to create a better borough”. 

 
5. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 

 LGA Customer Services & Digital Peer Challenge, Cabinet 8th July 2021 

 Association of Directors of Adult Social Services - Peer Challenge of Telford 

and Wrekin Adult Social Care, Cabinet, 27th May 2021. 

 LGA Response & Recovery Peer review, Cabinet 24th September 2020. 

 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
None 

 

Report prepared by Jon Power, Policy & Development Manager, telephone: 

01952 380141 

Page 442



 

 
Remote Corporate Health 
Check 
Telford and Wrekin 
Council  

 

7th to 10th June 2021 

 

Feedback Report 
 
 
  

Page 443



 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

2 

 
 
 

 

1. Introduction 
 

When the COVID-19 pandemic emerged and lockdown began in March 2020, the Local 

Government Association (LGA) suspended the physical delivery of all peer challenge work 

including the delivery of corporate peer challenge in its traditional sense.  

 

To continue to support councils during this unprecedented period, the LGA rapidly refocused 

their support and adopted a new remote approach, focusing on supporting the varied needs of 

local government.  This new approach does not replace the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge offer, 

rather it complements it. 

 

From 7th to 10th June Telford and Wrekin Council undertook an LGA Remote Corporate Health 

Check (RCHC), with the work of the team focusing on: 

 

• Understanding place and priority setting 

• Leadership of place 

• Financial planning and viability 

• Organisational leadership and governance 

• Capacity to deliver 

 

The council asked the peer team to consider also: 

• The Covid-19 response and on-going plans for recovery  

• The culture of the organisation – general reflections plus an exploration of the extent to 

which there is a ‘can do’ approach to delivering organisational priorities and responding 

to the pandemic 

• Reputation and reach – reflections on how the council is perceived locally, regionally and 

nationally 

 

The peer team comprised the following: 

• Nick Carter, Chief Executive, West Berkshire Council 

• Councillor Michael Payne, Deputy Leader, Gedling Borough Council and Deputy Chair of 

the Local Government Association 

Page 444

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

3 

 
 
 

 

• Laura Church, Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate Director for Population Well-Being 

at Luton Council 

• Richard McGuckin, Director of Towns Investment, Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 

• Andy Ralphs, Strategic Director of Customer and Corporate Services, Plymouth City 

Council 

• David McIntosh, Corporate Director of Human Resources and Organisational 

Development, Dorset Council 

• Will Bramble, incoming Chief Executive of Pembrokeshire County Council (shadow) 

• Chris Bowron, Peer Challenge Manager, Local Government Association 

 

Across the course of the four days, the peers met with approximately 130 people, including 

elected members, council officers and representatives of partner organisations. 

 

2. Executive Summary 
 

The council can be very proud of what it is achieving, with it clearly being very ambitious, top-

performing in key areas and striving constantly to deliver for local people.  The authority, partners 

and communities can be extremely proud of the borough’s Covid-19 response. 

   

The authority is held in extremely high regard as a partner, founded upon credibility and a 

convincing track record of delivery, and it is very highly trusted.   

 

The council has been very successful in drawing in funding and tapping into initiatives from the 

regional and national level to help shape the borough and drive it forward.  ‘Telford and Wrekin 

fights for Telford and Wrekin’ is a theme strongly associated with the council that people value 

highly. 

 

There is strong and effective political and managerial leadership of the council.  The Leader and 

Chief Executive are held in very high regard both within and beyond the organisation, but it 

clearly isn’t just them.  Phenomenally hard work has been delivered over many years to get the 

organisation to where it is.   

 

It is time for the council to move away from what feels like ‘hiding its light under a bushel’ and 

establish the higher profile and enhanced reputation that its track record and successes deserve.  

We see real opportunity at the regional and national level for the council as an influencer and 

innovator. 

 

Page 445

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

4 

 
 
 

 

The question and challenge now concern how to take the council to the next level. 

 

The Council Plan was renewed in autumn last year, featuring a reduced number and more 

outcome-focused set of priorities and making tackling climate change explicit and central.  The 

renewal of the Plan has been complemented with a refresh of the council’s performance 

framework and the ‘golden thread’ in Telford and Wrekin feels robust.   

 

There is a clear focus on managing the council’s budget and maintaining and enhancing the 

overall financial position.  The development of new models of service delivery and commercial 

approaches have been key to this.   

 

There is extensive dialogue and collaboration across the senior managerial leadership of the 

council.  This represents a very deliberate approach which is key to the development of a ‘One 

Team’ philosophy. 

 

The council is working to establish itself as an ‘employer of choice’.  Its growing reputation, the 

exciting agenda that exists in the borough and the role the authority plays within that all make 

Telford and Wrekin Council an increasingly attractive proposition as a place to work.  The 

organisational culture that has been established plays to the ‘employer of choice’ ambitions and 

the council can also be very proud of the Employee Survey results.   

 

We see real benefit in the development of a place-based vision that draws together and 

articulates what Telford and Wrekin as a borough is seeking to become and the opportunities 

and challenges to be capitalised upon and addressed.  The development of such a vision should 

be approached as a partnership endeavour.  Alongside this, there would usefully be an outlining 

of the ‘Asks and Offers’ around Telford and Wrekin – enabling partners at the regional and 

national level to see the way in which mutual benefit can be derived through tapping into what 

the borough has to offer.   

 

3. Recommendations 
 
As a peer team, we recommend that the council: 

• Continues to strengthen the use of data, intelligence and insight to inform policy and 

service delivery 

• Publishes the Medium-Term Financial Strategy in early 2022 and aligns it with the 

Council Plan and priorities 

• Works with partners to develop a place-based vision 

• Develops a clear set of ‘Asks and Offers’ around Telford and Wrekin – enabling partners 

at the regional and national level to see the way in which mutual benefit can be derived 

through tapping into what the borough has to offer 

Page 446

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

5 

 
 
 

 

• Determines the extent to which the council seeks to extend its engagement at the 

regional and national level – crucially involving first a determination of the benefits of this 

for Telford and Wrekin as a council and as a borough 

• Weaves in mechanisms to ensure the council ‘takes a breath’ intermittently – creating the 

space for reflection and evaluation before moving on 

 

4. Feedback on the core themes of the health check 
 

4.1. Just to take a moment … 
 

At the outset of providing our feedback on the final day of our work, we were keen for the senior 

political and managerial leadership of the council to take a moment to reflect on the progress that 

has been, and is continuing to be, made across a wide range of spheres.   The council can be 

very proud of what it is achieving.   

 

This is clearly a very ambitious council and one that is top-performing in key areas.  Most notable 

within this is being judged by Ofsted as 'Outstanding’ for its children’s services.  It has also 

received very positive feedback in relation to the external challenge it has undertaken around its 

‘Shared Lives’ (adult social care) function which has been judged by the Care Quality 

Commission as ‘Outstanding’.  The council has a relentless focus on neighbourhoods and very 

high standards that it works constantly to attain and exceed.  It is an organisation that is striving 

constantly to deliver for local people and the following are just two of the findings from the most 

recent Resident Survey, undertaken in the summer of last year: 

 

• 82% of residents who responded indicated they were satisfied with Telford and Wrekin as 
a place to live 

 

• 74% of residents who responded indicated the support provided by the council during the 
pandemic was helpful 

 

The Employee Survey last year also provided positive results, including 83% of respondents 

indicating they would recommend the council as a great place to work. 

 

The council is universally held in very high regard as a partner.  It has an impressive track record 

in place-shaping, including economic development and regeneration initiatives, the enhancement 

of local amenities and its efforts to meet housing need. 

 

Page 447

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

6 

 
 
 

 

Tackling inequalities is a clear driver for the authority and is reflected in a revised set of council 

priorities that includes every child, young person and adult living well in their community and 

everyone benefitting from a thriving economy.  Enabling community involvement and increasing 

social capital are also key drivers, encapsulated in the ‘Co-operative Council’ values adopted by 

the organisation and central to the authority’s ambitions around building stronger and more 

resilient communities.  One example is the Capacity Building Fund, which supports the 

development of grass roots community and voluntary organisations.  Another is the Councillor’s 

Pride Fund, enabling each elected member to allocate £2,000 (recently increased to £5,000) to 

community projects.  The Pride in our Community awards celebrate the contribution volunteers 

and community organisations make to the life of the borough whilst ‘Telford 2020’ provided 

funding for a range of community-led initiatives linked to VE Day and VJ Day plus wider activities 

including projects to tackle holiday hunger.  The council has also worked to develop volunteer 

capacity, with 1,900 people acting as street champions, health champions and snow wardens. 

  

The last 18 months have seen the council contending with a series of crises, starting with very 

major flooding incidents in the winter of 2019/20, followed quickly thereafter by the outbreak of 

Covid-19 and recently a very major fire.  All of this has been responded to whilst the council has 

continued to fulfil ‘business as usual’ – thus maintaining delivery in circumstances well outside 

the norm. 

 

The council, communities and partners can all be extremely proud of the Covid-19 response they 

have been involved in, in a series of waves, focused on protecting and supporting the most 

vulnerable.  The local authority is clearly seen as having been a real driving force within this, with 

one partner indicating “we all played our part but the council led the charge”.  The following are 

just some aspects of the response: 

• Direct support has been delivered to one in five households in the borough including 

‘safe and well checks’, dog walking, undertaking shopping and delivering food and 

medication 

• Breakfast boxes delivered to children and families in greatest need 

• The ‘Kindle Kindness’ campaign generating £20,000 and enabling 190 tablet devices to 

be delivered to hospitals and care homes 

• 1,147 local people volunteering to play their part 

• More than £100,000 of additional funding provided by the council to food banks and 

charities tackling homelessness 

• Every one of the 78,000 households in the borough being written to twice by the Leader 

during the first couple of months of lockdown to outline the pandemic-related support 

available and how to access it 

Page 448

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

7 

 
 
 

 

• The council making personal protective equipment (PPE) available to partners including 

residential care homes and schools 

• £30m in Business Rate relief issued to businesses in the borough 

• £28.5m paid to businesses qualifying for government grant support 

 

The Resident Survey highlighted that 75% of respondents felt the leadership of the council had 

done a good job responding to the pandemic.  Good communications from the council are seen 

to have been central, with them being highly valued by partners we spoke to and 91% of 

respondents to the Resident Survey indicating they felt well informed by the authority about the 

support available.    

 

The Leader and Chief Executive are held in extremely high regard both within and beyond the 

organisation, but it clearly isn’t just them.  Phenomenally hard work has been delivered over 

many years to get the organisation to where it is.  The question and challenge now focus on how 

to take the council to the next level. 

 

4.2. Understanding place and priority-setting 
 

Telford and Wrekin is well understood as a borough born out of a series of individual 

communities, such as Madeley, Oakengates, Dawley and the market towns of Wellington and 

Newport, each with their own history and identity.  The council has led the celebrating and 

investment around place.  In 2018, with Telford having been designated as a new town fifty years 

earlier, a £2m ‘Telford@50 Fund’ was established for community groups to bid against for events 

and the development and upkeep of community buildings.  There was also a balloon and kite 

fiesta and a series of events in a big top in the Town Park, attracting more than 60,000 people.   

 

The political ambitions and imperatives of the authority are clearly understood widely across the 

organisation and drive much of what the council does.  The £45m Pride in our Community 

programme focuses on making a difference, ranging from the relatively small to the large such as 

a £1.6m 3G playing field and investment in highways.  The Pride in our High Streets initiative 

saw £1m injected to support nine high streets within the borough, delivering physical 

regeneration such as improved parking and lighting; a ‘Young Enterprise Challenge’ involving 

school pupils being awarded funding to launch business ideas; social enterprise ‘pop-up shops’; 

community events; and a training programme to develop the commercial skills of high street 

businesses.   

 

Page 449

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

8 

 
 
 

 

 

Telford and Wrekin is also recognised as a ‘borough of contrasts’, including its mix of urban and 

rural; the gap in life expectancy between the least and most deprived neighbourhoods of 9.4 

years for men and 8.1 years for women; and 18 neighbourhoods ranked among the 10% most 

deprived nationally for health, skills, employment and housing.  In total, 26% of the population 

live in areas amongst the 20% most deprived nationally.  It is fully anticipated that the pandemic 

will exacerbate key aspects of disadvantage, with the true impacts of the crisis seen not to have 

been fully felt yet.  August last year saw 32 per cent of jobs in the borough furloughed; the 

claimant count rose by 96 per cent between March 2020 and February this year and the number 

of people claiming Universal Credit rose 91 per cent in the first four months of the pandemic. 

 

 

The council strives to protect the wonderful characteristics of the borough’s natural environment 

whilst fulfilling the area’s development potential.  Two-thirds of the borough is classified as rural 

and 17 nature reserves have been created across a ‘Green Network’ covering 2,600 hectares.  

The Local Plan seeks simultaneously to protect the green space, with more than 200 ‘Green 

Guarantee’ sites, and support the growth agenda, including housing, employment sites and 

infrastructure developments.   

 

 

Getting things right for citizens is well established as a fundamental principle and the following 
‘Co-operative Council’ values that the authority has adopted can be seen to be integral: 
 

• Openness and honesty – being open and honest in the way we work and making 
decisions and communicating in a clear, simple and timely way 

 

• Ownership – being accountable for our own actions and empowering others with the 
skills to help themselves 

 

• Fairness and respect – responding to people’s needs in a fair and consistent way 
 

• Involvement – working together with our communities, involving people in decisions that 
affect their lives and being prepared to listen and take on new ideas 

  
 

‘Protect, care and invest to create a better borough’ is also firmly established as a key aspect of 

what drives the council and its activities.  This is positioned as the council’s corporate vision but 

we would pose a question around the extent to which it fulfils that niche relative to being a set of 

principles that guide the organisation?  We return to the issue of a vision later in this report. 

 

The Council Plan was renewed in autumn last year and saw the following determined as the 

organisation’s priorities: 

Page 450

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

9 

 
 
 

 

 

• Every child, young person and adult lives well in their community 

 

• Everyone benefits from a thriving economy 

 

• All neighbourhoods are a great place to live 

 

• Our natural environment is protected and the council has a leading role in addressing the 

climate emergency 

 

• A community-focused, innovative council providing efficient, effective and quality services 

 

Through this, understanding has been established around the tackling of climate change as an 

explicit priority.  The overall number of priorities has reduced but the priorities remain broad. 

 

 

The use of data, intelligence and insight, including the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA), is increasingly central to the understanding of place.  The information to have emerged 
from the JSNA regularly informs council and partnership-based ‘deep dives’, which recently have 
included looking at domestic abuse and the impact of the pandemic on communities and health 
services.  The analysis around domestic abuse quantified the demand generated on key public 
services, such as safeguarding and housing, and led to the commissioning of specific services 
with a preventative focus.  Also, the use of data, intelligence and insight has informed targeted 
activity in localities, including smoking cessation and active lifestyle initiatives, the deployment of 
the ‘Job Box’ routes into employment facility and support around those not in education, 
employment or training (NEET). 
 

This use of data, intelligence and insight is supplemented with community engagement and 

involvement approaches that inform policy and contribute to service design.  These include the 

Resident Survey with its 5,600 respondents last year; the Community Panel – which is currently 

being re-configured to ensure it as representative of the community as possible; and the ‘Making 

it Real Board’ comprising adult social care service users who act as ‘experts by experience’ in 

contributing to the council’s understanding, thinking and planning.  The housing strategy and 

customer charter are just two examples of the way in which input from local people has helped 

shape the council’s approach. 

 

The council seeks to balance the input from across the three domains of data, intelligence and 

insight; input through community engagement and involvement approaches; and the political 

ambitions and imperatives.  As it moves forward, we see the opportunity for the council to 

continue to strengthen the use of data, intelligence and insight within this mix.  

 

Page 451

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

10 

 
 
 

 

4.3. Leadership of place 
 

‘Telford and Wrekin fights for Telford and Wrekin’ is a strong theme that came across during the 

course of our work, particularly from partner organisations, and people want to see that approach 

from the council continuing.  The authority has been very successful in drawing in funding and 

tapping into initiatives from the regional and national level in order to help drive the borough 

forward.  One example is the £3.7m grant secured from the West Midlands Combined Authority, 

of which the council is a non-constituent member, that has been integral to the delivery of 540 

new homes.  Another example, announced during the week we delivered our work, is the Towns 

Fund award of over £22m.  This focuses on Telford’s Station Quarter, between the railway 

station and town centre, and includes residential and commercial space and a digital skills and 

enterprise hub delivered by Telford College, the University of Wolverhampton and local 

businesses.  The Towns Fund work will also aid the reshaping and regeneration of Wellington 

and Oakengates borough town centres and the funding is anticipated to attract £30m of 

additional private sector investment. 

 

Activities and successes such as these contribute to the council being held in extremely high 

regard as a partner.  It has developed a convincing track record of delivery, established its 

credibility and is very highly trusted.  The council has engaged effectively across the West 

Midlands and, in doing so, has demonstrated an ability to ‘transcend the politics’ through its 

engagement with a number of institutions of alternative political composition.  The Telford and 

Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership  (TWIPP) represents a further example of the council’s 

ability to work in complex environments in a constructive way and secure positive outcomes, 

reflected in the establishment of the Health and Social Care Rapid Response Team to reduce 

unnecessary hospital admissions and being positioned in the best quartile under the delayed 

transfers of care (DTOC) performance measure. 

 

The question that arises for us is where the council wants to take the partnership agenda across 

the wider geography, with what we see as real opportunity at the regional and national level for 

the council as an influencer and innovator.  As an example, the Integrated Care System (ICS) 

under the Shropshire and Telford and Wrekin Sustainability and Transformation Partnership was 

described to us as being “on a journey” but having “solid foundations”.  The council’s track record 

in relation to the TWIPP means it brings much to the table in the wider geographical context of 

the ICS.  There is potential there but the environment nationally around health and social care is 

challenging and, in that context and the constraints that exist as a result, progress feels it will 

continue to be gradual.  In this context there would seem to be a lot for Telford and Wrekin as a 

council to offer at the national level, where informed conversations, constructive challenge, 

experience, innovation and pioneering instincts are all required to try and move forward public 

service reform and ‘wicked issues’.  The council’s performance and delivery track record, its 

Page 452

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

11 

 
 
 

 

trusted status and its ability to forge relationships in lots of different spaces should see its 

potential contribution at this level being very highly valued.  

 

Southwater has been a real landmark for the borough and the council.  At one level it represents 

a civic space combined with amenities linked to leisure activity and the night-time economy and 

which complements the Town Park as officially the ‘Best Park in the West Midlands’.  At another 

level, it represents a statement of intent around delivery and working in partnership.  Many other 

place-shaping initiatives have followed, including: 

 

• £50m Growth Fund, delivering amongst other things a number of design and build units 

to support expanding local business and a new hotel, plus 1,000 new jobs and the 

safeguarding of a further 300 

 

• Housing development, both facilitated through others and directly delivered – including 

via NUPlace as a housing company wholly-owned by the council with the aims of 

providing homes for market rent  

 

• The Borough Towns initiative providing £5m for regeneration 

 

• The Stronger Communities initiative making £1m available to develop community-led 

responses to local challenges, initially across seven wards 

 

• The New Communities Programme with £500,000 made available to address challenges 

on recently developed housing estates 

 

 

These are initiatives that go beyond physically changing a place, with much wider socio-

economic benefits being derived including employment and skills opportunities; economic 

multiplier impacts through supply chains and social value initiatives; the creation of more 

affordable housing; and the setting of a standard for private housing landlords.  NUPlace, for 

example, has seen the main contractor delivering over 1,400 hours of direct apprenticeship 

activities; more than 2,500 hours of sub-contract apprenticeship work; and over 2,000 hours of 

management trainee time.  Southwater generated around 400 jobs in the entertainment and 

hospitality sectors. 

 

The ‘Business Supporting, Business Winning’ approach of the council also derives socio-

economic benefits.  The inward investment dimension of this clearly generates employment 

opportunities and provides wealth creation.  The business support element, facilitating business 

growth and ensuring the needs of existing businesses are understood, is reflected in the ‘account 

Page 453

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

12 

 
 
 

 

manager’ model whereby each of the top 200 businesses in the locality have a named council 

officer as a key contact to liaise with over issues that are important to them.  All of this is integral 

to sustaining the council’s financial position, as well as providing socio-economic benefits for the 

borough, through increased revenue.  To date, the council has generated an additional £7.5m in 

business rates and council tax through its growth activities and it expects to receive in the region 

of £3.5m in New Homes Bonus this financial year. 

 

The council is engaged in a network of service and sector-based partnerships, including the likes 

of adult and children’s safeguarding, education, community safety and business.  Specific 

partnerships also exist for dedicated purposes, including:  

• Telford Place Board – central to the Towns Fund bid and including local MPs and 

representatives from the education sector, third sector and business community 

 

• Telford Land Deal Board – an arrangement which has established the council as the 

‘agent’ for Homes England (as the holder of a significant number of assets in the 

borough), generating capital receipts of more than £30m for them and the government 

whilst bringing development sites, including 23 hectares of brownfield land, to the market 

and both attracting inward investors and retaining existing expanding businesses.  

Through this, £254m of private sector investment has been secured thus far, along with 

1,400 new jobs, 24 new commercial sites, 753 new homes and £2.5m of additional 

business rates plus nearly £1m of council tax revenue per annum. 

 

• Partnership Support Programme – this has seen the council, Town and Parish Councils 

and other community organisations working together on the transfer of services and 

facilities such as libraries, community centres and markets 

 

• Telford and Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership 

 

• The Rogue Landlord Taskforce 

 

There is good Cabinet-level involvement wherever appropriate in the above partnership 

arrangements.  This reflects positively on all of the members of Cabinet. 

   

Returning to the question of a vision, we see real benefit in the development of a place-based 

vision that draws together and articulates what Telford and Wrekin as a borough is seeking to 

become and the opportunities and challenges to be capitalised upon and addressed.  The 

development of such a vision should be approached as a partnership endeavour.  Alongside this, 

and to be played into the regional and national space, there would usefully be an outlining of the 

‘Asks and Offers’ around Telford and Wrekin – enabling partners at the regional and national 

Page 454

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

13 

 
 
 

 

level to see the way in which mutual benefit can be derived through tapping into what the 

borough has to offer.  Both of these pieces of work would helpfully inform a revised economic 

development strategy 

 

4.4. Financial planning and viability  
 

There is a clear focus on managing the council’s budget and maintaining and enhancing the 

authority’s overall financial position.  Since 2009, £126m of savings have been secured, with the 

net revenue budget standing now at £131m.  In recent years, the council has been able to 

strengthen its reserves whilst simultaneously addressing the significant financial challenge that 

has been faced.  This has all been achieved at the same time as establishing the council as 

having the lowest level of council tax in the Midlands and maintaining essential services.  

Furthermore, every year for the last 11 years the council’s end-of-year outturn has featured a 

small underspend, which is clearly positive but there are patterns of overspends and 

underspends plus mid-year revisions within the overall picture which it would be good to seek to 

move away from. 

 

 

The development of new models of service delivery and commercial approaches have been key 

to what the council has been able to achieve in relation to the budget position and financial 

sustainability.  The authority is now accruing commercial income of around £21m per annum 

from a range of initiatives.  NUPlace is one of these, generating in excess of £1m per annum.   

The council has also established a solar panel farm, which has brought in nearly £2m to date.  

Nearly £8m was generated in 2019/20 from the council’s property investment portfolio and a new 

contract was agreed for this financial year to provide property consultancy services to another 

council in England and this has a value of £1.2m per annum. 

 

The council’s auditors have indicated that the authority’s “current financial standing means that it 

is in a sound position to respond to … challenges”.  This should provide both reassurance and 

enable the authority to start mapping out the next stages of its financial journey, focusing both on 

the achievement of the necessary further savings and the investments that it would seek to make 

to improve outcomes for the borough and generating revenue.  The authority is committed to 

developing and publishing a Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) in early 2022 to sit 

alongside the budget proposals for 2022/23.  To date, the council has focused on using a budget 

modelling tool internally to track the anticipated impacts on the council’s financial position of 

changes at the macro-level.  Publishing a MTFS, taking the opportunity to align it with the 

renewed Council Plan and related priorities and presenting it in tandem with the budget 

proposals for the next financial year, feel like very positive moves. 

 

Page 455

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

14 

 
 
 

 

4.5. Organisational leadership and governance 
 

There is strong and effective political and managerial leadership of the council, with a range of 

examples around this already outlined in this report.  The leaders, at both Cabinet and Senior 

Management Team (SMT) level, are highly visible to people in the organisation and are felt to be 

approachable and engaging.  Internal communications are seen to have been enhanced under 

the new Chief Executive and a wide range of mechanisms are in place including ‘The Word’ 

newsletter to staff every six weeks; regular ‘Team Briefs’ cascaded from the SMT level; quarterly 

‘Leadership Forum’ meetings for all managers and future leaders; ‘Communication Champion 

Meetings’ involving employee representatives from across the organisation; ‘Ask me Anything’ 

sessions led by the Chief Executive; and staff engagement sessions involving the Chief 

Executive and Directors.   

 

 

The Leader and Chief Executive are clearly key to the organisation but the wider sector and the 

regional and national levels would also benefit from their extended engagement.  Increased input 

at these levels from the wider council would also offer much.  We see a real role for the authority 

to play in sharing its good practice, keys to success and learning with others across local 

government more.  It is time for the council to move away from what feels like ‘hiding its light 

under a bushel’ and establish the higher profile and enhanced reputation that its track record and 

successes deserve, whilst benefitting the sector in doing so.  Linked to what we touched on 

earlier in a context of the ICS, there is also a remit for the council, founded upon excellence and 

credibility, as influencers and innovators on the regional and national stage – pioneering 

developments around future public service shape and delivery and the intractable issues 

councils, other public agencies and government are wrestling with.  Partners would be keen to 

see Telford and Wrekin having a higher profile and being a key influencer, with this benefitting 

both the local area and the region.   

 

 

The council will only engage more in the types of spaces touched on above if sufficient benefit is 

going to be derived for the borough and the organisation.  Such engagement will take time and 

effort on the council’s part.  What would be required of the organisation will need to be 

determined and then weighed up carefully against the benefits that stand to be gained.  Then, if 

the council decides it wishes to venture more into this space, there is a key question of how this 

is enabled to happen in terms of the ‘permission-giving’ around it that encourages and 

incentivises people to do so; determining what and where the council wishes to engage so it is 

done in the most impactful and beneficial ways; and ‘freeing people up’ to enable them to 

undertake it.   

 

 

Page 456

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

15 

 
 
 

 

There are good relationships between officers and elected members founded upon mutual 

challenge, respect and collaboration.  Ensuring improved responsiveness across the 

organisation to elected member enquiries is important here and will help build on councillors’ 

existing roles as strong community champions.  The council has plans in place around this.   

 

There is also evidence of good elected member support and training.  This includes the induction 

programme following elections, which councillors regard highly, as well as on-going training 

through the course of each year around the likes of safeguarding and equality and diversity.  

There is a sense of elected members feeling their training and development needs are readily 

responded to by the council, including having access to external training and development-

related events, and there are plans in place to strengthen provision further.   

 

Facilitating extended dialogue across the political groups and increased Opposition engagement 

is recognised as a priority and steps have been taken to enable this, including meetings between 

the political group leaders and the Chief Executive.  Linked to this, changes to the approach to 

scrutiny have been broadly welcomed, with them being seen to have enabled an enhanced role 

in policy development across the elected membership.  We saw real passion and ambition 

amongst elected members to make scrutiny work and positive impacts are being seen.   

 

Scrutiny has traditionally played a role in the consideration of the budget, led by the Business 

and Finance Scrutiny Committee reviewing the budget proposals put forward each year by the 

Administration and, as is sometimes the case, other political groups.  This committee and others 

also receive updates on the in-year budget position for key services.  This budget focus 

continues but other pieces of work making a real difference in communities are coming to the 

fore more now.  One example is the Environment Scrutiny Committee leading community 

engagement linked to the Sustainable Telford and Wrekin Programme and a core element of 

which is replacing single-use plastics in the borough with more sustainable alternatives by 2023.  

Other examples are a review of multi-agency working against child sexual exploitation, one 

looking at the Covid-19 impacts on communities and the work of a task and finish group on a 

Local Plan review.   

 

There has traditionally been good input from senior officers to scrutiny and capacity within 

Democratic Services is being increased to support scrutiny’s work further.  Whilst good progress 

is being made, it is recognised that embedding the scrutiny changes is a journey.  The Covid-19 

situation is impacting here, with officer capacity being deliberately diverted to focus on more 

immediate priorities whenever necessary and less frequent meetings being held.  This is now 

moving back to a stronger position, with a review of support in this area, which concluded in 

March, leading to the creation of seven additional posts. 

Page 457

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

16 

 
 
 

 

 

The equalities and diversity agenda is becoming more prominent in the organisation and there 

are both internal and external dimensions to this.  ‘Black Lives Matter’ feels as though it has had 

a significant impact and both provided cause for reflection and acted as a catalyst.  The council is 

keen to build on this.  A ‘Trusted Panel’ approach has been adopted to help address community 

tensions and aid cohesion.  This emerged from specific experiences on the part of the Sikh 

community and has been adopted in other contexts subsequently, including that relating to the 

death of Dalian Atkinson in the borough.  It essentially brings Cabinet members and senior 

council officers together with communities being affected by specific issues in order to ensure 

those communities are heard; enable them to see that their issues are being taken seriously; and 

be reassured. 

 

The authority is also looking to become a more diverse organisation and develop deeper 

engagement and understanding around issues of equalities and diversity in order to support its 

drive to become an ‘employer of choice’, inform policy and thinking and help shape service 

delivery.  The cultivation of staff networks across a range of spheres related to protected 

characteristics could play a useful role here. 

 

4.6. Capacity to deliver 
 

As we outlined earlier, the Council Plan was renewed in autumn last year, with it now featuring a 

reduced number and more outcome-focused set of priorities and making tackling climate change 

explicit and central.  The renewal of the Plan has been complemented with a refresh of the 

council’s performance framework and, as part of this, there has been a clear reinvigoration of the 

‘golden thread’ with people working to ensure that corporate priorities are woven into service 

strategies and business plans.  Service strategies, under each Director, have been drawn up 

over the last few months and will inform both the annual refresh of the Council Programme and 

an updated performance framework focusing upon impact and outcomes against the priorities.  

The business plan for each Service Delivery Unit is being developed currently, mapping out the 

key actions contributing to the service strategy.  The ‘golden thread’ in Telford and Wrekin feels 

robust.  The last employee survey revealed that 93% of respondents understand how their work 

contributes to the delivery of council priorities. 

 

 

The council is working to establish itself as an ‘employer of choice’, with the recruitment and 

retention benefits that brings within a competitive jobs market.  The growing reputation of the 

council, the exciting agenda that exists in the borough and the role the council plays within that 

all make Telford and Wrekin Council an increasingly attractive proposition as a place to work.  

The organisational culture that has been established, described to us as supportive; having a 

Page 458

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

17 

 
 
 

 

‘family feel’; and founded upon flexible and family friendly policies also represents a key 

foundation for the ‘employer of choice’ ambitions.   

 

 

The council is working towards securing ‘Thrive’ status, which is a framework developed by the 

West Midlands Combined Authority to support the physical and mental wellbeing of employees.  

The 2020 Employee Survey has underpinned the development of a new People Strategy which 

puts people at the heart of the organisation.  The solid base that exists is reflected in the 

Employee Survey results, which provide much for the council to be proud.  This includes the 

statistics that 83% of respondents would recommend the council as a great place to work and 

78% indicating they feel proud to tell people they work for the council.   

 

Over the years the council can be seen to have been willing to invest in people and enable them 

to develop.  There are currently 149 apprenticeships within the organisation and the council has 

also been playing a leading role in creating opportunities for young people under the 

government’s ‘Kickstart Scheme’.  The ‘Future Leaders’ programme, as a talent programme that 

focuses on personal development, the gaining of organisational-wide knowledge and networking, 

has delivered benefit and been welcomed by the fifty people nominated by their Directors to 

participate in recognition of their potential.  Others in the organisation are keen now to have 

similar opportunities and the council is developing plans in line with this.   

 

Core strands of organisational development (OD) work are underway to help shape the 

organisation for the future.  This includes the implementation of the People Strategy; work that 

has been commissioned from the University of Wolverhampton to work with the council to 

develop a new statement around organisational culture; and the creation of a management and 

leadership programme for leaders across the authority and which will relate directly to the 

organisational culture piece.   

 

The council’s ‘Covid-19 Recovery, Reform and Reset Strategy’, established in the middle of last 

year, is contributing in this space too, helping to identify and take forward changes in how the 

organisation operates and what it delivers.  The approach, entailing several programmes of 

activity, is facilitating cross-organisational working by focusing on interconnected elements of the 

borough’s overall recovery and drawing together input from across the likes of Cabinet, SMT, 

other senior managers and representatives from partner organisations.  This informs the design 

and delivery of projects, initiatives and interventions, with each programme led by a member of 

SMT.  Examples of initiatives either already introduced or being taken forward include:  

 

Page 459

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

18 

 
 
 

 

• To define and implement an optimum flexible working pattern and develop an enabling 

programme to reduce the carbon impact of staff travel and enable reduction in required 

office space 

 

• To build upon the current adult social care transformation agenda in order to further build 

independence for those in high risk groups (learning disabilities, autism, carers, mental 

health and older people) 

 

• To work alongside local communities to ensure that residents who are the most 

vulnerable to, or impacted by, coronavirus get the information, advice and help they need 

to stay healthy, resilient and independent in their own homes, including a specific focus 

on enabling people who are lonely, isolated or with mental health issues to connect with 

local services, communities and each other, including through the use of technology 

 

• To jointly develop a training offer for frontline staff in children’s social care to support the 

emotional health and wellbeing of children, young people, carers and families impacted 

by Covid-19 

 

• To support an increase in face to face practice and interaction with children, young 

people and families in line with local and national guidance, with the creation of a hybrid 

model 

 

Good progress is being made in the circumstances, with acceptance that inevitably focus is 

diverted from the recovery and reform aspects of the strategy at those key junctures when the 

council gets drawn back to ‘response’ priorities under Covid-19. 

 

Whilst many councils are engaged in transformation activity and often have a programme of 

activity to support and drive it, ‘transformation’ in Telford and Wrekin is firmly established as 

much more of an ethos – with people describing it as “simply the way we do things here”.  There 

is no underpinning programme, dedicated resource or set of governance arrangements needed 

to make it happen in the authority.  One example is digital transformation around benefit claims, 

reducing the proportion of people needing to make a face to face visit by 89 per cent.  Another is 

work across the council, health sector and voluntary and community sector to maximise the use 

of community assets to prevent people requiring adult social care support earlier than necessary.  

This pathway was highlighted as best practice by the NHS in their guidance on hospital 

discharge during the pandemic. 

 

There is extensive dialogue and collaboration across the senior managerial leadership of the 

council.  The Chief Executive and Executive Directors speak every morning to update one 

another on key issues; SMT meets every week and, as highlighted earlier, there are quarterly 

‘Leadership Forum’ meetings for all managers and future leaders.  A difference is being seen in 

Page 460

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government 

company number 03675577 

 

19 

 
 
 

 

terms of increasing join-up across the organisation and a wider senior management cohort 

feeling more and more informed and involved.  People are enjoying this and it represents a very 

deliberate approach the Chief Executive has established which is key to the development of a 

‘One Team’ philosophy and way of working.  People described to us a culture where they feel 

they can be open and share issues, resulting in support from colleagues and the joint moving 

forward of issues.   

 

Finally, in a context of the council being so ambitious and seeking to move at the pace it does, 

people have highlighted the importance of weaving in mechanisms to ensure it ‘takes a breath’ 

intermittently – creating the space for reflection and evaluation before moving on to the next 

major project or innovation.  There is recognition that this is easier said than done but people 

would welcome initiatives being developed in support of the idea.   

 

5. Final thoughts and next steps 
 

The LGA would like to thank Telford and Wrekin for undertaking this piece of work.  We 

appreciate that the senior managerial and political leadership will want to reflect on these findings 

and suggestions in order to determine how the organisation wishes to take things forward. Under 

the umbrella of LGA sector-led improvement, there is an on-going offer of support to councils.  

The LGA is well placed to provide additional support, advice and guidance on a number of the 

areas identified for development and improvement and we would be happy to discuss this.  

Helen Murray (Principal Adviser) is the main point of contact between the authority and the LGA.  

Her e-mail address is helen.murray@local.gov.uk  

 

 

Page 461

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:helen.murray@local.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Agenda Item 10: Telford Hockey Club – Supporting Investment in 
Pitch Facilities 

 
“We are delighted to have offered our support to Telford Hockey Club as a part of the 
council’s commitment to creating a better borough.  
  
“Improving and protecting existing sports facilities in our borough is fundamental to 
ensure that all children, young people and adults in the community have the 
opportunity to take part in a variety of different healthy sporting activity.”  
  
“Telford Hockey Club is already a well-used facility by local people but we hope the 
new improved pitch means more people look to discover the sport.” 
 

Councillor Eileen Callear, Cabinet Member for Leisure, Culture and Visitor Economy 

 

Page 463

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET: 23/09/21 
 
TELFORD HOCKEY CLUB – SUPPORTING INVESTMENT IN PITCH FACILITIES  
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR: PROSPERITY & INVESTMENT 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – CLLR EILEEN CALLEAR – CABINET MEMBER FOR 
LEISURE, CULTURE AND VISITOR ECONOMY 

 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 The Council has a commitment to meeting the sporting needs of the community in 

Telford across a range of sports.  This report seeks approval to assist Telford 
Hockey club to replace their aging all weather surface on their dedicated hockey 
pitch at St Georges Recreational Ground.  

 
1.2 This pitch is the ‘premier’ community use hockey pitch in the Borough and the poor 

condition of the pitch means it needed replacing if it was to continue to be used 
safely for Hockey. Evidence gathered for the emerging Playing Pitch Strategy 
highlighted the need for urgent attention and replacement of this pitch. Whilst there 
is evidence currently of sufficient capacity to cater for existing demand for Hockey 
in Telford & Wrekin, it is reliant upon the continued use of this pitch which without 
replacement would not be able to continue. 

 
1.3 The cost of the replacement Hockey pitch is £222,811. Telford Hockey Club had 

secured £68,811 of their own funding (include fundraising), and gained a National 
Hockey Foundation grant of £50,000 (which was time limited), in addition to 
identified S106 contributions, however there remained a shortfall. The Hockey 
Club have therefore sought financial assistance from the Council by way of a loan 
agreement for up to £50,000, to be repaid over a 25 year period in order to address 
the matter, providing a safe pitch that meets the identified Boroughs needs.  

 
  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that Cabinet:  
 
2.1  Approves a financial loan agreement to provide Telford Hockey Club up to 

£50,000 to be repaid over a maximum of 25 years to meet the shortfall in 
funding, to enable the resurfacing of the hockey  pitch: and  

 
2.2  Delegates authority to the Director: Finance and HR to agree the terms of the 

loan agreement in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance & 
Governance.  

 
2.3  Delegates authority to the Associate Director: Policy & Governance to execute 

all legal and other documentation and undertake all procedural steps necessary 
to enable completion of the loan and its repayment. 

 

Page 465



3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-Operative Council 
priority objective(s)? 

Yes This initiative contributes to a number of the Council’s 
priorities, including the council’s vision to protect, care 
and invest to create a better borough. It meets a 
number of the council’s priorities  
1. every child, young person and adult lives well in their 
community – through increased local opportunities 
provided to take part in healthy sporting activity 
2. all neighbourhoods are a great place to live – through 
creating local accessible opportunities to take part in 
healthy sporting activity 
3. a community-focussed, innovative council providing 
efficient, effective and quality services – through 
working in partnership with and facilitating the 
community to improve facilities they use. 
 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

Yes The opportunities arising from the use of the improved 
hockey facilities will provide increased potential for the 
development of the sport for children and young people, 
and adults.  The newly improved facility will assist in 
improving people’s health through opportunities to take 
part in sport by increasing the capacity at the facility. 
The hockey facilities are available to all, but people 
living in nearby wards/areas of the improved facility are 
more likely to benefit from its local accessibility. 
The surrender of the Hockey Club’s leasehold interest 
in the Town Park rugby pitches will enable opportunities 
for Telford Hornets Rugby club to become leaseholders 
of the whole facility under a single agreement from the 
Council, whereby they may be eligible to seek grants to 
invest in the quality of provision and increase 
opportunity for taking part in their sport and improving 
people’s health by becoming active. 
 

TARGET 
COMPLETION/DELIVE
RY DATE 
 

The replacement hockey pitch was completed in July 2021 in 
readiness for the new sporting season 2021/2022. 
 

FINANCIAL/VALUE 
FOR MONEY IMPACT 

Yes  There are a range of benefits as set out in this report 
against the loan amount.   
The approved Investment Strategy requires that loans 
granted to other organisations are considered on a case 
by case basis and report presented to Cabinet for 
approval.  

£50,000 capital allocation can be funded from within the 
approved Capital Programme for 2021/22 to 2025/26. 

Page 466



There is no financial guarantee for this loan, therefore 
any bad debt arising will be unsecured and could 
therefore be a potential loss to the Council. 
 
DR 19/08/21 
. 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes Telford Hockey Club are an amateur sports 
organisation and as such are not a constituted legal 
entity.  Therefore should they default on any 
repayments recovery of any outstanding sums is at risk.  
A loan agreement will be developed and agreed prior to 
any payment being made.   
 
EH 19.8.21 
 

OTHER IMPACTS, 
RISKS & 
OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes  The area is being invested in as a leisure destination for 
the improvement of the quality of sport in the Borough. 
Local community activities using the revitalised facilities 
are being proposed by the community club.  
The surrender of the Hockey Club’s interest in the Town 
Park facility, increases the chances of a similar 
investment in Rugby at this site by the Telford Hornets 
Rugby Club. 
The reputation of the council will be enhanced for 
working innovatively with the local community to 
develop quality facilities to meet community needs.   
 
The key risk is default on repayment of the loan 
however the benefits of the new pitch already delivered 
and the surrender of their legal interest in the pitches at 
the Town park are considered significant.   
 

IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

Yes The site is located in the St Georges ward and is likely 
to have a proportionate increase in local participants 
from this ward into the sport provided. The community 
sports club is a large organisation with members from 
across the Borough and it is anticipated the facility will 
be used by people across the Borough. 
 

 

Page 467



PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
4. INFORMATION 
 
4.1 In 2016 the Council formally adopted its current Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) 

which includes current and future supply and demand analysis for grass and 
artificial pitches for five key sports: football, rugby union, rugby league, cricket and 
hockey.  Sport England, as both champions of sport but also as statutory planning 
consultees in respect of sports facilities and playing fields, recommend that all 
local authorities should have an up to date and robust Playing Pitch Strategy to 
ensure there is a sufficient supply of quality playing pitches and playing fields to 
meet the sporting needs of local communities. 
 

4.2 Since 2016, there have been a number of changes both in respect of the supply 
of sports pitches and a reported increase in demand.  Sport England has also 
introduced a new playing pitch calculator to help assess future demand based 
upon projected population levels. Therefore the Council are in the final stages of 
updating the Playing Pitch Strategy.  A key objective of any strategy is to ensure 
that not just the quantum of pitches is appropriate but also their quality.  In 
preparing the updated PPS an evidence base is being gathered on the quality of 
the existing sports facilities which highlights the immediate need to resurface the 
artificial pitch at St Georges 

 

4.3 This pitch is the ‘Premier’ community use hockey pitch in the Borough. However 
the poor condition of the pitch means it needed replacing if it was to continue to 
be used safely for Hockey. Whilst there is evidence currently of sufficient capacity 
to cater for existing demand for Hockey in Telford & Wrekin, this is compromised 
by the quality of and the urgent need to replace the pitch surface at St Georges.  
The loss of this facility would have meant a reduction is facilities below the 
required levels. 

 

4.4 The cost of the replacement Hockey pitch is £222,811. Telford Hockey Club had 
secured £68,811 of their own funding (include fundraising), and gained a National 
Hockey Foundation grant of £50,000. However this external funding scheme was 
offered for a time limited period only and the Council were therefore approached 
to assist in achieving the shortfall required to complete the project, before these 
grants were rescinded and lost to the Borough. Due to the time limited period of 
this funding, the commitment to complete the project needed to be made by June 
2021. The project has now been completed. 

 

4.5 The Council has investigated funding opportunities and contributed £54,000 of 
S106 capital monies secured from nearby residential development to add to the 
clubs contribution in order to facilitate the project.  However a final £50,000 
shortfall in funding remained and the Hockey club requested a loan from the 
Council to be repaid over a 25 year period (the life cycle of the new pitch). 

 

4.6 In considering the benefits of this loan, the Hockey Club have agreed to provide 
100 hours free hire and 100 hours of subsidised coaching for youth sport at the 

Page 468



new hockey pitch.  In addition as part of this agreement it has been negotiated 
that other land that is leased to the Hockey Club which is no longer required is 
surrendered back to the Council. The Hockey Club currently leases land at the 
Town Park under a historic Telford Development Corporation lease agreement. 
The facility is however not suitable for the provision of hockey and as such the 
Hockey Club’s interest has in recent years been sub-let to Telford Hornets Rugby 
Club. The Rugby Club are unable to invest in this facility because most external 
sporting grants are unavailable to sublet tenants. As part of the arrangement for 
the Council loan to the Hockey club, The Hockey Club have confirmed they would 
surrender their leasehold interest at the Town Park which would enable the 
Rugby Club to become full leaseholders of the whole property and be eligible for 
grants to improve the facilities.  

 
4.7 The surrender of the lease at the Town Park and the loan agreement are 

conditional on each other and the legal documentation will reflect this 
 
5. IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
NA 
 
6. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 
Nil. 
 
7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Nil. 
 
Report prepared by Derek Owen, Healthy Spaces Design Specialist, Telephone: 
01952 384782 

Page 469



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 Learning Disability Strategy
	Learning Disability Consultation Report
	Appendix A - LD Consultation Summary Report
	Appendix B - LD Strategy 2021-2025 Action Plan
	Overview
	Cabinet Recs
	Being Healthy
	Having Friends
	Having Choice
	Out and About
	Having a Job
	Right Support
	Respite
	Covid
	Overarching

	Appendix C - TWC Learning Disability Strategy 2021-25

	6 Tibberton & Cherrington Neighbourhood Development Plan – Approval to go to Referendum
	Tibberton and Cherrington NDP - Approval for Referendum Report
	Appendix 1 - Referendum Version
	Appendix 2 - Independent Examiners Report
	Appendix 3 - Regulation 15 Consultation Version

	7 Annual Customer Feedback and Complaints Reports
	Annual Customer Feedback and Complaints Report
	Appendix A - Corporate Complaints Procedure
	 Legal matters – issues that involve a legal action by or against, the Council.
	 Insurance matters – issues that involve an insurance claim against the Council or its insurers.
	 Statutory, regulatory or other procedures including:

	Appendix B - Stat ASS Complaints Procedure
	Appendix C - Children's Social Services Complaints Procedure
	Appendix D - Customer Feedback Report (Corporate) 2020-21
	Appendix E - Adult Statutory Complaints Annual Report 2020-21
	Appendix F - Children's Statutory Complaints Annual Report 2020-21
	Appendix G - Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 2021
	Appendix H - Summary of amendments to complaints policies and procedures

	8 Councillors Pride Fund - Update Report
	Councillors Pride Fund - Report

	9 Local Government Association Corporate Peer Review
	Local Government Association Corporate Peer Review Report
	Appendix One - Telford and Wrekin Report

	10 Telford Hockey Club - Supporting Investment in Pitch Facilities
	Telford Hockey Club - Supporting Investment in Pitch Facilities


